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WHO WE ARE

OUR MARKETS

Foskor is a proudly South African producer and exporter of phosphates
and phosphoric acid. The Group’s operations unlock shareholder value
through the profitable, responsible and sustainable beneficiation of
phosphate rock into phosphoric acid and phosphate-based granular
fertilizers. All Foskor’s operations are based in South Africa.

Foskor is one of the largest suppliers of phosphoric acid to India,
the world’s largest market for the product. Domestically, Foskor is
the leading supplier of various types of granular fertilizers such as
diammonium phosphates (DAP) and monoammonium phosphates
(MAP). The phosphate rock concentrate is sold locally to other fertilizer
producers and used as a raw material to produce phosphoric acid.
Foskor’s products are exported to Europe, the Middle East, North and
South America and sub-Saharan Africa. All our customers are in the
agri and chemical sectors and are wholesale producers.

VISION
Foskor is internationally respected for competing vigorously in world
markets built on the profitable and responsible beneficiation of
phosphates for the sustained benefit of all stakeholders.

VALUES

MISSION

Any business dealings with Foskor Group companies will be:

Foskor continues to earn the respect of stakeholders by competing
internationally in the beneficiation of phosphates. We take pride in our
heritage of creating value through profits.

•

Conducted with an eye to sustain our competitive advantage

•

Handled responsibly and followed through with impeccable
execution

•

Carefully considered, advised and delivered

•

Rewarded generously and consistently

WHAT WE MAKE
Phosphate rock is mined at Phalaborwa, Limpopo, before being railed
to the Acid Plant in Richards Bay, KwaZulu-Natal, for use as a raw
material in the production of phosphoric acid. Foskor imports sulphur
from Canada and the Middle East to produce sulphuric acid, a raw
material which is also used in the production of phosphoric acid.
Foskor manufactures coated and uncoated granular fertilizers, such
as diammonium phosphates (DAP) and monoammonium phosphates
(MAP), and monoammonium phosphates with zinc. Foskor does not
outsource any products or services.

How to read our integrated annual report
The Integrated Annual Report is cross-referenced with the other
reporting publications shown below:
r eference to information and further detailed reports on the Annual Financial
Statements and the Corporate Responsibility Report are on
www.foskor.co.za

reference to page numbers elsewhere in the integrated annual report

r eference to information that can be found in the Integrated Report and full
set of Annual Financial Statements contained on the disk at the back of this
report

"To achieve operational excellence, cost management will be implemented alongside efficiency
improvements while optimising the existing capacities. The future growth of the company is
dependent on getting the existing operations right."
Alfred Pitse
CEO and President
Publication date: 13 August 2012
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ABOUT THIS REPORT
INTEGRATED REPORTING APPROACH
This is Foskor (Pty) Limited’s first attempt to produce an integrated
report combining data relating to the sustainability and financial
areas of the company’s activities during the financial year ended
31 March 2012. Its purpose is to provide stakeholders with a
comprehensive overview of the company’s all-round performance so as
to enable stakeholders to make an informed assessment about its ability
to create and sustain value in light of Foskor’s organisational structure,
leadership, governance, strategy, risks and opportunities against the
background of prevailing economic, social, and environmental realities.
The report covers the activities of all the divisions and operating
subsidiaries which Foskor controls, all of which are in South Africa.
The last annual report was published for the financial year
ended 31 March 2011.

ABOUT THIS REPORT
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Key issues have been identified and disclosed in line with accepted
best practice. For example, the company’s business risks assessment
process has been evaluated against global market trends to determine
its long-term sustainability as a going concern; and decisions as to
materiality have been taken so as to present stakeholders with sufficient
relevant financial and other qualitative and quantitative data to enable
them to make substantially informed judgements. The issues regarded
as being the most material for Foskor in financial year 2011/12 in relation
to the business, economy, environment and surrounding communities
are shown on pages 23 to 27.
The report is designed for easy reading and where technical, scientific
or financial jargon, or acronyms have unavoidably been used, the terms
have been explained either in the text or in the glossary commencing
on page 130. In addition to the publication of this integrated report,
the report can be downloaded either from the CD inserted in the back
cover or from the company’s website (www.foskor.co.za). This report is
available in English only.
As the concepts and practices of integrated reporting evolve and as
Foskor’s related internal systems mature, the company intends to
further enhance its integrated reporting.
The Annual Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the
requirements of the South African Companies Act of 2008, as
amended. The summarised financial information contained in this
report has been prepared in accordance with IAS 34 – Interim Financial
Reporting and is consistent in all material respects with the Group and
company Annual Financial Statements.

We have applied the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) G3.1 guidelines,
including aspects of the GRI Mining and Metals Sector Supplement
in the compilation of this report and the Corporate Responsibility
Report 2012.
 detailed GRI Content Table providing responses to GRI 3.1 criteria
A
reported is provided in this report on page 125

ASSURANCE AND COMPARABILITY
In terms of the King III Code of Governance Principles, the Board has
tasked the Audit Committee to ensure the integrity of the integrated
report before approving the sustainability disclosures. The Board
has applied its mind to the report and believes that it addresses
all material issues and fairly represents the Group’s performance.
The practice adopted by the Board Audit and Risk Committee is to
obtain independent assurance on certain sustainability disclosures
and application levels. The Board approved the release of the 2012
integrated report on 18 June 2012.
Foskor’s combined assurance model of the integrated report considers
all internal and external assurance obtained over content data and
underlying processes. A summary of external assurance obtained is
listed in Table 1. There were no significant changes regarding the size,
structure or ownership including changes in the share capital, capital
formation and maintenance.
There have been no changes to the organisational structure nor were
there any significant changes in the scope, boundary or measurement
methods applied in this report from those applied in previous years.
In some instances, improvements in the reporting verification systems
have made it possible to restate more accurate figures and these have
been noted as such in footnotes, where applicable. Certain statistical
data has been given for the past five years, beginning with the 2007/08
financial year, for comparative purposes.

Contact point
For any questions or feedback regarding this integrated report or its
contents, please contact Ms Karen Smith, Stakeholder Relations,
at +27 11 347 0637 or email karens@foskor.co.za

Table 1: Combined assurance matrix
Assurance provider

Outcome

Annual Financial Statements

External audit – Joint auditors PWC and
Ngubane & Co. Inc

Unqualified audit opinion

BEE rating

Emex Trust

Level 5

Environmental management

International Standards Organisation

ISO 14001

Gypsum dams

Moore Spence Jones

ISO 14001

Groundwater and surface water management

Moore Spence Jones

ISO 14001: zero effluent

HIV/AIDS management

South African National Standards

SANS 16001

Legal compliance

Allison Lee’s Attorneys

Compliant

Occupational health and hygiene status

Apex

Compliant

Occupational health and safety

Occupational Health and Safety Assessment
Series

OHSAS 18001

Ore resources and reserves

Snowden

Ore resources and reserves

Phosphate rock quality

ASPC

Legally compliant

Phosphate rock quality

National Energy Council of South Africa (Necsa)

Radioactivity legally compliant

Quality management

International Standards Organisation

ISO 9001

Safety, Health and Environmental Quality
(SHEQ) compliance

Dekra

Five shields certification

Stack emissions

Levego

ISO 14001: compliant with AEL

Tailings dam status

Knight Piesold

Stable

Water quality

Agrilasa/SABS

Meets environmental, geohydrology and
geotechnical standards

Water quality

Golder & Associates

Meets environmental, geohydrology and
geotechnical standards

SRK

Meets slope, geohydrology and
geotechnical standards
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

REPORTING PRINCIPLES AND FRAMEWORKS

Certain statements in this report are predictions about the future
which Foskor believes are reasonable and are based on information
available at the date of the report. Outcomes could, however, differ
materially from our predictions as a result of such factors as changed
economic and market conditions, altered regulatory environments,
and fluctuations in commodity prices and exchange rates. These
predictions should not therefore be regarded as guarantees of future
performance, as they are based on numerous assumptions regarding
Foskor’s present and future business models, strategic thrusts and the
environment in which it operates.

Foskor’s progressive approach to integrated reporting means that this
report will be the base for future reports. Every year Foskor evaluates
the effectiveness of its corporate reporting and continually improves it
as a tool to address stakeholders’ needs.

All subsequent oral or written predictions or forward-looking statements
attributable to the Group or any of its members or any persons acting
on its behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary
statements set out here. Foskor expressly disclaims any obligation or
undertaking to publicly disseminate any updates or revisions of any
forward-looking statements that are contained in this report or to reflect
any change in their expectations with regard thereto or any change
in events, conditions or circumstances on which any such forwardlooking statements are based.

Foskor has for the first time applied the Global Reporting Initiative
principles as far as possible. This forms the basis for a C+ rating that
we hope to achieve by next year, subject to the development of a few
key performance indicators.
The principles of inclusivity, materiality and responsiveness, as defined
by the AA1000 AccountAbility Principles Standard 2008 have been
applied. Other reporting principles that have been followed as a guide
are included in the table below:

Table 2: Reporting principles and frameworks
Framework, codes and guidelines

Framework for following sections

Framework for Integrated Reporting and the Integrated Report
Discussion Paper

Integrated report

International Financial Reporting Standards

Annual Financial Statements

South African Companies Act, 71 of 2008

Annual Financial Statements and Corporate governance

SAMREC Code

Review of mineral resources and ore reserves

King Report on Corporate Governance (King III)

Corporate governance

Global Reporting Initiative G3.1

Corporate responsibility and the Integrated Report

IRMSA Code of Practice

Enterprise risk management

Enterprise Wide Risk Management Framework

Enterprise risk management

COSO Framework

Enterprise risk management

performance features
Financial measures

Non-financial measures

Revenue increased

The following non-financial performance disclosures are
made:

by 11.1% to R5.1 billion (2011: R4.6 billion)

Safety statistics

Operating profit reduced
by 35.8% to R330 million (2011: R514 million)

Water and energy consumption

Profit before tax reduced
Employee statistics

Dividends of R8.15 per share

Corporate Social Investment (CSI) spend

were paid to shareholders

Table 3: Key performance indicators for key non-financial performance measures
For the periods ended 31 March:

2012

2011

2010

2009

2008

1,857

1,803

1,753

1,723

1,805
65

Social
Employees

Number

HDSA in management

(%)

73

71

70

60

Staff turnover

(%)

5

6

7

8

13

Corporate social investment

R millions

6.8

12.6

7.8

1.6

1.4

Safety
Fatalities

Number

Disabling injury frequency rate

0

1

0

1

0

0.32

0.25

0.30

0.22

0.44

Environmental
Water

** Megalitres

22,591*

13,305

14,219

12,801

12,469

Water consumption/turnover

1 000 m3/R

0.0044

0.0028

0.0004

0.0012

0.0031

Water consumption/acid production

1 000 m3/t

41.71

20.56

22.86

19.42

18.02

Water consumption/rock production

1 000 m3/t

9.62

5.17

6.56

5.36

5.29

Electricity

MW ‘000

548

586

563

610

649

Electricity purchased/turnover

MW/R

0.00001

0.0001

0.002

0.0001

0.0002

Electricity purchased/acid production

MW/t

1.05

0.91

0.91

0.93

0.94

Electricity purchased/rock production

MW/t

0.24

0.23

0.26

0.26

0.28

* Figure not comparable with prior years, adjusted to new definition (see Glossary).
** 1 000 m3 = megalitres.
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GROUP STRUCTURE

Manyoro
Consortium
15%

Coromandel
International
Ltd
14%

Kopano Foskor
Employees
Trust
6%

Ba-Phalaborwa
and Umhlatuze
Community
Trust
5%

Sun
International
FZE
1%

Foskor
Group
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Limpopo
Phalaborwa

Gauteng

Mining Division 100%
• Phosphate rock
• Magnetite
Foskor Zirconia 29%
• Electro-fused zirconia

Midrand
Corporate Head Office

KwaZulu-Natal
Richards Bay

Acid Division 100%
• Granular fertilizers
• Sulphuric acid
• Phosphoric acid
Phosfert Marine 100%
Phosphate Shipping 100%

ORGANISATIONAL
OVERVIEW

Industrial
Development
Corporation
59%

SHAREHOLDERS
The Industrial Development Corporation (IDC) of South Africa holds the
controlling stake of 59% in Foskor (Pty) Limited. Two Indian companies,
Coromandel International Limited and Sun International FZE, own 14%
and 1%, respectively. The IDC, owned by the South African Government
under the supervision of the Economic Development Ministry, is the
national developmental financing institute set up to promote economic
growth and industrial development.

ORGANISATIONAL
OVERVIEW
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Coromandel International Limited (CIL), part of the Murrugappa Group,
produces a range of fertilizers, speciality nutrients and crop protection
products, while it also offers retail services. Coromandel is the second
largest phosphate fertilizer player in India. Its crop protection business
manufactures insecticides, fungicides and herbicides. Coromandel has
more than 425 rural retail agri- and lifestyle outlets. CIL is a strategic
business partner to Foskor, offering long-term supply agreements,
technical assistance and skills sharing. Foskor owns 1.7% of CIL’s
share capital.
Sun International FZE (Sun International) specialises in international
trading in fertilizers, fertilizer intermediates and raw materials which it
sources globally to supply to customers in India and its neighbours.
Sun International Pvt. Ltd., through its global presence in the fertilizer
business, has an extensive business network in South Africa,
Egypt, United Arab Emirates, China, Europe and North America.
Sun International is also a strategic business partner to Foskor, and
acts as a sales agent for Foskor in India and the Middle East.
Foskor already meets the Mining Charter’s 2014 standard of 26%
Broad-based Black Economic Empowerment (B-BBEE) ownership.
The B-BBEE shareholding comprises 15% Manyoro Consortium,
6% Kopano Foskor Employees Trust and 5% Ba-Phalaborwa and
uMhlatuze Community Trusts. The Manyoro Consortium is a diverse
conglomerate with a number of new Black Economic Empowerment

(BEE) entrants split into strategic business partners and broadbased special interest groups. The consortium provides Foskor with
strategic value-add and expertise. The strategic business partners
include the Makana Energy Consortium, Mgwali Investments, Palama,
RSA Capital, Ufhata Consortium and Umanyolo Investment Holdings.
The special interest groups comprise Awca Investment Holdings, Azara
Consortium, Disability Empowerment Concerns, SBR, Phalimpopo
and Podwala.
The Ba-Phalaborwa and uMhlatuze Community Trusts were established
in terms of the Mining Charter and BEE Codes to promote equitable
access to the nation’s mineral resources, to expand opportunities
for historically disadvantaged South Africans in the mining sector; to
promote employment and to advance the social and economic welfare
of mining communities and major labour sending areas. In terms of the
Mining Charter, the Trusts must address human resource development;
employment equity; mine community and rural development; housing
and living conditions; procurement; and ownership and joint ventures.
In terms of the Trust Deed, 85% of the economic interest must
accrue to Black people residing within the Traditional Authorities of
Ba-Phalaborwa; Majeje; Maseke; Mashishimale; Selwana; the periurban and urban community in Ba-Phalaborwa Municipality; Dube;
Bhejane; Mambuka; Mkwanazi and Madlebe.
The Kopano Foskor Employees Trust was established to reward
employees by providing them with the opportunity to acquire equity
in the company through the employee share ownership plan (ESOP).
The purpose of ESOP is that it will empower staff, improve productivity
and help to retain scarce skills. The broad-based distribution of shares
will also contribute to meeting Foskor’s black ownership targets.
The ESOP Trust is managed by eight Trustees, four of whom are
elected by employees and four who are appointed by Foskor.

Divisions and subsidiaries

Foskor enjoys the benefits of Phosfert Marine, a quality clearing house,
shipping and cargo agent as well as a ship brokerage, Phosphate
Shipping, operating under one roof. Phosfert Marine and Phosphate
Shipping are proprietary companies rather than divisions within Foskor
that facilitate the attraction and acceptance of appointments from the
industry at large that include lucrative agency fees and commissions
derived from the contracted ship owners for sulphur and phosphoric
acid. These two wholly-owned subsidiaries enable Foskor to deal
with service providers through independent intermediaries. The two
subsidiaries provide essential services to Foskor, charging it nominal
fees for forwarding and clearing, while aggressively pursuing revenue
from cross-subsidisation.
Phosphate Shipping polices adherence to contractual obligations and
reserves the rights of its principal, Foskor, from time to time. Phosphate

Corporate Head Office: Midrand

Shipping, with the support of Foskor, ensures that all contracts
of carriage stipulate Phosfert Marine as port agent. The services
provided by Phosfert Marine and Phosphate Shipping are subject to
different legislation and protocols from those applying to the chemical
and mining activities. As separate companies, Phosfert Marine and
Phosphate Shipping have to strive to meet or beat industry standards
to ensure that the Group benefits from a competitive unit.
In April 2008, the Foskor Group transferred its non-core Zirconia
Division to a separate legal entity known as Foskor Zirconia (Pty)
Limited and, in August 2008, a 51% stake was sold to Carborundum
Universals Limited, a multi-national company based in India and part
of the Murugappa Group. Foskor subsequently sold a further 19.1% of
its holding to BEE partners, Perfect Positions 41 cc, in August 2010
and currently owns 29.9% of Foskor Zirconia. Foskor Zirconia is the
largest supplier of electro-fused zirconia in the southern hemisphere.
This is a raw material used in the production of monoclinic or calciastabilised zirconia used primarily in the steel casting, refractory and
abrasive industries.
Foskor has no joint ventures at any of its subsidiaries.

Acid Division: Richards Bay

Mining Division: Phalaborwa
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The Mining and Acid Divisions were previously known as Foskor
Phalaborwa and Foskor Richards Bay, respectively. Details of
these divisions are discussed in the Performance Review on
pages 28 to 68. The Group’s head office is situated in Midrand,
Gauteng.

Fact sheet
QUICK FACTS
•

Foskor was founded by the Industrial Development Corporation in
1951 to produce phosphates for South Africa’s agricultural sector.

•

The Group’s core activities focus on the mining and beneficiation
of phosphate rock and the subsequent production of phosphoric
acid and phosphate-based fertilizers.

•

Foskor is the only vertically integrated producer of phosphate rock,
phosphoric acid and granular fertilizer in South Africa.

•

Foskor is the second South African company to be credited with
a DEKRA Gold Certificate. DEKRA is an international safety and
quality ratings agency in the fields of technology, the environment,
training, monitoring and mobility.

•

Foskor is the leading supplier of granular fertilizers – diammonium
phosphate (DAP) and monoammonium phosphate (MAP) –
core ingredients in final fertilizer products comprising nitrogen,
phosphates and potassium, also known as NPKs in South Africa.
The phosphate rock concentrate, a key input in phosphoric acid
production, is railed from Phalaborwa to Richards Bay while the
phosphoric acid is exported to Europe, Middle East, North and
South America and sub-Saharan Africa, a small quantity being sold
locally.

•

Foskor is well-positioned to optimise the growth opportunities
offered by a definitive shift of economic power to Asia and the
Pacific region.

•

Foskor is implementing plans to grow its distribution networks
through its market diversification strategy and to focus on product
diversification through both acquisitive and organic growth to
balance the company’s portfolio, ensure stable sales volumes and
protect cash flow during economic downturns.

ORGANISATIONAL
OVERVIEW
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•

The Group remains committed to implementing financial and
managerial discipline while raising output and containing input
costs.

•

Foskor strengthens its brand by implementing productivityenhancing growth strategies which address underlying structural
problems and narrows the skills gap.

Secondary drilling: Mining Division

Loading of haul truck with Komatsu PC 5500
hydraulic shovel

Phosphate rock concentrate

Business model
Foskor’S current business model

Foskor
operations

2.9 m tons
phosphate rock

Richards Bay
690k tons of P2O5
350k tons of
fertilizer

Foskor unlocks shareholder
value through profitable,
responsible and sustainable
beneficiation of phosphate
rock into phosphoric acid or
phosphate-based granular
fertilizers sold globally

Imports

Sub-Saharan
Africa

· Largest — P2O5 volumes
exported to India

Middle East

·

Europe
Rock
External customers —
local and export
internal customer: Acid Division

South America

P2O5
Foskor products
Granulation

The existing conceptual business model has been slightly refined
since the previous year’s model and the short-term vision that was
illustrated in 2011 is no longer applicable. As a result of the revision
of the corporate strategy, Foskor now aspires to enhance shareholder
value on a sustainable basis through the achievement of operational
excellence; organic growth; beneficiation; and diversification.

Foskor’s
markets

North America

The two mines at Phalaborwa, the North and South Pyroxenite Pits,
can produce 2.9 million tons of phosphate rock at full capacity.
Of the total rock output, approximately 80% is railed 800 kilometres to
the beneficiation plant at Richards Bay. The Acid Division has capacity to
produce 690,000 tons of phosphoric acid; 2.2 million tons of sulphuric
acid and 350,000 tons of granular fertilizers (MAP/MAPzn/DAP).
The remainder of the phosphate rock is sold in the local and export
markets. The bulk of the phosphoric acid produced is exported.
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Phalaborwa

Foskor value
proposition

ACTIVITIES AND PROCESSES
MINING DIVISION’s ORE PROCESS

ACID DIVISION’s PROCESS

MINING

Drilling and
blasting

Loading and
hauling

Burning

Sulphur

Primary
crusher

Sulphur is burnt to form sulphur dioxide. This gas is converted
to sulphur trioxide in a steam boiler and is then mixed with
water to form sulphuric acid.

• Mining – drilling and blasting is required to extract ore deposits from
	the igneous complex. Haul trucks are loaded with the rocks (up to
1.2 metres in diameter) which are transported to the crushers.

ORGANISATIONAL
OVERVIEW

12

Secondary and
tertiary crusher

Catalytic
conversion

SULPHURIC
ACID

•	Crushing – crushers are used to grind large rocks of phosphate-bearing
ore into smaller pebbles (to about 13 mm). Conveyer belts transport the
crushed ore to the mills.

Fine ore
stockpile

Sulphur
dioxide

PHOSPHATE
ROCK
Primary
stockpile

Phosphate ore concentrate from Phalaborwa is treated with sulphuric acid and recycled
phosphoric acid to form weak phosphoric acid in slurry form. This is then filtered to remove
gypsum particles as a waste product. After filtration, concentrated high grade phosphoric acid
is produced by boiling off excess water.

COMMUNITION AND
CONCENTRATION

Rod milling

Flotation

Tailings

Phosphate
rock

Reacted with
sulphuric acid

Filtration

Slurry P2O5

Granulation and
rotary drying

Granular
fertilizer

Thickener
Concentration

•	Milling – the mills grind the pebble-sized phosphate ore to sand particles.
Slurry, formed by mixing water and sand, is then pumped to the flotation
circuits.

HIGH GRADE
P205

•	Flotation – reagents are added to the slurry to separate phosphates from
the other minerals in the ore.
• Tailings handling – waste materials or tailings are collected and pumped
into either the Southern or the Selati tailings dam.

Filtration

•	Thickeners and filtration – phosphate concentrates recovered from the
flotation circuits are pumped through thickeners as excess water is
drained.
•	Drying and dispatch – the thickened rock concentrates (in fine powder
form) are conveyed to the coal-fired drying kilns to make a sand-like
finished product.

Dispatch

Drying

Ammonia and
phosphoric acid
reactors
Phosphate
stockpile

Ammonia and sulphuric acid are mixed with phosphoric acid under controlled conditions to
produce either MAP or DAP slurry, which is then granulated and dried to deliver the desired
product.

PHOSPHATE
ROCK

MAP/DAP
By adding zinc to the MAP reaction, MAP zinc is produced.

2012
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Richards Bay harbour

OPERATING CONTEXT AND STRATEGIC INTENT

MANAGEMENT AND GOVERNANCE STRUCTURES
The diagram below depicts the governance structure of the organisation.

Management commitTees

Audit and
Risk Committee

Human Capital Committee

Technical
Committee

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

OPERATING CONTEXT AND
STRATEGIC INTENT
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

OVERSIGHT

Internal Audit and
Risk Committee

Group Benefits
Committee

Compliance
Committee

Treasury Committee

Information and
Communications
Technology Steering
Committee

Fraud Prevention and
Ethics Committee

Group
Procurement
Committee

Remuneration
Committee

Our Leadership
Directorate

Geoffrey Qhena

(BCompt Hons, CA(SA),
SEP, Adv Tax Cert)
(Chairperson)

Alfred Pitse

(BCompt Hons, MBL, CA(SA))
(Chief Executive)

Peter-Paul Ngwenya
(BCom Hons)

Arunachalam Vellayan
(BCom, Ind Admin, MBS)

OPERATING CONTEXT AND
STRATEGIC INTENT
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Gerrit van Wyk

Simangele Ngoma

Jeanette Modise

Dr David Phaho

John Barton

Nkosemntu Nika

(BCom Hons, MCom, MBL,
AMP INSEAD)

(BSC Hons, MSc, PhD)

(BCom Hons, CA(SA))

(FCMA, CGMA, AMP (Harvard))

(BCom, MDP, SEP, MBL)

(CTA, BCompt Hons, CA(SA))

Fidelis Madavo

(BSC Hons, Chem Eng,
MSc, IEDP)

Alfred Pitse

Theuns Koekemoer

Percy Mosweu

Similo Sibisi

CEO and President
(BCompt Hons, MBL, CA(SA))

Chief Financial Officer
(BCom Hons, CA(SA), AEP)

VP: Strategy and new business
development
(NHD Elec Eng, GCC, MAP, MBA)

VP: Corporate Affairs
(BA, LLB, AMP INSEAD)

Sarah Luthuli

Nathi Nkomzwayo

Johan Horn

Khumbulani Cele

VP: Human Capital
(BSocSc, PDPM, IEP INSEAD, MBA)

VP: Acid
(BSc Eng, PDP)

VP: Mining
(BEng, PREng, MSAIIE Hons,
BB&A, MBA) HPL (IMD))

VP: Procurement and logistics
(BCom Hons, Dip Bus Tax, EDP,
IEP INSEAD)

OPERATING CONTEXT AND
STRATEGIC INTENT
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Gideon Skhosana
VP: Marketing and sales
(BCom, MDPD, ASMPD)

Description of their roles and responsibilities are set out on page 96 to 98

Our KEY STAKEHOLDERS
•

Better identify and define the risks facing the company;

Foskor engages with a host of individuals, groups and organisations
that are all impacted by the company’s operations or that may affect
the production or delivery of our products and services. Stakeholders
are defined as such depending on either their relationship with Foskor
or the impact that they may have on the company, its sustainability,
growth, profitability, products, performance and its social licence to
operate.

•

Develop an understanding of the ever changing operating
environment, market developments and cultural dynamics;

•

Enable learning from stakeholders that feed into product
enhancements;

•

Educate the public as to the importance of our business;

•

Build trusting relationships and friendships;

•

Adequately allocate resources to solving problems and seeking
resolutions on industry-wide issues;

•

Develop a more equitable social development plan and corporate
social investment initiatives (CSI) that directly address the needs of
the recipients; and

•

Give CSI recipients a voice which makes them feel heard in the
decision-making process.

The stakeholders keep management accountable and make them
answerable for key decisions that are taken within the organisation.
Opportunities for dialogue are created through meetings, forums,
surveys, briefings and one-on-one interviews. Other internal and
external communication channels are also available for stakeholders to
engage with the company. Foskor does not exclude any stakeholders
and uses different forums to engage with all its stakeholders.
In accordance with the AccountAbility Principles, Foskor’s stakeholder
engagement programme has been designed so that feedback from
interested and affected parties can be used to:
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ENGAGING WITH STAKEHOLDERS

"Our stakeholders keep management honest, accountable and make them answerable for
key decisions that are taken within the organisation."
Similo Sibisi – VP: Corporate Affairs

Table 4: Identifying key stakeholders and our strategic responses in engaging them
Stakeholder
Employees
and trade
unions

OPERATING CONTEXT AND
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How we communicate
with them
Staff alerts from
the CEO’s Desk
General notices from the
Communications Desk
Intranet
Speeches
Women in Mining/
Manufacturing Forums
Monthly staff briefings
Departmental meetings
Daily mini-business area
meetings
Daily newsletters
Notice boards
Suggestion boxes
Foskor TV
Performance reviews
Internal communications
campaigns

Shareholders/ Board meetings
Board of
Letters
directors
Memos
Annual reports

How we respond to their
concerns

What matters to them

What concerns them

Fair remuneration
and benefits
Training and mentoring
Safety
Employee wellness
programmes
Community issues including
HIV/Aids, housing
and job creation
Communication strategy

Transformation
Recruitment of scarce skills
Opportunities for
advancement
Succession planning
Incentives and bonus
schemes

Employee assistance
programme
R7.6 million on HIV/Aids
and wellness programmes
Safety and Environmental
Awareness Days
Maintaining ISO 9001,
ISO 14001, OHSAS 18001,
SANS 451:2008 and
SANS 16001 certifications
Bursaries and study
assistance
In-house induction
and training programmes
e-Learning
Talent management strategy
Internships, learnerships
and mentorships
Technical Assistance
Agreement
Career pathing
Employee Share Ownership
Plan

Profit
Sustainable growth
Driving transformation
Job creation
Dividends

Cyclical nature of business
Escalating costs
Competition
Narrowing margins

Discharge duties through
sub-committees
Require regular feedback
on executive management’s
execution and deliverance on
key performance indicators

Customers

Meetings
Site visits
Business associations
Conferences and seminars

Value
Customer service
Quality products
Competitive prices
Timely deliveries
Reliability of supplies

Availability of stock
Logistics
Sustainability of customer
relationships

Maintain tight customer
relations and give regular
feedback as to stocks

Contractors,
partnerships
and sharing
agreements

Meetings
Written communications
Contact on operational issues
Reports
Contract negotiations

Equitable income distribution
Key safety, health,
environment and quality
strategies

Work stoppages
Industrial action

Contractor safety, health and
environmental management
plans
Safety agreements

How we communicate
with them

What matters to them

What concerns them

How we respond to their
concerns

Suppliers
and service
providers

Meetings
Site visits
Tenders and supply contracts
Company website
Business associations
Performance reviews and
audits
Conferences and seminars

Input costs
Payment terms
Duration of contracts
Vendor information
and training

Enterprise development
Preferential procurement
terms
BEE ratings

Foskor has more than
2,500 vendors in its supplier
database. The following
services are offered to them:
• Vendor training
• Supplier days
• R1.4 billion spent on BEE
suppliers
• R1.3 million spent on
supplier development
• R6.9 million spent on local
economic development

Communities
and
community
leaders

Public and personal meetings
CSI initiatives
Quarterly meetings with
kgoshis
Community open days
Integrated development plan
and economic development
forums
Social and labour plans
Grievance and conflict
resolution processes
Ad hoc communications,
i.e. letters and meetings

Sustainable socio-economic
development
Transformation
Developing a talent pool
Corporate social investment
initiatives
Pollution, safety and health
matters
Consultation on proposed
new projects
Significant changes to
existing operations

Land claims and cultural
heritage
Community’s inability to
supply scarce skills
Enterprise development and
local procurement

R6.9 million on CSI initiatives
Social labour plans and local
economic development
Community Trusts
R389 million in mine
rehabilitation guarantees
Environmental Rehabilitation
Trusts

Government
Meetings
and regulatory Written communications
bodies
Presentations
Audits
Business associations

Media

Networking and briefing
sessions
Press releases
Telephonic and other
interviews

Safety
Statutory and legal
compliance
Non-compliance
Transparent and full
Default risk
disclosures of Group’s
structures, activities and
intention
Safety
Local economic development
Transformation
Company news
New developments
Safety incidents
Job advertisements
Tenders

Work stoppages
Employment in a tough
market

Statutory compliance
enforced through the Legal
and Compliance Department
Regular meetings and
presentations to the various
departments and government
bodies

Regular contact, briefings and
networking sessions allows
them face to face interactions
Written communications often
used to answer queries

19
OPERATING CONTEXT AND
STRATEGIC INTENT

Stakeholder

OPERATING CONTEXT AND
STRATEGIC INTENT

20

Stakeholder

How we communicate
with them

Financial
institutions
and other
lenders

What matters to them

What concerns them

Meetings
Letters
Emails

Liquidity position
Risk management and
exposure
Gearing ratio
Interest cover

Negative cash flows
Other debt obligations
Ability to service debt

Insurers

Meetings
Site visits
Reports

Adequate risk management
Internal controls

Ageing equipment and
technology
Over reliance on Transnet
Freight Rail (TFR)

Special
interest
groups/peer
groups

Business body memberships
Meetings
Industry initiatives
Conferences and seminars

Safety and health
Environmental matters
Regulatory changes
Economic drivers
Company expansion plans

Nationalisation

How we respond to their
concerns
Prudent liquidity risk
management allows for
maintaining sufficient cash
and marketable securities,
managing cash flows and
raising adequate borrowing
facilities
Rigorous maintenance and
regular inspections limit
insurance claims
Alternative export corridors
sought to reduce reliance
on TFR
Member of following forums
and associations:
• International Fertilizer
Association
•F
 ertilizer Society
of Southern Africa
•K
 ZN Growth Coalition
•Z
 ululand Chamber of
Commerce and Industry
•R
 ichards Bay Clean
Air Association
•u
 Mhlatuze Pipeline Forum
•u
 Mhlatuze Emergency
Planning Forum
• Olifants River Water
Catchment Forum
•T
 ransnet’s Environmental
Forum Meeting in
accordance with the
Environment’s Management
Plan for Port Operations
•K
 ruger National Park
Environmental Management
Forum

"Designed and developed in Australia in the early 1990s, Rapidwall was awarded the prestigious
“2009 Global Gypsum Product of the Year” award and was recognised as a “Good Practice” by
the United Nations Habitat Business Awards for sustainable urbanisation. It can be proven that
a ray of sunlight emits more radiation than a phosphogypsum panel used in the construction
of low-cost housing."
Percy Mosweu – VP: Strategy and New Business Development

Foskor uses various forums and channels such as media networking
events and briefings to gather feedback from stakeholders. Below are
some of the concerns that were raised by members of the public and
these were Foskor’s responses to them:
Q1: There are rumours circulating that Foskor is up for sale and
potential buyers are already lined up. Please can you shed
some light on this speculation?
– Chloë, developer
A1: Dear Chloë, we can confirm that these are nothing more than
rumours. Although it is our policy not to comment on speculation,
this rumour may have stemmed from the sale of our neighbour in
Phalaborwa and residents may have confused the names of the
two companies. It could be advisable for you to look into the sale
of Pabalabora Mining company shares by Rio Tinto and Anglo
American.
Q2: Foskor is trying to find a joint venture partner to invest
R116 million to turn its industrial waste into cheap gypsum
boards, cement and panels to build low cost homes. But
the company does not mention that the waste contains
radioactive materials such as uranium and thorium, nor does
it say whether it would pose danger to the people that would
occupy it.
– Extract from article written by Tony Carnie,
journalist for the Natal Mercury
A2: Phosphogypsum is the by-product of producing phosphoric acid
by reacting phosphate rock with sulphuric acid. Foskor, like most
companies, has been investigating numerous ways to re-use its
waste products to either generate an additional income stream
or to minimise the impact that its waste has on the environment.
Since 2007, the Industrial Development Corporation’s Strategic
High Impact Projects strategic business unit has been working
with Foskor to jointly find viable alternatives for the use of its waste
phosphogypsum stream which is currently being pumped out to
sea.
Various options for utilising waste phosphogypsum were
reviewed approved in February 2008. The Rapidwall system was

highlighted as an innovative and potentially novel solution that
addresses industrial, environmental, commercial, empowerment,
employment and provincial housing issues. The Rapidwall®
system is a prefabricated load-bearing wall suitable for residential,
commercial and industrial building construction. It is suitable for
buildings such as houses, schools, clinics, libraries and multistorey buildings with reduced construction periods that are almost
double that if using conventional material such as brick and mortar.
In addition, the technology allows for producing phosphogypsumbased plaster for applications such as stucco (calcined gypsum),
wall plaster and fillers.
Designed and developed in Australia in the early 1990s,
Rapidwall was awarded the prestigious “2009 Global Gypsum
Product of the Year” award and was recognised as a “Good
Practice” by the United Nations Habitat Business Awards for
sustainable urbanisation. This product is of high standard, is an
environmentally friendly product which has very low to minimal
carbon footprint. The Environmental Impact Assessment has been
approved in June 2010 and the next step is to get approval from
the National Nuclear Regulator (NNR) to commence with tests
to confirm that radiation emissions from the phosphogypsum
is negligible. It has already been proven that the gypsum content
is far below acceptable limits. In fact, it can be proven that a ray of
sunlight emits more radiation than a phosphogypsum panel does.
This product is also being produced in India, China and Oman.
Foskor is a proudly South African and socially responsible
corporate citizen and will only pursue the project in so far that it
can alleviate poverty and homelessness. As part of our feasability
studies, we have approached certain bodies to verify the safety
of the phosphogypsum panels and to confirm the low levels of
radioactivity. Foskor will not proceed with the low cost housing
project should it be found to be harmful.
Q3:	Last year, a site inspection undertaken by the Department
of Water Affairs, Department of Agriculture, Environmental
Affairs and Rural Development, as well as Foskor personnel
revealed that Foskor’s outlet pipe was discharging
contaminated water into the Thulazihleka pan. But we did not
read what was enforced by all mentioned parties about the
correction of this duly noted problem.
– V. Janse van Rensburg, concerned resident
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ADDRESSING STAKEHOLDER CONCERNS ON KEY
ENVIRONMENTAL AND OTHER ISSUES

A3: A project is in place to modify the storm water dam which will
prevent any contaminated water into the Thulazihleka pan.
The dam is currently designed for a 1:20-year flood. A project is in
place to change it to a 1:50-year flood which will allow for a larger
capacity to contain the dam which prevents overflows. A change
in the current pump size and configuration which will allow for
better control and preventative measures the contaminated water
in the dam and its containment within the site.
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Q4: The toxicity of effluent was tested on 14 occasions between
May 2010 and October 2011 using the sea urchin fertilisation
test. The toxicity of Foskor’s gypsum fluoride effluent
greatly exceeded by two to three orders of magnitude
the design dilution criterion of the B-line on all test dates.
Why are strategies to reduce the toxicity of wastewater on
the B/C line arising from the Foskor plant not investigated
and implemented?
– Extract from article written by Ronelle Ramsamy,
journalist for the Zululand Observer
A4: Foskor is in the process of applying for a permit from the Department
of Water Affairs to remove the fluoride from the buoyant and
dense lines. This AHF (Anahydrous Fluoride)/ATF (Aluminium TriFluoride) Project will also extract major flourine by-products from
the system, not used in the production of phosphoric acid, before
they are discharged as effluent. Commencement of the project is
subject to the outcomes of the Environmental Impact Assessment
that is currently underway. Also, in 2011 a system, where sea
water was substituted for Mondi effluent to slurry gpsum, was put
in place. This greatly reduced the toxicity level as proven by an
accredited third party.
Q5: It appears that there has been a release from Foskor, which
has flowed down the slope in line with and under the conveyor
toward Valley Terminal, which has ultimately ended up in
the wetlands and Thulazihleka Pan. The dead and flattened
vegetation and dead fish would indicate contamination of
some kind, while the extensive corrosion would indicate a
significant flow of water from Foskor. Water sample results
further indicated non-compliance with all parameters
required by the National Water Act, No 36 of 1998.
– Summary of complaint from Sandy Camminga,
Vice Chairperson of uMhlatuze Ratepayers
and Residents Association

A5:	On 4 March 2012 excessive rainfall brought about by the tropical
cyclone Irina led to the overflowing of the retention dam. Over a
36-hour period, 250 mm of rain was measured and consequently
spilled over into the Thulazihleka Pan via a lower lying drainage
system. Notably, run-off from both Foskor and Grindrod’s Storage
Terminals feed the Thulazihleka Pan and Foskor is one of three
companies in the region that discharges fluorides. Samples taken
from the storm water overflow incident showed that the dam was
contaminated with fluorides and phosphoric acid. The pH of the
Thulazihleka Pan, on average, is 5.7 however at the time of storm
water dam overflow dropped slightly to around 5.4 Although
there is no national specification for phosphates in raw water, an
increased level of contamination can result in algae blooms.
It is unfortunate that dead fish were noted about 30 hours after
the overflow had stopped, but sampling of the area showed that
no new fish died subsequently. The storm water retention dam is
designed to catch the contaminated plant run-off and circulate it
back to the plant or to pump excess water to the sea. As a result
of the incident, excess water was pumped to sea via the Buoyant
Line; and as agreed with the Department of Water Affairs, the spill
was flushed with fresh water. The pool of contaminated water next
to Grindrod’s terminals was sucked up and redirected back to the
plant. Roads damaged as a result of the incident were repaired
on 8 March 2012.
Additional mitigation measures that were instituted include:
•

cleaning out the sludge build-up to restore the capacity of
both the primary and secondary dams;

•

lining the secondary dam to reduce the risk of groundwater
contamination should water flow into the secondary dam in
the future;

•

maintaining the water levels of the secondary dam at an
absolute minimum; and

•

reviewing the pumping capacity to determine whether
improvements to the pumps can reduce the possibility of dam
overflows.

Our strategic focus areas

Materiality determines the relevance and significance of an issue to an
organisation and its stakeholders that influences the decisions, actions
and performance of a company. In consultation with the risk and
strategy managers and representative managers from the operations,
Foskor began a materiality determination process to ascertain which
financial and non-financial sustainability drivers could adversely impact
stakeholders’ decisions if critical information on these factors was
withheld from them. At two workshops held during the year, six material
issues were identified which, if not properly or effectively managed and
monitored, could have dire consequences for Foskor and result in
serious reputational damage.

KEY RISKS AND OPPORTUNITIES
Foskor’s risk management aims to identify and evaluate risks as early
as possible and limit business losses by taking appropriate measures.
Foskor’s enterprise-wide risk management allows for a structured
approach to identify risks in a unitary framework that is aligned to the
Group’s corporate governance. Risk is an intrinsic aspect of business
and is inseparable from opportunity. Risks are defined as any event that
could impact negatively on the achievement of short-term operational
or long-term strategic goals. Opportunities are possible successes
which may arise from identifying and responding to potential threats to
the company’s sustainability.
The Board of Directors is responsible for and ultimately held
accountable for the overall risk management process. The Board has
delegated its authority to the Board Audit and Risk Committee which
oversees the manner in which executive management executes the risk
management strategy.
In the 2011 annual report, the chief executive oficer outlined Foskor’s
top 10 strategic thrusts declaring that the company had renewed its
commitment to prioritise matters affecting the environment; financial

stability; governance; health; market diversification; people; product
diversification; production; quality and safety. These criteria remain
priorities for Foskor, but were re-packaged into material issues at the
2012 Board Strategy Session. Going forward, the strategic thrusts
will be discussed under the strategic responses in Table 6. Financial
stability and governance are now considered an inherent part of
running a sustainable and profitable business and will be discussed
in the CFO’s report on pages 36 to 52 and the Corporate Governance
and Remuneration reports on pages 94 to 115. The CEO’s report and
Operational Reviews on pages 32 to 35 and 53 to 68, respectively,
discuss the revised business strategy, with the key performance
measures listed in Table 6 headed “Unpacking Foskor’s key strategic
focus areas” on page 25.
Broadly speaking, Foskor’s focus for the next three years will be on
achieving operational excellence by stabilising the Acid Division’s
reliability, raising plant operating efficiencies and minimising cost and
waste. This will serve as the preparatory work for more beneficiation
and product diversification projects that are currently in the feasibility
stages. Within the next three to five years, the packaging and mixing
of NPKs should introduce a new revenue stream. Foskor still eyes
the targets of R10 billion revenue and a sustainable earnings before
interest and tax of R1.2 billion per annum, but recognises that it will
be a challenging and testing journey towards reaching these targets.
Several game changers will have to come into play before these targets
are achieved.

RISK MANAGEMENT
The Directors of Foskor have committed the Group to a process
of risk management which is aligned with ISO 31000, Committee
of Sponsoring Organisations (COSO), generally accepted good
practice as well as the King Code of Governance Principles and the
King Report on Governance 2009 (King III) as issued by The Institute
of Directors in Southern Africa. It is expected that all Group business
units, divisions, subsidiaries and processes will be subject to the Risk
Policy and Framework.

Table 5: Classification of Group strategic risks in terms of the Group Risk Profile
High likelihood, high impact issues

Medium potential impact issues

Low potential impact issues

Safety

High cost of raw materials

Land claims

Customer concentration

PMC’s impact on production

Exchange rate volatility

Logistics or infrastructure constraints

Liquidity

Plant reliability/efficiencies

Access to affordable financing

Compliance

Absenteeism

Unavailability of critical inputs

Entry into sub-Saharan Africa

Scarce skills
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MATERIALITY

Risk management is a process which runs throughout the company.
The responsibility and accountability for risk management rests
with management and staff, although the Board of Directors retains
accountability and responsibility for the overall process of risk
management. Foskor recognises that risk in business is a complex
and diverse concept and that there are many parts of the company
engaged in managing risk exposures. It is the intention that these parts
work together in a consistent and integrated manner with the overall
objective of reducing risk wherever possible.
Risk management is not intended to impede business but rather to
assist with the achievement of the company’s objectives. Commitment
to Foskor’s philosophy of risk management will ensure a safer, healthier
work environment for employees and the preservation of assets and
earnings for the benefit of the shareholders.
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The underlying premise of Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) is
that every company exists to provide value for its stakeholders. All
companies face uncertainty and the challenge for management is
to determine how much uncertainty to accept as it strives to grow
stakeholder value. Uncertainty presents both risk and opportunity, with
the potential to erode or enhance value. ERM enables management to
effectively deal with uncertainty and associated risk and opportunity,
enhancing the capacity to build value.
Value is maximised when management sets objectives to achieve an
optimal balance between growth and related risks, and effectively
deploys resources in pursuit of the company’s objectives.
Risk is defined as an event or situation which may impact on Foskor’s
ability to achieve its objectives. Enterprise Risk Management is a
process to effectively and proactively identify, assess, quantify, and
mitigate such events, providing Foskor with reasonable assurance that
its objectives will be met.
The realisation of Foskor’s business strategy depends on its
management being able to take calculated risks in a way that does
not jeopardise the direct interests of stakeholders. Sound management
of risk will enable Foskor to anticipate and respond to changes in the
Group’s business environment, as well as make informed decisions
under conditions of uncertainty.
Foskor is further committed to establishing appropriate mechanisms to
serve as early warning indicators for emerging or unpredictable risks.
Equally the Group will ensure compliance with relevant legislation and
will fulfil the expectations of our employees, communities, shareholders
and other stakeholders in terms of due diligence and corporate
governance.
An enterprise-wide approach to risk management has been adopted
by Foskor, which means that every identified key risk will be included
in a structured and systematic process of risk management. These

will be managed within a unitary framework aligned with the Group’s
corporate governance responsibilities.
Through the application of the ERM Framework, the Group will:
•

Align risk appetite and strategy: Foskor management will consider
the risk appetite of both the Group and divisions, as determined
by the Board, in evaluating strategic alternatives, setting related
objectives, and developing mechanisms to manage related risks.

•

Enhance risk response decisions: ERM will provide the rigour
for management to identify and select among alternative risk
responses – such as risk avoidance, reduction, sharing, and
acceptance.

•

Reduce operational surprises and losses: Foskor will acquire
enhanced capability to identify potential events and establish
responses, reducing surprises and associated costs or losses
through ERM.

•

Identify and manage multiple and cross-company risks: Foskor will,
through ERM, identify risks and facilitate effective and integrated
responses to the interrelated impacts.

•

Seize opportunities: By considering a full range of potential events,
Foskor management will be positioned to identify and proactively
realise or capitalise on opportunities.

•

Improve deployment of capital: Obtaining reliable risk information
will allow Foskor’s management to effectively assess overall capital
needs and enhance capital allocation.

•

Ensure compliance with laws and regulations: Foskor’s management
will ensure effective reporting of risks and compliance with laws
and regulations and will avoid damage to Foskor’s reputation with
associated consequences.

•

Foskor’s management is committed to govern the Group’s activities
in a manner commensurate with the overarching corporate
governance principles of fairness, accountability, responsibility and
transparency.

Table 6 links the identified material issues to the underlying strategic
risks and opportunities. It also provides explanation of how the risks
are controlled and what the company’s strategic responses to the
risks are. Furthermore key performance indicators are listed against
the deliverables that were set at the start of the financial year and the
actual performance measures are detailed alongside them. The key
performance indicators are currently short-term in nature and form the
basis for the three to five-year company strategy. Foskor still needs to
define the medium and long-term performance targets against which
management will be benchmarked.

Table 6: Unpacking Foskor’s key strategic focus areas

Context

Why it is material

Opportunities

Foskor has a few
key customers
with the majority
of its phosphoric
acid exported to
India. The loss
of a domestic
customer for
phosphate rock has
led to excessive
stockpiling, thereby
tying cash up in
inventories. Also,
logistics constraints
do not allow for
moving these
stocks to other
potential customers
in the rest of Africa
speedily enough.

Foskor relies heavily
on selling to a
concentrated group
of customers, with
30% sales to India.
The loss of one
key customer has
led to excess rock
stockpiles of more
than 700,000 tons
of phosphate rock
concentrate.

Broadening
the customer
base expands
Foskor’s corporate
footprint. New
customers bring
new demands
that will inform
Foskor’s product
diversification
strategy.

Limitations on
infrastructure
expansions make
Foskor overly
reliant on Transnet
Freight Rail (TFR).
Derailments, strikes
and other factors
affecting TFR’s
performance add
to Foskor’s costs
and narrows profit
margins. Logistical
constraints also
negatively impact
the movement of
inputs affecting
the availability and
final prices of raw
materials such as
ammonia, sulphur
and phosphate
rock.

80% of phosphate
rock produced in
Phalaborwa was
railed by TFR to
Richards Bay for
both domestic use
and exports. TFR
is costly and its
capacity problems
and inconsistent
performance adds
to Foskor’s costs.
Foskor needs to
divert its exports
away from the
Phalaborwa/
Richards Bay line
to alleviate capacity
pressures. A TFR
derailment on
the Phalaborwa
– Richards Bay
line directly
impacts Foskor’s
production.

Logistics

Performance
Key performance against
indicators
the KPIs

The Marketing
and Sales Division
drives the market
diversification
strategy in
a fiercely
competitive
industry.

Targeted sales
per annum to
customers:

Actual volumes
sold to customers:

Phosphate rock:
2.6 million tons

Phosphate rock:
2.3 million tons

P2O5:
506,000 tons

P2O5:
402,000 tons

Sulphuric acid:
36,000 tons

Sulphuric acid:
31,000 tons

MAP/DAP:
346,000 tons.

MAP/DAP:
275,000 tons.

Foskor has
reduced the
over-reliance on
the Indian market
from 66% in 2009
to 30% in 2012.
Through its market
diversification
drive, a target of
25% sales to India
has been set
for 2013.
Foskor will
continue to
broaden its
product range
by beneficiating
phosphoric acid
and granular
fertilizer products
to develop more
diversified, but
related new
products.

Foskor is seeking
alternative
trade routes to
move its excess
phosphate rock. If
Foskor succeeds
in diminishing
logistical
constraints,
it can quickly
raise capacities
and move final
products to a
broader customer
base.

Foskor engages
with TFR on
a regular and
ongoing basis.

Maputo corridor
Targeted number
Foskor stands
of trains per week:
to benefit greatly
10.
through its longstanding business
relations with TFR.
TFR is negotiating
an alliance with
Mozambique Rail.
This will introduce
a new route for
Foskor’s exports
via the Maputo
corridor.
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Average number
of trains moved
per week: 9.
Foskor is exploring
the possibility
of increased
storage facilities in
Richards Bay and
using the Maputo
Corridor for rock
exports to alleviate
the pressure on
the Phalaborwa –
Richards Bay rail
line.
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Material issue
Customer
concentration

Risk mitigation
and
Strategic
control measures response

Material issue

Context

Why it is material

Opportunities

Operating
licence

Foskor is subjected
to a host of
ever-changing
regulations. Failure
to comply with
laws such as the
Companies Act;
Mine Health and
Safety Act and the
Competition Act,
amongst a host of
others, can lead to
the forced closure
of the company.

Non-compliance of
prescribed health,
environment and
safety standards
can lead to
significant penalties
or loss of operating
licence. Matters
adversely affecting
the community’s
perception of
Foskor can also
lead to boycotts
or protracted
industrial action
against the
company, forcing it
to close.

The compliance
with applicable
laws, regulations
and standards
has led to an
improved process
of streamlining
systems and
control processes.
Staff receive
training on
certification
requirements and
legal matters.
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Plant
reliability,
efficiency and
maintenance

Frequent work
stoppages raise
inefficiencies as the
plant never reaches
a steady state,
the pre-requisite
for consistent
and uninterrupted
production.
Breakdowns
have become
more frequent,
especially at the
Acid Division where
the equipment
and technology
are ageing and
outdated. This adds
to the maintenance
and operational
costs.

Ageing equipment
and technology
is negatively
impacting the
plant’s reliability.
Production remains
below full capacity
and continues
to dwindle while
downtimes and
maintenance costs
escalate, lowering
overall plant
efficiencies.

The performance
improvement
plans will
enable both
the correction
of inefficiencies
raising tonnages
produced as well
as introduce new
products as the
expansions will
raise capacity.

Risk mitigation
and
Strategic
control measures response

Performance
Key performance against
indicators
the KPIs

The Legal and
Compliance
Department
ensures
compliance with
all environmental,
safety and
other company
laws. The Legal
Compliance
function continues
to build capacity
and gain
momentum.
Foskor promotes
the responsible
supervision of
resources required
to achieve
ISO 9001
for quality
management;
ISO 14001 for
environmental
management;
OHSAS 18001
for occupational,
health and safety
management;
and SANS 16001
for HIV/Aids
management.

Operational
excellence
forms the base
for achieving
sustainable
revenue and profit
growth. The triple
bottom line can
only be achieved
if all statutory
requirements
regarding safety,
environmental
hazards and
health parameters
are met.

Targeted
compliance:

Actual
performance:

Number of DMR
ordered work
stoppages: 0

Number of DMR
ordered work
stoppages: 1

Number of days
lost to work
stoppages: 0

Number of days
lost to work
stoppages: 7

Number of work
stoppages related
to environmental
or health and
safety concerns: 0

Number of work
stoppages related
to environmental
or health
concerns: 0

Fatalities: 0

Number of
work stoppages
related to safety
concerns: 1

A capital
replacement
project is under
way to renew
or revitalise the
Acid Division’s
equipment and
machinery over
the next three
years. Various
performance
improvement
plans are being
implemented
to counter the
production
losses that are
currently being
experienced.

Operational
excellence
forms the base
for achieving
sustainable
revenue and
profit growth. This
will be achieved
through cost
cutting, tight
financial controls,
raising efficiencies,
overall plant
and logistics
improvements
and by optimising
existing
capacities.

LTIFR : <1

Fatalities: 0
LTIFR : 0.32

Targeted
efficiencies: 92%

Actual efficiencies:
84.9%

Number
of planned
shutdowns: 4

Number of actual
shutdowns: 3

Duration
of planned
shutdowns:
25 days

Duration of
shutdowns:
10.5 days

Planned output:

Actual output:

• Phosphate rock:
2.8 million tons

• Phosphate rock:
2.4 million tons

• P205: 690,000
tons

• P2O5: 541,000
tons

•S
 ulphuric acid:
36,000 tons

• Sulphuric acid:
31,000 tons

•M
 AP/DAP:
347,000 tons

• MAP/DAP:
283,000 tons

Context

Why it is material

Opportunities

Attraction and
retention of
scarce skills

The gap in critical
skills especially in
the technical and
engineering fields
remains a concern.

The Mining Division
in particular is
battling to recruit
and retain technical
staff, especially
engineers.
Institutional
memory is being
systematically lost,
fuelled by high
labour turnover for
technical experts
and poaching
within the industry.

Human Capital is
revising its current
way of attracting
and retaining
scarce skills
and is tailoring
the reward and
remuneration
system. As such,
the employee
value proposition
and retention
mechanisms will
be enhanced.

Performance
Key performance against
indicators
the KPIs

The development
of management
and technical
skills is an integral
part of Human
Capital’s strategy.
Training and
development
programmes
are being finetuned to allow
for seamless
succession
planning,
developing
career pathways
and advancing
capabilities.
Foskor has
a Technical
Assistance
Agreement with
Coromandel
International
Limited to raise
and improve
its capabilities
in safety,
procurement,
capital
expenditure,
technical
expertise,
technology,
research and
recruitment.

No. of engineering
vacancies at start
of financial year:
18

No. of engineering
vacancies at end
of financial year:
20

No. of technical
vacancies at start
of financial year:
46

No. of technical
vacancies at end
of financial year:
46

Labour turnover
for skilled labour:
3%

Labour turnover
for skilled labour:
5%

The Human
Capital Division is
undergoing a ringfencing exercise.
Staff classified
as scarce or
critical will receive
enhanced benefits
and remuneration
packages.
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STRATEGIC INTENT

Material issue

Risk mitigation
and
Strategic
control measures response

"The company is currently ring-fencing "hard to keep positions" and will offer parties in these
positions above market-related packages and benefits as motivation to extend their tenures
at Foskor."
Sarah Luthuli – VP: Human Capital

2012
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Extension 8 Baghouse: Mining Division
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Heightened uncertainty and a decelerating recovery momentum
characterised the global economic environment over the past financial
year. Consequently, the rate of increase in the world’s output slowed to
3.9%, according to the latest estimates of the International Monetary
Fund, from 5.3% in 2010.
From a regional perspective, the situation in Europe was centred on
the deepening sovereign and banking crises, the provision of massive
financial assistance to several countries on the Eurozone’s periphery
and the impact of the concomitant austerity measures which they
would have to implement. The recovery in the United States of
America, in turn, was somewhat slower than anticipated, whilst Japan
experienced enormous setbacks due to catastrophic natural disasters.
Within the emerging world, whereas China experienced a marginal
slowdown, India was unable to sustain the previous year’s impressive
performance. Nevertheless, both Asian giants still managed to post
enviable economic growth rates last year. Brazil’s sharp deceleration,
on the other hand, dragged down Latin America’s overall performance.
The South African economy, although significantly affected by renewed
adversity in some of its traditional export markets, was able to record
a modest 3.1% growth in calendar year 2011. However, this rate was
two percentage points below the average for sub-Saharan Africa as
a whole.
Weak growth or outright recessionary conditions in the Eurozone have
proven seriously challenging for South Africa’s export sector, including
Foskor, since Europe is a key trading partner. India’s macro-economic
performance is also extremely important for the company, as this is
one of the most important destinations for its export products. Hence,
the substantial loss of momentum experienced by the Indian economy
in the first quarter of calendar year 2012 (i.e. the last quarter of the
financial year under review), coupled with large fiscal and external
deficits, as well as strong inflationary pressures, provide reason for
concern.
To reduce their vulnerability to adverse developments on the global
trading arena, reflected by a more than halving of growth in world
trade volumes to less than 6% in 2011, as well as by downward price
pressure in commodity markets (including phosphoric acid), South
African export-oriented firms, such as Foskor, are focusing on market
diversification as a core strategy.
Market penetration in the rest of the African continent is integral to
the company’s external sales strategy. After all, the average annual

economic growth rate recorded by sub-Saharan Africa over the past
two years was in the order of 5.2% to 5.3%, with projections for the
next couple of years expected to remain or marginally exceed this
range. Foskor’s strategic intent in this regard is exemplified by the
recent sales of its raw sulphur to the SADC region, gradually realising
the potential benefits associated with the ongoing regional integration
drive.
Other rapidly growing, sizeable and increasingly influential emerging
economies are also key to our market development strategy. These
are increasingly preferred destinations for foreign direct investment and
are accounting for rising shares of global trade. Our country joined the
BRICS geopolitical and economic grouping, comprising Brazil, Russia,
India, China and South Africa, in December 2010. This membership
presents a wide array of opportunities for South African firms in terms
of global positioning and market access, technical co-operation and
skills development, access to new technologies and inward investment.

An increasingly competitive phosphate
industry
Fertiliser production for the agriculture industry has become a cut-throat
business, with demand having tightened and new competitors having
disrupted the ordinary flow of business. Existing players remained
determined to gain market share through organic growth and, where
possible, by means of mergers and acquisitions. Striving to maintain
or grow market share meant that many dominant players were actively
involved in raising the capital required for their product diversification
and expansionary endeavours.
Foskor, as an unlisted entity, cannot draw comparisons based on share
price and market capitalisations against its competitors. Nonetheless,
the activities and behaviour of competitors were monitored over the
past year so as to benchmark the company’s performance and gain a
sense of where industry was heading. The growth strategies pursued
by some of these competitors in 2011 resulted in dominant market
players crowding out minorities by using economies of scale to raise
supply.
Considering the rapidly changing operating landscape within the
global phosphate industry, particularly the augmentation of production
capacity and proliferation of international joint ventures, it is evident that
the environment in which Foskor is competing has become particularly
challenging and saturated. Phosphate suppliers are increasing in
number and existing suppliers are continuously extending capacity and
raising efficiencies while competing for the same customer base. In light
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A trying global trading environment

of its size and geographical positioning vis-à-vis its competitors, Foskor
will remain a price-taker for phosphoric acid that is susceptible to rand/
US dollar exchange rate fluctuations and other trade determinants.

Confronting operational challenges
During the year under review, South African mining was affected by
stoppages associated with industrial action, safety-related challenges
and technological difficulties, as well as by infrastructural hurdles
and, from a perception standpoint, the nationalisation debate.
Disappointingly, therefore, the mining sector’s volume of production
declined by 0.6% in 2011. Foskor was no exception, with its production
and earnings adversely impacted upon by temporary shutdowns due
to health and safety issues, worker solidarity with national strike activity,
and by infrastructural bottlenecks.
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The swift implementation of the massive infrastructure investment
being rolled-out by South Africa’s public sector entities is critical
to improve the efficiency and cost-effectiveness of the national
transport infrastructure and associated logistics. This will prevent the
reoccurrence of hurdles faced by Foskor during the year under review,
specifically the limited ability to move sufficient stocks from Phalaborwa
to the ports and inadequate storage facilities at the latter.
Our value-adding operations, in turn, were affected by technological
challenges underpinned by aging plant and machinery, which
compromised throughput, efficiencies and cost-effectiveness. This
underlines the strategic imperative of major capital expenditure
targeting the upgrade and modernisation of plant and equipment, as
well as of continuous maintenance, so as to improve efficiencies and
competitiveness, whilst sustaining asset value over an extended period
of time.
Narrowing the critical skills gap, specifically through staff retention,
development and recruitment, is also crucial for the sustainability of
Foskor. This was highlighted by various weaknesses on the human
resources front during the course of the year, particularly in the
technical, engineering and managerial fields. Accordingly, the attraction
and retention of critical skills is one of the five leading material issues
identified by the company.

Sustainable business development
Foskor has begun its evolutionary journey toward integrated reporting
with my support and backing. The process of integrated reporting
commenced with an exercise whereby the Board interrogated, fine-

tuned and, in certain instances, redefined the company’s existing
strategy after having considered Foskor’s material issues, associated
risks and opportunities.
Foskor’s planned journey for the future may be simplistically
encapsulated as “achieving revenue and profit growth through
diversification, beneficiation and organic growth as the basis for
operational excellence”. It is the company’s strategic intent to enhance
shareholder value through the sustainable achievement of R1.2 billion
in earnings before interest and tax per annum.
Towards the latter part of calendar year 2011, the city of Durban
proudly hosted COP 17, a major international event under the auspices
of the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change,
where delegates from all over the world congregated in pursuit of
more sustainable solutions for the footprint of humanity on earth. At
the Rio+20 conference in June 2012, Heads of State and Government
renewed their “commitment to sustainable development, and to ensure
the promotion of economically, socially and environmentally sustainable
future for our planet and for present and future generations”, as stated
in the opening paragraph of its outcome document, The Future We
Want.
Foskor is committed to following a sustainable development trajectory,
one that is responsibly mindful of the impact of its operations on the
natural environment, the communities in their periphery, as well as on
the local and regional economies.
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pleasure of welcoming Mr John Barton and Mr Nkosemntu Nika to our
Board in February 2012. Their expertise and advice will deeply enrich
Foskor’s leadership.
I would also like to thank the management and staff of Foskor for their
dedication and perseverance in these trying times, and I count on
their continued commitment to the implementation of the company’s
sustainable development strategies.
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Mining Division

FROM THE CEO’S DESK
Foskor has officially commenced its evolutionary journey on the road
to integrated reporting. Preparation for the first integrated report
required serious deliberation, among others, over what issues were
materially important to the business. A matter was deemed material
if it was pertinent to keeping Foskor either operational or profitable; or
if the absence thereof could render the business such that it would no
longer be a going concern. The material issues that were shortlisted
determined the company’s long-term sustainability and took into
account the impact our operations have had on the communities
where we operate, on the environment and on the local and regional
economies to which we have contributed.
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In the 2011 Annual Report, Foskor’s top 10 strategic thrusts behind the
business’ performance were discussed. These were the environment;
financial stability; governance; health; market diversification; product
diversification; our people; production; quality and safety. Although
these remain critical to the organisation’s success, the strategic thrusts
have been filtered on the basis of what constitutes ordinary business
practices versus what factors may “make or break” Foskor. The same
filtering process was used to determine the key risks and opportunities.
The top 10 strategic thrusts have now been reformulated into six
material issues: the number and geographical spread of customers;
logistics; social license to operate; plant reliability, efficiency and
maintenance; and lastly, the attraction and retention of critical skills.

KEY EVENTS DURING THE REPORTING PERIOD
The number and geographical spread of customers
For the reporting period ended 31 March 2012, sales amounted to
402,000 tons of phosphoric acid (budget: 506,000 tons); 31,000 tons
of sulphuric acid (budget: 36,000 tons); 2.3 million tons of phosphate
rock (budget: 2.6 million tons); and 275,000 tons of granular fertilizer
(budget: 346,000 tons). The fact that sales were below budget can
be attributed to the limited availability of stocks due to production
problems; the scale down of a key customer namely the ex-Sasol
Nitro Plant in Phalaborwa and a rise in the number of competitors
geographically closer to major customers. The ex-Sasol Nitro Plant’s
scale down has resulted in excessive stockpiling of phosphate rock
concentrate with an estimated sales value of R700 million. Although
a market exists for phosphate rock, the logistics required to deliver it
profitably remain extremely challenging.
The sustainability of sales arrangements became a concern when
contractual phosphoric acid sales to India occurred at a loss because
of falling global prices towards the end of 2011. To counter this, granular

fertilizer production had to be ramped up while new customers were
aggressively pursued. In January 2012 Mondi came on board as a new
customer with an annual demand of 21,000 metric tons for sulphuric
acid and raw sulphur was sold to the Southern African Development
Community as an additional revenue stream.

Logistics
Like many South African companies, Foskor’s ability to move
sufficient stocks was partly constrained by the country’s attenuating
infrastructure that raised many logistical hitches. Although Transnet
Freight Rail moved about 96% of the planned phosphate rock from
Phalaborwa to Richards Bay on time, excess stockpiles in Phalaborwa
could not be sold due to the limited ability to move sufficient stocks to
the ports and inadequate storage facilities at the ports. The logistics
department aimed to secure the Maputo Corridor as an alternate
export route to alleviate the congestion on the Phalaborwa – Richards
Bay trail, a project that is still in progress.

Social license to operate
The first fruits of the Black Economic Empowerment (BEE) deal
announced in 2009 were seen at the June Board meeting when a
R74.6 million dividend gross of tax was declared of which R19.4 million
was paid out to the respective BEE partners. Staff received 6% and 5%
was shared between the Ba-Phalaborwa and uMhlatuze Community
Trusts.
The Emex Trust once again rated Foskor as a Level 5 BEE company,
with the company having scored highest in the ownership; management
and control; and employment equity categories. Areas noted for
improvement are skills and enterprise development. R1.2 million was
spent on capacitating black-owned entities doing business with Foskor.
Also, Foskor’s transformation and empowerment status to date is that
73% of all top, senior, professional and middle management come from
previously disadvantaged communities.
Health and safety matters as well as issues of national interest have
also had an impact on the company’s output. On 23 February 2012,
subsequent to a four-day Group Audit by the Department of Mineral
Resources’ (DMR) Inspectorate, Foskor’s Mining Division was issued
with a Section 54: Notice of Orders, Suspension and Instruction in
terms of the Mine, Health and Safety Act. The suspension was lifted on
28 February 2012. Foskor lost approximately R10 million in revenues
during this five-day period. The Mining Division came to another
standstill on 7 March 2012 when core staff joined in Cosatu’s national
strike against labour brokers and e-tolling.

The Acid Division’s losses can be attributed to:

The Group’s revenue for the financial year ended 31 March 2012 was
R5.1 billion, R950 million below the budget of R6.1 billion mainly due
to low sales volumes as a result of low production volumes. Foskor’s
earnings before interest, and tax (EBIT) for the period under review
were R333 million, R495 million below the budgeted R828 million. The
Group’s poor results were due to three main factors: poor phosphate
rock production at the Mining Division; high inefficiencies brought
about by the instability of the plant at the Acid Division (currently 84.9%
against the budgeted 92%); and poor phosphoric acid production at
the Acid Division.

•

Below par operating efficiency at the plant;

•

Sludge stock increases;

•

Structural failures due to ageing equipment;

•

Lack of preventative maintenance on the pan filters;

•

An ineffective skills transfer programme;

•

Plant overflows and acid carryover in the cooling towers; and

•

Sub-standard housekeeping in the plant.

The Mining Division’s production fell for numerous reasons throughout
the year:

Initiatives to mitigate the identified problems areas included relieving
expatriates from supervisory duties to focus on technical services;
fast tracking a shutdown as a temporary measure before the
installation of new pan filters in 2013; convening rigorous operational
improvement team meetings; implementing Knox Darcy’s Performance
Improvement Programme; and recruiting key personnel, including four
experienced senior managers.

•

•

The Palaborwa Mining Company’s (PMC) non-performance in terms
of the tolling agreement and the continued unreliable and inconsistent
feed received from PMC.
Mining equipment stoppages.

•	Ore supplies constrained by a backlog of waste.
•

Excessive underground water seepage into the pits.

The attraction and retention of critical skills

•

Flooding caused by Cyclone Dando.

•

Power failures.

•

A Section 54 notice from the Department of Mineral Resources
(DMR).

•

Cosatu’s national strike.

It is evident from what has been said above that many high level
appointments had to be made to narrow the critical skills gap at Foskor.
Filling technical and engineering vacancies and retaining critical skills
remains a challenge. The recruitment of a mine manager seasoned
in phosphate rock mining has proved to be exceptionally difficult and
costly.

•

Productivity improvements that did not materialise mainly as a
result of skills shortages.

•

Extension 8’s performance was affected by low ore supplies from
the North Pit.

•

Post-PEP2 (extension 8 de-bottlenecking) commissioning
problems.

Various mitigating initiatives were implemented to address
the production deficits at both Phalaborwa and Richards Bay.
At the Mining Division, a new mine manager was sought; two additional
haul trucks were purchased; a mining contractor was appointed
to remove the waste backlog; the excessive water in the pits was
managed by contractors; and specialist mining consultants were
appointed to improve equipment productivity and technical skills and
remedy obstructive behavioural issues.

The Human Capital Division secured a three-year wage settlement
agreement with unionised staff and introduced a new training assimilator
at the Mining Division which enables the training of production staff
with minimal disruptions to ordinary working routines. Training that
previously required a minimum of two weeks can now be successfully
completed in a day.
The Technical Assistance Agreement (TAA) with Coromandel
International Limited (CIL) is still in place. Staff sharing with CIL allows
for the transfer in skills related to technical, safety, procurement,
research and recruitment. In terms of the TAA, 25 expatriates from India
are actively based at the Acid Division in Richards Bay. The company
is currently ring-fencing hard to keep positions and will offer parties
in these positions above market-related packages and benefits as
motivation to extend their tenures at Foskor.
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Plant reliability, efficiency and maintenance

KEY IMPACTS, RISKS AND OPPORTUNITIES

At the beginning of the 2012 financial year, Foskor’s strategic focus
was on completing bankable feasibility studies for the diversification
projects that would have enabled the production of soluble MAP,
monocalcium phosphate, dicalcium phosphate and urea phosphate by
December 2011. Plans were made to set up a NPK plant in Richards
Bay; and to finalise the deflourinated acid project while sourcing
additional magnetite customers.

Foskor’s enterprise-wide risk management allows for a structured
approach to identifying risks in a unitary framework that is aligned to the
Group’s corporate governance. Risk is an intrinsic aspect of business
and is inseparable from opportunity. Risks are defined as any event that
can negatively impact the achievement of either short-term operational
or long-term strategic goals. Based on this definition, we see potential
opportunities to detect and eliminate threatening events before they
jeopardise the company’s long-term sustainability.
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As discussed, the challenges with regard to the plants’ reliability,
efficiency and maintenance meant that, in terms of planned output and
growth, 2011 was both a disappointing and testing year for Foskor.
In this regard, our initial strategic plans had to be set aside as the
emphasis shifted to urgently addressing more immediate problems. We
remain intent on achieving sustainable revenue growth to R10 billion a
year with EBIT of R1.2 billion, but we realise that the achievement of
such an ambitious goal can only be through persistent hard work and
by overcoming many trying obstacles ahead of us.
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SHORT TO MEDIUM-TERM OUTLOOK

The Acid Division is in serious need of rejuvenation, which will require
major capital expenditure. We estimate that the investment required to
modernise the plant, upgrade technologies and equipment and raise
efficiencies will be about R2 billion over the next three years. This drive
for operational excellence means that the company may possibly break
even in the 2012/13 financial year as management will divert its focus
to maintenance and correcting unproductive behaviours in the short
term.
To achieve operational excellence, cost managment will be
implemented alongside efficiency improvements while optimising the
existing capacities. The future growth of the company is dependent
on getting the existing operations right. Operational excellence is
dependent on leadership, teamwork and problem solving which will
result in continuous improvement throughout the organisation leading
to a focus on customer needs, empowered employees, and optimal
existing activities. Organic growth will only be possible after the mining
and acid operations as well as the logistics capacities have been
expanded.
Over the next three to five years, the product diversification feasibility
projects should be completed and, with a fully functional plant, both
revenues and the bottom line should recover substantially. By 2016, the
only new income stream may come from the NPK plant and organic
growth will only be evident after five years. Diversification will comprise
strategic partnerships, the acquisition of related businesses, and
developing diversified but related products.

A workshop was held with the Board of Directors to refine the
company’s top 20 risks. After aligning these with material issues, it
was decided that five factors posed a real threat to Foskor remaining
a going concern. These were identified as: customers, logistics, plant
reliability, compliance and skills shortages and are discussed in greater
detail on pages 23 to 27.
The Board of Directors is responsible for, and ultimately held
accountable for, the overall risk management process. The Board has
delegated its authority to the Board Audit and Risk Committee which
oversees the manner in which executive management executes the risk
management strategy.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS
For the period under review, Foskor won various awards. The Mining
Division won a national award in the Industrial, Mining and Power Sector
category from the Department of Water Affairs for water conservation
and reducing water demand. The Acid Division claimed three out of
six awards from the Zululand Chamber of Commerce and Industry
(ZCCI) in October. The ZCCI presented to Foskor the Corporate
Business of the Year Award; the Community Builder Award for its
corporate social investment initiatives in the KwaZulu-Natal region and
also the South African Business Coalition on HIV/Aids (SABCOHA)
Wellness Award for the company’s HIV/Aids programme for staff and
their families. Foskor is the first company in KwaZulu-Natal to win the
SABCOHA Wellness Award.

Foskor was rated as one of 69 out of 500 companies chosen as an
Employer of Choice by the Corporate Research Foundation Institute.
The Institute identifies top performers in the areas of human resources,
leadership and strategy.
Finally, in November 2011 the Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and Administrators (ICSA) in collaboration with Business Day, the
JSE and other top organisations, pleasantly surprised Foskor with a
Merit Award for Benchmarking in Integrated Reporting in the State
category. ICSA is the formal professional institute for the enabling of
corporate governance and company secretaries as well as the expert
commentator and thought leader in Southern Africa on governance
matters. This was the first Annual Report Award that Foskor had
ever received since the inception of the ICSA Annual Report Awards
56 years ago.
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WAY FORWARD

For the full set of annual financial statements, refer to the website or
disc attached to this publication
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I am of the view that the next financial year is going to be particularly
challenging, given mounting competition in the industry and the
extreme volatilities in the exchange rate and commodity prices. We
are acutely aware of the challenges and risks affecting the business
but will continue to maintain tight fiscal and managerial controls, whilst
implementing and overseeing mitigating action plans. I have great faith
that I have the right level of support and advisers in my management
team. I would also like to extend my gratitude to the directors for the
clear strategic vision and focused direction that they have provided in
the past and I bank on their enduring support going forward.

Sulphuric acid plant stack

CFO’s REPORT
FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL OVERVIEW – EXTRACT FROM THE SUMMARY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
2012

2011

2010

2009

2008

2011 – 2012
% Change

3 920
2 881
6 801
1 563
1 180
2 743
4 058

3 677
2 101
5 778
1 121
710
1 831
3 947

3 182
1 613
4 795
816
497
1 313
3 482

2 110
2 561
4 671
666
849
1 515
3 156

2 397
3 264
5 661
554
2 462
3 016
2 645

7
37
18
39
66
50
3

5 125
(3 739)
1 386
330
333
(14)
(56)
263
(79)
184
571

4 611
(3 078)
1 533
514
511
(3)
27
535
(158)
377
723

3 465
(2 276)
1 189
(6)
(7)
28
28
49
(107)
(58)
167

10 159
(6 285)
3 874
2 747
2 808
199
(294)
2 713
(795)
1 919
2 972

3 869
(2 238)
1 631
1 102
1 185
(18)
(44)
1 123
(283)
840
1 309

11
21
(10)
(36)
(35)
367
(307)
(51)
(50)
(51)
(21)

2012

2011

2010

2009

2008

2011 – 2012
Change

(%)
(%)

6.4
5.1

11.1
11.6

(0.2)
1.4

27.0
26.7

28.5
29.0

(4.7)
(6.5)

(times)
(%)
(%)

2.4
14.2
1.9

2.9
2.7
(7.5)

3.3
–
(14.9)

3.0
–
(11.6)

1.3
–
(48.4)

(0.5)
11.5
9.4

2012

2011

2010

2009

2008

2011 – 2012
% Change

(41)
413
(513)

375
596
(218)

982
824
155

1 085
489
631

994
360
640

(111)
(31)
135

R million
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SUMMARY GROUP STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION
Non-current assets
Current assets
Total assets
Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Total liabilities
Equity
SUMMARY GROUP STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Revenue
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Operating profit
Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT)
Net finance cost
Net foreign exchange (loss)/profit
Profit before tax
Income tax expense
Profit for the year
EBITDA

KEY RATIOS – FINANCIAL

Profitability margins
Operating margin
Pre-tax margin
Solvency and liquidity
Current ratio
Debt to equity ratio
Net debt to equity ratio

CASH FLOW
Extracts from the Cash Flow Statement
R million
CASH FLOW STATEMENT
FIVE-YEAR TREND
Net cash generated from operating activities
Capital expenditure
Free cash flows

Net cash generated from operating activities amounted to (R41) million
at March 2012 compared with R375 million at March 2011. Cash on
hand decline from R404 million at March 2011 to R359 million whilst
Foskor’s interest-bearing debt (long and short term) increased from
R107 million at March 2011 to R577 million resulting in net debt of
R218 million at the end of the year under review. The cash generated
in the previous year including the opening cash balance was used to
finance working capital and capital expenditure.

Net cash generated from
operating activities

986

1 085

994

800

The rock production after dust losses of 2,346 thousand tons is
229,000 tons lower than the previous year of 2,575 thousand tons
but still higher than 2010 where 2,168 thousand tons were produced.
The shortfall can mainly be attributed to the following factors:
•	The reliance on the Palaborwa Mining Company (PMC) for
phosphate rock production. The PMC stream produced 423,000
tons,107,000 tons less than the previous year’s 530,000 tons.

•	Equipment stoppages, unscheduled down times as well as the full
implementation of the new mine which takes longer to bed down.

600

•	A Section 54 mine stoppage from the Department of Mineral
Resources (DMR) resulting in a production loss of 62,000 tons.
375

400

(41)

200

97

0
-200

Production volumes

•	Adverse weather conditions (flooding) hindered Foskor from
unlocking the budgeted ore out of the open pit to feed to the
plant. Production was severely hampered by cyclone Dando that
hit Phalaborwa on 17 January 2012, when 285 mm of rain was
measured on the mine in a 36-hour period resulting in a 40,000 ton
production loss. The biggest challenge has been the de-watering
of both pits.

1 200
1 000

The key trends worth noting that impacted our financial performance
this year are:

2008

2009

2010

2011

2012

•	Extension 8’s performance which was affected by low ore supplies
from the North Pyroxenite Pit.
Phosphoric acid production of 541,000 tons is 106,000 tons lower
than the previous year of 647,000 tons. The shortfall can mainly be
attributed to:
•

The ageing phosphoric acid plant which requires more maintenance
and more frequent and intensive shutdowns.

FINANCIAL OVERVIEW – EARNINGS

•

The 2012 financial year has proven to be exceptionally tough. We
experienced a combination of a difficult mining and production
environment, and some internal challenges that contributed to a
decline in earnings before interest and tax (EBIT) from R511 million to
R333 million (34.8%).

The non-availability of Pan Filters 1 and 2 and frequent tank failures
which resulted not only in the production shortfall but also impacted
heavily on plant efficiency. The Acid Division only achieved an
efficiency of 84.9% compared with the budgeted 92%, resulting in
losses of circa R282 million.

•

Belt Filter 3 had to be stopped for three weeks to replace
the main carrier belt and the unforeseen failure of the carrier
belt in Belt Filter 2 further impacted lower production in the
last quarter of the financial year.
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OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Raw material prices
Detailed Annual Financial Statements, can be found on the website
and on  the disc attached to this publication

The average sulphur purchase price rose from US$121 in the previous
year to US$253, whilst the ammonia purchase price increased from
US$425 to US$588, impacting DAP/MAP profit margins.
REVENUE

12 000

GROUP STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
The following review of the Group’s financial performance for the year
ended March 2012 should be read together with the audited Summary
Annual Financial Statements which follow on pages 44 to 52, and the
supplementary information contained in the audited Group Annual
Financial Statements which are available on the Group’s website.

10 159
2008

2009

5 125

4 611

2010

2011

2012

Average exchange rate
ZAR/USD
9.00
8.50
8.00
7.50

7.37

As stipulated by the new Companies Act (71 of 2008, as amended),
Summary Group Annual Financial Statements will be provided to our
shareholders in this integrated annual report. These audited Summary
Group Annual Financial Statements appear on pages 44 to 52, while
the full set of statements are available on our website and on the disk
provided.

0

7.00
106

The introduction of integrated reporting represents a fundamental
shift in corporate reporting practice. It is most encouraging that South
Africa is at the forefront of this practice which, over time, is expected to
become the global standard for financial reporting.

2 000

7.16

INTEGRATED REPORTING

4 000
3 465

Although commodity prices were in our favour with regards to P205 and
granulation the average rand exchange rate varied from between R6.60
and R8.55 with an average of R7.37 over the year. Due to difficulties in
P205 production, Foskor could not capitalise on the high export prices
and exchange rates. This meant that the export effect of a weaker rand
could not offset losses arising out of import commitments. This resulted
in a R56 million exchange rate loss to our bottom line earnings.

6 000

3 869

Delta change
$100 per ton
$50 per ton
$50 per ton
R1/$

8 000

7.84
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Commodity
P205 price increase/decrease
Granular price increase/decrease
Sulphur price increase/decrease
Exchange rate movement

Impact on
EBIT in R'm
285
100
200
450

10 000

8.71

Foskor’s earnings are highly sensitive to commodity prices and
exchange rate movements. Commodity prices and exchange rate
volatility can be demonstrated as follows:

Revenue (R million)

7.09

Commodity prices and exchange rate movements

6.50 2008

2009

2010

2011

2012

The Group’s revenue as at March 2011 of R4.6 billion increased by
6.00
11,1% in the year to R5.1 billion for March 2012 primarily due to higher
commodity prices. The selling prices of phosphate rock increased
by 18%, phosphoric acid by 27%, and of granular fertilizers by 10%.
60% of the Group’s revenue was derived from exports in the current
year compared to 56% in the previous year. R15 million was paid to
mining royalty tax on revenue during the year.

Geographical revenue
segmentation 2012
4.0% 1.1%
29.7%

15.3%

5.2%

Geographical revenue
segmentation 2012

graph equals to
99.9%

5.1%

Geographical revenue
segmentation 2011

4.0% 1.1%
39.6%

29.7%

15.3%

7.5%
2.9%

2.4% 1.2%

3.5%
5.2%

graph equals to
99.9%

5.1%

India

Far East

South Africa

United Sates

Europe

Other

Middle East

Far East

India

Far East

South Africa

United Sates

South Africa

Europe

Other

United Sates2011 – 2012
Other
2008
% Change

Middle East

Average exchange rate

7,37

7,16

7,84

8,71

7,09

3

135

114

110

188

72

18

(’000 tons)

2 327

2 233

2 243

2 529

2 911

13

($/ton)

1 010

794

583

1 505

607

27

(’000 tons)

402

459

459

565

557

(12)

($/ton)

646

588

416

1 076

544

10

(’000 tons)

275

360

292

149

261

(24)

1 505

P205 CFR sales price ($/ton)
1 200

200

1 076

1 600

Phosphate rock FOR sales
price ($/ton)

Granulation FOB sales price
($/ton)

188

Granulation FOB sales price
Granulation sales volumes

Middle East

($/ton)

P205 CFR sales price
P205 sales volumes

Europe
2009

2010

ZAR/USD

Phosphate rock FOR sales price
Phosphate rock sales volumes

2011

2012

1 325

135

160

2008

2009

2010

2011

2012

106

300

2008

2009

2010

2011

2012

40

114

110

106

80

72

646

120

416
106

607
500

600

583

775

544

794

1 050

588

1 010

900

2008

2009

2010

2011

2012
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Sales drivers India

37.6%

44.9%

39.6%

OPERATING PROFIT
Operating profit fell by 35.2% during the year under review to
R330 million from R514 million last year. The production cost of
phosphate rock at US$111 per ton was 26% higher than the previous
year’s US$88 per ton mainly due to the decline in rock production of
229,000 tons as well as higher than inflation cost increases in electricity
and fuel. Electricity increased by 27.3% to an actual cost of R256 million
compared with R201 million in 2011. Fuel costs increased by 28.8%
from the previous year’s R149 million to R192 million due mainly to
higher fuel prices as well as higher diesel usage. Operational mining
costs rose by R25 million due to in-pit de-watering of both pits and the
removal of waste backlog. Whilst distribution costs increased by 20%

from last year’s R814 million to R980 million, due mainly to increases
in distribution rates, as well as increased rock and magnetite exports.
The conversion cost from phosphate rock to phosphoric acid increased
by 27% from $151 to $192 per ton due to a decline in phosphoric
acid production of 106,000 tons and an increase in operational cost of
R66 million from the prior year.
Raw material input costs in acid and granular fertilizer production
increased by 109% to US$253 per ton for sulphur year-on-year and
39% to US$588 per ton of ammonia. The negative impact of this
approximates R80 million for the current year. Cost management has
become one of the key strategic actions to be able to take a long-term
view on controlling costs and improving cost per ton.

Sulphur CFR purchase price
($/ton)

Operating profit margin (%)

27.0

25.0

540

600

30.0
28.5

500

20.0

400

15.0

2008

2009

2010

2011

0

2012

106

100

0.0
-5.0

68

121

6.4

200

175

11.1

5.0

253

300
10.0

-0.2
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2008

2009

2010

2011

2012

Production and cost drivers
2012

2011

2010

2009

2008

2011 – 2012
% Change

Sulphur CFR purchases price

($/ton)

253

121

68

540

175

109

Ammonia CFR purchases price

38

($/ton)

588

425

310

704

324

Phosphate rock production
volumes after dust losses

(’000 tons)

2 346

2 575

2 168

2 390

2 358

(9)

P205 production volumes

(’000 tons)

541

647

622

659

692

(16)

Granulation production volumes (’000 tons)

283

351

307

163

261

(19)

P205 production volumes
(’000 tons)

Phosphate rock production
volumes after dust losses

Granular fertilizer production
volumes (’000 tons)

700

400

2 575

692

351

2 600

2009

2010

2011

2012

150

2008

2009

FOREX LOSSES
The net foreign exchange loss for the year ended 31 March 2012 was
R56 million compared with a profit of R27 million last year. This loss
resulted mainly from lower export sales than budgeted. This impacted
negatively the company’s foreign hedge strategy. Less US dollars were
received to naturally hedge payments of import commitments. Foskor
was, for a considerable period during the year, in a net import position.
That is, the import payables were higher than export receivables.
During this period, the rand weakened by 14% from the average spot
exchange rate of R6.96 in the first half of the year to R7.93 in the
second half. This meant that the Group settled import commitments
at more costly exchange rates than initially recognised. The weaker
rand also had an impact on the option structures concluded during the
year. Settlement rates for the zero cost dollar options were higher than
capped participation levels. This meant that Foskor sold US dollars
at capped exchange rates which were lower than the existing spot
exchange rates.

NON-CORE TRANSACTIONS INCLUDED IN OPERATING
MARGIN
During the current year to March 2012 an impairment test was
performed on the net book value of the fixed assets of the Acid Division
resulting in a reversal of R70 million in the impairment provision, leaving
a balance of R145 million at year-end. This calculation was based on
a free cash flow basis. The following key parameters and assumptions
were used in the impairment assessment as at 31 March 2012:

2 346
2 168

2010

2011

2012

2 000

2008

2009

2010

2011

2012

•

The latest Board approved budget numbers were used for the
2012/13 financial year.

•

Production volumes were increased marginally from 2011/12 year
to 2012/13 and then gradually build up as per approved strategic
plan, based on action plans.

•

10 years sales prices forecast of phosphoric acid, fertilizer,
phosphate rock and sulphur as per the latest CRU (an independent
authority) reports.

•

Exchange rate forecast based on Reuters February 2012 forecast
for next two financial years starting at R7.90/$, and depreciating by
3% p.a. after two years.

•

Cash flow discount rate of 13.8% as per internal WACC calculation.

Foskor has a defined benefit pension scheme, as well as a postemployment medical obligation for which R24.4 million has been
charged to the statement of comprehensive income in 2011/12 due to
changes in the valuation of these post-employment obligations.

GROUP STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
Working capital
The working capital requirements of the Group increased from R1 billion
in 2010/11 to R1.4 billion for 2011/12.
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2008

163

200

500

2 390

2 200

541

550

2 358

261
250

2 400
(’000 tons)

300

622

600

283

647

659

307

350

650

R million
Inventory
Receivables and pre-payments
Payables and accured expenses
Working capital requirement
Cash and cash equivalents
Long-term financing
Short-term financing

2011
1 078
561
(603)
1 036
404
(107)
–

2012
1 625
839
(1 006)
1 458
359
(450)
(127)

The R547 million increase in inventory is mainly due to an increase in
raw materials in the Acid Division and phosphate rock in the Mining
Division. A breakdown of the major inventory items at year-end can be
summarised as follows:
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Inventory
Sulphur
Phosphate rock
MAP
Stock in transit
Maintenance stock

R'm
Closing
2011/12

R'm
Closing
2010/11

R'm
Movement

209
522
71
193
136

52
337
27
127
126

157
185
44
66
10

The rock stockpile at March 2012 was 704,000 tons compared with
581,000 tons at March 2011, which accounts for R185 million of the
increase in inventory. The stock build-up at the Mining Division is mainly
due to the ex-Sasol Nitro Plant scale down. It is anticipated that this
build-up will continue during 2013 and will only start reducing in 2014.
Granular fertilizer stock levels increased during the year to 16,000 tons
(FY2010/11: 11,000 tons) as a result of the seasonal nature of the local
planting season. Plans are afoot to establish alternative rail corridors,
such as Maputo, in order to move more rock from Phalaborwa to the
coast, either at Richards Bay or Maputo, to reduce the high stock levels.
The ex-Sasol Nitro Acid Plant reopened as Farmers World (Bosveld)
towards the end of 2011 and has started using phosphate rock from
the Mining Division. This will increase the off-take of stock during 2013.
The R278 million increase in receivables and pre-payments was due to
increased export of phosphate rock, magnetite and granular fertilizer
towards the end of the year whilst the increase in payables and accrued
expenses of R403 million is attributable to the increase in sulphur and
ammonia purchase prices as well as significant quantities of sulphur
purchases delivered before year-end.
The working capital requirement was financed through cash on
hand and a short-term overnight facility of R400 million from the
commercial banks of which R65 million was drawn at year-end.

2010
753
341
(418)
676
517
–
–

2009
675
1 497
(629)
1 543
366
–
–

2008
920
944
(845)
1 019
1 281
–
–

2011 – 2012
% Change
51
50
67
41
(11)
321
100

The long-term financing facility of R1 billion was obtained from the
Industrial Development Corporation under commercial terms in 2010,
from which R500 million had been utilised in the year under review to
finance the capital projects. The short-term (R400 million) and longterm (R1 billion) facilities are still available for 2012/13. The long-term
facility is repayable from October 2012 over five years.
The cash flow for capital expenditure investment in 2011/12 was
R413 million compared to R596 million in the previous year as the
expansion project was completed and commissioned in the prior year.

Dividends
The Board declared a dividend of R3.82 per share for the financial
year under review. At the June 2011 Board meeting a dividend of
R8.15 per share (gross) was approved for distribution.

Mine closure costs
The scheduled mine closure costs have increased from R377 million at
March 2011 to R379 million. The liability in the balance sheet has increased
to R243 million from R230 million in the prior year. The unscheduled mine
closure costs amounted to R503 million at year-end compared with
R486 million at 31 March 2011. The assets in the Environmental
Rehabilitation Trust increased from R100 million to R106 million.

Change in accounting policies and estimates
There were no changes in the accounting policies and estimates during
the current year under review. There were also no restatements to the
financial statements previously published.

Outlook
The outlook for 2012/13 is that it will be very challenging because of
mounting competition in the industry; the extreme volatilities in the
exchange rate and commodity prices; as well as the operating inefficiency
of our phosphoric acid plant. Our focus would be on increasing
phosphate rock and phosphoric acid production volumes, increasing
plant efficiency and improving operational excellence, the latter being the
priority strategic focus for the next three financial years.

ECONOMIC VALUE-ADDED STATEMENT
Our value-added statement shows the extent of direct economic value distributed to some of our key stakeholders.
R million

2012

%

2011

%

Revenue

5 125

4 611

Less: Costs of sales

(3 739)

(3 078)

Value added from trading operations
Other operating income

1 386
71

95
5

1 533
63

96
4

Total value-added

1 457

100

1 596

100

Distributed as follows:
21

1

43

3

698

47

650

40

To providers of equity as dividends

68

5

–

–

To providers of funding as interest

41

3

28

2

To government as taxes (royalties, STC)

22

2

59

4

Total distributions

850

58

780

49

Retained in the business

607

42

816

51

To employees as salaries, wages and other benefits

Total distributions

(R million)

Number of employees
Value created per employee

(R'000)

Number of shares
Value created per share

794.44

885.19
9 157 647

0.16

0.17

Distribution of value added
2012
1%

780
1 803

9 157 647
(R'000)

Distribution of value added
2011
To Executive management as
salaries and other benefits

42%

850
1 834

3%
51%

To Employees as salaries, wages
and other benefits
To Providers of equity as dividends
To Providers of funding as interest

47%
2%

3% 5%

To Government as taxes
(royalties, STC)
Retained in the business

40%
4% 2%
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To executive management as salaries and other benefits

SUMMARY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The summary consolidated financial results have been approved by the
Board of Directors and were signed on their behalf by the Chairman,
Mr MG Qhena and Chief Executive Officer, Mr MA Pitse. This document
provides a summary of the information contained in Foskor’s Annual
Consolidated Financial Statements, which are available on the website
and the disk provided with this publication. The summary consolidated
financial results are not the Group’s statutory accounts and do not
contain sufficient information to allow for a complete understanding of
the results and state of affairs of the Group as would be provided by the
full set of Group Consolidated Annual Financial Statements.
In our attempt to conserve the environment, the full set of the Group
Consolidated Annual Financial Statements is included on a disk
inside the back cover of the Integrated Report and is available on the
company website at www.foskor.co.za
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BASIS OF PREPARATION
The information in these audited summary consolidated Annual
Financial Statements of the Group, has been extracted from the Group’s
audited Annual Financial Statements, which have been prepared in
accordance with IAS 34, Interim Financial Reporting and the South
African Companies Act of 2008, as amended. They do not include all
the information required for the full Annual Financial Statements and
should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Annual Financial
Statements for the Group as at the year ended 31 March 2012. The
Financial Statements have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, except for certain items, including the revaluation of
available-for-sale investments, and financial assets and liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss. The summary consolidated results are
prepared on a going concern basis.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The accounting policies applied by the Group in the summary
Consolidated Annual Financial Statements are the same as those
applied by the Group in its full set of Consolidated Annual Financial
Statements as at and for the year ended 31 March 2012.

KEY ESTIMATES AND AREAS OF JUDGEMENT
The preparation of the summary Annual Financial Statements required
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions which
affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts
of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.
In preparing the summary Consolidated Annual Financial Statements,
the significant judgements made by management in applying the
Group’s accounting policies and the key sources of estimation were
the same as those that applied to the Consolidated Annual Financial
Statements as at and for the year ended 31 March 2012.
The presentation and functional currency of Foskor (Pty) Limited is the
South African Rand (ZAR) and all monetary amounts are rounded to
the nearest thousand.
Mr TJ Koekemoer, CA(SA), Chief Financial Officer, is responsible for
this set of financial results and has supervised their preparation in
conjunction with the General Manager Finance & ICT, Ms M Tonjeni,
CA(SA).

INDEPENDENT AUDIT BY THE AUDITORS
The Group’s 2012 Consolidated Annual Financial Statements and
these summary Consolidated Annual Financial Statements have been
audited by the Group’s joint external auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers
Inc. and Ngubane & Co Inc. The individual auditors assigned to perform
the audit are Mr TD Shango and Mr H Mpungose, respectively.

audit REPORT opinion
The unqualified audit report on the full set of Annual Financial Statements,
as well as the unqualified audit report on this set of summary Financial
Statements are available at the company's registered office.

"We embrace integrated reporting and have attempted throughout this report to demonstrate the
Group’s ability to create and sustain value for our stakeholders. Whilst the move to integrated reporting
gave us a whole new set of measurement and reporting challenges it also presented us with an excellent
opportunity to partner with the rest of the business in order to streamline reporting requirements in
support of our first Integrated Report for 2012."


Theuns Koekemoer – Chief Financial Officer

SUMMARY Group Statements of Financial Position
as at 31 March 2012

Notes

2012
R’000

GROUP

2011
R’000

ASSETS

Current assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Derivative financial instruments
Current tax asset
Cash and cash equivalents (excluding bank overdrafts)

1

2

3 564 168
851
25
23 650
10 096
321 638

3 325 229
514
25
20 865
10 096
320 489

3 920 428

3 677 218

1 624 722
838 769
736
57 665
358 997

1 078 648
560 601
5 815
51 994
404 063

2 880 889

2 101 121

Total assets

6 801 317

5 778 339

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity attributable to owners
Ordinary shares
Share premium
Retained earnings
Share-based payment reserve
Fair value reserve

9 158
132 013
3 438 117
303 914
174 596

9 158
132 013
3 322 017
303 914
179 598

Total equity

4 057 798

3 946 700

18 039
243 268
56 496
450 000
122 067
673 356

20 009
248 071
48 233
107 031
97 657
600 782

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Finance lease liability
Environmental rehabilitation liability
Employee share-based payment liability
Long-term interest-bearing loan
Retirement benefit obligations
Deferred income tax liabilities

1 563 226

1 121 783

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Short-term interest-bearing loan
Finance lease liability
Derivative financial instruments
Provisions

1 005 942
126 981
1 970
244
45 156

603 254
–
2 084
756
103 762

1 180 293

709 856

Total liabilities

2 743 519

1 831 639

Total equity and liabilities

6 801 317

5 778 339
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Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Investment in joint venture
Investment in associate
Inventories – ore raw materials
Financial Investments

SUMMARY Group Statements of Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 31 March 2012

GROUP
2012
R’000

2011
R’000

5 124 733
(3 739 141)
1 385 592
(980 113)
(213 310)
(8 263)
–
70 000
70 981
5 115

4 611 341
(3 077 781)
1 533 560
(813 906)
(239 791)
(24 773)
(8 673)
–
63 030
4 482

Operating profit
Loss on sale of shares in associate
Share of profit from associate

330 002
–
2 785

513 929
(5 554)
2 925

Profit before interest and tax
Finance income
Finance costs
Net foreign exchange (loss)/profit

332 787
27 019
(40 738)
(56 425)

511 300
24 478
(27 779)
26 765

Profit before taxation
Income tax expense

262 643
(78 727)

534 764
(158 011)

Profit for the year
Fair value (loss)/gain

183 916
(5 002)

376 753
88 292

(5 002)

88 292

178 914

465 045

Notes
Revenue
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Distribution costs
Administrative expenses
Share-based payment expense
Transaction fees
Impairment reversal
Other operating income
Investment income
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Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year
Total comprehensive income for the year
Earnings per share attributable to the equity holders of the company
during the year (expressed in Rand per share):
– Basic earnings per share

4

20.08

41.14

– Diluted earnings per share

4

20.08

41.14

SUMMARY Group Statements of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 31 March 2012

Share
premium
R’000

Retained
earnings
R’000

Share-based
payment
reserve
R’000

Fair value
reserve
R’000

Total
R’000

9 158

132 013

2 945 264

303 914

91 306

3 481 655

Comprehensive income
Profit for the year

–

–

376 753

–

–

376 753

Other comprehensive income
Fair value gain

–

–

–

–

88 292

88 292

Total comprehensive income

–

–

376 753

–

88 292

465 045

9 158

132 013

3 322 017

303 914

179 598

3 946 700

–

–

183 916

–

–

183 916

–

–

–

–

(5 002)

(5 002)

–
–

–
–

183 916
(67 816)

–
–

(5 002)
–

178 914
(67 816)

9 158

132 013

3 438 117

303 914

174 596

4 057 798

GROUP
Balance at 1 April 2010

Balance at 31 March 2011
Comprehensive income
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income
Fair value loss
Total comprehensive income for the period
Dividends paid
Balance at 31 March 2012
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Share
capital
R’000

SUMMARY Group Statements of Cash Flows
for the year ended 31 March 2012

GROUP
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2012
R’000

2011
R’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations
Interest received
Interest paid
Realised exchange (loss)/gain
Taxes paid

39 763
22 193
(28 465)
(67 173)
(6 995)

411 791
24 478
(21 475)
19 572
(59 423)

Net cash generated from operating activities

(40 677)

374 943

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (PPE)
Purchase of software
Proceeds from sale of PPE
Proceeds on the sale of share in associate
Purchase of financial investment held in the Environmental Rehabilitation Trust
Dividends received
Dividends paid

(413 427)
(742)
4 615
–
–
5 115
(67 816)

(595 853)
–
480
6 248
(8 000)
4 482
–

Net cash used in investing activities

(472 255)

(592 643)

Cash flows from financing activities
Repayment of finance lease liability
Long-term interest-bearing loan

(2 084)
469 950

(2 809)
107 031

Net cash used in financing activities

467 866

104 222

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

(45 066)

(113 478)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

404 063

517 542

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

358 997

404 063

Selected Explanatory Notes to the SUMMARY Group
Consolidated Annual Financial Statements
GROUP

1.

INVENTORIES
Spares and consumables stores
Phosphate rock
Raw material
Finished goods
Work in progress

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

301 656
522 453
569 518
229 114
1 981

282 962
337 889
244 690
211 126
1 981

1 624 722

1 078 648

There was a R4.7 million write-down of phosphoric acid finished goods to net realisable value as at 31 March 2012. The carrying amount of
the phosphoric acid written down to net realisable value amounts to R176.8 million.

3.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash at bank and on hand
Short-term bank deposits

344 543
14 454

394 038
10 025

Cash and cash equivalents (excluding bank overdrafts)

358 997

404 063

Cash and cash equivalents include the following for the purposes of the statement of cash flows:
Cash and cash equivalents
Bank overdrafts

358 997
–

404 063
–

Cash and cash equivalents

358 997

404 063

Property, plant and equipment

324 644

167 038

Total capital commitments

324 644

167 038

1 673
2 354

660
–

4 027

660

COMMITMENTS
Capital commitments
Capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the reporting period but not yet incurred is as follows:

Operating lease commitments
The future minimum lease payments payable under non-cancellable leases are as follows:
Payable not later than one year
Payable later than one year and not later than five years

The lease for the head office premises in Midrand was renewed on 1 September 2011 and expires at the end of July 2014 with an option
to extend.
4. EARNINGS PER SHARE
4.1 Basic earnings per share – Rands

20.08

41.14

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of the company/Group by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares in issue during the year excluding ordinary shares purchased by the company and held as treasury shares.
Profit attributable to equity holders of the company
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue

183 916

376 753

9 157 647

9 157 647
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2.

4.

EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued)
GROUP

4.2

Diluted earnings per share – Rands

2012

2011

R’000

R’000

20.08

41.14

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume conversion of
all dilutive potential ordinary shares. The company has no dilutive potential ordinary shares.
Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of the company

50

183 916

376 753

9 157 647

9 157 647

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for diluted earnings per share

9 157 647

9 157 647

Headline earnings per share net (after tax) – Rands
14.84
41.69
Headline earnings per share is calculated on the basis of adjusted net earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders of R135 886 000
(2011: R381 811 000) for the Group and 9 157 647 (2011: 9 157 647) shares, being the weighted average number of ordinary shares in
issue during the year.
Net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders is reconciled to headline earnings as follows:
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376 753

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue

Profit used to determine diluted earnings per share

4.3

183 916

183 916

376 753

Adjustments (gross):
Impairment reversal
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Loss on sale of associate

(70 000)
3 291
–

–
1 470
5 554

Total adjustments

(66 709)

7 024

Headline earnings (gross before tax)

117 207

383 777

Net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders is reconciled to headline earnings as follows:

183 916

376 753

Impairment reversal
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Loss on sale of associate

(50 400)
2 370
–

–
1 058
3 999

Total adjustments

(48 030)

5 057

Headline earnings (net after tax)

135 886

381 811

Adjustments (net):

5.
5.1

GROUP SEGMENTAL REPORTING
Segment information
Management has determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the Executive Committee that are used to make
strategic decisions. The Executive Committee considers the business primarily from a product perspective. The products are segmented into
phosphate rock (Mining Division) and phosphoric acid and granular (Acid Division).
Segment assets consist primarily of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories, pre-paid tax, trade and other receivables
and cash and cash equivalents. Segment liabilities comprise non-current and current liabilities. Capital expenditure comprises additions to
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets.

GROUP SEGMENTAL REPORTING (continued)
Mining
Division
Phosphate
rock
2012
R'000

Total
2012
R'000

Total segmental revenue
Inter-segmental revenue

3 105 782
(2 336 138)

3 044 140
–

1 310 288
–

7 460 210
(2 336 138)

Revenue from external customers
Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT)
Depreciation and amortisation
Impairment reversal
Reportable segment assets
Capital expenditure for reportable segment non-current assets
Reportable segment liabilities

769 644
587 270
141 069
–
3 443 623
224 634
731 267

3 044 140
(200 790)
96 952
70 000
3 039 007
188 793
1 262 969

1 310 288
–
–
–
–
–
–

5 124 072
386 480
238 021
70 000
6 482 630
413 427
1 994 236

Mining
Division
Phosphate
rock
2011
R’000

5.2

Acid Division
Phosphoric
acid
Granular
2012
2012
R'000
R'000

Acid Division
Phosphoric
acid
Granular
2011
2011
R’000
R’000

51
Total
2011
R’000

Total segment revenue
Inter-segment revenue

2 419 925
(1 993 353)

2 667 655
–

1 516 382
–

6 603 962
(1 993 353)

Revenue from external customers
Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT)
Depreciation and amortisation
Reportable segment assets
Capital expenditure for reportable segment non-current assets
Reportable segment liabilities

426 572
412 122
116 853
3 007 841
450 558
593 988

2 667 655
254 955
94 837
2 448 663
145 123
553 497

1 516 382
–
–
–
–
–

4 610 609
667 077
211 690
5 456 504
595 681
1 147 485

Reconciliation of reportable segment EBIT to Group profit before tax is provided as follows:
The Executive Committee assesses the performance of the operating segments based on a measure of adjusted earnings before
interest and tax (EBIT). Segment EBIT equals segment revenue less segment expenses, which includes costs of sales and other
operating costs. This measurement basis excludes the effects of allocated corporate expenditure. Interest income and expenditure, as
well as foreign exchange gains and losses, are not allocated to segments as this type of activity is driven by the central treasury function,
which manages the cash position of the Group.
The revenue from external parties reported to the Executive Committee is measured in a manner consistent with that of the Statement
of Comprehensive Income and there were no reconciling items. Sales of phosphate rock between operating segments (Mining and Acid
Divisions) are carried out at arm’s length.
2012
R’000

2011
R’000

Segmental earnings before interest and tax (EBIT)
Net corporate and subsidiaries expenses
Finance income
Finance costs
Net foreign exchange (losses)/profits

386 480
(53 693)
27 019
(40 738)
(56 425)

667 077
(155 777)
24 478
(27 779)
26 765

Group profit before tax

262 643

534 764
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5.

5.

GROUP SEGMENTAL REPORTING (continued)

5.3 Reportable segment assets are reconciled to total Group assets as follows:
The amounts provided to the Executive Committee with respect to the total assets are measured in a manner consistent with that of the
financial statements. Deferred tax and derivative financial instruments held by the Group are not considered to be segment assets but rather
are managed by the central treasury function.
GROUP

Segment assets for reportable segments

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

6 482 630

5 456 504

736
317 951

5 815
316 020

6 801 317

5 778 339

Unallocated:
Derivative financial instruments
Other assets
Total Group assets per the balance sheet
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5.4 Reportable segment liabilities are reconciled to total liabilities as follows:
The amounts provided to the Executive Committee with respect to the total liabilities are measured in a manner consistent with that of the
financial statements. Deferred tax and derivative financial instruments are not considered to be segment assets but rather are managed by
the central treasury function.

Segment liabilities for reportable segments

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

1 994 236

1 147 485

673 356
75 927

600 782
83 371

2 743 519

1 831 639

Unallocated:
Deferred tax
Corporate and subsidiary liabilities
Total Group liabilities per the statement of financial position

OPERATIONS REVIEW – ACID DIVISION: RICHARDS BAY
Sulphuric acid production

SULPHURIC ACID PLANT
For the period ended 31 March 2012, the Sulphuric
Acid Plant achieved 86% of its target by producing
1,674,316 tons against a budget of 1,938,605 tons.
For the greater portion of the year, the sulphuric acid
plant had to limit its production due to low demand
from the Phosphoric Acid Plant. One planned
shutdown was moved forward by a month, while
another was deferred into the next financial year.
On the plus side, Foskor’s sulphur dioxide emissions
remained within legal parameters throughout the
whole year.
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To improve the Phosphoric Acid Plant’s reliability,
efficiencies and maintenance, a revamp of the Pan
Filters 1 and 2 has been planned for 2012, along with
the installation of an additional belt filter. Initiatives
are being taken to resolve the piping configuration,
cooling tower performance and the tank maintenance
to improve the availability of equipment.

Phosphoric acid production

Thousand of tons

The Phosphoric Acid Plant achieved 78.4% of its
target in producing 541,204 tons (budget 690,000
tons). Production losses were mainly due to the
unavailability of Pan Filters 1 and 2 and frequent
tank failures. These failures not only resulted
in the production loss but also heavily impacted in
the efficiency (84.9% versus the budget of 92%).
Furthermore, downtimes were exacerbated by the
poor availability of the old convection units.
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Aug-11 Sep-11 Oct-11 Nov-11 Dec-11 Jan-12 Feb-12 Mar-12

Cumulative Production
Cumulative Budget

"On the plus side, Foskor’s sulphur dioxide emissions remained within legal parameters
throughout the whole year, making us 100% compliant."
Nathi Nkomzwayo – VP: Acid
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PHOSPHORIC ACID PLANT

MARKETING DIVERSIFICATION AND SALES

The Granulation Plant realised 81.6% of its target and produced
283,296 tons (budget: 347,300 tons) of granular fertilizer. The
Granulation Plant’s production in the year under review was mainly
because of market demand and the unavailability of phosphoric acid
because of acid sales commitments.

Sulphuric acid is mainly used in the manufacture of phosphoric acid.
Excess sulphuric acid is sold to the local market. Some tonnages are
also exported to Zambia and Malawi. Sulphuric sales for the year were
31,175 tons as compared to the budget of 36,000 tons driven by
domestic demand.

Major maintenance was undertaken during the year, with the focus
on environmental and safety compliance. Two ammonia bullets used
for storage were decommissioned for open inspection as part of a
statutory inspection. The emissions stack was washed and cleaned as
part of three-yearly inspections. The coating oil on the granular fertilizer
was changed from black spent oil to Galoryl-based oil which improves
the appearance and anti-caking property to the granules. Additional
measures were taken to reduce dust emissions in the plant.

Foskor’s phosphoric acid is exported to India, Europe (France, the
Netherlands, Turkey), Dubai (Jebel Ali), Saudi Arabia, Indonesia (Gresik)
and Japan (Niigata) and is also sold in the South African domestic
market. The actual phosphoric acid sales for the year under review was
401,585 tons as compared to budgeted 505,807 tons, primarily due to
the availability of stock brought on by low production.
Phosphoric acid is used to produce phosphate-based granular
fertilizers mono-ammonium phosphate (MAP) and mono-ammonium
phosphate with 0.75 Zinc (MAPZn).

In order to assess the mechanical integrity of the structures in the
plant, a complete wash of the plant was done during January 2012
and necessary repairs were undertaken. The screen feed elevator
chain and boot section, granulation feed elevator chain, boot section
and head sprocket assembly were renewed. The main product belt, a
screen feed conveyor belt, was replaced with a new one and intake
conveyor belts were replaced. Also, the recycle weigh conveyor belt
was replaced to improve the reliability of the equipment and of the plant
in general.

About 80% of the granular fertilizers MAP and MAPZn produced are for
the local market. The fertilizers are sold on a free-carrier alongside) in
the local market and free-on-board for deep sea exports. The majority
of local customers use road transport to move fertilizers and stocks are
railed to the Southern African Development Community (SADC). Of the
granular fertilizer produced 275,097 tons were sold against a budgeted
346,015 tons. Countries that import granular fertilizer from South Africa
are Argentina and Australia.

Granulation production
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GRANULATION PLANT
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"The market diversification strategy is clearly yielding results. We have reduced our dependency
on India from 66% in 2009 to 30% in 2012. Foskor now has customers in the Middle East,
Japan, Europe, North and South America and in sub-Saharan Africa."
Gideon Skhosana – VP: Marketing and Sales

•

Maintain the long-term injury free rate (LTIFR) below one and to
reduce it by 0.1% every year. The internal LTIFR target for 2012 will
be less than 0.6 so that all workplace injuries may be minimised.
The LTIFR for the period under review was 0.45.

•

Maintain certification of OHSAS 18001, ISO 14001, ISO 9001,
SANS 16001 and retain its Dekra Five Shield status.

•

Continue with visible, felt leadership and continuous interaction
with staff and contractors.

Foskor is a member of the Richards Bay Clean Air Association and
as such is duty bound by its code to ensure membership on the
Board, compliance monitoring, emissions inventories and complaints
management.

Fertilizer Plant. The Sulphuric Acid Plants operate on a MECS DCDA
process; Phosphoric Acid Plant runs on a Prayon Dihydrate Process
while the Granulation Plant is based on D.M. Weatherly process.
The Sulphuric Acid “C” Plant and the New Phosphoric acid plant were built
in 2000-2002, while the rest of the plant was built in the mid-seventies.
The Acid Division at Richards Bay is geared up for a breakthrough
transformation process by revamping and replacing major critical
technologies as part of an Asset Replacement Programme to firstly
sustain the operations at designed capacity and also to lay the
foundation for higher growth.

Plant reliability, efficiencies and maintenance

Under the Asset Replacement Programme, several critical projects
have been identified in the Phosphoric Acid Plants and Sulphuric Acid
Plants in the first phase within the next three years. Since the operation
of the Sulphuric Acid and the Phosphoric Acid Plants are integrated,
the replacement projects are timed to fit into the schedule for the
annual shut window, so as to cause minimum disruption.

Foskor’s Acid Division comprises three Sulphuric Acid Plants
(A, B and C), two Phosphoric Acid Plants (Old and New) and a Granular

A brief summary and timeframe of selected projects in different plants
follows:

Maintenance work at Sulphuric Acid Plant: Acid Division
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The Acid Division aims to:

PLANNED PHOSPHORIC ACID PLANT PROJECTS
Table 7: Planned capital projects for Acid Division:
Description

Planned timeline

1.

Installation of the fourth Belt Filter in
the Old Phosphoric Acid Plant.

The new Phosphoric Acid Plant built in 2002 has three
belt filters (90m² filtration area each) of Gaudfrin make.
Owing to the frequent breakdowns of pan filters in
the Old Plant and the long lead time for replacement,
Foskor plans to install a belt filter in the Old Plant. The
new belt filter will compensate for the shortfall in the
availability of pan filters and also act as a spare or back
up to the other filters. Keeping in mind the proven
performance of the Gaudfrin Belt Filters, our familiarity
with their operation and maintenance, Foskor will be
able to minimise requirements for spares and save on
equipment design time. The new Fourth Belt Filter will
be identical to the existing ones.

Commissioning is scheduled for
March 2013.

2.

Installation of Fourth Concentrator Unit
in the New Phosphoric Acid Plant.

The New Phosphoric Acid Plant, built in 2000-2002,
has three Concentrator Units (Line 1, Line 2 and
Line 3). The non-availability of a spare concentrator
unit has in the past caused extra downtime over and
above planned stoppages.

The basic engineering for the
proposed new concentrator unit was
completed by SNC Lavalin in June
2010 and the unit is planned for
commissioning in April 2014.
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Asset replacement item

Foskor plans to install a new concentrator unit (identical
to the existing units) in the New Phosphoric Acid Plant
to act as backup; minimising plant downtime and
steam losses; optimise weak acid storage capacity;
and to stabilise operations of the Sulphuric Acid and
Phosphoric Acid Plants.
3.

Replacement of both Pan Filters in
the Old Phosphoric Acid Plant.

The Old Phosphoric Acid Plant has two Profile Pan
Filters (30.165 type) which have passed their useful
lifespan and are due for replacement to avoid frequent
breakdowns and high maintenance cost. Foskor
intends replacing the Pan Filters with the same make.

Foskor intends to commission Pan
Filter 1 in May 2014 while Pan Filter 2
will to be completed in two phases:
phase 1 by October 2012 and
phase 2 by March 2015.

4.

Installing an additional phosphoric acid
clarifier.

Both the Old and New Phosphoric Acid Plants
have one clarifier (1,800m3) for weak phosphoric
acid clarification and one for the strong phosphoric
acid clarification (3,500m3). Insufficient clarification
capacity (1,800m3) in the Old Plant necessitates the
installation of an additional clarifier to compensate
acid clarification capacity.

Foskor plans to commission the
clarifier by April 2014.

5.

Replacement of the main stack and
converters in the A and B Plants.

Sulphuric Acid Plants A and B have a common stack
which is due for replacement, as are the catalytic
converters in A and B Plants. The stack will be
replaced by May 2014 along with converter for one
Sulphuric Acid Plant

The converters for the other plants
will be replaced in subsequent years
as the need arises. No timelines have
been set for these replacements.

OPERATIONS REVIEW – MINING DIVISION: PHALABORWA
not declared as a controlled area by the National Nuclear Regulator
(NNR), radioactive monitoring is carried out as prescribed by the NNR.

•

To further strengthen our safety, health and environmental compliance
and performance, a decision was taken to separate the functions of
safety and health from that of environment and quality and create two
new departments, i.e. the Safety, Health and Emergency Services
Department and the Environment and Quality Department. Safety,
Health and Environmental Quality training was also centralised and now
falls under the Human Capital Department: Training and Development
Department.

Attaining Board approval for the North Pit Pushback Project that
will increase the life of mine by another 9 – 30 years.

•	Obtaining a Water Use Licence in terms of Chapter 4 of the National
Water Act, 36 of 1998.
•	Obtaining an Air Emission Licence in terms of the National
Environmental Management: Air Quality Act, 39 of 2004.
•

Retaining all ISO certifications: 14001, 9001, OHSAS 18001 and
SANS 16001.

•

Achieving a fatality-free year with a LTIFR of 0.27.

•	Officially rolling-out the Foskor Life Saving Behaviour Campaign.
•

Being declared the overall winner of the 2012 Water Conservation
and Water Demand Management Sector Awards in the Industry,
Mining and Power category by the Deputy Minister of Water and
Environmental Affairs.

The Mining Division recorded a fatality free year after a major safety
drive to reduce injuries and prevent fatalities. Lost time injuries however
increased from six in 2010/11 to seven in 2011/12. The Mining Division’s
goal remains Zero Harm to all employees, contractors and visitors,
and our objectives are aligned to achieve this. The Mining Division
successfully launched its behaviour-based safety campaign called “Life
Saving Behaviours” which focused on eliminating the common causes
of serious incidents and injuries.
No major environmental incidents were reported and the Mining Division
will continue to strive to keep the impact on our sensitive environment to
a minimum. During 2011/12 the Mining Division further demonstrated
its commitment and compliance to environmental legislation by being
issued with both a Water Use Licence in terms of Chapter 4 of the
National Water Act, 36 of 1998, and on Air Emission Licence in terms
of the National Environmental Management: Air Quality Act, 39 of 2004.
Although the central parts of the Limpopo Lowveld were hit by Tropical
Cyclone Dando in the middle of January 2012 with record precipitation,
no safety or environmental incidents were recorded as a result.
The health of our employees remains our highest priority and as such
we focus on annual medical surveillance. Various initiatives have been
implemented to reduce dust and noise levels and although our site is

Despite the Mining Division’s efforts to comply fully with relevant legislation
and in particular with the Mine Health and Safety Act, 29 of 1996, the
Department of Mineral Resources (DMR) during a Group inspection
conducted on the mine from 20 to 23 February 2012 issued a Notice of
Orders, Suspension and Instruction in terms of Section 54(1)(a) of the Mine
Health and Safety Act suspending all operations of the Mining Division.
After rectifying non-conformances and complying with all the instructions,
a presentation was made to the Directorate of Mine Health and Safety:
Limpopo Region and, the Section 54 Instruction was unconditionally
uplifted on 28 February 2012.
The Mining Division as a founding member of the Limpopo Occupational
Health and Safety Tripartite Forum for opencast mines, is committed
and will continue to work with the inspectorate, organised labour and
our peers in the industry to reduce mine incidents.

PRODUCTION
Production decreased significantly by 7.8% from 2.6 million tons
last year to 2.4 million tons, 15.9% below the budget of 2.8 million
tons. Although production did not meet budget, feed grades from
the mine increased and had a positive impact on production adding
the equivalent of 63,236 analytical tons of final concentrate. Overall
flotation efficiencies improved with a positive impact of 61,381 analytical
tons of final concentrate.
Deviations from the budget can be attributed to lower run-of-mine
throughput as the result of six major factors:
1. Palaborwa Mining Company’s (PMC) toll crushing and milling
throughput was 24.8% below the budget of 5.6 million tons
resulting in an equivalent production loss of 215,468 tons
of phosphate concentrate.
2. Frequent power interruptions from Eskom resulted in a loss
of 15,510 tons of phosphate concentrate.
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The key achievements for the Mining Division in Phalaborwa in the
2011/12 financial year were:

Phosphate rock production
volumes after dust losses

In 2012/13 we plan to conduct a full study into the hydrology of
the South Pit Mine for the design of a pit dewatering system. Since
final ramp and bench establishment has not yet been established a
temporary dewatering system has been installed which is not as
efficient as desired.
The North Pyroxenite Push Back Project was approved by the Board
in March 2011 and mining has commenced in the push back area. The
project is on schedule and the first ore has been processed from this
newly unlocked are. This project will unlock Phosphoric Acid) (P2O5)
resources and subsequently reduce the overall stripping ratio in the
North Pyroxenite Pit, extending the life of mine to 30 years.
An efficiency improvement project launched mid-2011 and focusing
on the open cast mining operation will contribute to improving runof-mine production. The reliability of the primary loading fleet will be
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2 346

The production challenges currently being faced can be summarised
as the total reliance on PMC for the crushing and grinding of 20% of the
flotation feed to Foskor; poor reliability of primary loading equipment ;
dewatering of the South Pyroxenite Mine; and the removal of waste
from the North Pyroxenite Mine due to the short-term high stripping
ratios. Mine Management is currently reviewing the PMC/Foskor
tolling agreement in order to find ways to increase crushing and milling
throughput.

In line with Foskor’s strategy to minimise waste and find cost
effective ways of disposing of by-products with mimimal impact of
the environment and the communities where we operate, the Mining
Division has commenced with the reclamation of magnetite from its
stockpiles and dispatched 414,949 tons. In the light of increasing
demand for phosphate and magnetite concentrate, the Mining Division
commenced with the detailed engineering and design of a new loading
dryer, loading silo and siding for phosphate rock concentrate. This
will ensure sufficient capacity to dry and dispatch phosphate rock
concentrate to align with future production capacity.

(’000 tons)
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6. The Congress of South African Trade Unions nationwide strike in
March 2012 was supported by the National Union of Mine Workers
resulted in a total plant stoppage with a loss of 9,840 tons of
production.

2 200
2 168

5. Technical failures on primary loading equipment and the excessive
waste backlog in the North Pit resulted in lower feed to the
Extension 8 processing plant and rersulted in a production loss of
155,275 tons.

The Mining Division further ensured continuous dispatches of product
to its downstream phosphoric acid facility in Richards Bay and other
national clients. A total of 2.2 million tons of phosphate concentrate
was dispatched in the year under review, a 1.7% increase over the
2.16 million tons last year. Tons dispatched were however 9% lower
than the budget of 2.4 million tons. The main contributing factor to the
deficit in dispatches was due to the rebuilding of the Brakspruit Bridge
during September and October 2010 after the catastrophic derailment
of a Transnet Freight Rail train.

2 390

4. The Section 54 Order and Instruction issued by the DMR on
22 February 2012 resulted in a total stoppage of the operation of
six days with a production loss of 61,933 tons.

improved through a major overhaul of one of the old P&H rope shovels
and through the acquisition of additional support equipment that will
focus on in-pit cleaning.
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3. Cyclone Dando caused floding in the lower benches of both open
pits. Load and haul equipment had to be evacuated, resulting in a
production equivalent to 40,000 tons. Contingency plans allowed
for continuous production albeit at lower throughput.
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Performance per stream compared to the 2011/12 budget was as follows:
Table 8: Output per production stream

Stream

%
P2O5

Calculated weighted
production

Budgeted weighted
production

Variance
(tons)

F-Bank Concentration tons
E-Bank Concentration tons
Ext 8 Concentration tons
PMC Concentration tons
Palfos R
Total Palfos B

37.4
37.0
37.7
36.6
28.9
36.9

1 017 334
532 377
411 904
423 460
11 401
60 467

1 028 879
577 103
587 532
638 928
16 795
–

(11 545)
(44 725)
(175 628)
(215 468)
(5 394)
60 467

Total Production

37.2

2 396 477

2 849 238

(452 761)

The production deficit per stream clearly shows the underperformance and continued deterioration in the production performance of all the
streams since January 2012.

Phosphate Production Variance

Total P205 Recovery
Total P205 recovery

Phosphate production variance
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Total weighed P2O5 recovery for the year was 63.7%, compared to a budget of 64.3%. Poor efficiency in the last quarter of the financial year was
as a result of the processing of lower quality rock that replaced blasted material during the flooding on the lower benches.

WASTE DISPOSAL: TAILINGS
The tailings section had three plant stoppages for the year. A pipe
failure on the Southern Tailings Dam resulted in a plant downtime
of 14 hours at Extension 8. During June 2011, the Thickener 1 rake
seized resulting in the shutdown of the PMC stream for a period of
41.5 hours and the E-stream for a period of 8.1 hours. Downtimes were
aggravated during this period by thickener Numbers 2 and 3 being offline for three months for structural integrity tests. Dirty water overflows
also contributed to plant standing time in January 2012, when fines did
not settle out fast enough. High levels of flocculent had to be dosed to
stabilise the settling process.

SELATI TAILINGS DAM
The water level on the dam is within safe operating margins and the
freeboard on the Selati Dam remained more than adequate. The filter
drains function well. The piezo meter reading was well within specifications
and no seepages were noticed at toe levels. The outer walls and the
overall condition of the dam was good. The Selati Tailings Dam's status
as per Fraser Alexander risk scale remained “green” throughout the year.

PERFORMANCE REVIEW
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Tailings deposition into Selati Dam

SOUTHERN TAILINGS DAM
The water level on the dam remained within safe operating margins
and the freeboard on the Selati Dam was adequate. The filter drains,
the piezo meter reading and the decant system are well within
specifications and no seepages were noticed at toe levels. The outer
walls and the overall condition of the dam was good. The Southern
Tailings Dam's status remained “green” throughout the year.

REHABILITATION
Limited rehabilitation was performed on the Selati Dam during the last
quarter of the financial year. The main focus was on the rehabilitation of
the Southern Dam and the construction of the last lift and access road
around the Southern Dam. A total of 6.3 hectares were rehabilitated
during the year on the Southern Dam.

Waste management

The five hectares grassing test trail conducted on the Selati Dam
was unsuccessful. Low rainfall during January and February 2011
brought about very dry conditions which caused the grass to die.
It was concluded that future rehabilitation strategies should consist of
a combination of grassing, ridge ploughing, screens and the possible
installation of an irrigation system.

CONTINUOUS IMPROVEMENT
Due to the disruptions to throughput experienced by the Mining
Division, a project was started to assist with process improvements.
The consultants (Partners in Performance) were briefed to assist the
Division. The Mining Continuous Improvement Team, consisting of
Foskor personnel and one performance improvement plan consultant,
is currently on site. A Continuous Improvement Industrial analyst will
help as needed. There has been good progress in implementing ideas
although some teething problems on the project are still evident.
The Continuous Improvement Programme known as the Baobab
Journey showed good progress. The energy optimisation projects are
completed and a team has been formed to do the in-house energy
audit and to identify new energy-saving projects. The Diesel Additive
project is also on track.
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"The dryer debottlenecking project initiated in 2011 is on schedule to be completed and
commissioned toward the end of 2012/13. This will increase dryer utilisation, resulting in more
consistent weekly dispatches of phosphate rock to key customers."
Khumbulani Cele – VP: Procurement and Logistics
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Work is currently being done on different flotation methods,
including column flotation. Tests on different reagents are in
progress to find an alternative for the one currently used. After
deducting performance improvement plan costs, the year under
review’s budget was under-spent by 7.8% or R13.1 million (budget:
R14.2 million).

Table 9: Planned Mining Division Capital Projects exceeding R6 million

Project
description
X8 De-bottlenecking

PERFORMANCE REVIEW
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Capital
budgeted
(R'm)

Capital
approved
(R'm)

Capital spend
to date
(R'm)

Completion
date

650

650

451.85

June 2012

D-Bank Replacement

578

550

0.47

December 2013

North Pit Pushback

210

209

17.27

December 2014

Southern Dam By-pass

94.5

94.5

21.50

March 2013

Deep seepage and GWM

57

57

3.49

July 2014

Dryer De-bottlenecking

40

40

3.89

December 2012

Mechanical and Electrical Upgrade of Rope Shovel

21

21

0.70

July 2012

D-Bank Flotation Replacement

20

20

5.27

May 2012

18.8

22.5

3.67

October 2012

16

16

0.80

September 2012

R1.705 billion

R1.680 billion

R508.91

U Bank Upgrade
Palfos R Filter Capacity Increase
Total

Rod mill installation: Mining

Internal view of Loesche Mill: Mining

SAFETY

In the past, the Mining Division used the lost term injury frequency
rate (LTIFR) while the Acid Division used the disabling injury frequency

As such safety messages are posted throughout the plants to remind
employees that “safety comes first” or that they should “never assume,
but always inspect”.

rate (DIFR) to measure their respective safety performances. For the

Foskor has a range of safety awareness and training campaigns. These

period under review, the definitions of the two have been synchronised

include Hazard Identification Risk Assessment (HIRA) and Clearance,

and going forward, both divisions will report on LTIFR only.

Working at Heights, SHREQ Representative Courses, Fire and Emergency,

For the period under review, the Acid Division’s LTIFR was 0.45 and
the Mining Division’s 0.27, giving the Group an average rating of 0.32.
Mining is inherently dangerous and as such Foskor takes great pride in

Radiation, Environmental training, Legal, Incident Management, Quality
Management Systems, and ISOMETRIX systems training.
Foskor’s Training and Development Department supports a learning

its world-class safety record, especially since there were zero fatalities

and participative culture with regards to Occupational Health and

in 2011/12. Safety is a business imperative and a breach thereof can

Safety as its core value of Foskor. Staff are continuously trained on the

result in either a Section 54 temporary mine closure or in a permanent

following awareness programmes:

forced closure of the Mining Division. Foskor currently targets a LTIFR
of less than 0.6. A strategy is in place to reduce this target over time.

•	Occupational health
•

Quality

•

ISO 14001

employees and contractors by way of Induction Training, site specific

•

Environment

training videos, and a more hands-on interactive training. The company

•

Radiation

also makes use of external accredited training service providers

•

SHEQ code of practice (COP) for Level 1 until supervisory staff

•

SHEQ COP basic.

The industry benchmark is 0.8 in mining.
Foskor currently offers in-house health and safety training to our

for legal, health and safety training. Training covers supervisory and
management personnel as well.
Monthly safety awareness campaigns and annual Safety, Health
Radiation and Emvironmental Quality (SHREQ) Representative Seminars
are conducted to continuously train and engage staff on safety issues.
Daily Level 1, toolbox talks on Safety are conducted, followed by the
monthly Level 2 meeting with supervisors and manager and finally

Continuous accredited unit standards-based training with the Mining
Qualifications Authority is also offered at the respective Divisional
Training Centres and cover:
•

SHEQ training – Basic Safety, HIRA, SHE Rep, First Aid, Basic Fire
Fighting

the Level 3, SHREQ Management meeting with the Chairman of the

•

Working at heights

SHREQ Committee to discuss SHREQ issues.

•

Mobile Elevating Work Platform

Bi-annual SHREQ Management Review meetings are also held to

•

Confined spaces

review the SHREQ systems and ensure continuous improvement.

•

Lock-out procedures

•

Foskor’s Hearing Conservation Programme.

Safety, health and enviromental training

Foskor has been instrumental in establishing the Zululand Health and

The safety of employees, contractors and the community in which we

Safety Forum, at which the industry’s best practices are discussed and

operate forms an integral part of the business. Foskor values its people,

Foskor’s performance is benchmarked against the industry’s. Foskor

continually strives to improve workplace safety and always puts its

has embarked on a drive to assist and educate contractors on site.

people first, above output. Unsafe working conditions can be easily

A Safety Management Guideline has been designed for contractors

remedied, but addressing unsafe behaviours remains challenging.

so that they can comply with the Safety File compilation. Similarly, the
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Introduction

long standing Environmental Forum gives feedback to stakeholders
on matters pertaining to environmental performance, incidents and
monitoring.
The Acid Division recorded five lost time injuries, mainly due to
negligence, with a corresponding lost time injury frequency rate (LTIFR)
of 0.45 for the period under review. To address unsafe practices brought
about by staffs' careless behaviours, management implemented Visible
Felt Leadership, i.e. a system where managers walk the plant with
their teams and point out both deviations and best practices. Through
regular and consistent interaction with staff and contractors on safety,
health and environmental matters, management strive to reduce the
number of reported incidents.

PERFORMANCE REVIEW

Long-Term Injury Free Rate
per manhours
Long-term
injury free rate per man hours

0.44

Employees in personal protective equipment

0.27

0.5
0.28

(LTIFR)

0.7

1.0

0.7
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Safety signage clearly displayed

Below is the graphical representation of the LTIFR from 2008 to 2012
financial years which indicate the positive decline of the LTIFR from
2008 – 2011:

0.0
2008

2009

2010

2011

2012

Safety notices visibly displayed

MINE RESOURCES AND ORE RESERVES

Apatite is the only phosphate-bearing mineral in the igneous complex.
Although it is sometimes present in only very small amounts, it is never
completely absent and often figures as an abundant mineral constituent
in the pyroxenite and foskorite rock types. Copper and magnetite
are present in the Loolekop lobe and are exclusively associated with
foskorite and carbonatite rock types.
Through exploration drilling, higher concentrations of apatite
mineralisation, expressed as a percentage of phosphoric acid (P2O5),
were found in the Loolekop foskorite and pyroxenite rock types, as well
as in the pyroxenite rock types of the north-west corner of the North
Pyroxenite lobe and the South Pyroxenite lobe. There are four mines
currently operating in the Palaborwa Igneous Complex. Palaborwa
Mining Company (PMC) operates a copper mine in the central portion
of the complex, as well as a vermiculite mine in the southern portion of
the complex. Foskor operates two phosphate rock mining operations,
one situated in the North Pyroxenite area and another in the South
Pyroxenite area.

The mining rights already granted are:
•

New Mining Right – South Pyroxenite (LP30/5/1/2/2/09 MR);

•

New Mining Right – North Pyroxenite Extension (LP30/5/1/2/2/03
MR); and

•

New Mining Right – Stripping Area (LP30/5/1/2/2/22 MR).

Mining right applications submitted and under review are:
•

Northern Pyroxenite – North-west Corner (LP30/5/2/2/126 MR).
Application for conversion of old order used rights to new mining
rights submitted and under review are:
•	Old Order Used Right – North Pyroxenite (LP30/5/1/2/2/124
CMR); and
•	Conversion of remainder of all existing Stockpiles
(LP 30/5/1/2/2/125CMR).

Management is confident that the outstanding applications will be
finalised and approved by the DMR.

Foskor (Pty) Limited has submitted all its applications for Mining
Rights as required in terms of the Mineral and Petroleum Resources
Developments Act (MPRDA), 28 of 2002, related to minerals and
reserves. Submissions were made for four new mining rights, three
of which have already been granted with the fourth application having
been withdrawn at the advice of the Department of Mineral Resources
(DMR), so as to be included as an amendment of the Conversion
application for the North Pyroxenite Mine (LP30/5/1/2/2/124 CMR).
Two submissions were made for the conversion of old order used rights
to new mining rights. Various submissions have been made to amend
certain requirements to the Mining Rights in terms of section 102 of the
MPRDA, and are currently being reviewed by the DMR.
Figure 1: Areas of interest with regard to mineral resources and reserves
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The Palaborwa Igneous Complex, situated south of Phalaborwa in
the Limpopo Province, comprises 14 distinct rock types, each with
a specific mineral composition, as illustrated in Figure 2. It is a vertical
volcanic pipe, roughly kidney-shaped and measuring between 1.5km
and 3.5km in width and 6.5km in length. The complex consists of three
conjoined lobes – namely the North Pyroxenite, Loolekop and South
Pyroxenite areas.

resources. Samples taken from the defined drill holes were assessed at
Foskor’s chemical laboratory.
Foskor is not currently undertaking any new exploration projects.

RESOURCE ESTIMATION
Geostatistical analysis of the drilling information was used to build
three-dimensional geological block models showing phosphate mineral
distribution. The block models for the two mining areas and the tailings
dam were validated by correlating the original drill-hole assay results
with the estimated values determined by the geostatistical methods.
Mineral resources were classified as either measured, indicated or
inferred, based on drill-hole densities, kriging efficiency parameters and
the cumulative knowledge and experience of Foskor’s geologists.

MINERAL RESOURCES AND RESERVES
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The mineral resources and reserves were classified according to
the South African Mineral Resource Committee (SAMREC) Code.
SAMREC defines a mineral resource as: ‘a concentration or occurrence
of material of economic interest in or on the earth’s crust in such form,
quality and quantity that there are reasonable and realistic prospects
for eventual economic extraction’.
In terms of the Code, ‘the location, quantity, grade, continuity and
other geological characteristics of a mineral resource are known, or
estimated from specific geological evidence, sampling and knowledge
interpreted from an appropriately constrained and portrayed geological
model. Mineral resources are sub-divided, and must be so reported,
in order of increasing confidence in respect of geo-scientific evidence,
into inferred, indicated or measured categories’.
.5
Figure 2: The geology of the Palaborwa Igneous Complex

GEOLOGICAL EXPLORATION
From 1950 onwards, numerous drill tests have been performed on the
phosphate deposits, with the most recent drilling completed in 2006.
A total of 100,544 metres were drilled to demarcate mineral resources
in the North and South Pyroxenite Pits. Drilling was also done in
PMC’s active tailings dam to evaluate the presence of possible mineral

To elaborate: a mineral reserve is the economically mineable material
derived from either a measured or an indicated mineral source. It
includes diluted and contaminated materials and allows for mining
losses. At minimum, an appropriate assessment for a project should
be a pre-feasibility study. Alternatively, a Life of Mine Plan – detailing
considerations; modifications; realistically assumed mining; and all other
modifying factors such as the metallurgical, economic, marketing, legal,
environmental, social and governmental impacts – should be drawn up.
The cut-off feed grade to economically produce a saleable (36.5% P2O5)
phosphate rock concentrate was calculated (using methods originally
made famous by leading mathematician and mining consult Kenneth

NORTH PYROXENITE DEPOSIT
Foskor commenced mining phosphate-bearing ore from the North
Pyroxenite deposit, situated in the north-western part of the Palaborwa
Igneous Complex, in 1966. From 1961 to 1977, almost 150 drill-holes
or 24,377 metres were drilled. Between 1980 and 1984, an additional
55 holes were drilled around the existing pit, adding a further 23,200
metres.
The lithological (rock classification) information from these holes was
interpreted to build a resource mineralisation model. On this basis, the
mineral resources were estimated and categorised as either measured,
indicated or inferred. Optimisation of the pit was designed using the
Whittle Pit Method (i.e. the global open-pit mine planning system used
to maximise net present values, and to balance schedules, blends and
stockpiles). The North Pyroxenite mineral reserves were estimated with
modifying factors at 418.4 million metric tons as at 31 March 2012.

SOUTH PYROXENITE DEPOSIT
Drilling in the South Pyroxenite area began in the late 1950s and
continued into the 1960s. In the 1990s an infill drilling programme
was terminated prematurely, due to financial considerations, but was
completed during 2005/06. In total, 143 drill-holes or 49 584 metres
were drilled. Bulk and trench sampling were also done in the South
Pyroxenite area.
The geological and resource models for the South Pyroxenite area
were based on the exploration campaigns. The geological contacts
were interpreted from the drilling data. Ordinary kriging was used to
estimate the P2O5 block model values, which were finally validated
through comparisons against the original drill-hole data.
Mineral resources in the South Pyroxenite area were audited by
Snowden Mining Industry Consulting in 2008. As at 31 March 2012,
the reserves being estimated at 973.1 million metric tons.

CENTRAL AREA: PMC ACTIVE TAILINGS DAM
Phosphate-rich tailings have been deposited in the PMC active tailings
dam since the late 1970s. Foskor owns the rights to the apatite in the
tailings even though the dam is located on PMC’s premises. A resource

of approximately 297 million metric tons with an in situ (i.e. prior to
processing) grade of 6.6% P2O5 was delineated through drilling and
sampling during the 1990s.
The data collected during exploration were evaluated for geostatistical
application. An oriented block model was then created and ordinary
kriging was applied to estimate the grade distribution throughout the
dam. The resources were categorised as either measured, indicated
or inferred.
In 2003 a feasibility study (carried out with assistance from Snowden
Mining Industry Consultants and Rio Tinto Technical Services) to
reclaim the tailings revealed that the planned capital and operating
costs would exceed actual benefits. The project was aborted and PMC
continued to use the tailings dam.

STOCKPILES
The carbonatite intrusion in the centre of the igneous complex is
surrounded by apatite-bearing foskorite and pyroxene pegmatoid rock
types. PMC used to mine and stockpile the foskorite and pyroxene
pegmatoid rock as a by-product of mining the copper-bearing
carbonatite. PMC selectively mined and stockpiled rock according
to the Extension 100F Agreement between Foskor and PMC. The
agreement gave PMC the right to process rocks with a less than an
agreed P2O5 grade, and to retain every mineral except phosphate.
The rights to the rocks mined by PMC were determined by conventional
grade control practices by PMC and monitored by Foskor. PMC
commenced mining in 1965, and in 2002 the opencast mine reached
its maximum planned depth of 750 metres, after which PMC developed
an underground mine in the same ore body below the opencast mine.
The foskorite and apatite-rich pegmatoid mined by PMC containing
more than 6% P2O5 was stockpiled as foskorite stockpiles for Foskor.

PHALABORWA PHOSPHATE AND VERMICULITE
TAILINGS
Currently, PMC operates an opencast mine in the South Pyroxenite
area, which produces vermiculite concentrate from the plant. PMC
transports the high P2O5 tailings from this plant to a stockpile close to
Foskor’s East Crusher. Foskor has reclaimed high phosphate tailings
from this stockpile since 2006.
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Lane). The cut-off grade currently used for the North and South mineral
reserves is 5.5% P2O5, with material with a grade of between 4% and
5.5% P2O5 classified as marginal ore.

Responsible persons
The estimated mineral resources and reserves reported were reviewed
and endorsed by the following competent persons:
•

Mr H Coetzee, BSc (Geology), 25 years’ experience, Chief
Geologist;

•

Mr PK Singh, B. Tech (Mining), 10 years' experience, Mining
Engineer; and

•

Mr N Richardson, NHD (Mine Survey), Government Mine Surveyor
Certificate of Competence, Chief Surveyor.

Snowden Consulting was appointed to act as competent person in
the validation of the original report compiled in 2009. Independent
validation is done every three years and will be done at the end of the
next reporting period – March 2013.
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Table 10: Proven and probable mineral reserves
Mineral Reserves as at 31 March 2012

Blasting in North Pyroxenite Pit

Geological area

Reserves
category

Reserves
(million tons)

%
P2O5

North Pyroxenite Pit

Proved
Probable

418.0
98.0

7.0
6.7

South Pyroxenite Pit

Proved
Probable

973.0
64.3

6.9
6.5

Table 11: Proven mineral resources
Mineral Resources as at 31 March 2012
Reserves
category

Reserves
(million tons)

%
P2O5

North Pyroxenite Pit

Measured
Indicated
Inferred

664.0
509.0
296.0

7.2
7.0
6.7

South Pyroxenite Pit

Measured
Indicated
Inferred

2,248.0
1,148.0
1,491.0

6.7
6.3
6.3

PMC Active Tailings
Dam

Measured
Indicated
Inferred

238.3
48.8
9.9

6.7
6.6
6.4

Geological area

2012
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OUR PEOPLE

Introduction
Human Capital has always been the cornerstone of Foskor’s business
model. As such the attraction and retention of our skills base is one of
our material issues, thus making it a business imperative. To protect
and develop the people within the Foskor family, our Human Capital
initiatives are focused on training, recruitment and talent management
and on employee participation.

•

Foskor’s Succession Planning helps to ensure that the organisation
has the necessary talent to fill key positions timeously. Critical
skills have been identified and a specific succession programme
is in place to ensure the continuous availability of multi-skilled
candidates at all times.

•

Adult Basic Education and Training (ABET) forms the function of
learning and development in Foskor, reflecting the company’s
commitment to lifelong outcomes-based learning. Foskor continues
to invest significant resources in the ABET programme. Eligible
employees are offered free tuition, learning material and stationery.

•

The main focus of the Graduate Development Programme is
to support the Leadership Pipeline. The programme continues
to grow in numbers in order to ensure the long-term supply and
readiness of professional Engineers for the company. Foskor’s
Graduate Development Programme focuses on the need to
establish a structured and focused learning programme that
addresses the growing shortage of graduates with a strong
technical foundation. It addresses specific needs of the business
as well as catering for the development needs of our graduates.
The programme is driven by Foskor’s business needs to bring
strength in critical engineering disciplines such as mining, electrical,
mechanical, chemical, instrumentation, metallurgy and geology. In
this three-year programme that blends academic theory with the
work environment, each graduate-in-training has a mentor who
supervises exposure and leads the formal training.

•

Foskor’s leadership development initiatives during the year were
diverse, although focused on guiding and aligning leadership with
Foskor’s business strategy. Initiatives are targeted at supervisory,
middle, senior and executive management levels. Participants are
carefully selected from high performers, succession candidates and
technical specialists. Foskor believes that developing leadership is
a valuable investment in guiding the mindset of our leaders and
equipping them for their roles.

•

Foskor's in-house development programme runs in partnership
with the University of Stellenbosch Business School, aimed at
strengthening our Leadership Pipeline. Foskor enhances the
performance of employees at managerial and supervisory levels
with an appropriate and tailor-made management development
programme.

•

The new Management Development Programme centres on
complementing the building leadership and management skills
competence with functional skills. The aim of the programme is
to enhance the skills and competencies of the individual who for
the first time has the responsibility to manage other people. This
programme provides participants with the confidence and the
capability to respond effectively to current and future business
challenges.

TRAINING
Training programmes are aimed at developing and retaining key
employees, as well as remedying skills shortages which threaten the
sustainability of the business.
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A strong focus is also placed on learnerships, skills programmes and
internships to provide development opportunities for job seekers. In
2011, the Group continued its broader focus on skills development
through expanding its engineering learnerships and plant operation
learnerships to include skills programmes in Metallurgy and Mineral
Excavation.
Foskor’s Human Resources Development professionals also contribute
significantly to the national and sectoral transformation process by
participating in the standards-generating bodies with the Quality
Council for Trades and Occupations and Technical Reference groups.
In 2011 the Mining Division was awarded scope extension by the
Mining Qualifications Authority for providing training in Boilermaking,
Plating and Welding Trades, additional to the current trades of Fitting
and Turning and Electrical. All these trades appear on South Africa’s
scarce skills lists.
The Acid Division retained its accreditation to provide Chemical
Operations Training Levels 1 to 4 from the Chemical Industries
Education and Training Authority.
Foskor’s skills training covers:
•

Portable skills training, provided to assist employees to manage
career termination or to acquire additional skills to enhance their
existing capabilities.

•

Foskor’s Succession Management Framework identifies necessary
competencies and works to assess, develop, and retain a talent
pool of employees in order to ensure a continuity of leadership
for all critical positions. Succession management is crucial to the
sustainability of the business and high-potential employees are
identified and enrolled on development programmes to enhance
the pool of leadership skills.

The Management Development Programme equips managers who
manage others and who wish to grow and develop their managerial
abilities with the competence to implement the organisation’s
strategic objectives. It develops a basic understanding of the
different fields of management to ensure that managers do
not perform their own management functions in isolation. This
programme brings real business benefits to participants and the
organisation by providing a broader understanding of management
and leadership.

•

The Senior Management Development Programme is aimed at
senior managers who focus more on operation than strategy and
are eager to benchmark their abilities and further their potential.
Participants are equipped with the necessary knowledge and skills
to function effectively.

•

The Executive Development Programme equips participants
with integrated strategic management skills which enable them
to position Foskor to compete more successfully within a highly
competitive global environment.

•

Foskor’s Executive Coaching Programme is designed to help our
executives and selected senior managers facilitate professional
and personal development for individual growth and improved
performance.

•

Foskor’s Executive Coaching Programme is continuous, with the
aim of leveraging our leaders’ existing strengths and improving
performance. It further enhances career planning and development
with an action-oriented plan. The programme is customised to
support and offers opportunities to integrate learning into real work
experience. Eight executives or senior leaders participate in the
current programme with quarterly monitoring and evaluation.

•

•

The externally-appointed coaches work with the participants
towards specific professional goals. These include: career
transition, interpersonal and professional communication,
performance management, organisational effectiveness, managing
career and personal changes, developing executive presence,
enhancing strategic thinking, dealing effectively with conflict and
building an effective team within an organisation.
E-learning is an integral part of the training delivery with the centres
at both operations. The Mining Division has world-class training
simulators, its own fleet of machines and a training area providing
for the training of the full mining cycle.

RECRUITMENT AND TALENT MANAGEMENT
Foskor is experiencing skills shortages in certain critical areas. The
remoteness of the Mining Division in Phalaborwa further compounds
the problem. Whilst we are able to recruit, the retention of critical staff
remains a challenge. The average tenure of most engineers is two years
and this has an impact on productivity and continuity. In the Mining
Division, we have experienced the highest number of resignations of
engineers and it takes longer than three months to fill most positions.
The average age of the workforce is around 55 , which means that most
of employees are nearing retirement and the institutional knowledge
and memory that they have needs to be preserved. The average annual
turnover is 5% of which retirees make up 2%. A system is in place
wherein some of the retirees are appointed as mentors and coaches
for the Engineers-in-Training Programme.

TRADE UNIONS AND
EMPLOYEE PARTICIPATION FORUMS
About 66% of Foskor’s labour force belongs to a trade union. The
company subscribes to the principle of industrial democracy and
employee participation through trade union representation. There are
five trade unions in operation in the Group as seen in the chart below:

Trade union stats for
the Group
6%

1%
53%

19%

6%

15%

NUM

CEPPWAWU

Solidarity

UASA

Agency shop

UCIMESHAWU
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HEALTH
Scheduled monthly meetings and joint forums as well as special meetings
between management and trade union representatives take place on a
regular basis. Although there are occasional skirmishes between trade
union representatives and management in the boardroom, the general
workforce is not perturbed and can be described as stable. And,
save for the recent Congress of South African Trade Union (COSATU)
national stay-away, there was no industrial action during the year under
review.
The three-year wage agreement that was concluded last year entered
its second term on 1 April 2012. The third and last term of the
agreement will come to an end on 31 March 2014.

It is also worth reporting that there were no serious grievances raised
during the period under review. Serious grievances are those that are
referred to the CCMA.

Foskor recognises that emotional, social and health problems not
associated with one’s job functioning can have adverse effects on the
employee’s job performance. Foskor thus acknowledges that effectively
helping and supporting competent employees is more beneficial to the
company than having to terminate their services.
Foskor provides an internal Employee Assistance Programme (EAP)
service as part of its obligation towards employees. A full-time Employee
Assistance Practitioner is employed at each operation, both registered
with the South African Council for Social Service Professions and
the Employee Assistance Professionals Association of South Africa.
The EAP renders a rehabilitative, preventative, counselling, educational,
referral and supportive service. The EAP services are free to all Foskor
employees and their immediate families.
EAP interventions include focus on HIV/Aids and related illnesses,
disability, addiction, stress management, trauma and bereavement
counselling, together with various topical wellness and awareness
programmes.

MANAGING HIV/AIDS IN THE WORKPLACE
Foskor is one of the leading companies in the country in the prevention
of HIV/Aids and other related illness in the workplace. The company
has committed itself to be part of the National HIV Counselling and
Testing (HCT) campaign through:
Distributing employee-specific information on HCT;

•

Encouraging more open discussion about HIV/Aids within
workspaces and wider communities;

•

Encouraging regular take up of HCT;

•

Integration of HCT into wider Foskor prevention programe; and

•

Strategies to manage the impact of HIV/Aids on orphaned
and vulnerable people including disabled employees.

Disclosure
of info

Foskor promoted HCT through the “Know Your Status Campaign”
as a direct response to the Presidential call for all South Africans to
know their status with a target of at least 15 million people by end of
Misconduct
June 2010. Incapacity/
1

2
CCMA Cases

Unilateral
change

1

1
Unfair labour
practice

•

6

Grievances raised during 2012

6
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There was a total of 17 Commission for Conciliation, Mediation and
Arbitration (CCMA) cases during the period to 31 March 2012. Ten of
these cases were individual disputes while five were collective diputes
as shown in the chart below. With the exception of one misconductrelated dismissal, all other cases were finalised favourably in that four
of these cases were settled financially while the rest were in the form of
awards in favour of the company.

Foskor is OHSAS 18001 certified for Safety Management Systems
as well as ISO 9001 for Quality and SANS 16001 for HIV/Aids
Management by DEKRA Norisco.

Constructive
dismissal

poor work

HIV Counselling and Testing sessions are held by professional
Occupational Health Nurses on-site. The current prevalence testing

rate is 75%. Employees with a CD4 cell count below 350 are placed
on a treatment programme monitored by the Occupational Medical
Practitioner at the on-site clinic. Contractors with a CD 4 cell count
below 350 are referred to the Phelang Community Centre in Phalaborwa
and the uThungulu District Municipality in Richards Bay, which are
accredited to give anti-retroviral.
Foskor has maintained the SANS 16001:2007 for HIV/Aids
Management Systems Implementation accreditation for the past
five years.

HIV/AIDS testing on Wellness Day

Participation of women encouraged in mining
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TRANSFORMATION
Promoting diversity within the workforce remains an important
pillar of Foskor’s human resource principles, as well as a central
component of the operational human resource strategies. Foskor
is committed to providing equal opportunities to all potential and
existing employees and achieving a diversified workplace that
reflects the demographics of the country. Attracting, recruiting and
retaining talented employees into Foskor’s diverse workplace are
key to driving improved business performance.

our PEOPLE

74

Due to the advancement of technology, and the changing
economic landscape, few women enter the mining operation at
Phalaborwa, and the mining industry’s record of retaining women
employees is of concern. Foskor has made women participation
a key focus area in the Employment Equity (EE) Plan at our mining
and manufacturing operations. The specific targets set by Foskor
for the participation of women in mining is directly informed by
the targets set by the Mining Charter. The annual compulsory EE
progress reports are submitted to the Department of Labour.
Foskor has been verified as a Level 5 contributor by Emex. The
black economic empowerment (BEE) certificate applies to the
calendar year ended in December 2011 and does not directly
correspond to the financial year ended March 2012. Given that the
BEE applications are done in hindsight, the Level 5 rating is not a
true reflection of Foskor’s performance for the period under review.
We recognise that the Level 5 rating needs considerable
improvement. In this regard, various targets and programmes
have been put in motion to advance this rating. Foskor scores
well for management and control; and employment and equity
as is evidenced by the transformation table and the Mining
Charter Scorecard. Our score for preferential procurement is also
improving as our supplier development programmes that cover
vendor training and supplier days gain traction. For the period
under review, Foskor spent R1.4 billion on BEE suppliers and
R1.3 million on supplier development programmes. Foskor also
spent R6.9 million on local economic development to improve
the socio-economic score. Skills and enterprise development
remains our growth areas which will be remedied in the ensuing
financial years.

MINING CHARTER
1. Report on ownership for 2011
% meaningful economic
participation (1)
1.1PERCENTAGE HDSA OWNERSHIP CREDITS OF COMPANY
(TARGET is 15% in 2010 and 26% in 2014)

Exceeded 2014 target

% full shareholder rights (1)
26%

(1) Please provide details separately if figures are not the same
TOTAL (R)

1.3 TOTAL CURRENT VALUE OF HDSA TRANSACTIONS (R)

1.4 NATURE OF HDSA OWNERSHIP CREDITS

R0, we're an unlisted entity
1,572,595,517

Percentage of company
based on Rm or production

1.4.1 P
 ercentage HDSA credits earned through transfer of shares or issue
of new shares to following beneficiaries:
a) BEE entrepreneurs

15%

b) Employees (e.g. ESOPs)

6%

c) Community interests

5%

1.4.2 P
 ercentage HDSA credits earned through sale of assets to the
following beneficiaries:
a) BEE company or consortium

0%

b) Employees (e.g. ESOPs)

0%

c) Community interests

0%

1.4.3 P
 ercentage HDSA credits earned by other means - provide short
description
1.4.4 TOTAL percentage HDSA ownership credits

17.2%
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1.2 SOUTH AFRICAN MARKET CAPITALISATION OF COMPANY (R)

2. Report on procurement and multi-nationals for the year 2011
2.1 Procurement
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2.1.1 Procurement of capital
goods (%)
5% 10% 20% 30% 40% 118,197,732
2.1.2 Procurement of services (%) 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 1,405,304,798
2.1.3 Procurement of
consumables (%)
10% 15% 25% 40% 50% 716,604,634
Note: One point will be deducted for each full 2% below target

Awarded (1)

Maximum

% Spend with BEE
entities (1D as % of 1C)

Spend with BEE
Entities (R) (1D)

Discretionary spend
(R) (1A-1B =1C)

Non-Discretionary
spend (R) (1B)

Total Procurement
spend (R) (1A)

2014

2013

Calender year

2012

2011

2010

Targets

Points
(office
use only)

12,300,405
554,043,874

105,897,327
851,260,923

78,652,904
584,632,300

74%
69%

5 5.00
5 5.00

–

716,604,634

651,900,036

91%

2 2.00

2.2 Contributions by multi-national suppliers of capital goods
2.2.1 Have all multi-national suppliers of capital goods with operations in SA, provided evidence of
contributing at least 0.5% of their income generated from your company, to social development?

YES/NO (if NO, provide full
details separately)

Note: If your company does not procure any capital goods from multi-national companies, the points in Section 2.1 are to be increased to
6 points each under Sub-section 2.1.1 and 2.1.2 and 3 points under Sub-section 2.1.3
Target

Calender year

Points (office use only)
Maximum

2.2.2 Detail of procurement spend and contributions:
a) Your company's total spending on procurement of capital goods from
multi-national suppliers operating in SA (Rm) (2A)

619,358

b) Total contribution by such suppliers to social development in respect of
your company's procurement (Rm) (2B)
c) Percentage of procurement spend (2A as percentage of 2B)

0
0.5%

2.3 TOTAL POINTS FOR PROCUREMENT
Total of 2.1.1, 2.1.2, 2.1.3 and 2.2.2(c)

Awarded

12.00

0.00%

3

0

3. Employment equity report for 31 December 2011
3.1 Number of employees (NOTE: Place an employee in the category that best resembles his/her job. Do not double count)

Category

Male

Coloured

Female

Male

Indian

Female

Male

White

Female

Female

Subtotals
(A)

White
Male

Grand
totals (B)

Top management

6

2

0

0

0

0

0

8

3

11

Senior management

6

2

4

2

0

1

3

18

2

20

Middle management

34

5

2

0

1

0

4

46

30

76

Junior management

61

10

0

1

0

1

2

75

39

114

Core and Critical Skills(1)

104

7

1

1

0

0

1

114

59

173

Total of the above

211

26

7

4

1

2

10

261

133

394

(1)

 hese are skills necessary and inextricably linked to day-to-day operations OR skills that enhance the performance of an operation and are
T
in scarce supply. This could include artisans, engineers incl rock engineers, professionals (i.e. recognised by a professional body), specialists
(e.g. surveyor, safety, geologist, metallurgist, winding engine driver, environmental, etc.), technologists, technicians, and persons with mining
specific qualifications or licences.

3.2 Percentage HDSAs at different levels
Sub-totals
as in table
above (A)

Top management

Grand
totals as
in table
above (B)

A as
percentage
of B

TARGET

Points (office use only)

2010

2011

2012

2013

2014

%

%

%

%

%

Maximum

8

11

73

20

25

30

35

40

3

Senior management

18

20

90

20

25

30

35

40

4

Middle management

46

76

61

30

35

40

40

40

3

Junior management

75

114

66

40

40

40

40

40

1

Core and Critical Skills

114

173

66

15

20

30

35

40

5

TOTAL

261

394

354.94

(2)

Note: One point will be deducted for every full 0.5% below target.

16

Awarded(2)

0
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African

4. Human resource development (hrd) report for the year 2011
4.1 Total HRD expenditure (excluding mandatory skills development levy) in R
African
Expenditure items

Male

a) Learnership

c) ABET training
d) Other training initiatives
e) Bursaries and scholarships

our PEOPLE

Female

f) Transfer of skills and capacity
building of mine communities

Female

Male

White

Female

Female

Total

3,350,000

469,000

0

0

0

0

67,000

3,886,000

107,974

9,598

0

0

0

0

2,399

119,971

6,560,304

952,134

34,041

112,102

132,349

0

243,397

8,034,328

596,347

99,656

0

0

0

0

386,861

1,082,864

1,530,388

34,041

112,102

132,349

0

699,657

13,920,498

43,976

g) Other school support and
post-matric programmes

405,775

h) Support for South African based
research and development initiatives

347,584

i) Total HRD expenditure

Male

Indian

0

b) Artisans and apprentices

78

Coloured

10,614,625

4.2 Calculation of percentage of payroll
a) Total HRD expenditure per table
above (A)
b) Total annual payroll in respect
of HDSAs
c) HRD expenditure as percentage
of payroll (excluding skills levy)
(A as % of B)

13,920,498
298,879,396

5%

Targets
2010

3%

2011

4%

2012

4%

Points (office use only)
2013

5%

2014

5%

Maximum Awarded (1)

25

5. Accommodation report for the year 2011
Note: This report applies only to employees in company accommodation
5.1 Report in respect of 31 December 2010
a) Number of employees in company accommodation (1A)

227

b) Number of these employees who share rooms with other employees (1B)

2
0.88

c) Percentage of employees who share rooms with other employees (1B as % of 1A)
Target

a) Number of employees in company accommodation at the end of the current calender year
(2A)

227

b) Number of employees who share rooms with other employees at the end of the current
calender year (2B)
c) TARGET 1: Percentage of employees who share rooms with other employees at end of
current year (2B as % of 2A)

2
0% in 2014

d) Number of employees who share rooms with other employees at the end of the previous
calender year (2C)

0.88%

4

e) Reduction in number of employees (2B minus 2C = 2D)
f) TARGET 2: Percentage decline in shared accommodation (2D as % of 2C)

Achievement

-2
25% improvement
per annum

-50%

5.4 How many employees who shared rooms at the end of the previous year, moved to one
person per room?

2

5.4.1 H
 ow many employees who shared rooms at the end of the previous year, moved to
family accommodation?

0
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5.2 Report in respect of 2011 and thereafter

6. Mine community development report for the year 2011
6.1 Consultation process
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Yes/No

a) Did the company consider the profiles of relevant communities, and identify credible leaders of the communities?

Yes

b) Did the company consult with such leaders prior to the implementation of projects?

Yes

c) Did the company consult with the leaders to identify projects within the needs analysis and prioritise such projects?

Yes

d) Did the company consult with the relevant Ward/Municipality to determine possibility of partnerships in respect of identified
projects and the Ward/Municipality's Integrated Development Plan (IDP)?

Yes

e) Has provision been made for the transfer of skills and capacity building within the relevant community?

Yes

TOTAL NUMBER OF YES RESPONSES

5

Points awarded: One point for each yes (Office use only)

5

Points maximum

5 points

6.2 Expenditure on mine community development projects
a) Expenditure on community development in R (A)
b) Company's net profit after tax in South Africa (NPAT) (B)
c) Indication of proportionality (i.e. A as percentage of B)

6,880,081
574,792,047
1.2%

d) Target (NOTE: The BBBEE Codes have a target of 1% of NPAT)
Points maximum
TOTAL POINTS AWARDED
(1) Note: One point deduction for every full 0.1% below NPAT target. The NPAT of the previous financial year can be used to
set the target

10 points
5

7. Health and safety report for the calendar year 2011
Measure

Points
(Office use only)

Targets

%
Only inernal culture
change – no project
from DMR

2011

2012

2013

2014

Maximum Awarded

To be
confirmed
(tbc) in
culture
framework

Tbc

Tbc

100%

2

7.1 Implementation of culture
transformation framework

%

7.2 Percentage of employees
embarking on OHS
representative training

%

5

2

4

6

8
(= 40 000
for industry)

2

7.3 Percentage of leading practices
from MOSH Learning Hub
investigated for implementation
(1)

%

33

100

100

100

100

2

7.4 Percentage of research findings
from MHSC investigated for
implementation (1)

%

50

100

100

100

100

2

7.5 Health: Percentage of
mandatory occupational health
reports submitted

%

100

100

100

100

100

2

7.6 Health: Adherence to HIV/AIDS
and TB guidelines

%

YES / NO

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

2

TOTAL POINTS

%

(1) Only those leading practices and research findings completed during the current reporting period need to be investigated

12
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Achievement
current year

0

8. Environmental management compliance report for the year 2011
Points
Measure

Requirements

Item to consider:

8.1 Implementation of
approved EMPs

8.1.1 Assess performance
towards achievement of
the objectives, targets and
Actions of the EMP

our PEOPLE
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Yes/No

Maximum

a) Is the company in compliance with the
requirements of MPRDA Regulation 55 on
Monitoring and Performance Assessments
of Environmental Management Programme/
Plan?

Yes

3

b) If the company received feedback from
DMR in relation to compliance to regulation
55, has the company acted thereon?

Yes

1

8.1.2 Monitor and Evaluate
environmental changes and
update the EMP

Are all mining activities and related activities
included in the existing approved EMP's
and Amendments in terms of the MPRDA?

Yes

1

8.1.3 Undertake
environmental compliance
auditing

Have compliance audits been conducted
(e.g. ISO 140001)?

Yes

1

8.1.4 Periodic Assessment
of the adequacy of Financial
Provision

a) Are all closure liability assessments done
for all operations?

Yes

2

b) Is the closure liability adequately funded
as per the prescribed method of financial
provision in terms of the MPRDA?

Yes

2

8.2 Implementation
of the approved
Rehabilitation plan

Progress towards
implementation of the
rehabilitation plan and
concurrent rehabilitation

Are all operations with EMP commitments
towards concurrent rehabilitation, up to date
with the rehabilitation process?

Yes

1

8.3 Implementation of
approved Closure Plan

Progress towards
implementation of the
closure plan

Have closure plans been developed, taking
into consideration sustainable closure?

Yes

1

TOTAL POINTS

12

Awarded

0

9. Report on analysis of samples for the year 2011
9.1 Number of all samples across the value chain analysed per annum (A)

154,954

9.2 Number of samples analysed at South African based research facilities and laboratories – internally or externally (B)

154,954

9.3 Percentage of samples analysed at South African-based organisations (B as % of A)

100%

Targets
2010
Baseline

2011
25%

2012
50%

2013

2014

75%

100%

9.4 TOTAL POINTS AWARDED

Points

Maximum points

5

Points awarded (1)
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1) One point will be deducted for each full 5 percentage points below target, e.g. if percentage in 9.3 above is 20%, one
point will be deducted (only 4 points will be awarded).

Samples of final products

Analytical samples for chemical analysis

2012
Water wetlands
Two momentous and vitally important awareness campaigns took place in the early
months of 2012. World Wetland Day was celebrated on 2 February, while March played
host to the annual National Water Week, which ran between 5 and 11 March.
These campaigns educate the community on the importance of water and the wetlands
as one of the most crucial elements to survival and sustainability, especially for the
future generations.

ENVIRONMENT
ENVIRONMENT
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The Mining Division, in conjunction with the Kruger National Park, SEAON and Bohwa
Bja Rena Environmental Community Committee hosted both the Water Week and
Wetland celebration at Phalaborwa Primary School on 20 March. This specific area
was chosen due to its location to the local wetland.
A focal point of World Wetland Day was to communicate the importance of wetlands
specifically to the community. A Wetland is a piece of land saturated with water, either
permanently or seasonally. They are not merely lakes, bogs, swamps or marshes, but
crucial aspects of environmental sustainability.

What is the function of a wetland?
To act as a natural filter to remove chemicals and pollutants from the water by
absorbing them into the soil and plants living within.
Due to the large area they occupy, they act as a buffer zone in the event of
a severe storm. They further assist to slow storm surges before they reach
dry land.

They serve as a natural environment where plants grow and animals live.
Foskor’s need for water during operations is of paramount importance to the end
product. It is therefore imperative that with the scarce amount of water available,
especially within the Mining Division, it is adequately addressed and communicated to
Foskorites and the community at large. It is essential that this specific communication
filters down to the future generations.

“Water is life. Conserve it, respect it, enjoy it.” – (Department of Water Affairs)

ENVIRONMENT

The environment plays a vital part of our internal Safety, health, radiation
and environmental quality (SHREQ) mandate. Part of this means
continuously evaluating the impact our business has on the environment
and the surrounding communities. Communicating the importance
of a healthy environment and educating the respective communities
reinforces our commitment to conserving our environment.
The South African Government regards climate change as one of the
greatest threats to sustainable development. The State believes that
unmitigated climate change has the potential to undo or undermine
many of the positive advances made in meeting South Africa’s own
development goals. The COP president has been undertaking informal
consultations with ministerial negotiators and stakeholders to facilitate
a credible outcome. To reinforce the COP17 mandate, funds allocated
to this initiative will be utilised towards:

(a) Plans to reduce electricity consumption to meet the government
commitment by 2030.
(b) Carbon footprint to be re-evaluated using the PAS2030 model.
(c) Minimising air transport. Foskor recognises the importance of
measuring its carbon footprint and devising initiatives to reduce it.
As such programmes are being put in place to align measurement
parameters across the divisions so that the company may report
uniformly on its carbon emissions in the forthcoming financial
years.

MANAGING EFFLUENT
Foskor has two main effluent streams:
a. Disposal of gypsum effluent via B-line (commonly known as the
Dense line).

•

The installation of solar water heaters in clinics within rural
KwaZulu-Natal;

b. Disposal of other liquid effluent liquid via ther fluoride line (commonly
known as the Buoyant line).

•

KwaZulu-Natal Provincial Department of Environment will be
allocated sufficient funds to purchase and plant 200,000 fruit trees
across the province, mainly within low cost housing settlements
and rural areas;

•

Small, medium and micro-enterprises (SMME) development for
maintenance contracts; and

These effluent lines are managed in terms of a specification agreement
between Mhlathuze Water (as the licence holder for effluent disposal)
and Foskor in Richards Bay (as user of the effluent lines). The main
constituents measured for both lines include various metals, including
copper, cobalt, zinc, lead, chromium. The agreement also specifies
volume control as well as pH and fluoride control.

•

Providing trees in support of COP17.

Foskor’s partnership with the Palabora Foundation, South African
research facility SAEON and the Kruger National Park facilitates
the annual wetlands clean-up. Learners from the Ba-Phalaborwa
communities are invited to take part in a learning experience that aims
to create community awareness within the surrounding communities of
the valued wetlands.
Foskor has an ISO 14001 certification for Environmental Management
Systems by DEKRA.

CARBON EMISSIONS
A baseline carbon footprint for the Acid Division was established in
2011. Electricity consumption, employee travel by airplane and diesel
consumption are the main contributors to high carbon equivalent
emission levels. The following are under discussion for the current year:

In terms of specifications related to our gypsum effluent disposal via the
Dense line, Foskor has been fully compliant on average in all, except
two components, including pH and fluoride. Various initiatives are been
taken to improve our compliance for these two components.
In the Buoyant line a similar situation prevails and Foskor remains
compliant on all specifications except the control of pH which is due
to the bleed-off waste fluorosilicic acid. However, plans are in hand to
ensure improved consistency in terms of pH control by more frequent
consistent bleed-off.

WATER MANAGEMENT
All surface water that exits Foskor’s premises via storm water outlets
(both dirty and clean) is monitored on a daily and weekly schedule.
Surrounding water bodies such as water pans and streams are
monitored on a weekly basis and the results are reported to the
authorities on a monthly basis.
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CARING FOR THE ENVIRONMENT

Main projects related to the storm water infrastructure include: cleaning
of the primary and secondary storm water dams; upgrading the lining
and sub-soil drainage for the secondary storm water dam; upgrading
the pump systems at the storm water dam to handle water volumes in
the event that a serious storm may occur once every 50 years.
During June 2011 it was discovered that the water quality at the Upper
Pan situated south-east of the plant was poor. Foskor, in consultation
with the Department of Water Affairs, undertook a bio-remediation
project in September 2011 to improve the quality of the pan.

ENVIRONMENT
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Foskor currently monitors groundwater, both on and off-site. The
main objectives are to identify sources of groundwater pollution and
to identify the migration of polluted water. Boreholes are sampled
internally on a monthly basis by the Environmental Department. Two
external sampling events are conducted annually, in both winter and
summer.
In terms of ground water, Foskor investigates the contamination levels,
their impact, and what remedial actions are required. To date, studies
and investigations have been conducted by Moore Spence Jones
(MSJ) in consultation with Foskor. The Department of Water Affairs
and other relevant authorities are also informed on the progress on a
regular basis. The construction of a hydraulic barrier off-site has been
budgeted for and will be completed in 2012.

MONITORING AIR QUALITY
The Environmental Section is responsible for air quality monitoring
by means of in-stack monitoring (Isokinetic) and for reporting
the results to the Department of Environmental Affairs and Tourism,
the local authorities and the Department of Agriculture and
Environmental Affairs.

Controlled air emissions: Acid Division

Foskor has consistently met all its permit requirements over the past
year in terms of the Air Permit. Foskor is therefore 100% compliant
against the compliance target of 99.5% set in the permit.
The following monitoring is also conducted:
•

Dust fallout is monitored using the bucket system. Eight bucket
sampling points are used and are situated strategically along
the fence line and in the surrounding environment. Samples are
collected on a 28-day cycle for analysis.

•

Ambient fluoride is monitored using Radiello passive diffuser
samplers. Nine sample stations have been strategically located in
the surrounding environment to Foskor. Samplers are collected on
a monthly basis and sent to an external laboratory for analysis.

•

All equipment for Fugitive Sulphur dioxide monitoring is based
on continuous monitoring and linked to the plants’ current data
logging system. The system generates alarms when concentrations
exceed ambient limits.

WASTE MANAGEMENT
Sulphur ash was the biggest contributor to waste in the past year with
more than 4,500 tons having been disposed of. Initiatives to re-use
sulphur ash, perhaps as raw material for sulphur-based fertilizer or to
find a market for the material are being investigated.
Foskor is committed to on recycling and re-using materials such
as paper, plastic, tin or aluminium, high density polyrethane pipes,
conveyor belts, metal and used oil.

Waste management

MINE SITE REHABILITATION AND CLOSURE

Foskor provides for environmental rehabilitation based on a two-tier
strategy, scheduled end-of-mine closure is provided for by deposits
into and growth of the special purpose Section 37(a) Environmental
Rehabilitation Trust, while unscheduled or premature mine closure is
provided for by means of bank guarantees covering the difference.
Based on a Mine Rehabilitation and Closure Cost Assessment
performed in March 2012, the contingent liability has been disclosed
for the issuing of guarantees to the Department of Mineral Resources
(DMR) in terms of Regulation 54(2) of the regulations promulgated in
terms of the Minerals and Petroleum Resources Department Act, 28
of 2004.
The estimated total scheduled rehabilitation liability increased from
R230 million in the previous year to R243 million in the year under
review, after taking into account the following assumptions:
Table 12: Scheduled rehabilitation assumptions
Cost of closing the mine

R379 million

Estimated escalation per annum
Discount period
Risk-free rate government bonds
(closure costs discounted to present value)

Table 13: Unscheduled rehabilitation net shortfall
Net shortfall at this stage

Rm

Recommended mine closure cost

503

Assets held in Environmental Rehabilitation Trust

106

Net shortfall after realising assets held in
Environmental Rehabilitation Trust

397

A contingent liability has been disclosed for the issuing of guarantees
to the DMR. The total amount of guarantees held in favour of the DMR
at March 2012 is R389 million.
A commitment has been made to the DMR with respect to the phasedin delivery of guarantees for premature mine closure provision.

FOSKOR ENVIRONMENTAL REHABILITATION TRUST
(MINING DIVISION, PHALABORWA)
The current market value of the assets as at March 2012 in the
Environmental Rehabilitation Trust is R106 million, which is regarded as
adequate at this point when considering the remaining life of the mine
in Phalaborwa.
Refer to Notes 8 (Environmental Rehabilitation Trust Investments),
18 (Mining Environmental Rehabilitation Liability) and 31 (Guarantees)
of the Annual Financial Statements.

6.0%
20 years
8.4%

The environmental rehabilitation liability of R243 million, considered
together with the value of the Environmental Rehabilitation Trust
amounting to R106 million, results in an unfunded portion of the liability
of R137 million.
The estimated unscheduled rehabilitation liability amounts to
R503 million.

"The Mining Division was proudly declared the
overall winner in the 2012 Water Conservation
and Water Demand Management Sector
Awards in the Industry, Mining and Power
category by the Deputy Minister of Water and
Environmental Affairs."
Johan Horn – VP: Mining

For the full set of Annual Financial Statements, refer to the website or 
disc attached to this publication
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Foskor is cognisant of the increasing emphasis on environmental
accounting and accountability. Management is continually assessing
and monitoring the various environmental issues facing the Group.
An environmental assessment was performed on 31 March 2012 by
Golder Associates Africa, an independent internationally recognised
and respected company. Foskor has no partnerships with any third
party to protect or restore the habitat that the organisation oversees.
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Pictures taken at various Foskor branded events

CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY

For further details on the CSI initiatives, refer to the Corporate Responsibility
Report on 
www.foskor.co.za

Introduction
Corporate Social Investment (CSI) remains at the heart of our business.
Financial and cost constraints, however, has forced us to align our
initiatives to the company’s overall growth strategy. To achieve the
maximum impact our CSI is focused on the communities where
we operate and is advised by the needs of those communities that
are relevant to Foskor. As such Foskor’s CSI focuses on education;
and economic and community development. Foskor aims to recruit
locally as far as possible and in this regard drives skills development
in the communities as well. Donations and sponsorships are currently
done on an ad hoc basis for goodwill, but going forward will also be
aligned to projects that ensure the company’s long-term sustainability.
We acknowledge the vast extent of the need for social development
and the upliftment of the communities surrounding our operations and
have developed targeted programmes with some of our partners to
help us address some of the communities' needs.

OVERVIEW
Foskor’s Corporate Social Investment forms part of the company’s
mandate; supported by policies and procedures that are self-regulated
and firmly entrenched in the business model.
CSI has a fundamental role to play in bringing meaningful transformation.
The dire socio-economic needs facing our country are significant.
Foskor believes that it is thus a moral obligation for corporate South
Africa to assist in making a difference through supporting initiatives
which benefit historically disadvantaged communities.
Over the years CSI has become more strategically focused. This often
takes it out of the charitable sphere into a more meaningful engagement
with partners and beneficiaries in which long-term sustainability is born
and nurtured. In essence, CSI is business decision-making linked to
ethical values and compliance with legal requirements. In addition,
it dictates respect for people, communities and the environment. In
line with these values a comprehensive set of management endorsed
policies, practices and programmes have been implemented to ensure
transparency in the decision making process and the overall running of
all initiatives undertaken.

Foskor's CSI mandate is primarily focused on communities within a
50 kilometre radius of the operations. However depending on the nature
of the contemplated initiatives (such as agriculture and education) and
budget permitting, broader communities stand to benefit.
Our CSI strategy aims to contribute purposefully to disadvantaged
communities, thereby uplifting them and ensuring sustainability with
the aim of eradicating poverty.
Since 2008 Foskor has invested about R20.2 million in education,
rural development, agriculture, social welfare, healthcare and the
environment, with skills and job creation being the key focus areas.
All social and economic development initiatives are strategically
aligned with the company’s overall growth strategy, which embrace
government’s development priorities.
All CSI activities are guided by the principles of good corporate
governance as set out in King III recommendations. Strict systems
and controls have been implemented to safeguard the integrity of each
initiative undertaken.
CSI initiatives are thus aligned with the internationally recognised triple
bottom line: people, planet and profit. The impact of CSI is not limited
to the monetary value of programmes, but is measured in terms of
the improvement to quality of life and spin-offs that result from skills
development, skills transfer and furthering education. Thus CSI
activities were measured by the direct benefit to the community and
the manner in which it affects Foskor’s sustainability.
The CSI funds were in turn generated from the company’s profits. The
intangible benefits that CSI brings include: quality of life and health
improvements, bridging the skills and knowledge gap in South Africa,
contributing towards productivity in the country and contributing to
broad-based black economic empowerment objectives.

CORPORATE SOCIAL INVESTMENT PARTNERSHIPS
In the roll-out of CSI projects, it is often necessary to align with
government, business, institutions and local authorities to ensure
that the project reaches the right target audience. An alignment with
government departments is often a direct route to the desired target
audience with precise requirements. These relationships stem from
our need to fulfil our CSI mandate and the ability of government to
recognise shortfalls within their own mandate that need supplementing
by the private sector.
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COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMMES

Allying with educational institutions often falls within the community
development mandate. Education is empowering and leads to selfsustainability. Participating with reputable institutions is essential to
fulfilling this goal. Tribal authorities live within their communities and
are therefore able to recognise shortfalls. This meaningful relationship
ensures an open communication channel between Foskor’s CSI
department and the community at large.
Depending on the scale of a project, factors such as financial resources
and skills requirements make it necessary to partner with other business
entities. When embarking on such partnerships it is imperative that their
CSI mission and vision is supported by ours, with clear deliverables.
Many Foskor suppliers are small, medium and micro-enterprises
companies. Often they lack capacity due to skills deficits or insufficient
time to manage CSI projects from end-to-end. By partnering with our
BEE department, suppliers are given the opportunity to participate
within our CSI mandate and gain recognition for their input.
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Foskor’s CSI projects can be summarised as follows:
•

Branded annual events
–

•

–

•

Ensuring the well-being of Foskorites as well as that of the
surrounding communities in the form of treatment, information
and counselling is necessary to stop the spread of HIV/
AIDS. Skills learnt by Foskorites over the years of service are
irreplaceable, which reinforces the necessity for treatment and
longevity. These health services are offered on a confidential
basis with a qualified medical practitioner.

Social support
–

Foskor aims to improve communities through basic education,
supporting those infected with or affected by illness. The
company supports the children within the communities
who require assistance with day care, education and basic
household provisions. Social support is often done through
partnerships with the government and private sector to
develop communities and basic infrastructure. Beneficiaries
are continually monitored through regular site visits, ascertain
the actual needs and evaluate the success of existing initiatives.

These events showcase Foskor's brand, and raises awareness
of the company. These events incorporate sport development,
social support, donations and community development.
Where applicable, the proceeds raised are donated to nonprofit organisations in line with the Corporate Social Investment
policy.
This is an attempt to uplift communities from socioeconomically deprived areas through partnerships. These
initiatives assist with poverty alleviation and upgrading of basic
amenities.

Education
–

•

Health

Community development
–

•

•

Nurturing the youth and promoting education form the
cornerstone of alleviating poverty. Education initiatives not
only serve the youth but engage them as stakeholders for
the process of governance. These initiatives aim to cultivate
leadership skills within the community.

Environment
–

Looking after the environment plays a vital part of our internal
safety, health, radiation and environmental quality (SHREQ)
mandate. To continuously evaluate the impact our business
has on the environment as well as on the surrounding
communities. Communicating the importance of a healthy
environment as well as educating communities reinforces our
commitment to conserving our environment.

Foskor Primary School: Phalaborwa

Skills development
–

Is an attempt to empower communities to be self-sustainable
by providing the tools and skills needed to evolve and succeed
over a period of time. The process, requires the community to
produce visible short-term results or products.

obtaining funding from the private sector for centres of excellence
where teaching methods are enhanced to improve overall
performance.
•

Two schools in Ba-Phalaborwa actively participated in the
E-learning project. By means of desktop sharing within classrooms
in conjunction with an interactive whiteboard, LCD screen and a
digital camera connected to a PC, Grade 12 learners participated
in a lesson with teachers at a different school. This initiative
allows learners in maths and science the opportunity to grow
their potential. In addition it enables the transfer of skills between
teachers from different schools. The long-term goal of this initiative
aims to address the skills shortage within the engineering sector.

•

Foskor Primary School hosts 617 learners and is located next to
the Foskor Community Centre in Namakgale. About 90% of the
learners attending the school are children of Foskorites. Children at
Foskor Primary School received two mobile libraries, consisting of
800 books and an LCD TV which included 30 educational DVDs.

•

Foskor funds the school to ensure optimum education as well as
the upkeep and continuous maintenance of the school.

•

ImFunda is a joint venture between the Komati and the Real Madrid
Foundations. Its primary goal is to assist disadvantaged children
to achieve their full potential through education and sport. Foskor
regards the imFunda venture as being critical to the upbringing of
today’s youth and has assisted in the maintenance of the sporting
facilities. The sports academies are based in Gauteng (Soweto and
Mamelodi).

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS
Amongst Foskor’s community development projects are:
•

•

Local traditional leaders as our stakeholders. Funds are set aside
annually for these leaders to finance causes. Foskor's uMhlathuze
Community Development Trust was established on 25 August
2011 with the aim of uplifting communities within the uMhlathuze
region. The Trust comprises five traditional authorities in the
uMhlathuze municipality boundaries: Dube, Bhejane, Mkhwanazi,
Mambuka and Mandlebe.
In 2010 of tagging cattle with reflective collars was adopted. Road
fatalities caused by cattle straying into the road at night had been
excessive on the Ba-Phalaborwa roads between Namakgale and
Mica. This initiative supportings road safety.

•

Huis Maroela is a four-bedroom house owned by Foskor. It is
leased at a minimal rate to the Women’s Federation and used as a
shelter for abused women.

•

Graders from the Mining Division are made freely available over
weekends to assist local schools in upgrading their sport facilities
and playgrounds, and to assist with road repairs.

•

Allocated funds are used to maintain and equip the Training Centre
with the latest technology to equip parolees with skills to become
reintegrated into society as functional members of the community.

EDUCATION
Highlights of the education initiatives for the year are:
•

In conjunction with other businesses within the Ba-Phalaborwa and
KwaZulu-Natal region, an annual Careers Day exhibition is held to
inform learners about opportunities available within the company.

•

Since its inception in 2006, the Dinaledi Schools initiative runs
in partnership with the Department of Education and is aimed at
Grade 12 learners with the potential to pass higher grade maths
and science. This initiative continuously endeavours to address
the current maths and science skills shortage. It further assists in

Resource Centre: Namakgale, Phalaborwa
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•

In partnership with the Palabora Mining Company and ex-Sasol
Nitro, funding was provided to the Technological Careers (Protec)
programme since 2005. This initiative introduces dedicated and
quality learners from Grade 10 to companies and industries within
the Phalaborwa region over a three-year period. The initiative
provides learners with extra lessons, site visits and a one-week
leadership camp as part of the curriculum.

•

The Greening Limpopo initiative was launched by the Premier of
the Province in response to environmental threats and includes
a public participation mechanism. Greening Limpopo is realised
through specific greening projects including activities integrated
within the municipal development plan.

•

The roads within the Ba-Phalaborwa region are in dire need of
repair. The rehabilitation of the roads will be handled in conjunction
with an expanded public works programme. This provides
temporary work for unemployed community members.

•

The Lulekani sports precinct is aimed at improving sports
participation in the local communities. It is therefore critical that the
facilities are in good order to encourage the youth to lead a healthy
lifestyle.

•

uThungulu Community Foundation is a community-based vehicle
for the accelerated and sustainable socio-economic development
of rural, under-resourced and historically neglected communities.
The foundation works with and through a number of local nongovernmental and community-based organisations to raise funds
to provide community leadership, training in building skills and to
monitor and evaluate community-based projects. Foskor supports
the projects run by the Foundation.

LOCAL ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT
•
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The aim of Local Economic Development (LED) is to create jobs
and encourage entrepreneurship through the transfer of skills and
economic growth with the ultimate goal of eradicating poverty.
LED is one of the most vital segments in the CSI mandate as it
effectively decreases poverty within socio-economically challenged
communities.

•

Forming part of a well thought-out LED process is an Integrated
Development Plan. It requires stakeholders within a municipality
to submit proposals on local community-based projects and
infrastructure development.

•

Commitments made on LED are undertaken as part of the
company’s social and labour plan (SLP). Alignment to this plan
assures these projects are both meaningful and sustainable. Focus
is placed on initiatives that enjoy broad-based stakeholder support,
while avoiding unsustainable hand-outs.

•

In the greater Ba-Phalaborwa region, the aim was to identify
projects to enhance tourism and the lives of communities.

•

The projects undertaken and in progress for the LED Programme
relate to:
–

The utilisation of open spaces around Phalaborwa as tourist
attractions, and developing the Bollanoto Tourism and
Information Centre.

–

Paving the streets in the townships of Namakgale and Lulekani
to improve accessibility and significantly reduce air pollution.
To achieve this cost effectively, a machine was purchased to
produce the paving bricks which will be laid by the community.

SKILLS DEVELOPMENT
The development process involves planning and mobilising
communities. Skills development partnerships that Foskor has
engaged in are:
Food security and employment creation initiatives
•

The establishment of more sustainable crop production has
become imperative for many farming communities in Limpopo and
Mpumalanga who rely on arable land. In partnership with the ARC
Grain Crop Institute, small-scale farmers are provided with grain
and mechanisation for the farming of maize, cowpeas and ground
nuts.

The Homestead Food Gardens initiative, in partnership with the
Zululand Centre for Sustainable Development, trained 200 farmers
over a five-day period. The training offered an overview on
sustainable organic agriculture and the principles of perma-culture.
On completion of the training farmers were given certificates as
well as agri-packs including basic farming equipment and various
organic insecticide and fungal sprays.

•

Empowering rural disadvantaged adults with portable skills. The
local tribal authority identified 12 adults to be trained in beadwork
to create items such as waist belts, earrings, spectacle holders,
necklaces, bracelets and pins. There is a further option of
advanced training in beaded ibhayi, traditional isidwaba skirts,
berets, table coasters, running shoes, bracelets, headbands,
waistcoats, placemats, handbags and diary covers. The Foskor
Social Responsibility Trust funded this initiative in the form of tuition
fees, a daily allowance and stationery.

•

The Tractor Project has been running since 2008, when a
consignment of three tractors and implements were delivered to
the uThungulu district, for the community to plant crops and work
their land.

SOCIAL SUPPORT
Social support projects are driven through partnerships with both
the government and private sector to help bring development into
communities and basic infrastructure provisions.
Each of the beneficiaries is continually monitored through regular site
visits whereby the actual needs of each initiative are assessed and
evaluated.
•

The Ba-Phalaborwa region has an incredibly high number of
street children, predominantly young boys. The Akanani School
was established to assist these destitute boys. The school is
independent and totally reliant on donations from the community
and surrounding businesses. Bunk beds and mattresses have
been donated to the facility to afford these boys basic comforts.

•

The Flagship Programme was launched in July 2010 and works
within the most deprived municipal wards of Nkandla, Umlalazi,
Mbonambi, Mthonjaneni, uMhlathuze, Ntambanana and
Zululand. The core aim is to identify and address shortfalls such
as unemployment, poor housing, education, social development
and inadequate water and sanitation. In addition, the programme
aims to alleviate stress and to provide a safe and secure living
environment for beneficiaries. To date, five families have moved into
their newly built, fully furnished and equipped homes. In addition,
groceries for a 12-month period were donated.

•

Most learners at the Kati Primary School in Mandlanzini, Richards
Bay, are affected by socio-economic difficulties. This is often
due to unemployment, single parenting, abandonment, poverty
and diseases. This facility offers learners basic education and
essentials, security, religious guidance and a fair opportunity for a
brighter future. All orphans attending the school were provided with
school uniforms which include shoes and school bags.

•

The paediatric ward at the Maphutha Malatji Hospital in Namakgale
was renovated to create a more child-friendly and welcoming
environment. A unique cartoon mural was created to brighten up
the ward.

•

Ntambanana is one of the poorest communities in KwaZulu-Natal.
To support the upliftment of this community, the much utilised
Ntambanana Crèche facilities were upgraded to ensure safe and
sufficient water, basic sanitation, growth monitoring, immunisation,
nutrition and shelter. In addition, the children utilising this service
gain a solid foundation on which to build their future development.

DONATIONS
Although there is a stringent budget for all CSI spending, a worthy
request often comes through after the budget has been finalised. This
section covers these ad hoc donations. Beneficiaries are obligated
to meet the criteria required as per the CSI policy in order to receive
assistance. A list of the donation recipients is available in the on-line
Corporate Responsibility Report.

For further details on the CSI initiatives, refer to the Corporate Responsibility
Report on www.foskor.co.za
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Tailings handling facility: Mining

Corporate governance and remuneration

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Foskor’s staff can be broadly placed into two main categories,
i.e. staff between levels one to six; and supervisory and managerial.
The organogram below sets out the sub-categories within the
supervisory and managerial ranks. Clear career pathing including
mentorships and intensive training allows for succession planning
so that there can be a smooth transition as staff migrate between
the levels. The Board Human Capital Committee receives annual

submissions on possible replacements for the executive management
and the chief executive officer who are on three-year term contracts.
A contract can be rolled over as often as is required, subject to
the retirement age of 65. The Board is currently revising the process
used to review the performance of the executive management team.

Organogram of management structure

Board Committees and reporting structures

Board Audit and
Risk Committee

Director management level (1)

Executive management (8)

General management (6)
Board Human
Capital Committee

Board of
Directors

Senior management (33)

Professional and middle
management (142)

Supervisory (589)

Executive
Committee

Board Technical
Committee
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THE BOARD AND EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT
The Board of Directors
Table 14: Board of Directors biographies
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Board Member

Description

Geoffrey M Qhena
Chairman and non-executive Director

• Age: 46
• Qualifications: BCompt (Hons), CA(SA), SEP, Adv Tax Certificate
• Source: IDC CEO
• Strategic role: Extensive experience in strategic leadership, financial management and
accounting
• Other Boards served: IDC, Acerinox and one private company

Alfred M Pitse
Executive Director and Foskor
CEO/President

• Age: 57
• Qualifications: B Compt (Hons), MBL, CA(SA)
• Source: Foskor CEO
• Strategic role: Extensive experience in strategic leadership, financial management and
accounting
• Other Boards served: Prilla

John R Barton
Independent non-executive Director

• Age: 64
• Qualifications: FCMA, CGMA, AMP (Harvard)
• Source: Business Consultant
• Strategic role: Extensive experience in industrial and mining fields
• Other Boards served: Bell Equipment Limited and Redis Construction Afrika (Pty) Ltd

Gerrit van Wyk
Non-executive Director

• Age: 52
• Qualifications: BCom (Hons), MCom, MBL, AMP (INSEAD)
• Source: Chief Risk Officer at IDC
• Strategic role: Extensive experience in economics, financial management and accounting
• Other Boards served: Crossley, iBurst (Africa) and SAFYR

Jeanette M Modise
Non-executive Director

• Age: 49
• Qualifications: BCom, MDP, SEP, MBL
• Source: Divisional Executive at IDC
• Strategic role: Extensive experience in human capital
• Other Boards served: Kismet and Cordustex

Independence definitions are in line with King III.

Description

Nkosemntu G Nika
Independent Non-executive Director

• Age: 55
• Qualifications: B Compt (Hons), CA(SA)
• Source: PetroSA CFO and Finance Director
• Strategic role: Extensive experience in financial management and accounting
• Other Boards served: Petro SA

Simangele S Ngoma
Non-executive Director

• Age: 36
• Qualifications: BCom (Hons), CA(SA)
• Source: IDC Head of Internal Audit
• Strategic role: Extensive experience in finance and accounting
• Other Boards served: Alexcor

Dr David S Phaho
Independent non-executive Director

• Age: 44
• Qualifications: BSc (Hons), MSc, PhD, Certificate: Finance and Accounting, MAP, SEDP
• Source: Group Leader: Sasol Technology: R&D
• Strategic role: Extensive experience in Research and Development, Innovation Strategies
and Executive Management
• Other Boards served: Pikitup (Pty) Ltd

Fidelis Madavo
Independent non-executive Director

• Age: 52
• Qualifications: BSc (Hons) Chem Eng, MSc, IEDP
• Source: Resource Portfolio Manager at the Public Investment Corporation
• Strategic role: Extensive experience in engineering
• Other Boards served: None

Peter-Paul S Ngwenya
Non-executive Director

• Age: 58
• Qualifications: BCom (Hons)
• Source: Executive Chairman and founder of Makana Investment Corporation (Pty) Ltd
• Strategic role: Extensive experience in business development and leadership
• Other Boards served: Holds 54 other Directorships – details available from the
Company Secretary

Arunachalam Vellayan
Non-executive Director

• Age: 59
• Qualifications: BCom, Ind Admin, MBS
• Source: Chairperson of the Murugappa Group, Coromandel International Limited
• Strategic role: Extensive experience in Global Fertilizer Industry
• Other Boards served: Holds 16 other Directorships – details available from the
Company Secretary
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Board Member

EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT
Table 15: Executive Management biographies
Executive

Description

Alfred M. Pitse
Executive director and
Foskor CEO and President

• Age: 57
• Qualifications: B Compt (Hons), MBL, CA(SA)
• Strategic role: Extensive experience in strategic leadership, financial management
and accounting

Khumbulani M. Cele
Vice President (VP): Logistics and
Procurement

• Age: 40
• Qualifications: BCom (Hons), DIP Bus Tax, EDP, IEP (INSEAD)
• Strategic role: Extensive experience in management and finance

Johan W. Horn
VP: Mining Division

• Age: 41
• Qualifications: BEng, PrENG, MSAIIE, (Hons) BB&A, MBA (USB), HPL (IMD Switzerland)
• Strategic role: Extensive experience in Executive Management in the Mining Industry with
specific focus on general, Strategic Business and Operational Management, Safety, Health,
Environment, Risk, Quality and general Operations Management

Theuns J. Koekemoer
Chief Financial Officer

• Age: 61
• Qualifications: BCom, (Hons), CA(SA), AEP
• Strategic role: Extensive experience in finance and accounting

Xolile S. Luthuli
VP: Human Capital

• Age: 38
• Qualifications: BSoc Sci, PDPM, IEP (INSEAD), MBA
• Strategic role: Extensive experience in Human Capital

Percy M. Mosweu
VP: Strategy and New Business
Development

• Age: 49
• Qualifications: NHD Elec Eng, GCC, MAP, MBA
• Strategic role: Extensive experience in engineering, new business and product development
and general management

Nathi Nkomzwayo
VP: Acid Division

• Age: 40
• Qualifications: BSc Eng, PDP
Strategic role: Extensive experience in engineering and management

Gideon Skhosana
VP: Marketing and Sales

• Age: 55
• Qualifications: BCom, MDPD, ASMPD
Strategic role: Extensive experience in marketing and sales

Similo S. Sibisi
VP: Corporate Affairs

• Age: 47
• Qualifications: BA, LLB, AMP (INSEAD)
• Strategic role: Extensive experience in law and strategic management
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BOARD MEETINGS ATTENDANCE RECORD
Mr MG Qhena (Chairman)
Mr MA Pitse – CEO
Ms A Albäck *
Mr JR Barton**
Mr F Madavo
Ms JM Modise
Ms SS Ngoma
Mr SP Ngwenya
Mr N Nika**
Dr DS Phaho
Mr G van Wyk
Mr A Vellayan

24/06/2011

01/09/2011

28/11/2011

02/02/2012

27/03/2012

3
3
3
–

3
3
3
–

3
3
3
–

3
3
–

3
3
–

3
3
3
3
–

3
3
3
3
–

3
3
3
3
–

3
3
3
3
3
–

3
A

3
3
3

3
3
A

3
3
3

3
3
3

3
3
AL
3
3
3
3
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BOARD HUMAN CAPITAL COMMITTEE MEETINGS ATTENDANCE RECORD
Name

24/06/2011

28/11/2011

13/03/2012

3
3
3
3
3

3
3
3
3
3

3
3
3
3
A

03/06/2011

05/08/2011

10/11/2011

02/03/2012

3
3
–

3
3
–

3
3
–

3
3

3
3

3
3

3
3
3
3
3

14/03/2012

Ms JM Modise (Chairman)
Mr MA Pitse
Mr MG Qhena
Mr G van Wyk
Mr A Vellayan

BOARD TECHNICAL COMMITTEE MEETINGS ATTENDANCE RECORD
Name
Dr DS Phaho (Chairman)
Mr MA Pitse
Mr JR Barton**
Mr F Madavo
Mr SP Ngwenya

BOARD AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE MEETING ATTENDANCE RECORD
Name
Ms A Albäck*
Mr MA Pitse
Ms SS Ngoma
Mr NG Nika**
Mr G van Wyk

10/05/2011

08/06/2011

07/09/2011

02/11/2011

3
3
3
–

3
3
3
–

3
3
3
–

3
3
3
–

3

3

3

3

* Resigned – 28 November 2011

A – Apologies

**Appointed – 3 February 2012

AL – Alternate

–
3
3
3
3

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
AND RENUMERATION

Name

Foskor’s management reports to the Board on its implementation of
the King Code of Corporate Governance Principles for South Africa
(King III). Foskor has applied most of the practices recommended by
King III on pages 117 to 122.

The Board takes overall responsibility for Foskor’s success. Its role is
to exercise leadership and sound judgement in directing the Group
to achieve sustainable growth and to act in the best interests of
stakeholders.

The Board considers sound corporate governance as pivotal to
delivering responsible and sustainable growth in the interests of all
stakeholders. Governance structures and processes are regularly
reviewed and adapted to accommodate internal developments and to
reflect best practice.

New directors are informed of their duties and responsibilities by way
of induction and they have access to key management members
where information on Foskor’s operations may be obtained. Visits to
operational businesses are always encouraged and some meetings are
included in the annual Board programme held at the operations.

THE BOARD
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The Board of Directors is responsible to shareholders for the performance
of the company. The Board’s role includes the establishment, review
and monitoring of strategic objectives, approval of major acquisitions,
disposals and capital expenditure and overseeing the Group’s systems
of internal control, governance and risk management.
In line with the recommendations of King III, Foskor has a unitary Board
structure, comprising:
•

Four independent non-executive directors;

•

six non-executive directors; and

•

one executive director.

The Board selects and appoints the Company Secretary and
recognises the pivotal role to be played by this person in entrenching
good corporate governance. All directors have unlimited access to the
advice and services of the Company Secretary, who is responsible to
the Board for ensuring that Board procedures are adequately followed.
The directors can, at any time, obtain independent professional advice
at the company’s expense.
The Board has adopted a comprehensive delegation matrix aimed
at clarifying the various limits of authority in place within Foskor. The
collective responsibility of management vests in the Chief Executive
Officer, Mr Alfred Pitse. Mr Pitse provides regular reports to the Board
on progress towards the Group’s objectives and strategy.
The Board retains full and effective control over the company by
monitoring the executives in implementing Board policies and
strategies, as well as by setting targets and by measuring the company’s
performance on an annual basis. The Board is also responsible for
ensuring compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and codes.

In line with best practice, the roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer (CEO) are separate. The Chairman is responsible for leading
the Board, and the Chief Executive Officer for the management of the
Group.
The attendance record of the individual Board members is disclosed
in this report.

BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board Committees assist the Board in executing its duties, powers
and authorities. The Board delegates to each of the committees the
authority required to enable the committees to fulfil their respective
functions through formal Board approved terms of reference. The
Board does not discharge its responsibility by delegating its authority
to the sub-committees.
The Board has established the following sub-committees to assist in
the discharge of its duties:
•

Board Audit and Risk Committee

•

Board Technical Committee

•

Board Human Capital Committee

For reasons of transparency and full disclosure, the Chairman of each
committee reports formally to the Board after each meeting on all matters
within its duties and responsibilities, including recommendations made
by the committee.
The Board currently does not have a Social and Ethics Committee
as required by the Companies Act; the company is in the process of
implementing the new requirements of the new Act.

The Human Capital Committee considers, before submission to
the Board, the general remuneration policy of Foskor and proposed
adjustments to the policy and proposed remuneration adjustments.
The committee is also responsible for the approval of the executive
remuneration packages and incentives as delegated to the committee
by the Board of Directors and to determine the CEO’s remuneration
package and incentives. The committee also considers the
composition of the staff complement (identifying skills, gender, age,
seniority and ethnicity); staff transformation; and succession planning.
The committee monitors compliance with Foskor's Code of Ethics, and
compliance with employment equity and the legislation relative thereto.
The committee reviews the Human Resources Policies of the company
and any other matters related to Human Capital management referred
to the committee by the Board of Directors. The committee reports
regularly to the Board of Directors.

TECHNICAL COMMITTEE
The Technical Committee’s purpose is to assist and advise the Board
on technical, safety, health and environment issues as well as risks
related to all production, work processes and projects of the Foskor
Group. The committee does not assume any management executive
responsibilities but provides guidance and support to management to
ensure that the company remains sustainable and successful.

BOARD AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE
The Board, Audit and Risk Committee (BARC) assists the Board in
carrying out its responsibilities to stakeholders in respect of the
company’s accounting, auditing, internal control and reporting
practices. The responsibility of the BARC includes compliance
functions, oversight over effectiveness of controls, and application of
a combined assurance model. The Board Audit and Risk Committee
comprises three non-executive directors. The CEO, Chief Financial
Officer, Group Internal Audit Manager and representatives from the
external auditors, executives and management attend the meetings of
the committee, by invitation.
The committee is authorised by the Board to access any internal audit
report and financial information and can instruct the management
of Foskor, the internal auditors or the external auditors to conduct
any investigation or study it deems necessary. Both the internal
and external auditors have unrestricted access to the committee,
which meets at least once every quarter. The Board Audit and Risk

Committee operates in accordance with a formalised Board Audit and
Risk Committee Charter.

INTERNAL AUDIT
In accordance with the International Standards for the Professional
Practice of Internal Auditing, it is the policy of Foskor to maintain a
centralised independent internal auditing function, titled Foskor Group
Audit Services (FGAS).
The role of this function is to assist the Board Audit and Risk Committee
of the Board of Directors, as well as management personnel at all levels,
in the effective exercise of their responsibilities through the provision
of analyses, appraisals, recommendations, counsel, and information
concerning the activities reviewed, and by promoting effective control
at reasonable cost.
The internal audit function is thus responsible for providing independent
assurance to the Board Audit and Risk Committee regarding
the effective management of all risks, which may have an impact on
the achievement of the business objectives.
The Board Audit and Risk Committee of the Board establishes FGAS
and defines its responsibilities. The Group Internal Audit Manager
reports administratively to the CEO, and functionally to the Chairman of
the Board Audit and Risk Committee of the Board of Directors.
The Board Audit and Risk Committee on behalf of the Board of
Directors establishes the authority and responsibilities of FGAS.
The Group Internal Audit Manager has full and independent access
to the CEO, Chairman of the Board Audit and Risk Committee and
the Board Audit and Risk Committee. The approval of the Board
Audit and Risk Committee is required for the appointment, removal or
replacement of the Group Internal Audit Manager.
FGAS has a responsibility to inform and advise management and the
Board Audit and Risk Committee as to significant deficiencies or other
substantive issues noted in the course of its activities.
FGAS has unrestricted access to all records, properties, functions
and personnel necessary to effectively exercise its responsibilities.
All activities of Foskor may be subject to audit periodically by FGAS,
including its subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, provided
that the JV and shareholder agreements also give Foskor this right.
Documents and information given to the internal auditors during a
periodic review will be handled in the same prudent manner as by those
employees normally accountable for them.

101
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
AND RENUMERATION

HUMAN CAPITAL COMMITTEE

In performing its functions, FGAS shall have no direct responsibility or
authority over any of the activities reviewed. It shall not design and
install procedures, prepare records, or engage in any other activity
that it would normally review and appraise and that could reasonably
be construed to compromise its independence and objectivity. Where
circumstances dictate that work is performed by FGAS, which may
impair the independence of those staff involved, it is the responsibility
of the Group Internal Audit Manager to ensure that an appropriate
independent review is performed.
FGAS’s objectivity is not adversely affected, however, by recommending
standards of control to be applied in developing systems and
procedures, or by evaluating existing or planned financial and operating
systems and related procedures and making recommendations for
modification and improvements in order to improve controls and/or
enhance operational effectiveness.
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FGAS has complete independence with respect to the areas under
audit and, consequently, is not subject to restriction in the scope of its
work by operational or executive management. Further, the Board of
Directors does not place any restrictions on the scope of the audits,
although it is recommended that the Board Audit and Risk Committee
may provide general direction as to the scope of work and the activities
to be audited, and in particular may request FGAS to carry out
special reviews or audits in addition to the determined audit coverage
requirement. The Group Internal Audit Manager has a standing invitation
to attend Exco as an invitee to protect independence.

•

Appropriate interaction between with the various governance
groups of the company occurs.

•

Significant financial, managerial and operating information is
accurate, reliable and timely.

•

Employees’ actions are in compliance with policies, standards,
procedures and applicable laws and regulations.

•

Resources are acquired economically, used effectively, and
adequately protected.

•

Programmes, plans and objectives are achieved.

•

Quality and continuous improvement are fostered in the
organisation control process.

•

Significant legislative or regulatory issues impacting on the
company are recognised and addressed appropriately.

FGAS’s scope includes but is not limited to:
•

Developing a flexible annual audit plan using the Committee of
Sponsoring Organisations of the Treadway Commission (COSO II)
methodology, including any risks or control concerns identified by
management, and submitting that plan to the Board Audit and Risk
Committee and the Internal Audit and Risk Committee of Foskor
for review and approval as well as periodic updates.

•

Implement the annual audit plan, as approved, including any
special tasks or projects requested by management, the Audit
and Risk Committee and the Internal Audit and Risk Committee of
Foskor.

•

Maintain professional auditing staff with sufficient knowledge,
skills, experience, and professional certifications to meet the
requirements of this charter.

•

Evaluate and assess significant merging or consolidating functions
and new or changing services, processes, operations, and control
processes coincident with their development, implementation,
and/or expansion.

•

Issue periodic reports to the Board Audit and Risk Committee
and the Internal Audit and Risk Committee and management
summarising results of audit activities.

•

Keep the Board Audit and Risk Committee informed of emerging
trends and successful practices in internal auditing.

The Board Audit and Risk Committee ensures that the internal audit
function is subjected to an independent quality review at least once
every three years, as a measure to ensure the function remains effective.
The mission of FGAS is to provide independent, objective assurance
and consulting services designed to add value and improve Foskor’s
operations. The Internal Audit Department will assist Foskor to
accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach
to evaluating and improving the effectiveness of risk management,
control and governance processes.
The scope of the work of FGAS is to determine whether Foskor’s
network of risk management, control and governance processes as
designed and represented, is adequate and functioning in a manner
to ensure:
•

Risks are appropriately identified and managed.

Provide a list of significant measurement goals and results for the
internal audit function to the Board Audit and Risk Committee and
the Internal Audit and Risk Committee.

•

Assist in the investigation of significant suspected fraudulent
activities within the organisation and notify management, the
Board Audit and Risk Committee, the Fraud Prevention and Ethics
Committee and the Internal Audit and Risk Committee of the
results.

•

Consider the scope of work of the external auditors and regulators,
as appropriate, for the purpose of providing optimal audit coverage
to the organisation at reasonable overall cost.

Opportunities for improving management control, profitability and
the company’s image may be identified during audits. This will be
communicated to management.
The internal audits function’s planning and approach is informed by
the strategy of Foskor and directs its efforts to align with business
performance. Internal Audit, as a significant role player in governance,
contributes in the endeavour to achieve strategic objectives and
provides effective challenges to all aspects of the governance, risk
management and internal control environment.
Internal Audit pursues a risk-based approach to planning, assesses
the needs and expectations of its key stakeholders and assures audit
reporting meets requirements of management and the Board Audit and
Risk Committee.
The audit coverage performed by FGAS will be determined by them,
based upon an appropriate consideration of business and other risks
related to the entity under review. Such coverage must take account
of management’s areas of concern, although it should not be dictated
solely by such concerns. The Board Audit and Risk Committee is
required on a regular basis to consider the appropriateness and scope
of the work performed by FGAS. The Board Audit and Risk Committee
may request FGAS to carry out special reviews or audits in addition to
the audit coverage plan.
The following opinion is provided by Internal Audit to comply with
Chapter 7 of the King III Code of Corporate Governance:
The directors are also responsible for the company’s system of internal
financial control. This is designed to provide reasonable, but not
absolute, assurance as to the reliability of the financial statements, and
to adequately safeguard, verify and maintain accountability of the assets
and to prevent and detect misstatement and loss. Based on the results

of the formal documented review of the company’s system of internal
controls and risk management, including the design, implementation
and effectiveness of internal financial controls conducted by the
internal audit function during the 2011/12 financial year, considering
information and explanations given by management and discussions
with the external auditor on the results of the external audit, assessed
by the Audit Committee, the Board is of the opinion that the company’s
system of internal controls and risk management is effective and that
the internal financial controls form a sound basis of the preparation of
reliable financial statements. The Board’s opinion is supported by the
Board Audit and Risk Committee.

FRAUD PREVENTION AND ETHICS
It is an accepted fact that, no matter how stringent fraud prevention
measures within an organisation may be, there is no guarantee that
fraud and unethical behaviour will not occur. Fraud, by its very nature,
involves deception. New ways of circumventing controls in order to
facilitate the perpetration of fraud are continually being devised. It is
accordingly important that Foskor be prepared to respond to a crisis in
an effective manner to limit losses.
Management is responsible for detecting fraud, theft and other
irregularities. Each member of the management team should be familiar
with the types of improprieties that might occur within his or her area of
responsibility and be alert for any indication of irregularity.
Fraud and related crime prevention techniques fall into three disciplines:
•	Operational control, which addresses related risk exposures and
embraces related financial and audit controls, personnel selection
and monitoring techniques.
•

Physical security, which deals largely with visitor control (restricting
access to sensitive areas by unauthorised staff, members of the
public, firearms, drugs, etc.).

•

Systems security, which concentrates on improper usage of
computer systems, email facilities, password control, authorisation,
logging off, encryption and message authentication.

Preventative controls should focus on prevention rather than detection,
and should encompass awareness and understanding among
company personnel of:
•

The ethical values and code of conduct of the organisation.

•

The importance of personally contributing to crime prevention.

103
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
AND RENUMERATION

•

•

The organisation’s business practices, systems and manual or
automated controls.

•

The different crimes that can occur and how to detect them.

The company expects its employees to conduct all aspects of business
at the highest level of professionalism and excellence in line with
established organisational values, which constitute a culture embedded
in the organisation, reporting and quality systems.
The Fraud Prevention and Ethics Committee is responsible for
addressing investigations of unethical conduct and playing a leading
role when incidents of fraud and corruption have occurred within Foskor
thereby allowing more transparency in the investigation process.

WHISTLE-BLOWING
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Foskor is committed to the highest standards of openness and
accountability. An important aspect of accountability and transparency
is a mechanism to enable staff to report concerns in a responsible
and effective manner. Where an individual discovers information which
they believe shows serious malpractice or wrongdoing within the
organisation, this information should be disclosed internally without
fear of reprisal.
Foskor recognises that employees, suppliers, business partners, local
communities and other stakeholders have a strong preference to be
associated with organisations that value and practise ethical conduct.
As a means of reinforcing Foskor values, the whistle-blowing policy
serves to build employee, supplier and business partner loyalty through
identifying and eliminating unethical practices. The whistle-blowing
policy provides a confidential means of conveying information and does
not replace existing lines of communication.
The policy is intended to encourage and enable staff to raise concerns
within Foskor rather than overlooking a problem or blowing the whistle
through inappropriate channels.
The Protected Disclosures Act 26 of 2000, came into effect on
16 February 2001. In order to comply with this Act, Foskor will:
•

Strive to create a culture which facilitates the disclosure of
information by employees relating to criminal and other irregular
conduct in the work place in a responsible manner by providing
clear guidelines for the disclosure of such information and
protection against reprisals as a result of such disclosure.

•

Promote the eradication of criminal and other irregular conduct
within Foskor.

SUPPLIER BLACKLISTING
All employees and suppliers are obliged to report suspicions of fraud,
corruption, theft or unethical or similar illegal behaviour in Foskor. These
types of allegations will be investigated by Foskor Group Audit Services
(FGAS).
The Vice-President: Procurement and Logistics, will consult with the
Vice-President: Corporate Affairs and, if required, may obtain a legal
opinion on the matter before deciding to terminate the business
relationship with the vendor.
The Vice-President: Procurement and Logistics, or a person
designated by him, shall be responsible for maintaining a database of
blacklisted suppliers. The entities and individuals to be blacklisted will
be dependent on the evidence gathered.
Any employee who is found guilty of unethical conduct or who resigns
before a disciplinary hearing will not be allowed to perform work for
Foskor as a vendor and will not be permitted to be included on the
Foskor vendor list.

REGULATORY AND LEGISLATIVE COMPLIANCE
Compliance with regulatory and legislative requirements is strategically
important to Foskor and a critical component in Foskor’s day-to-day
management of its operations. The compliance strategy and objectives
contained in Foskor’s compliance policy provide a pathway aimed at
embedding a culture that supports compliance within the organisation
as a whole. The achievement of the organisation’s compliance strategic
objectives enables structured direction and continuous enhancement
of compliance processes which support the concepts of continuous
improvement and best practice application.
Compliance governance is regulated by a set of policies, roles,
responsibilities, and processes that guide, direct and control how
Foskor complies with regulatory and legislative compliance. Foskor’s
effective compliance governance strategy anticipates the needs and
goals of the organisation and ensures that business performance is
not hampered and that opportunities which exist within the current
regulatory framework are capitalised.

The Board is kept abreast of developments through formalised
reporting structures, ongoing communication with management and
Board meetings. The responsibility to facilitate compliance throughout
Foskor has been delegated to the appointed Group compliance officer
and manager who supervise the compliance function. The compliance
function identifies, assesses, advises on, monitors, and reports on
regulatory and legislative risk of Foskor. The management of regulatory
and legislative risk forms part of the overall risk management framework
of Foskor.

Through training initiatives Foskor ensures that all relevant staff are
conversant with appropriate legislation, regulations, conditions, codes
and rules promulgated by regulators. Foskor maintains legal registers
with detailed breakdowns of such laws, regulations, conditions, codes
and rules promulgated by regulators applicable to each operational
area of responsibility. The legal registers are undergirded by detailed
risk management plans to ensure that Foskor remains fully compliant
and aware of its compliance risks.

COMPLIANCE HIGHLIGHTS AND FOCUS AREAS
The regulatory and legislative compliance function focuses on
embedding Foskor’s compliance culture throughout the organisation.
At the same time, it ensures that existing legislation and amendments
are dealt with by initiating impact analysis and compiling compliance risk
management plans aimed at seamlessly incorporating the legislative
requirements into day-to-day operations, practices, functions,
processes and procedures of the Foskor Group. The King III Code on
Corporate Governance and the following legislation were a key focus
for compliance for the 2012 financial year.

Staff member researching labour law
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The key agents of compliance governance are Foskor’s Board,
Executive Management Committee and its Compliance Committees.
The Board is ultimately responsible for compliance with all applicable
regulatory and legislative requirements within the organisation.
To enable this, it has ensured that the required policies, roles,
responsibilities, and processes have been established and operate
effectively at all levels. Foskor’s Group Compliance Committee is
established as a sub-committee of the executive management team
and is authorised in terms of its mandate from the team to exercise
control of the overall governance and compliance process within
Foskor. Divisional Compliance Committees ensure that compliance
requirements are tailored to divisional needs and unique regulatory and
legislative requirements. The Group Compliance Committee assumes
an active role in the compliance process and is responsible for the
implementation, ongoing maintenance of, and ultimate adherence to,
the compliance process as it applies to the Foskor Group.

Table 16: Key compliance focus areas
Key focus areas
The King Report on Corporate Governance for South Africa
and the King Code of Governance Principles (King III)

Prior to King III coming into effect on 1 March 2010, a detailed selfassessment and impact analysis was conducted to bring current
practices in conformance to King III. The principles were anticipated
and where practical, implemented before the code came into effect.
Where conformance required Board participation and decisionmaking a detailed implementation plan was established and is
monitored by the Board Audit Committee.

2.

Companies Act, 2008

Prior to the effective date, a full impact analysis was conducted
to identify areas of non-compliance and to bring current company
administrative practices, processes, procedures and documents
in line with the requirements of the new Act. Areas where practical
difficulties have resulted in delays to implementation are monitored
and an implementation plan exists to ensure that issues properly
closed out.

3.

Competition Commission issues

No competition issues arose during 2011/12. It is to be noted that
proposed amendments to the Competition Act are closely monitored
to ensure that impacted areas are immediately aligned to new
legislative requirements.

4.

Mine Health and Safety Act,1996

Foskor remains fully compliant with its statutory obligations in terms
of the Mine Health and Safety Act, 1996. Continuous assessment
and improvement on health and safety risks remain a priority and an
indispensable part of the organisation’s daily activities.

5.

Mineral and Petroleum Resources Act, 2008

Foskor remains fully compliant with the conditions under which the
various mining licences have been issued and implementation and
compliance with conditions remain a priority.

6.

National Environmental Management Act, 1998

Foskor is fully cognisant of its duties in terms of the National
Environmental Management Act and related Acts governing
environmental matters which apply to Foskor’s operations. Foskor
strives to embed both the letter and the spirit of the law within its
operational environments and ensures that activities are conducted in
compliance to legislation, licence and permit conditions.

7.

Major Court Cases

A damage claim amounting to R18 million instituted against Foskor by
GP Marais as plaintiff in the Pretoria High Court. Foskor is the second
defendant in the matter and has entered an appearance to defend
the matter based on the merits of the matter. The Plaintiff failed to
proceed and the matter has been pending for the last eight years. The
matter was set down in January 2012 for trial on 12 August 2012 and
Foskor is currently preparing to successfully defend the matter at trial.
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Achieved to date

1.

BOARD AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE REPORT
•

To consider the scope and conclusion of the report by the
independent assurance providers in respect of the safety and
sustainable development report and to ensure that the report is
consistent with the Group Financial Statements.

•

To oversee the activities of, and ensure co-ordination between, the
activities of internal and external audit.

MEMBERSHIP

•

To perform duties assigned to it by the Act, as amended, and as
governed by other legislative requirements, including the statutory
Audit Committee functions required for subsidiary companies.

•

To receive and deal with any complaints concerning the accounting
practices, internal audit or the content and audit of its financial
statements or related matters.

•

To conduct annual reviews of the Audit Committee’s work and terms
of reference and make recommendations to the Board to ensure
that the Audit Committee operates at maximum effectiveness.

The Audit Committee was appointed by the Board of Directors in
respect of 2011/12. Shareholders will be requested to approve the
appointment of the members of the Audit Committee for 2012/13 at
the annual general meeting scheduled for 18 June 2012.
The members are:
•

Mr Nkosemntu Nika (Chairman) – Independent

•

Mr Gerrit van Wyk

•

Ms Simangele Ngoma

Ms Amanda Albäck was the independent Chairman of the Audit
Committee until her resignation from the Board on 28 November 2011.

EXECUTION OF FUNCTIONS

The purpose of the Audit Committee is:

The Audit Committee has executed its duties and responsibilities
during the financial year in accordance with its terms of reference as
they relate to the Group’s accounting, internal auditing, internal control
and financial reporting practices.

•

During the year under review the committee:

PURPOSE
To assist the Board in discharging its duties relating to the
safeguarding of assets, the operation of adequate systems, control
and reporting processes, and the preparation of accurate reporting
and financial statements in compliance with the applicable legal
requirements and accounting standards.

•

To provide the Chief Financial Officer, external auditors and the head
of internal audit access to the Chairman of the Audit Committee or
any other member of the Audit Committee as required in relation to
any matter falling within the remit of the Audit Committee.

•

To meet with the external auditors at least on an annual basis.

•

To provide a forum for discussing business risk and control issues
and developing recommendations for consideration by the Board.

•

To monitor enterprise-wide, operational and market, regulatory,
safety and other risks, as well as to ensure adequate mitigation
thereof by way of monitoring controls that have been implemented
to curtail and minimise risk.

•

To review the Group and company financial statements and reports
from subsidiary companies where applicable.

•

In respect of the external auditor and the external audit, the
committee, amongst other matters:
–

Recommended the appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers
(PwC) and Ngubane & Co Inc. as the external auditor for the
financial year ended 31 March 2012, and ensured that the
appointment complied with all applicable legal and regulatory
requirements for the appointment of an auditor. The Audit
Committee confirms that the auditor is accredited.

–

Approved the external audit engagement letter, the plan and
the budgeted audit fees payable to the external auditor.

–

Reviewed the audit, evaluated the effectiveness of the auditor
and its independence and evaluated the external auditor’s
internal quality control procedures.

–	Obtained an annual written statement from the auditor that its
independence was not impaired.
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This report is provided by the Board Audit and Risk Committee
(Audit Committee) in respect of 2011/12 of Foskor (Pty) Limited in
compliance with section 94 of the Companies Act, 71 of 2008, as
amended (the Act). The Audit Committee’s function is guided by a
detailed charter that is informed by the Act and the King Report on
Corporate Governance (King III) and approved by the Board.

–

Determined the nature and extent of all non-audit services
provided by the external auditor and approved all non-audit
services undertaken.

•

In respect of internal control and internal audit, including forensic
audit, the Audit Committee, amongst other matters:
–

Reviewed and approved the Internal Audit Charter and Annual
Audit Plan and evaluated the independence, effectiveness and
performance of the Internal Audit Department and compliance
with its charter.

–

Considered the reports of the internal auditor and external
auditor on the Group’s systems of internal control including
financial controls, business risk management and maintenance
of effective internal control systems.

–

Considered the reports of the internal auditor and external
auditor on the Group’s systems of internal control including
financial controls, business risk management and maintenance
of effective internal control systems.

–

Received assurance that proper and adequate accounting
records were maintained and that the systems safeguarded
the assets against unauthorised use or disposal.

–	Obtained assurance that no member of the external audit team
was hired by the company or its subsidiaries during the year.
–	Obtained assurances from the external auditor that adequate
accounting records were being maintained.

•
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–

Considered whether any reportable irregularities were identified
and reported by the external auditors in terms of the Auditing
Profession Act, 2005, and determined that there were none.

–

Nominated the external auditor for each of the South African
subsidiary companies.

In respect of the financial statements, the committee, amongst
other matters:
–

Confirmed the going concern as the basis of preparation of the
Annual Financial Statements.

–

Examined and reviewed the Annual Financial Statements as
well as all financial information disclosed to the public prior to
submission and approval by the Board.

–

Reviewed significant issues raised by the internal and forensic
audit processes and the adequacy of corrective action in
response to significant internal and forensic audit findings.

–

Ensured that the Annual Financial Statements fairly present
the financial position of the company and of the Group as at
the end of the financial year as well as the results of operations
and cash flows for the financial year, and considered the basis
on which the company and the Group was determined to be a
going concern.

–

Assessed the adequacy of the performance of the internal
audit function, and assessed the performance of the head of
the internal audit function and the adequacy of the available
internal audit resources, finding them to be satisfactory.

–

Based on the above, the Audit Committee formed the opinion
that there were no material breakdowns in internal control,
including financial controls, business risk management and
maintaining effective material control systems.

–

Considered accounting treatments, significant
transactions and accounting judgements.

unusual

–

Considered the appropriateness of the accounting policies
adopted and changes thereto.

–

Reviewed the external auditor’s audit report.

–

Reviewed the representation letter relating to the Group
Financial Statements which was signed by management.

–

Considered any problems identified and reviewed any
significant legal and tax matters that could have a material
impact on the Financial Statements.

–

Has scheduled a date to meet separately with external audit
and internal audit.

•

In respect of risk management and information technology, the
Audit Committee, insofar as relevant to its functions:
–

Reviewed the Group’s policies on risk assessment and risk
management, including fraud risks and information technology
risks as they pertain to financial reporting and the going
concern assessment, and found them to be sound.

–

Considered and reviewed the findings and recommendations
of the Internal Audit and Risk Committee.

–

Monitored and evaluated significant information technology
(IT) investments, delivery of services, IT governance and the
management of IT.

In respect of sustainability issues contained in the Sustainability
Report, the Audit Committee has:
–	Overseen the implementation process of sustainability
reporting.
–

•

Met with the independent assurance provider and senior
management to consider the findings on assurance, as well
as to make appropriate enquiries from management and has,
through this process, received the necessary assurances that
material disclosures are reliable and do not conflict with the
financial information.

In respect of legal and regulatory requirements to the extent that
it may have an impact on the financial statements, the Audit
Committee:
–

Reviewed with management legal matters that could have a
material impact on the Group.

–

Reviewed with the company’s internal legal team the adequacy
and effectiveness of the Group’s procedures to ensure
compliance with legal and regulatory responsibilities.

–

Monitored complaints received via the Group’s tip-offs line,
including complaints or concerns regarding accounting
matters, internal audit, internal accounting controls, contents
of the financial statements, potential violations of the law and
questionable accounting or auditing matters.

•

In respect of the co-ordination of assurance activities, the Audit
Committee reviewed the plans and work outputs of the external
and internal auditors and concluded that these were adequate to
address all significant financial risks facing the business.

•

Considered the expertise, resources and experience of the
finance function and concluded that these were appropriate, and
considered the appropriateness of the experience and expertise
of the Chief Financial Officer and concluded that these were
appropriate.

INDEPENDENCE OF EXTERNAL AUDITOR
The Board Audit and Risk Committee is satisfied that PwC and
Ngubane & Co Inc. are independent of the Group after taking the
following factors into account:
•

Representations made by the auditor to the Board Audit and Risk
Committee.

•

The auditor does not, except as external auditor or in rendering
permitted non-audit services, receive any remuneration or other
benefit from the company.

•

The auditor’s independence was not impaired by any consultancy,
advisory or other work undertaken by the auditor.

•

The auditor’s independence was not prejudiced as a result of any
previous appointment as auditor.

•

The criteria specified for independence by the Independent
Regulatory Board for Auditors and international regulatory bodies
have been met.

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Following the review by the Board Audit and Risk Committee of the
Annual Financial Statements of Foskor (Pty) Limited for the year
ended 31 March 2012, the committee is of the view that in all material
respects they comply with the relevant provisions of the Act and
the International Financial Reporting Standards, and fairly present the
consolidated and separate financial position at that date and the results
of operations and cash flows for the year then ended. The committee
has also satisfied itself of the integrity of the remainder of the integrated
report. Having achieved its objectives, the committee recommended
the Financial Statements and Integrated Report for the year ended
31 March 2012 for approval to the Foskor (Pty) Limited Board of
Directors. The Board has subsequently approved the financial
statements, which will be open for discussion at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.
On behalf of the Board Audit and Risk Committee

Mr N Nika
Chairman of the Board Audit and Risk Committee

Johannesburg
18 June 2012
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REMUNERATION
REMUNERATION PHILOSOPHY
In order to attract and retain qualified personnel at all levels, it is
company policy to maintain fair and competitive remuneration package
ranges based on market factors and a job grading system. The
structure provides for a salary range for each job grade. The company
is also consistent with its economic requirement and commensurate
with those of the community in which it operates.
The company strives to obtain the highest possible degree of
employee performance, morale and loyalty through fair and equitable
remuneration package administration; ensure internal equity and
consistency within and between all departments of the company;
provide an effective means of controlling payroll costs and remuneration
package expenditures; provide uniform methods for establishing and
applying remuneration package rates and facilitate the employment,
classification and promotion of employees and ensure that its
remuneration policy is within global and national standards.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
AND RENUMERATION

110

This is achieved by establishing remuneration package ranges which
reflect the value of the various occupations to the company, as
determined by a formal system of continuing job evaluation and review,
taking into account the duties and level of responsibility of each job;
establishing and maintaining justifiable differentials between job levels;
ensuring that, for comparable jobs, pay rates and benefits are equal
to those offered by other employers providing similar employment and
adjusting remuneration package ranges when warranted by changing
economic and competitive factors, as determined by periodic surveys.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Foskor has as an objective the aim to provide affordable, effective
and sustainable healthcare and death and disability benefits to all
employees and their dependants in an equitable manner as well as to
attract and maintain a healthy workforce. This is achieved by providing
access to well-managed medical care as well as insurance in respect
of death and disability, both temporary and permanent. Medical care is
provided by a well-recognised medical aid provider where employees
have freedom of choice in the level of healthcare available, and the
company subsidises a portion of the medical aid contribution. Death
and disability benefits are provided through an insured product with an
insurance company. Insurance caters for cover in the event of death,
permanent disability, temporary disability and the death of the spouse
or partner of the employee. Additional to this is also funeral cover for
the employees and their dependants as well as mortgage protection for
employees with a bond through a recognised financial service provider.
It is also compulsory for all permanent employees to be members of
the company’s retirement fund, which is registered with the Financial
Services Board and the South African Revenue Service. The company
contributes monthly to the fund on behalf of the employees and

individuals can select the level of contribution to the fund as well as a
choice of investment option. The fund provides for benefits as pertained
in the rules of the fund.
Flexibility of benefits is provided through a structured remuneration
package catering for individual choice, taking each individual’s need
into consideration.

STRUCTURE OF REMUNERATION ACROSS ALL LEVELS
Foskor is committed to following best practice human resource and
remuneration principles and practices. The company has implemented
a total guaranteed package approach as a remuneration structure for all
management staff and a cost-to-company cafeteria approach for other
levels of staff. These structures rest on three fundamental pillars: internal
equity, structuring flexibility and external market competitiveness.
It contains and defines the total fixed cost of employment while it
empowers its employees to structure competitive packages. It also
ensures remuneration that is both equitable and defendable.

GUARANTEED REMUNERATION
Employees in management are remunerated on a total guaranteed
package. This takes into account individual performance, external
competitiveness, internal equity and affordability. Included in the
package are all company contributions to retirement funds, medical
aid and Group life and disability insurance. The individual is allowed to
structure the package to his or her needs.
Employees in the bargaining unit are remunerated on a cost-to-company
package. Included in the package are all company contributions to
retirement funds and Group life and disability insurance. The individual
is allowed to structure the package to his or her needs.

GUARANTEED ALLOWANCES
Bargaining unit employees are paid monthly housing and transport
allowances. This is independent of the employee’s position and merely
depends on being a member of the bargaining unit. The monetary
amount of the transport allowance depends on the distance from the
company to the employee’s residence.

BENEFITS
Contributions to medical aids are made by both the employer and
employees. Contributions to the Foskor retirement funds and Chemical
Industries National Provident Fund (CINPF) are made by both the
employer and employee; contributions to the Foskor Provident Fund
are only made by the employer, though the employee may decide on
the level of contribution. Contributions to the Group life and disability
insurance are made by the employer.

Remuneration comprises the following elements:
Table 17: Remuneration elements
Management category employees
Executive
Management

General
Management

Senior
Management

Middle
Management

Level 1 – 7

Annual Total Guaranteed Package

Annual Cost to
Company Package

Guaranteed allowances

Not applicable

• Housing
• Transport

Benefits

• Employer retirement fund contributions
• Employer medical aid contributions
• Employer contributions to Group life and disability insurance

Guaranteed
Notional cost of employment
remuneration

Variable
Circumstantial remuneration
remuneration
Short-term incentives

• Job specific
• Skills scarcity
• Legal appointments
Performance based
• Company
• Divisional

Long-term incentives
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• Company
• Divisional

• Company
• Divisional
• Individual

Performance based
• Specific strategic criteria
• Individual

EMPLOYEE SHARE OWNERSHIP PLAN
All Foskor employees (including executive management) are entitled
to receive units in the Employee Share Ownership Trust (ESOP) which
holds 6% of Foskor’s share capital through a special purpose vehicle.
The initial allocation of the units was made in June 2011 to employees
who had been employed by the company on 1 April 2009, and a
second allocation was made to employees engaged after 1 April 2009
but still in service on 30 June 2011. The allocated number of units per
employee is based on their total cost-to-company.
The units from the initial allocation (employees present at 1 April 2009)
will vest over a period of three years from 1 April 2012 to 1 April 2014.
The subsequent allocation units will vest over a period of three years
from the third anniversary of the allocation date.

VARIABLE REMUNERATION
Circumstantial remuneration
Circumstantial remuneration includes allowances and emoluments
specific to an individual’s job or where there is a deemed scarcity

• Divisional

Not applicable

for a job. Additional to this are emoluments where a person has
been appointed in a legal capacity and this has been recognised for
the specific skill or qualification that entitles the person to such an
appointment.

Short-term incentives
Short-term incentives for managers are payable every year after the
financial year-end audit has been finalised. Incentives are calculated on
company, divisional and individual performance.
The short-term incentive scheme for staff belonging to the bargaining
council comprise two components: a quarterly component which is
payable every quarter based on the preceding quarter’s performance
measured against production and safety targets and an annual
component measured against the preceding financial year’s production,
cost and safety targets long-term objectives.
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Long-term incentives
A long-term incentive scheme was implemented in 2008 to attract, retain and motivate senior, general, executive and director management level
staff who, in the discretion of the Board of Directors, are able to influence the performance of the company, on a basis which aligns management’s
interests with the shareholders long-term objectives.
Table 18: Criteria for long-term incentives
Perspective
Financial measure
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Target 10 % ROCE
Diversification measure

Weight
40%
(40%)

Objective

Key performance indicator

3.1.1) ROCE

– Achievement of Return on Capital
Employed

– Sludge recovery
– Tank Maintenance
– Old and New Cooling Tower
– Concentration Plant Availability

Measurement scale

Actual results

Score %

Foskor's ROCE Target is 10%, with a stretched
target of 13%. It was approved that ROCE of 10%
= achievement equals 100%. Underachievement:
For every 1% below = 10% penalty (threshold of
5%). Overachievement: every 1% above = 20%
accelarator capped at 200%. Example 11% of
ROCE is equal to 120% of achievement
0.00%

4.67%

0%

TARGETS ARE:
– Any achievement of milestone overdue by
greater then 10%
(calculated by actual months divided by planned
months)
– Any achievement of milestone overdue by
greater then 5%, but less then 10%
– Any achievement of milestone within timeframe
agreed to be on target
(on target date or within a small 5% within range
of target)
– Any achievement of milestone within timeframe
agreed to be an overachievement to the benefit of
the organisation (completion earlier by more then
5% but less then 10%).
– Any achievement of milestone earlier then
agreed timeframe to the benefit of the organisation
(completion earlier by more then 10% but but less
then capped at 200%)

108%

10.76%

152%

15.17%

40%

10%

10%

– Diversification
Measures
Plant Optimisation

3.2.2) Gypsum
(Rapidwall
Project )

– NNR letter of approval
– Build Test Structure

Human capital

Weight
20%

20%
(10%)

(5%)

(5%)

TOTAL

100%

Objective
3.2.3) Aluminium
Tri-Flouride
(15% )

Key performance indicator
– Selection of Technology
– Completion of pre-feasibility study
– Finalisation of detailed feasibility study

3.3.1) Employee
Wellbeing

– Voluntary prevalence testing and
counselling (HIV/AIDS Risk Management)
– The objective is to manage the risk and
impact of the HIV/AIDS pandemic on the
business by increasing awareness and
achieving a limited exposure
– Voluntary prevalence testing and
counselling (HIV/AIDS Risk Management)

Measurement scale

The company is to achieve the following targets
for voluntary testing and counselling over a
five-year period:
2010/11 – 50% of total workforce; 2011/12 –
55% of total workforce; 2012/13 – 60% of total
workforce; 2013/14 65% of total workforce;
2014/15 – 70% of total workforce
Target = budget as per Foskor Board Approval
100% tested = score of 151%
135% tested = score of 200%
3.3.2) T alent
– Objective is to comply with the Workplace
Targets are: 2010/11 – Increase overall training
Management Skills Development Act, which prescribes
expenditure by means of focused training
training expenditure to be at 5% of wage
interventions to 1% of wage bill
bill for all employers
2011/12 – Increase overall training expenditure
by means of focused training interventions to
2.5% of wage bill
2012/13 – Increase overall training expenditure
by means of focused training interventions to 4%
of wage bill
2013/14 – Increase overall training expenditure
by means of focused training interventions to 5%
of wage bill
2014/15 – Increase overall training expenditure
by means of focused training interventions to 5%
of wage bill
3.3.3) Culture
– F oskor to participate in the " Best
Targets are: 2010/11 – Foskor to be among the
Companies to work in South Africa " Survey
top 300 companies to work for
2011/12 – Foskor to be among the top 200
companies to work for
2012/13 – Foskor to be among the top 100
companies to work for
2013/14 – Foskor to be among the top 50
companies to work for
2014/15 – Foskor to be among the top 20
companies to work for

Actual results
145%

Score %
28.97%

^– Actual of Foskor
Group at March
2011 is 63,14% of
workforce partook in
voluntary testing and
counselling.
Actual 114,89% of
target. Therefore
134,34% achieved

13.86%

Foskor is currently
(2011/12) spending
2.81% (2.75% Rby
2.89% Phw) of wage
on qualifying training
interventions
112% of target

6.56%

Foskor was rated
45th out of 80 Best
Companies 188%

9.40%
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84.72%

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
AND RENUMERATION

Perspective

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
Non-executive directors’ remuneration is approved by the shareholders annually at the Annual General Meeting, and is based on attendance of
directors and Board sub-committee meetings. Executive Directors are not paid directors’ fees. The directors’ fees for the Industrial Development
Corporation’s (IDC) representatives accrue to the IDC and not to the director in his or her personal capacity.
The following table details the fees paid to non-executive directors:
Table 19: Non-executive directors' fees
Director
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Appointed with
effect from

Resigned with
effect from

Directors’ fees
2012 (R)

Directors’ fees
2011 (R)

MG Qhena (Chairman)*

294 420

343 420

A Vellayan

111 240

147 420
163 180

JM Modise*

145 000

G van Wyk*

133 720

143 600

SS Ngoma*

130 480

152 480

DS Phaho

211 960

154 180

F Madavo

158 480

114 360

22 Sep 2010

–

46 000

28 Nov 2011

150 080

52 180

M Booi
A Albäck
P Ngwenya

9 Dec 2010
24 Mar 2011

180 300

28 000

J Barton

3 Feb 2012

78 180

–

N Nika

3 Feb 2012

Total

46 980

–

1 640 840

1 344 820

*IDC Representative

EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT REMUNERATION
Executive remuneration comprises a basic salary; contributions to
medical aid, pension and risk benefits; expense allowances; and a
performance bonus made up of short-term and long-term incentive

Refer to full annual financial statements for remuneration details
www.foskor.co.za

scheme payments. The descriptions of these components have been
described in detail in the section above on guaranteed and variable
remuneration.
The executive management remuneration is made up as follows:

Table 20: Executive management remuneration – March 2012

Rand

Basic Termination
salary
benefit

Performance
bonuses
Long term

Performance
bonuses
Short term2

Contributions
to medical aid,
pension, life,
insurance
and UIF

Expenses
allowances/
Leave
encashment

Total

12 months ended 31 March 2012
2 982 713

–

1 544 944

–

522 329

269 577

5 319 563

JW Horn

2 252 455

–

947 980

–

57 471

35 775

3 293 681

TJ Koekemoer

1 766 925

–

874 436

–

406 000

11 704

3 059 065

G Skhosana

1 912 071

–

–

–

248 127

206 325

2 366 523

KM Cele

1 849 518

–

833 630

–

255 859

30 141

2 969 148

XS Luthuli

1 835 512

–

811 384

–

269 865

33 653

2 950 414

N Nkomzwayo1

1 624 030

–

374 523

–

203 782

41 206

2 243 541

MP Mosweu

1 876 981

–

529 008

–

301 409

60 999

2 768 397

SMS Sibisi

1 782 488

–

988 362

–

324 277

30 769

3 125 896

17 882 693

–

6 904 267

–

2 589 119

Total
1
2

720 149 28 096 228

Appointed 1 July 2011
The Executives and Senior Managers did not qualify for short-term performance bonuses for the year ended 31 March 2012

Table 21: Executive management remuneration – March 2011

Rand

Basic Termination
salary
benefit

Performance
bonuses
Long term

Performance
bonuses
Short term

Contributions
to medical aid,
pension, life,
insurance
and UIF

Expenses
allowances/
Leave
encashment

Total

12 months ended 31 March 2011
MA Pitse

2 748 412

–

2 866 695

1 830 466

482 041

248 458

8 176 072

JW Horn

2 094 635

–

1 619 097

1 020 820

54 583

31 154

4 820 289

TJ Koekemoer

1 632 483

–

1 558 278

934 203

379 268

589

4 504 821

G Skhosana

1 758 839

–

1 538 376

914 283

249 850

100 417

4 561 765

KM Cele

1 694 027

–

1 474 683

884 405

237 373

43 998

4 334 486

XS Luthuli

1 651 714

–

1 491 116

852 229

268 817

26 316

4 290 192

JWT Potgieter 2

1 311 986

1 850 813

–

–

316 679

13 286

3 488 764

MP Mosweu

1 740 491

–

1 534 755

472 264

280 278

77 252

4 105 040

SMS Sibisi

1 646 619

–

1 485 689

1 101 799

295 569

44 331

4 574 007

16 279 206

1 850 813

13 568 689

8 010 469

2 560 458

Total
2

Resigned November 2010

585 801 42 855 436
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Additional information

Compliance with King III Summary
Boards and directors
Code of Governance Principles
The Board should elect a chairman
who is an independent non-executive
director

Compliance Explanation for non-compliance
Where the guidelines in the principle are not applied,
a lead independent director should be appointed
and disclosure provided in the integrated report.

x

Lead independent director to be
appointed as the deputy Chairman.

The role of the Chairman should be assessed
annually and a succession plan put in place.

x

Succession plan for the Chairman to
be in place.

Independence of directors should be assessed
annually.

Ø

At present the majority of the directors
represent the shareholders.

As a minimum, the Chief Executive Officer (CEO)
and director responsible for finance should be
appointed to the Board.

Ø

The Chief Financial Officer is not a
member of the Board at Foskor.

The terms of reference of the committee should be
approved by the Board.

3

The Audit Committee should meet with internal
and external auditors at least once a year without
management being present.

3

The Audit Committee members should
be suitably skilled and experienced
independent non-executive directors

The Audit Committee should consist of at least
three members, all of whom should be independent
non-executive directors.

x

The Audit Committee should be
chaired by an independent
non-executive director

The independent non-executive Chairman has been
appointed.

3

The majority of directors should be
independent non-executive directors

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee should be
The Audit Committee should be responsible for the
responsible for overseeing internal audit performance management of the Group Internal
Audit Manager.

The Audit Committee is responsible
for recommending the appointment of
the external auditor and overseeing the
external audit process

3 = Fully Compliant

3

The Audit Committee must define a policy for nonaudit services provided by the external auditor and
must approve the contracts for non-audit services.

3

½ = Moderate Progress

The Audit Committee currently
consists of one independent nonexecutive director, and two other nonexecutive directors.

¾

Ensure the internal audit function is subject to an
independent quality review at least every three years
or as and when the committee deems appropriate.

¾ = Good Progress
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The Board should ensure that the
company has an effective and
independent Audit Committee

x = Not Achieved, to be addressed in future periods

Ø = Compliance not Practical

Code of Governance Principles

Compliance Explanation for non-compliance
The Audit Committee should be informed of any
reportable irregularities identified and reported by
the external auditor.

3

The Audit Committee should review the quality and
effectiveness of the external audit process.

3

The Audit Committee must report to the Board and
the shareholders on its compliance with its statutory
duties, the independence of the external auditor; its
view on the financial statements and the accounting
practices; and whether the internal financial controls
are effective.

3

The Board should be responsible for
the governance of risk

This responsibility must be demonstrated.

3

The Board should determine the levels
of risk tolerance

The Board should understand the risk levels that
it has the ability to tolerate versus the risk that it is
willing to take (risk appetite).

x

The Board should delegate to
management, the responsibility to
design, implement and monitor the
Risk Management Plan

The Risk Management Plan requires specific
activities to be completed.

3

The Board should ensure that risk
assessments are performed on a
continuous basis

The Board should ensure that risk assessments
are performed on a continuous basis (minimum
annually) using a top-down approach.

3

The Audit Committee should report
to the Board and the shareholders on
how it has discharged its duties

Risk Management
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The Board should ensure frameworks
Risks should be prioritised and ranked to focus the
and methodologies are implemented to responses and interventions on those risks outside
increase the probability of anticipating
the Board’s risk tolerance limits.
unpredictable risks

x

The Board should ensure that
management considers and
implements appropriate risk responses

Annual Risk Management Plan approval,
implementation and monitoring.

3

The Board should ensure continuous
risk monitoring by management

Annual Risk Management Plan approval,
implementation and monitoring.

3

The Board should receive assurances
regarding the effectiveness of the risk
management process

Combined assurance requires active consideration
of the assurance the Board receives on the risks to
which the organisation is exposed.

3

3 = Fully Compliant

¾ = Good Progress

½ = Moderate Progress

x = Not Achieved, to be addressed in future periods

The Board is in the process of
determining the levels of risk
tolerance.

The Board is in the process of
determining the levels of risk
tolerance.

Ø = Compliance not Practical

Code of Governance Principles

Compliance Explanation for non-compliance

Information Technology (IT) and Information and Communications Technology (ICT)
The Board should establish an ICT governance
framework.

The Board should monitor and evaluate The ICT management should ensure good project
significant IT spend in terms of value
management principles are applied.
and return on investment
ICT should form an integral part of the
company’s risk management

The Board should ensure that
information assets are managed
effectively

3
¾

ICT risk management should include disaster
recovery planning, ICT legal risks, compliance to
laws, rules, codes and standards.

3

The Board should evaluate how ICT can be used
to aid the company in managing its risk and
compliance requirements.

3

The Board should ensure that processes have
been established to ensure a formal security
management system is in place to ensure:

¾
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The Board should be responsible for
ICT governance

• T
 he confidentiality, integrity and availability of
information.
• T
 hat company information is adequately
protected.
• T
 hat personal and sensitive information has been
identified and is protected according to relevant
laws and regulations.

Compliance
The Board should delegate to
management the implementation of an
effective compliance framework and
processes

A legal compliance policy should be established
and monitored.

3

Internal Audit
The Audit Committee should be
Internal audit pay, bonus and benefits to be
responsible for overseeing internal audit determined separately from process undertaken
for the rest of the business to ensure appropriate
independence.

Ø

Internal audit should be strategically
positioned to achieve its objectives

3

3 = Fully Compliant

Internal audit should establish and maintain a quality
assurance and improvement programme.

¾ = Good Progress

½ = Moderate Progress

x = Not Achieved, to be addressed in future periods

The Internal Audit Department
personnel are subject to the company
remuneration policies.

Ø = Compliance not Practical

Code of Governance Principles
Internal audit should provide a written
assessment of the effectiveness of the
company’s system of internal control

Compliance Explanation for non-compliance
This requires a summary of internal audit activities
and findings to be issued to the Board.

3

Internal audit should provide a written
This requires an opinion on the effectiveness of risk
assessment of the effectiveness of the management.
company’s system of risk management

3

Internal audit should provide a written
This requires a review of internal financial control.
assessment on internal financial control
to the Audit Committee

3

Stakeholder relationships
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Transparent and effective
communication with stakeholders is
essential for building and maintaining
their trust and confidence

The Board should consider disclosing in the
Integrated Report the number and reasons for
refusals of requests of information that were lodged
with the company in terms of the Promotion of
Access to Information Act, 2000.

x

No requests were made in the current
year. Policies and precedures to deal
with information requests will be
developed in future periods.

Integrated reporting and disclosure
The Board should ensure the integrity
of the company’s Integrated Report

The Board should delegate the Audit Committee to
evaluate sustainability disclosures.

3

Sustainability reporting and disclosure
should be independently assured

General oversight and reporting of sustainability
should be delegated by the Board to the Audit
Committee.

3

The Audit Committee should assist the Board by
reviewing the Integrated Report to ensure that the
information contained in it is reliable and that it does
not contradict the financial aspects of the report.
The Audit Committee should oversee the provision
of assurance over sustainability issues.

3 = Fully Compliant

¾ = Good Progress

½ = Moderate Progress

x = Not Achieved, to be addressed in future periods

Ø = Compliance not practical

Code of Governance Principles

Compliance Explanation for non-compliance

Business rescue
The Board should consider business
The Board should ensure that:
rescue proceedings or other
• The solvency and liquidity of the company is
turnaround mechanisms as soon as
continuously monitored.
the company is financially distressed as
• Its consideration is to save a financially distressed
defined in the Act
company either by way of workouts, sale,
mergers, amalgamation, compromise with
creditors or business rescue.

3

• A
 suitable practitioner is appointed if a business
rescue is adopted.
• T
 he practitioner furnishes security for the value of
the assets of the company.

The Board should ensure that disputes
are resolved as effectively, efficiently
and expeditiously as possible

The Board should adopt formal dispute resolution
processes for internal and external disputes.

x

The Board should select the appropriate individuals
to represent the company in ADR.

The Board should adopt formal
dispute resolution processes for
internal and external disputes.
The Board should select the
appropriate individuals to represent
the company in ADR.

Remuneration of directors and senior executives
Companies should remunerate
directors and executives fairly and
responsibly

Companies must adopt remuneration policies that
create value for the company over the long term.
Short-term and long-term performance-related
awards must be fair and achievable.

3

The Remuneration Committee should assist the
Board in setting and administering remuneration
policies.

3

Annual bonuses:
• S
 hould clearly relate to performance against
annual objectives consistent with long-term value
for shareholders.
• S
 hould be reviewed regularly to ensure that they
remain appropriate.

3 = Fully Compliant

¾ = Good Progress

½ = Moderate Progress

x = Not Achieved, to be addressed in future periods

Ø = Compliance not Practical

ADDITIONAL
INFORMATION

121

Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR)

Code of Governance Principles

Compliance Explanation for non-compliance

Remuneration of directors and senior executives
Share-based and other long-term incentive
schemes:

3

• P
 articipation should be restricted to employees
and executive directors. The Chairman and other
non-executive directors should not receive share
options or other incentive awards geared to share
price or corporate performance.
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• Vesting of rights whether settled in cash or shares
should be based on performance conditions
measured over a period appropriate to the
strategic objectives of the company. This should
not be less than three years.
Companies should disclose the
Full disclosure of remuneration paid to each
remuneration of each individual director executive director and non-executive director must
and certain senior executives
be made. Details should be provided on base
pay, bonuses, share-based payments, granting of
options or rights, restraint payments and all other
benefits.
The company’s annual remuneration report
must explain the remuneration policies followed
throughout the company and explain the strategic
objectives that the policies seek to achieve.

3

3

The remuneration report must also explain the
company’s policy on base pay and the use of
appropriate benchmarks.
Shareholders should approve the
company’s remuneration policy.

On an annual basis, the company’s remuneration
policy should be tabled to the shareholders for a
non-binding advisory vote at the annual general
meeting.

3

This vote enables shareholders to express their
views on the remuneration policies adopted and on
their implementation.

3 = Fully Compliant

¾ = Good Progress

½ = Moderate Progress

x = Not Achieved, to be addressed in future periods

Ø = Compliance not Practical

Independent Assurance Report
to the Directors of Foskor (Pty) Limited
We have been engaged by the Directors of Foskor (Pty) Limited
(Foskor) to conduct an assurance engagement in accordance with
the International Standards for Assurance Engagements 3000,
“Assurance Engagements other than audits or reviews of historical
financial information” (ISAE 3000), issued by the International Auditing
and Assurance Standards Board, on selected Identified Sustainability
Information reported in Foskor’s 2012 Integrated Annual Report (the
Report), for the purposes of expressing a statement of independent
assurance, for the year ended 31 March 2012.

Scope and subject matter
The following Identified Sustainability Information was selected for an
expression of limited assurance:
•

Total electricity purchased in megawatts (page 5)

•

Total water consumption in megalitres (page 5)

•

Disabling Injury Frequency Rate (DIFR) (page 5 and pages 63 and 64)

•

Lost-Time Injury Frequency Rate (LTIFR) (pages 63 and 64)

•

Total Rand spend on Corporate Social Investment projects (CSI)
(page 5)

•

Economic value-added statement (page 43)

Our responsibilities do not extend to any other information.

Responsibilities of the Directors
Foskor’s Directors are responsible for the preparation and presentation
of the Identified Sustainability Information, as incorporated in the 2012
Integrated Annual Report, in accordance with their internally defined
procedures and for maintaining adequate records and internal controls
that are designed to support the reporting process.

We permit the disclosure of this report within the Report for the year
ended 31 March 2012, to enable the Directors to demonstrate they
have discharged their governance responsibilities by commissioning
an independent assurance report in connection with the Report.
To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume
responsibility to anyone other than the Directors as a body and the
company for our work or this report, save where terms are expressly
agreed and with our prior consent in writing.

Summary of work performed
We conducted our engagement in accordance with the International
Standards for Assurance Engagements 3000, “Assurance
Engagements other than audits or reviews of historical financial
information” (ISAE 3000), issued by the International Auditing and
Assurance Standards Board. This standard requires that we comply
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the assurance
engagement to obtain either reasonable or limited assurance on
the selected Identified Sustainability Information as per our terms of
engagement.
Foskor’s internal corporate reporting policies and procedures and the
Global Reporting Initiative’s (GRI) guidelines were applied as criteria for
evaluating the Identified Sustainability Information. Definitions for the
Identified Sustainability Information applied are those determined by
Foskor and provided in the Glossary (page 130).
Our procedures included examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant
to the selected Identified Sustainability Information. The procedures
selected depend on the assurance provider’s judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material non-compliance of the selected
Identified Sustainability Information with the defined reporting criteria.
Our work consisted of:
a)

Responsibility of the independent assurance provider
Our responsibility is to express, to the Directors, an opinion on the
Identified Sustainability Information contained in the Report, for the year
ended 31 March 2012, based on our assurance engagement.
This report, including the conclusion, has been prepared solely for the
Directors of the company as a body, to assist the Directors in reporting
on the company’s sustainable development performance and activities.

reviewing processes that Foskor has in place for determining
material Identified Sustainability Information to be included in the
Report;

b) obtaining an understanding of the systems used to generate,
aggregate and report data at the sampled operations;
c)

conducting interviews with management at the sampled operations
and at Head Office;

d) applying the assurance criteria in evaluating the data generation
and reporting processes;
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e)

performing a controls walkthrough;

f)

testing the accuracy of data reported on a sample basis for limited
assurance;

g) reviewing the consolidation of the data at Head Office to obtain
an understanding of the consistency of the reporting processes
compared with prior years and to obtain explanations for deviations
in performance trends; and
h) reviewing the consistency between the Identified Sustainability
Information and related statements in Foskor’s Report.
We believe that the evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our assurance conclusions.
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The evidence-gathering procedures for limited assurance are more
restricted than for reasonable assurance and therefore less assurance
is obtained with limited assurance than for reasonable assurance.
We have not carried out any work on data reported for prior reporting
periods, nor have we performed work in respect of future projections
and targets. We have not conducted any work outside of the agreed
scope and therefore restrict our opinion to the Identified Sustainability
Information.

calculating, sampling or estimating such data. Qualitative interpretations
of relevance, materiality and the accuracy of data are subject to
individual assumptions and judgments.
Conversion factors used to derive energy used from fuel and
electricity consumed, is based upon information and factors derived
by independent third parties. Our assurance work has not included
an examination of the derivation of those factors and other third party
information.

Conclusion
Based on our work performed, nothing has come to our attention
causing us to believe that the Identified Sustainability Information
selected for limited assurance, for the year ended 31 March 2012 is
materially misstated.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc.

Inherent limitations

Director: Wessie van der Westhuizen

Non-financial data is subject to more inherent limitations than financial
data, given both the nature and the methods used for determining,

Sunninghill
13 August 2012

GRI CONTENT TABLE
G3 Content index: Foskor (Pty) Limited
Description

Reference

Page

1.1

Statement from the most senior decision-maker of the
organisation

From CEO’s desk

32

Chairman’s statement

29

2.1

Name of the organisation

Front cover

Front cover

2.2

Primary brands, products and/or services

Inside cover

7

2.3

Operational structure of the organisation including main
divisions, operating companies, subsidiaries and joint ventures

Organisational overview: divisions and subsidiaries

9

2.4

Location of organisation’s headquarters

Organisational overview: divisions and subsidiaries

9

2.5

Number of countries where organisation operates, and names
of countries with either major operations or that are specifically
relevant to the sustainability issues covered in the report

Organisational overview: divisions and subsidiaries

9

2.6

Nature of ownership and legal form

Organisational overview: shareholders

8

2.7

Markets served (including geographic breakdown, sectors
served and types of customers/beneficiaries)

Our markets

Inside cover

Scale of operating organisation

Performance features

5

CEO’s report

32
2

2.8

Organisational overview: business model

2.9

Significant changes during the reporting period regarding size,
structure or ownership

About this report: assurance and comparability

2.10

Awards received in the reporting period

Awards received in the reporting period

3.1

Reporting period for information provided

3.2

Date of most recent previous report

About this report

2

3.3

Reporting cycle

About this report

2

3.4

Contact point for questions

About this report

2

3.5

Process for defining report content

Operational context and strategic intent: Our strategic focus
areas
Our key stakeholders

23

3.6

Boundary of the report

About this report

2

3.7

State any specific limitations on the scope or boundary of the
report

About this report

2

3.8

Basis for reporting on joint ventures, subsidiaries, leased
facilities, outsourced operations, and other entities that
can significantly affect comparability from period to period
between organisations

About this report: assurance and comparability

2

3.10

Explanation of the effect of any restatements of information
provided in earlier reports and the reasons for such
restatements

CFO’s report

36

Inside cover

17
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Description

Reference

Page

3.11

Significant changes from previous reporting periods in the
scope, boundary or measurement methods applied in the
report

CEO’s report

32

3.12

Table identifying the location of the standard disclosures in the
report

Additional information

116

4.1

Governance structure of the organisation, including
committees under the highest governance body responsible
for specific tasks, such as setting strategy or organisational
oversight

Corporate governance: Governance, Board and executive
management

14 – 16

4.2

Indicate whether the chair of the highest governance body is
also an executive officer

Corporate governance: Governance, Board and executive
management

4.3

For organisations that have a unitary board structure, state the
number and gender of members of the highest governance
body that are independent and/or non-executive members

Corporate governance: Governance, Board and executive
management

14 – 16
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4.4

Mechanisms for shareholders and employees to provide
recommendations or direction to the highest governance body

Additional information: Form of proxy

129
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4.14

List of stakeholder groups engaged by the organisation

Operational context and
stakeholders
Engaging with stakeholders

strategic

intent:

Our

key

17

4.15

Basis for the identification and selection of stakeholders with
whom to engage

Operational context and
stakeholders
Engaging with stakeholders

strategic

intent:

Our

key

17

Part III

Performance indicators

Profile
disclosure

Description

Reference

Page

Direct economic value generated and distributed, including
revenues, operating costs, employee compensation,
donations and other community investments, retained
earnings, and payments to capital providers and governments

Value added statement

43

Organisational overview: Group structure
Divisions and subsidiaries
Our people: Mining Charter

7

Development and impact of infrastructure investments
and services provided primarily for public benefit through
commercial, in-kind, or pro bono engagement

Corporate responsibility

88

Direct energy consumption by primary energy source

Performance features

5

Total water withdrawal by source

Performance features

5

EC1

Market presence
EC6

Policy, practices, and proportion of spending on locally-based
suppliers at significant locations of operation

75

Indirect economic impacts
EC8

Energy
EN3
Water
EN8

Profile
disclosure

Description

Reference

Page

Habitats protected or restored

Environment: Mine site rehabilitation and closure

87

Environment: Waste management

86

Percentage of products sold and their packaging materials
that are reclaimed by category

CFO’s report: Sales drives

39

LA1

Total workforce by employment type, employment contract,
and region broken down by gender

Performance measures
Our people: Mining Charter

75

LA3

Benefits provided to full-time employees that are not provided
to temporary or part-time employees, by major operations

Corporate governance and remuneration: Remuneration

110

Our people: Trade unions and employee participation forums

71

Our people: Health

72

Corporate governance and remuneration: The Board and
executive management

96

Prevention and mitigation measures implemented in
operations with significant potential or actual negative impacts
on local communities

Environment

84

Percentage and total number of business units analysed for
risks related to corruption

Corporate governance and remuneration: Internal audit

101

Biodiversity
EN13

Emissions, effluent and waste
EN22

Total weight of waste by type and disposal method

Products and services
EN27
Employment

LA4

Percentage of employees covered by collective bargaining
agreements

Occupational health and safety
LA8

Education, training, counselling, prevention and risk control
programmes in place to assist workforce members, their
families or community members regarding serious disease

Diversity and equal opportunity
LA13

Composition of governance bodies and breakdown of
employees per employee category according to gender, age
group, minority group membership, and other indicators of
diversity

Local communities
SO10

Corruption
SO2
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AGM Notice
FOSKOR (PTY) LIMITED
(Reg. No. 1951/002918/07)
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the 62nd annual general meeting of the members of the above company will be held at Foskor (Pty) Limited,
21 John Ross Parkway, Richards Bay on Monday, 18 June 2012 after the Board meeting for the following purposes:
1. To receive and consider the Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2012, including the Directors’ Report and the report
of the auditors thereon;
2. To authorise the Board of Directors to fix the auditor’s remuneration for the past year;
3. To approve the Board of Directors’ fees;
4. Resignation and appointment of of the Board of Directors;
5. Appointment of auditors
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6. To transact any other business as may be transacted at the annual general meeting.
A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint one or more proxies to attend and vote in his stead. A proxy need not
be a member of the company.
Proxy form should be forwarded to reach the registered office of the company not less than 48 hours before the time for the meeting.
BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

Ms AUS Khanyile
Group Company Secretary

Registered Office:
Foskor (Pty) Limited
Riverview Office Park
Block G, Janadel Avenue
MIDRAND

16 May 2012

Form of Proxy
FOSKOR (PROPRIETARY) LIMITED
(REGISTRATION NUMBER 1951/002918/07)
I/We ................................................................................. of .................................................................................
being a member/members of Foskor (Proprietary) Limited, hereby appoint:
................................................................................. of .................................................................................or failing him/her
................................................................................. of .................................................................................or failing him/her
the Chairman of the meeting
as my proxy to act for me on my behalf at the annual general meeting of the company to be held on 18 June 2012 at 13:00 and at any adjournment
thereof as follows:

1.

To adopt the annual financial statements

2.

To authorise the directors to fix the auditor's remuneration for the
past year

3.

To approve the directors’ fees

4.

To re-appoint the directors

5.

To re-appoint the auditors

6.

To transact any other business as may be transacted at the
annual general meeting

In favour of

Against

Abstain

(Indicate instruction to proxy by way of a cross in the space provided above.)
Unless otherwise instructed, my proxy may vote as he/she thinks fit.
Signed this ...................................................................................... day of ...................................................................................... 2012

___________________________________
Signature

A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint one or more proxies to attend and vote in his/her stead. A proxy need
not be a member of the company.
Proxy forms should be forwarded to reach the registered office of the company not less than 48 hours before the time of the holding of the meeting.
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Abbreviation

Meaning

Abbreviation

Meaning

ABET
ADR
AEP (Unisa)
AHF
AMP
AMS
APRM
ASMP
ATF
Adv Tax Cert
BA LLB
BARC
BB&A

Adult Basic Education Training
Alternative dispute resolution
Advanced Executive Programme
Anahydrous Hydrofloric Acid
Advanced Management Programme
Aids Management System
Advanced Planning and Risk Management
Advanced Sales Management Programme
Aluminium Tri Fluoride
Certificate in Advanced Taxation
Bachelor of Arts with Bachelor of Laws
Board Audit and Risk Committee
Besigheids Bestuur & Admin (Honours in
management & accounting)
Broad-based black economic empowerment
Bachelor of Commerce
Bachelor of Computation
Black Economic Empowerment
Bachelor or Engineering
Board Human Resources Committee
Bachelor of Science
Bachelor of Social Science
Board Technical Committee
Business Development
Capital expenditure
Chartered Accountant South Africa
Chief audit executive
Commission for Conciliation, Mediation and
Arbitration
T-cell count in HIV/Aids patients
Chief Executive Officer
Chemical, Energy, Paper, Printing, Wood and
Allied Workers Union
Coromandel Fertilizer Ltd
Chief Financial Officer
Cost and Freight
Chemical Engineering
Chemical Industries Education and Training
Institution
Coromandel International Ltd
Chartered Institute of Management Accountants
Chemical Industries National Provident Fund
Code of practice

COSO

Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of the
Treadway Commission
Corporate Social Investment
Certificate of Theory in Accounting
Copper
Diammonium Phosphate
December
Disabling Injury Frequency Rate
Diploma in Business Taxation
Department of Mineral Resources
Department of Trade and Industry
Doctor of Technology
digital video disc
Employee assistance programme
Earnings Before Interest and Tax
Earnings Before Interest and Tax adjusted for
Depreciation and Amortisation
Engineering Council of South Africa
Executive Development Programme
employment equity
Electrical Engineering
Expanded Public Works Programme
Enterprise Risk Management
Employee share option plan
Enterprise-Wide Risk Management
Executive Committee
Further Education and Training
Foskor Group Audit Services
Free on Board
Free on Rail
Fédération Internationale de Football
Association
Fertilizer Society of South Africa
Financial or Fiscal Year
Government Certificate of Competence
Groupe Chimique Tunisien
Gross Domestic Product
General company for Phosphate and Mines
HIV Counselling and Testing
High density polyrethane
Hazard identification risk assessment
Historically Disadvantaged South Africans
Human Immunodeficiency Virus/Acquired
Immune Deficiency Syndrome

B-BBEE
BCom
BCompt (Unisa)
BEE
BEng
BHRC
BSc
BSocSci
BTC
Bus Devt
Capex
CA(SA)
CAE
CCMA
CD4
CEO
CEPPAWU
CFL
CFO
CFR
Chem Eng
CHIETA
CIL
CIMA
CINPF
COP

CSI
CTA
Cu
DAP
Dec
DIFR
Dip Bus Tax
DMR
dti
DTech
DVD
EAP
EBIT
EBITDA
ECSA
EDP
EE
Elec Eng
EPWP
ERM
ESOP
EWRM
Exco
FET
FGAS
FOB
FOR
FIFA
FSSA
FY
GCC
GCT
GDP
Gecopham
HCT
HDPE
HIRA
HDSA
HIV/AIDS

Meaning

Abbreviation

Meaning

H2SO4
Hons
HPL
IASB
ICSA
ICT
IDC

Sulphuric Acid
Honours Degree
High performance leadership
International Accounting Standards Board
Institute for Chartered Secretaries in SA
Information and Communications Technology
Industrial Development Corporation of South
Africa Ltd
Integrated Development Plan
International Executive Programme
International Executive Development
Programme
International Fertilizer Association
Indian Farmers Fertilizer Co-operative
International Financial Reporting Interpretations
Committee
International Financial Reporting Standard/s
Incorporated
Industrial Administration
Originally: Institut Européen d’Administration
des Affaires – European Institute of Business
Administration
International Standardds of Assurance
Engagements
International Organisation for Standardisation
International Organisation for Standardisation –
Quality Management
International Organisation for Standardisation –
Environmental Management
Information Technology
Jordan Phosphates Mine company
KwaZulu-Natal
Corporate Governance Codes of the King 3
report
kilometre/s
Local Economic Development
liquid crystal display
Limited
Long-term injury-free rate
Long Term Incentive Plan
Million
Cubic metres
Management Advancement Programme

MAP
MAPZN
Mar
MBA
MBL
MBS
MCom
MD
MDP
Mech-Ind
mm
MOP
MQA
MSAIIE

Monoammonium Phosphate
Monoammonium Phosphate with Zinc
March
Master of Business Administration
Master of Business Leadership
Master of Business Studies
Master of Commerce
Managing Director
Management Development Programme
Mechanical-Industrial
millimetre/s
Muriate of Potash
Mining Qualifications Authority
Masters: South African Institute for Industrial
Engineering
Metric tons
Master of Science
Megavolt Ampere
Mega Watt
Mega Watt hour
National Higher Diploma
National Nuclear Regulator
Nitrogen-phosphate-kalium (complex fertilizers)
National Qualifications Framework
National Union of Mineworkers
Occupational Health and Safety
Occupational Health and Safety Assessment
Series
Occupational Health and Safety Assessment
Series – Occupational Health and Safety
Management
per annum
personal computer
The term used in the phosphate industry
to measure its phosphoric acid production
volumes
Personal Development Programme
Pyroxenite Expansion Project – Phase 1
Pyroxenite Expansion Project – Phase 2
Doctor of Philosophy
Public Investment Corporation
Purchases of property, plant and equipment
Phalaborwa Phosphate and Vermiculite
Palabora Mining company

IDP
IEP
IEDP (Wits)
IFA
IFFCO
IFRIC
IFRS/s
Inc
Ind Admin
INSEAD

ISAE
ISO
ISO 9001
ISO 14001
IT
JPMC
KZN
King III
km
LED
LCD
Ltd
LTIFR
LTIP
m
m3
MAP

mt
MSc
MVA
MW
MWh
NHD
NNR
NPKs
NQF
NUM
OHS
OHSAS
OHSAS 18001

p.a.
pc
P2O5

PDP
PEP1
PEP2
PhD
PIC
PPE
PP&V
PMC
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Abbreviation

Meaning

Term

Meaning

Pr Eng
Pty
PWC
QAR
R
R’m
SA
SABCOHA
SACNASP

Professional Engineer
Proprietary
PricewaterhouseCoopers
Quality assurance review
Rand
Rand million
South Africa/n
South African Business Condition on HIV/AIDS
South African Council for Natural Scientific
Professions
Southern African Development Community
South African Mineral Resource Committee
South African National Standard/s
South African National Standard/s – Spirometry
South African National Standard/s –
HIV/AIDS
South African Revenue Service
Senior Executive Programme
Social and labour plan
Small, Medium and Micro Enterprise
Sulphur Dioxide
Sulphate of Potash
Safety, Health and Environment
Safety, Health, Environment and Quality
Safety, Health, Risk, Environment and Quality
Short Term Incentive Plan
Secondary Tax on Companies
Technical Assistance Agreement
Transnet Freight Rail
Triple superphosphate
Solution of urea and ammonium nitrate
University of Fort Hare Foundation
Unemployment insurance fund
United Kingdom
University of South Africa
University of Zululand
United States
United States of America
American dollar
Value-Added Tax
Vice President
Weighted average cost of capital
University of the Witwatersrand
South African Rand
Zululand Chamber of Commerce and Industry

Black

As defined in the dti Codes of Good
Practice and amended in terms of the
High Court ruling at June 2008

Carry trade

A trade where you borrow and pay
interest in order to buy something else
that has higher interest

Current ratio

Current assets to current liabilities ratio

Debt to equity ratio

Interest-bearing debt to equity ratio

Electricity purchased

Electricity purchased from third-parties
during the reporting period. This should
include all electricity purchased from any
source (fossil fuel, nuclear, hydroelectric,
wind, solar, etc.). It should exclude
electricity generated by the operation itself.
Unit = MW

Free cash flows

Net cash from operating activities less
net cash in investing activities

Governing Board

The committee of directors that governs
the affairs of Foskor

Group Kriging

A geostatistical approach to modelling

LTIP

Long-term incentive plan

Independent

As defined in King III

Middle Management

Functional managers

Non-executive

As defined in King III

Operating income to
revenue

Operating income expressed as a
percentage of revenue

Pre-tax margin

Profit before tax expressed as a
percentage of revenue

Professional

Technical experts and specialists

Return on net assets

Profit after tax expressed as a
percentage of net assets

Return on equity

Operating profit expressed as a
percentage of shareholder equity and
reserves

Senior management

Group and divisional managers

Semi-skilled employees

Technical and mechanical operators,
drivers (heavy motor vehicles) and
technical assistants

SADC
SAMREC
SANS
SANS 451
SANS 16001
SARS
SEP
SLP
SMME
SO2
SOP
SHE
SHEQ
SHREQ
STIP
STC
TAA
TFR
TSP
UAN
UFH
UIF
UK
UNISA
UniZul
US
USA
US$ or USD
VAT
VP
WACC
Wits
ZAR
ZCCI

Meaning

Skilled employees

Artisans, technicians and production
supervisors

STIP

The short-term incentive payment applies
to fixed-term contract employees whose
contracts state that they will qualify for
bonus/incentive payment and permanent
employees in management. This scheme
is based on achieving set objectives and
targets which are based on the approved
budget and company strategy. Incentive
payment is capped at 25% of total
payroll excluding provision for incentives/
bonuses, leave and post-retirement
medical aid

STIP Top management

Executives and general managers

Unskilled labour

Elementary occupations

Water purchased

Water use is the demand exerted on the
overall external water resource through
the intake of water for all forms of use.
Total water use is the aggregate of river,
potable and other water volumes.
Summate the total water use for the
applicable period. Total water use
(1,000m3) = River water (1,000m3) +
Potable water (1,000m3) + Other water
use (e.g. well) (1,000m3)
Unit = Megalitres

KPI

Definitions

Corporate Social
Investment spend (CSI)

CSI initiatives within the corporate sector
are contributions (monetary, staff time or
gifts in kind) that are made to stakeholders
associated with business operations, and
which bring benefits over and above core
activities. The beneficiaries can range
from local stakeholders to national and
international ones. These investments
are generally aimed at addressing needs
within the selected targets community.
The scope of these activities ranges
from issues philanthropic activities (e.g.
donations to charities), to addressing

KPI

Definitions
social issues within targets communities,
to corporate initiatives within the target
community that directly supports the
needs success of the company (e.g. skills
for local residents for employment).
Finanacial contribution excludes marketing,
commercial and political sponsorships and
operating expenses or management fees
associated with the running of programmes
and volunteering activities

Disabling Injury
Frequency Rate (DIFR)

DIFR is defined as the number of disability
injuries (including illness) per 200,000
hours worked.

Electricity consumed

Electricity purchased from third-parties
during the reporting period. This should
include all electricity purchased from any
source (fossil fuel, nuclear, hydroelectric,
wind, solar, etc). It should exclude
electricity generated by the operation
itself. Unit = MW

Lost-Time Injury
Frequency Rate (LTIFR)

The LTIFR is a rate per 200,000 hours of
lost-time injuries due to all causes for both
employee and contractors.

Total water consumption

Water use is the demand exerted on the
overall external water resource through
the intake of water for all forms of use.
Total water use is the aggregate of river,
potable and other water volumes
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Administration
DIRECTORS

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms AUS Khanyile

Chairman
Mr MG Qhena

PHALABORWA

Executive director
Mr MA Pitse
(President/Chief Executive Officer)
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Non-executive directors
Mr A Vellayan
Mr G van Wyk
Ms SS Ngoma
Ms JM Modise
Mr SP Ngwenya
Dr DS Phaho (Independent)
Mr F Madavo (Independent)
Mr J Barton (Independent)
Mr N Nika (Independent)

AUDITORS
PriceWaterhouseCoopers Inc.
Johannesburg
Ngubane & Co. Inc.
Durban

REGISTERED OFFICE
Foskor
Riverview Office Park
Block G, Janadel Avenue
Midrand
PO Box 2494, Halfway House, 1685
Telephone:
Telefax:
Website:

+27 11 347 0600
+27 11 347 0640
www.foskor.co.za

27 Selati Road, Phalaborwa
PO Box 1, Phalaborwa, 1390
Telephone:
Telefax:

+27 15 789 2000
+27 15 789 2066

STAKEHOLDER RELATIONS
Ms BKM Smith

REGISTRATION NUMBER
Foskor (Pty) Ltd
1951/002918/07

RICHARDS BAY
21 John Ross Parkway, Richards Bay
PO Box 208, Richards Bay, 3900
Telephone:
Telefax:

+27 35 902 3111
+27 35 797 3739

2012

Annual financial
statements

1

AnNual financial statements for the year ended 31 march 2012

DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION
Directors’ responsibility and approval of the Group and
Company Annual Financial Statements for the year ended
31 March 2012
To the members of Foskor (Pty) Ltd
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of
the Group and Company Annual Financial Statements, comprising the
statements of financial position at 31 March 2012, and the statements
of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flow for the year
then ended, and the notes to the Financial Statements, which include a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes,
and the Directors’ report, in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards and in the manner required by the Companies
Act of South Africa.

Annual financial
statements

2

The directors’ responsibilities include: designing, implementing
and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of these Financial Statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud and error; selecting and applying
appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that
are reasonable in the circumstances.

Approval of the Annual Financial Statements
The Group and Company Annual Financial Statements, as identified
in the first paragraph, were approved by the Board of Directors on
18 June 2012 and are signed on its behalf by:

Mr MA Pitse 	Mr MG Qhena
President/Chief Executive Officer
Chairman
18 June 2012

Certificate by Company Secretary
I certify, in accordance with the Companies Act, No 71 of 2008, as
amended, that for the year ended 31 March 2012 Foskor (Pty) Ltd
has lodged with the Companies and Intellectual Property Commission
(CIPC) all such returns and notices as are required of a private company
in terms of this Act, and that all such returns and notices appear to be
true, correct and up to date.

The directors’ responsibilities also include maintaining adequate
accounting records and an effective system of risk management as
well as preparation of the supplementary schedules included in these
Financial Statements.
The directors have made an assessment of the Group’s and Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern and have no reason to believe
that the business will not be a going concern in the year ahead.
The independent auditors are responsible for expressing an opinion
on whether the Group and Company Annual Financial Statements are
fairly presented in accordance with the applicable financial reporting
framework.

18 June 2012

Ms AUS Khanyile
Company Secretary
18 June 2012

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF FOSKOR (PTY) LTD

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and
fair presentation of these Financial Statements in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of
the Companies Act of South Africa, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatements, whether due to
fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these Financial
Statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance
with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free
from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the Financial Statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement,

including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the
entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the Financial Statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION
In our opinion, the Financial Statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the consolidated and separate financial position of Foskor
(Pty) Ltd as at 31 March 2012, and its consolidated and separate
financial performance and its consolidated and separate cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of
South Africa.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc.	Ngubane & Co. Inc.
Director: TD Shango 	Director: H Mpungose
Registered Auditor
Registered Auditor
Sunninghill
18 June 2012

Durban
18 June 2012
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We have audited the Group Annual Financial Statements and
Annual Financial Statements of Foskor (Pty) Ltd which comprise
the consolidated and separate statements of financial position as
at 31 March 2012, and the consolidated and separate statements
of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the
year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies
and other explanatory notes, and the Directors’ report, as set out on
pages 4 to 58.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
The directors have pleasure in presenting the Annual Financial
Statements of the Foskor Group for the year ended 31 March 2012.

Nature of Business
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541 000 tons (FY2010/11: 647,000 tons) of phosphoric acid; and
283,000 tons (FY2010/11: 351,000 tons) of granular fertilizer (MAP/
DAP). A detailed operational review of the Mining and Acid Divisions is
contained in the report on pages 53 – 62 of the Integrated Annual Report.

Foskor’s core business is the beneficiation of phosphate rock at the
Mining Division and the manufacture and supply of standard merchant
grade phosphoric acid and related granular fertilizer products at the
Acid Division. Approximately 80% of the phosphate rock concentrate
is railed to the Acid Division for processing into phosphoric acid, which
is then used as a raw material in the production of granular fertilizer.
About 75% of the phosphoric acid sales are exported to Europe and
India, while granular fertilizer sales are mainly to the local market.

Accounting Policies, Restatements and Reclassifications

Further information on Foskor’s business activities is provided in the
CEO’s review (pages 32 – 35 of the Integrated Annual Report).

Strategically Important Investments

Environmental Responsibilities

Coromandel International Ltd (CIL) is a customer of Foskor and a multinational group with interests in the manufacture of merchant grade
phosphoric acid and part of the Murugappa Group. Foskor owns 1.72%
of CIL’s share capital; the value of the investment as at 31 March 2012
was R206 million, as compared to R211 million as at 31 March 2011.

Management continually assesses and monitors the various
environmental threats to the Group. Foskor’s environmental
provision strategy prescribes the use of a special-purpose vehicle
(section 37A, Environmental Rehabilitation Trust) for scheduled
mine closures, and bank guarantees for unscheduled or premature
mine closure, as per Department of Mineral Resources (DMR)
regulations. The environmental impact of emissions and other
hazardous materials at the Acid Division is closely monitored.
A significant portion of the capital expenditure at the division is
dedicated to minimising harmful effects on the environment, such as
groundwater contamination.

Financial Results
The Group achieved turnover of R5.1 billion, representing an increase
of 11% compared with R4.6 billion in the previous year. Net profit after
tax reduced from R377 million for the year ended 31 March 2011 to
R184 million. The Group has a positive cash balance of R359 million
(FY2011: R404 million), a long-term interest-bearing loan balance of
R450 million and short-term of R127 million at March 2012.
A detailed report on the Group’s financial performance is contained on
pages 36 – 52 of the Integrated Annual Report.

General Review of Operations
As at 31 March 2012, Foskor produced 2.3 million tons
(FY2010/11: 2.6 million tons) of phosphate rock concentrate;

The Group has adopted all the new and revised standards and
interpretations issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board (IASB) and the International Financial Reporting Interpretations
Committee (IFRIC) of the IASB that are relevant to its operations and
effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011.

Coromandel International Ltd

Foskor Zirconia (Pty) Ltd
Foskor’s shareholding in Zirconia (Pty) Ltd reduced from 49% to 29.9%
due to the sale of shares to a BEE partner which was concluded in July
2010. Foskor Zirconia is a producer of electro-fused zirconia for export.
This is a raw material used in the production of monoclinic or calciastabilised zirconia, mainly used in the steel casting, refractory and
abrasive industries. 51% of Foskor Zirconia is owned by Carborundum
Universal Ltd (a multi-national company based in India and part of
the Murugappa Group), and 19.9% is held by Perfect Positions CC,
a black-owned company.

Subsidiaries
Details of subsidiaries of the company are set out in Note 5 of the
annual financial statements.

Dividends
Dividends are approved by the Board subject to the performance
and affordability of the company. The Board declared a dividend of
R35 million (R3.82 per share) for the financial year under review.
For the year ended 31 March 2011, a dividend of R74.6 million
(R8.15 per share) was declared but only paid during the current
year. Dividends were received from CIL amounting to R5.1 million
(FY2010/11: R4.5 million) during the year under review.

Insurance and Risk Management

Public Finance Management Act

The Group’s philosophy is to manage its risks in order to protect
its assets and earnings against unacceptable financial loss and to
avoid legal liabilities. In this regard, possible catastrophic-type risks
are insured with satisfactory cover, while non-catastrophic type risks
are self-insured. The management of risk is further supported by
the Group’s health and safety programmes, and maintenance of the
ISO 9001 (quality) and ISO 14001 (environmental) standards.

Foskor was granted full exemption by the Minister of Finance for
compliance with the Public Finance Management Act (No. 1 of 1999,
as amended by Act No. 2 of 1999) until 31 October 2014. It is likely
that the exemption will be renewed. There are no monetary exchanges
with the government.

The policy loss limit is restricted to R2 billion per event, with sub-limits
for each cover and a R10 million deductible for property damage.
The deductible for business interruption is 30 days’ average daily
value. The minimum deductible for property damage and business
interruption combined is R10 million. The insured value of the assets is
R10.4 billion. Risk surveys and assessments are integral to the Group’s
risk management policy and are performed as part of the integrated
Group risk management system. Risks identified during these surveys
are eliminated, reduced or transferred to the insurers.

No special resolutions were passed during the financial year ended
31 March 2012.

The authorised and issued share capital as at 31 March 2012 was
9 157 647 ordinary shares of R1,00 each.

Loans by and to the Foskor Group
Foskor has a long-term funding facility from the IDC amounting to
R1 billion, of which R500 million had been utilised at year-end and
the remaining R500 million is available for use at 31 March 2012.
Foster also has a committed short-term facility of R400 million from
commercial banks of which R65 million has been utilised at year-end.
During the year, no loans were granted by Foskor to its directors or any
other persons related to them.

Foskor’s shareholding is as follows:

Material Commitments, Lease Payments and Contingencies

•

59% – The Industrial Development Corporation of South Africa Ltd
(IDC);

•

15% – The Manyoro Consortium;

•

11.82% – CFL Mauritius Ltd (a Mauritius-based company owned
by CIL);

•

6% – The Kopano Foskor Employees Trust;

The Group’s head office in Midrand leases a building and accounts
for the lease as an operating lease. The lease commenced on
1 September 2008 for a period of three years and was extended in
2011 for a further three years. The operating lease payments escalate
by 8% per annum. The Acid Plant leases a pipeline from the uMhlathuze
Water Board (Richards Bay Municipality) to discharge effluent. The
lease has been accounted for as a finance lease. The remaining period
of the lease is 14 years.

•

5% – The Ba-Phalaborwa and uMhlathuze Community Trusts;

•

2.18% – Coromandel International Ltd (CIL – based in India); and

•

1% – Sun International FZE (a company based in India).

The directors are authorised, until the next Annual General Meeting,
to issue unissued ordinary shares. There have been no changes in
shareholding in the period under review.

Capital Expenditure
Capital expenditure of R1.1 billion has been approved by the Board for
the next financial year.

Going Concern
The directors believe that Foskor has sufficient resources and expected
cash flows to continue operating as a going concern.
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Share Capital

Resolutions

Post-balance Sheet Events

Employee Share Ownership Plan (ESOP)

Nothing material has occurred or arisen between the accounting yearend and the date of this report that would affect the Annual Financial
Statements.

Full details on the corporate governance policies and procedures are
set out in the Corporate Governance section of this report.

All Foskor employees (including executive management) are entitled
to receive units in the ESOP Trust which holds 6% of the company’s
equity through a special-purpose vehicle. The ESOP Trust is part of the
BBBEE ownership deal and the purchase of the shares was financed
by means of a loan from the IDC. The ESOP Trust holds ordinary shares
and will have the same rights as other ordinary shareholders. The initial
allocation was made to employees in 2011. The number of specified
units allotted during the current financial year amounted to 531 661.

Changes to the Board

Directors’ Interests

Biographical details of directors currently serving on the Board are
provided on pages 96 – 98 of the Integrated Annual Report. Messrs
N Nika and J Barton were appointed to the Board on 3 February 2012,
Mr Nika is also the chairperson of the Board Audit and Risk Committee.
Ms Albäck resigned from the Board on 28 November 2011, she was
also the Chairperson of the Board Audit and Risk Committee.

The non-executive directors, with the exception of Mr P Ngwenya and
Mr A Vellayan, have no interests in the company. Mr P Ngwenya is
a representative of the Manyoro Consortium which owns 15% of the
company and is Foskor’s strategic business partner. Mr Vellayan is
the Chairman of the Murugappa Group and Coromandel International
Limited. The CEO, by virtue of the all-employee share scheme, will be
awarded units in the Employee Share Ownership Plan Trust.

Corporate Governance
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Prescribed Officers
The executive director and executive managers are deemed to be
prescribed officers of Foskor (Pty) Ltd as contemplated in the Companies
Act, 71 of 2008. The directors and prescribed officers emoluments are
disclosed in Note 33 of the Annual Financial Statements.

Service Contracts with Directors and
Executive Management
The Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and the executive management
of Foskor have signed contracts of employment with the company.
There are no service contracts between the company and any of its
non-executive directors having a notice period exceeding one month,
or providing for compensation and benefits in excess of one month’s
salary.

Independent Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. and Ngubane & Co Inc. will continue in
office in accordance with section 30 of the Companies Act, 71 of 2008
of South Africa, as amended.

Annual General Meeting
The Annual General Meeting will be held on Monday, 18 June 2012.
Refer to the Company Secretarial Notice for further details.

Group and company statements of financial position
as at 31 March 2012

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Investments in subsidiaries
Loans to subsidiaries
Investment in joint venture
Investment in associate
Inventories – ore raw materials
Financial investments
Current assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Derivative financial instruments
Current tax asset
Cash and cash equivalents (excluding bank overdrafts)

3
4
5
5
6
7
8

9
10
11
12

Total assets
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity attributable to owners
Ordinary shares
Share premium
Retained earnings
Share-based payment reserve
Fair value reserve

14
14
16.1

Total equity
Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Finance lease liability
Environmental rehabilitation liability
Employee share-based payment liability
Long-term interest-bearing loan
Retirement benefit obligations
Deferred income tax liabilities

17
18
16.2
28
19
13

Total
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Loans from subsidiaries
Short-term interest-bearing loan
Finance lease liability
Derivative financial instruments
Provisions

20
5
28
17
11
21

GROUP

COMPANY

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

3 564 168
851
–
–
25
23 650
10 096
321 638

3 325 229
514
–
–
25
20 865
10 096
320 489

3 563 749
851
104 007
19 931
25
15 869
10 096
311 638

3 324 579
514
104 007
13 088
25
15 869
10 096
310 489

3 920 428

3 677 218

4 026 166

3 778 667

1 624 722
838 769
736
57 665
358 997

1 078 648
560 601
5 815
51 994
404 063

1 624 722
834 105
736
57 566
350 931

1 078 648
557 890
5 815
51 994
402 576

2011
R’000

2 880 889

2 101 121

2 868 060

2 096 923

6 801 317

5 778 339

6 894 226

5 875 590
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9 158
132 013
3 438 117
303 914
174 596

9 158
132 013
3 322 017
303 914
179 598

9 158
132 013
3 310 664
303 914
174 596

9 158
132 013
3 197 318
303 914
179 598
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2012
R’000

4 057 798

3 946 700

3 930 345

3 822 001

18 039
243 268
56 496
450 000
122 067
673 356

20 009
248 071
48 233
107 031
97 657
600 782

18 039
243 268
56 496
450 000
122 067
675 127

20 009
248 071
48 233
107 031
97 657
602 325

1 563 226

1 121 783

1 564 997

1 123 326

1 005 942
–
126 981
1 970
244
45 156

603 254
–
–
2 084
756
103 762

1 005 005
220 545
126 981
1 970
244
44 139

601 559
223 216
–
2 084
756
102 649

1 180 293

709 856

1 398 884

930 264

Total liabilities

2 743 519

1 831 639

2 963 881

2 053 590

Total equity and liabilities

6 801 317

5 778 339

6 894 226

5 875 590

The notes on pages 11 to 58 are an integral part of these financial statements.

Group and company statements of comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 March 2012

GROUP
2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

Revenue
Cost of sales

5 124 733
(3 739 141)

4 611 341
(3 077 781)

5 124 072
(3 736 392)

4 610 609
(3 075 298)

Gross profit
Distribution costs
Administrative expenses
Share-based payment expense
Transaction fees
Impairment reversal
Other operating income
Investment income

1 385 592
(980 113)
(213 310)
(8 263)
–
70 000
70 981
5 115

1 533 560
(813 906)
(239 791)
(24 773)
(8 673)
–
63 030
4 482

1 387 680
(980 113)
(218 625)
(8 263)
–
70 000
75 077
5 115

1 535 311
(813 906)
(239 978)
(24 773)
(8 673)
–
67 293
4 482

Notes

Annual financial
statements

8

COMPANY

2012
R’000

16.3
16.4
3

Operating profit
Loss on sale of shares in associate
Share of profit from associate

22
7
7

330 002
–
2 785

513 929
(5 554)
2 925

330 871
–
–

519 756
(3 889)
–

Profit before interest and tax
Finance income
Finance costs
Net foreign exchange (loss)/profit

23
23
24

332 787
27 019
(40 738)
(56 425)

511 300
24 478
(27 779)
26 765

330 871
26 303
(40 738)
(56 434)

515 867
23 577
(27 779)
26 685

Profit before taxation
Income tax expense

25

262 643
(78 727)

534 764
(158 011)

260 002
(78 840)

538 350
(159 388)

8.1.1

183 916
(5 002)

376 753
88 292

181 162
(5 002)

378 962
88 292

(5 002)

88 292

(5 002)

88 292

178 914

465 045

176 160

467 254

Profit for the year
Fair value (loss)/gain
Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year
Total comprehensive income for the year
Earnings per share attributable to the equity
holders of the company during the year
(expressed in Rand per share)
– Basic earnings per share

26

20.08

41.14

– Diluted earnings per share

26

20.08

41.14

The notes on pages 11 to 58 are an integral part of these financial statements.

Group and company statements of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 March 2012

GROUP

Share
capital
R’000

Share
premium
R’000

Retained
earnings
R’000

Share-based
payment
reserve
R’000

Fair value
reserve
R’000

Total
R’000

Balance at 1 April 2010

9 158

132 013

2 945 264

303 914

91 306

3 481 655

Comprehensive income
Profit for the year

–

–

376 753

–

–

376 753

Other comprehensive income
Fair value gain

–

–

–

–

88 292

88 292

Total comprehensive income

–

–

376 753

–

88 292

465 045

9 158

132 013

3 322 017

303 914

179 598

3 946 700

–

–

183 916

–

–

183 916

Fair value loss

–

–

–

–

(5 002)

(5 002)

Total comprehensive income
for the period
Dividends paid

–

–

183 916

–

(5 002)

178 914

–

–

(67 816)

–

–

(67 816)

Balance at 31 March 2012

9 158

132 013

3 438 117

303 914

174 596

4 057 798

COMPANY

Share
capital
R’000

Share
premium
R’000

Retained
earnings
R’000

Share-based
payment
reserve
R’000

Fair value
reserve
R’000

Total
R’000

Balance at 1 April 2010

9 158

132 013

2 818 356

303 914

91 306

3 354 747

Comprehensive income
Profit for the year

–

–

378 962

–

–

378 962

Other comprehensive income
Fair value gains

–

–

–

–

88 292

88 292

Total comprehensive income

–

–

378 962

–

88 292

467 254

Balance at 31 March 2011
Comprehensive income
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income

9 158

132 013

3 197 318

303 914

179 598

3 822 001

Comprehensive income
Profit for the year

Balance at 31 March 2011

–

–

181 162

–

–

181 162

Other comprehensive income
Fair value loss

–

–

–

–

(5 002)

(5 002)

–

–

181 162

–

(5 002)

176 160

–

–

(67 816)

–

–

(67 816)

9 158

132 013

3 310 664

303 914

174 596

3 930 345

Total comprehensive income
for the period
Dividends paid
Balance at 31 March 2012

The notes on pages 11 to 58 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Group and company statements of cash flows
for the year ended 31 March 2012

GROUP
2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

39 763
22 193
(28 465)
(67 173)
(6 995)

411 791
24 478
(21 475)
19 572
(59 423)

43 326
21 476
(28 465)
(67 182)
(6 781)

412 565
23 577
(21 475)
19 492
(59 534)

(40 677)

374 943

(37 626)

374 625

(413 427)
(742)
4 615
–

(595 853)
–
480
6 248

(413 427)
(742)
4 499
–

(595 681)
–
320
6 248

–
5 115
(67 816)

(8 000)
4 482
–

–
5 115
(67 816)

(8 000)
4 482
–

Net cash used in investing activities

(472 255)

(592 643)

(472 371)

(592 631)

Cash flows from financing activities
Repayment of loans from subsidiaries
Repayment of finance lease liability
Long-term interest-bearing loan

–
(2 084)
469 950

–
(2 809)
107 031

(9 514)
(2 084)
469 950

981
(2 809)
107 031

Net cash used in financing activities

467 866

104 222

458 352

105 203

Net increase/(decrease) in cash
and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

(45 066)

(113 478)

(51 645)

(112 803)

Notes
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations
Interest received
Interest paid
Realised exchange (loss)/gain
Taxes paid

27

Net cash generated from operating activities
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COMPANY

2012
R’000

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (PPE)
Purchase of software
Proceeds from sale of PPE
Proceeds on the sale of shares in associate
Purchase of financial investment held in
the Environmental Rehabilitation Trust
Dividends received
Dividends paid

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

3
4
7
18.1

12

404 063

517 542

402 576

515 380

358 997

404 063

350 931

402 576

The notes on pages 11 to 58 are an integral part of these financial statements.

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 March 2012

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.

SIC 21: Income Taxes – Recovery of Revalued Nondepreciable Assets, would no longer apply to investment
properties carried at fair value. The amendments also
incorporate into IAS 12 the remaining guidance previously
contained in SIC 21, which is accordingly withdrawn.

1.	Summary of significant accounting policies

The amendment is not considered to have any impact on
the Foskor Group.

1.1	Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements of the Foskor Group have
been prepared in accordance with the International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS). The financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by
the revaluation of available-for-sale investment securities, and
financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at
the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts
of revenue and expenses during the reporting period based on
management’s best knowledge of current events and actions.
The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity
or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
financial statements are disclosed in Note 2.
1.1.1	Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing
standards not yet effective and also not early adopted by
the Group:
• IFRS 7: Financial Instruments: Disclosures
–	(Effective January 2013). The IASB has published
an amendment to IFRS 7: “Financial instruments:
Disclosures”, reflecting the joint requirements with the
FASB to enhance current offsetting disclosures. These
new disclosures are intended to facilitate comparison
between those entities that prepare IFRS financial
statements to those that prepare financial statements in
accordance with US GAAP.
The amendment is not considered to have any impact on
the Foskor Group.
• IAS 12: Income Taxes on Deferred Tax
– (Effective 1 January 2012). Currently IAS 12, Income taxes,
requires an entity to measure the deferred tax relating to an
asset depending on whether the entity expects to recover
the carrying amount of the asset through use or sale. It
can be difficult and subjective to assess whether recovery
will be through use or through sale when the asset is
measured using the fair value model in IAS 40, Investment
Property. Hence this amendment introduces an exception
to the existing principle for the measurement of deferred
tax assets or liabilities arising on investment property
measured at fair value. As a result of the amendments,

• IAS 1: Presentation of Financial Statements, on
presentation of items of OCI
– (Effective 1 July 2012). The IASB has issued an amendment
to IAS 1: Presentation of Financial Statements. The
amendment changes the disclosure of items presented
in other comprehensive income (OCI) in the statement
of comprehensive income. The IASB originally proposed
that all entities should present profit or loss and OCI
together in a single statement of comprehensive income.
The proposal has been withdrawn and IAS 1 will still
permit profit or loss and OCI to be presented in either a
single statement or in two consecutive statements. The
amendment does not address which items should be
presented in OCI and the option to present items of OCI
either before tax or net of tax has been retained.
The amendment is not considered to have a material
impact on the Foskor Group.
• IAS 19: Employee Benefits
– (Effective 1 January 2013). The IASB has issued an
amendment to IAS 19: Employee Benefits, which makes
significant changes to the recognition and measurement
of defined benefit pension expense and termination
benefits, and to the disclosures for all employee benefits.
Management will assess the impact of the above
amendment.
• IFRS 9: Financial Instruments
– (Effective 1 January 2015). The IASB has published an
amendment to IFRS 9: Financial Instruments, that delays
the effective date to annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2015. The original effective date was for annual
periods beginning on or after from 1 January 2013. This
amendment is a result of the Board extending its timeline
for completing the remaining phases of its project to replace
IAS 39 (for example, impairment and hedge accounting)
beyond June 2011, as well as the delay in the insurance
project. The amendment confirms the importance of
allowing entities to apply the requirements of all the phases
of the project to replace IAS 39 at the same time. The
requirement to restate comparatives and the disclosures
required on transition have also been modified.
The Group is yet to assess the impact of this standard.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2012

• IFRS 10: Consolidated Financial Statements
– (Effective 1 January 2013). This standard builds on
existing principles by identifying the concept of control
as the determining factor in whether an entity should be
included within the consolidated financial statements.
The standard provides additional guidance to assist in
determining control where this is difficult to assess. This
new standard might impact the entities that a group
consolidates as its subsidiaries.
The standard is not considered to have a material impact
on the Foskor Group.
• IFRS 11: Joint Arrangements
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– 	(Effective 1 January 2013). This standard provides for a more
realistic reflection of joint arrangements by focusing on the
rights and obligations of the arrangement, rather than its
legal form. There are two types of joint arrangements: joint
operations and joint ventures. Joint operations arise where a
joint operator has rights to the assets and obligations relating
to the arrangement and hence accounts for its interest in
assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses. Joint ventures arise
where the joint operator has rights to the net assets of the
arrangement and hence equity accounts for its interest.
Proportional consolidation of joint ventures is no longer
allowed.
The standard is not considered to have a material impact
on the Foskor Group.
• IFRS 12: Disclosures of Interests in Other
Entities
– 	(Effective 1 January 2013). This standard includes the
disclosure requirements for all forms of interests in other
entities, including joint arrangements, associates, special
purpose vehicles and other off-balance sheet vehicles.
The standard is not considered to have a material impact
on the Foskor Group.
• IFRS 13: Fair Value Measurement
–	(Effective 1 January 2013). This standard aims to improve
consistency and reduce complexity by providing a
precise definition of fair value and a single source of fair
value measurement and disclosure requirements for use
across IFRS. The requirements, which are largely aligned
between IFRS and US GAAP, do not extend the use of fair
value accounting but provide guidance on how it should
be applied where its use is already required or permitted
by other standards within IFRS or US GAAP.
The standard is not considered to have a material impact
on the Foskor Group.

• IAS 27 (revised 2011): Separate Financial Statements
– (Effective 1 January 2013). This standard includes the
provisions on separate financial statements that are left after
the control provisions of IAS 27 have been included in the
new IFRS 10.
This is expected to impact on the disclosures made by the
Group in terms of its interest in subsidiaries and associates
and will be applied as required.
• IAS 28 (revised 2011): Associates and Joint Ventures
– (Effective 1 January 2013). This standard includes the
requirements for joint ventures, as well as associates, to be
equity accounted following the issue of IFRS 11.
The amendment will have an effect on the accounting for
the Group’s investment in joint venture and will be applied
as required.
• IAS 32: Financial Instruments: Presentation – (Effective
1 January 2014). The IASB has issued amendments to the
application guidance in
IAS 32: Financial Instruments: Presentation, that clarify
some of the requirements for offsetting financial assets
and financial liabilities on the balance sheet. However, the
clarified offsetting requirements for amounts presented in
the statement of financial position continue to be different
from US GAAP. The amendment is not considered to have a
material impact on the Foskor Group.
• IFRIC 20: Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a
Surface Mine
– (Effective 1 January 2013). In surface mining operations,
entities may find it necessary to remove mine waste
materials (“overburden”) to gain access to mineral
ore deposits. This waste removal activity is known as
“stripping”. The interpretation clarifies there can be two
benefits accruing to an entity from stripping activity:
usable ore that can be used to produce inventory and
improved access to further quantities of material that will
be mined in future periods. The Interpretation considers
when and how to account separately for these two
benefits arising from the stripping activity, as well as how
to measure these benefits both initially and subsequently.
The interpretation is not considered to have a material
impact on the Foskor Group.
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1.2.1	Investments in subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all entities (including special purpose entities)
over which the Group has the power to govern the financial
and operating policies generally accompanying a shareholding
of more than one-half of the voting rights. The existence and
effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or
convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group
controls another entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from
the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are
no longer consolidated from the date that control ceases.
The Group uses the acquisition method of accounting to
account for the acquisition of subsidiaries. The consideration
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values
of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity
interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred
includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition-related
costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a subsidiary
are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.
On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group recognises
any non-controlling interest in the acquiree, either at fair value
or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the
acquiree’s net assets.
Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost is adjusted to reflect changes in consideration
arising from contingent consideration amendments. Cost also
includes direct attributable costs of investment.
The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisitiondate fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over
the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded
as goodwill. If this is less than the fair value of the net assets of
the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the
difference is recognised directly in profit and loss.
Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised profits
and losses on transactions between Group companies are
eliminated. The accounting policies of subsidiaries are consistent
with the policies adopted by the Group.
1.2.2	Investments in joint ventures
A joint venture is an entity jointly controlled by the Group and one
or more other ventures in terms of a contractual arrangement
requiring unanimous consent for strategic financial and operating
decisions. It may involve a corporation, partnership or other
entity in which the Group has an interest.
The Group’s interest in jointly controlled entities is accounted
for by the equity method of accounting. Under this method, the

investment in the jointly controlled entity is initially recognised at
cost. For subsequent measurement, the company’s share of the
post-acquisition profits or losses of joint ventures is recognised
in profit and loss, and its share of post-acquisition movements
in reserves is recognised in other comprehensive income. The
cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the
carrying amount of the investment.
At each balance sheet date the Group assesses whether
there is any indication of impairment. Unrealised profits on
transactions between the Group and its joint ventures are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the joint
venture. Unrealised losses are also eliminated to the extent of
the Group’s interest in the joint venture, unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
The accounting policies of joint ventures are consistent with the
policies adopted by the Group.
In the company’s stand-alone accounts, joint ventures are
recorded at cost less impairment.
1.2.3	Investments in associates
Associates are all entities over which the Group has
significant influence but not control, generally accompanying
a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.
Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity
method of accounting and are initially recognised at cost. The
Group’s investment in associates includes goodwill identified on
acquisition.
The Group’s share of its associates’ post-acquisition profits
and losses is recognised in profit and loss, and its share of
post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in other
comprehensive income. The cumulative post-acquisition
movements are adjusted for against the carrying amount of the
investment. When the Group’s share of losses in an associate
equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any
other unsecured long-term receivables, the Group does not
recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or
made payments on behalf of the associate.
Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and
associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest
in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated to the
extent of the Group’s interest in the associates, unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. The accounting policies of associates are consistent
with the policies adopted by the Group. Dilution profits and
losses arising in investments in associates are recognised in
profit and loss.
Investments in associates are accounted for at cost less
impairment in the company’s stand-alone financial statements.
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1.2	Consolidation

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2012
1.3	Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decisionmaker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible
for allocating resources, assessing performance of the resources
and assessing performance of the operating segments, has
been identified as the Executive Committee.
1.4

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment includes mining assets, land and
buildings, plant, equipment, vehicles, capital work in progress
and aircraft, as well as certain essential plant spares that are
held to minimise delays arising from plant breakdowns. All
property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment.
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to
the acquisition of the items. Land and capital work in progress is
stated at cost less accumulated impairment.
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Direct costs incurred on major projects during the period of
development or construction are capitalised. Subsequent costs
are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as
a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that
future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All
other repairs and maintenance are charged to the statement of
comprehensive income during the financial period in which they
are incurred.
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
proceeds with carrying amount. These are included in profit or
loss.
1.4.1	Depreciation

Mining asset, land and buildings:
– Building and structures

30 – 50 years

– Mining asset

10 – 20 years

Plant, equipment and vehicles:
– Vehicles
– Heavy plant and machinery
– Equipment
– Computer equipment
– Factory equipment
– Capital insurance spares

4 – 5 years
10 – 20 years
8 – 10 years
3 – 5 years
4 – 5 years
10 – 20 years

Aircraft:
– Body

20 years

– Engine

10 years

1.4.2	Useful lives and residual values
The assets’ useful lives and residual values are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.
1.4.3	Impairment
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than
its estimated recoverable amount (refer Note 1.6).
1.4.4	Capitalisation on borrowing costs
Interest costs on borrowings to finance the construction of
property, plant and equipment that are considered to be
“qualifying assets” are capitalised during the period of time that
is required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended
use. Other borrowing costs are expensed.
1.5	Intangible assets

Land and capital work in progress

Computer software

Land and capital work in progress is stated at cost and is not
depreciated.

Costs associated with maintaining computer software
programmes are recognised as an expense as incurred.
Development costs that are directly attributable to the design
and testing of identifiable and unique software products
controlled by the Group are recognised as intangible assets
when the following criteria are met:

Property, plant and equipment (excluding land and capital
work in progress)
All other items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated
on a straight-line method at cost less estimated residual values
over their useful lives, as follows:

• it is technically feasible to complete the software product so
that it will be available for use;
• management intends to complete the software product and
use it;
• there is an ability to use the software product;
• it can be demonstrated how the software product will
generate probable future economic benefits;

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
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• the expenditure attributable to the software product during
its development can be reliably measured.
Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as part of the
software product include the software development employee
costs and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads.
Other development expenditures that do not meet these
criteria are recognised as an expense as and when incurred.
Development costs previously recognised as an expense are not
recognised as an asset in a subsequent period.
Computer software development costs recognised as assets
are amortised over their estimated useful lives, which does not
exceed three years.
1.6	Impairment of assets
 he carrying amounts of the Group’s assets and cash-generating
T
units are reviewed at each reporting date, to determine whether
there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists,
the asset’s recoverable amount is determined. The recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell
and value in use. Non-financial assets other than goodwill
that suffered impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of
impairment at each reporting date.
An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount
of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable
amount.
1.6.1	Cash-generating units
A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable group of assets
that generates cash inflows that are largely independent of the
cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets. For an asset
whose cash flow is largely dependent on that of other assets,
the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs.
Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating
units are allocated first to reduce the net book value of any
goodwill allocated to cash-generating units and then to reduce
the net book value of the other assets in the unit on a pro rata
basis. Impairment losses are recognised in profit and loss.
1.6.2	Impairment reversals
An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no
impairment loss had been recognised.

1.7	Leases
The Group is the lessee
Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Group has
substantially transferred all the risks and rewards of ownership
are classified as finance leases.
Assets held under finance lease agreements are capitalised.
Such assets are depreciated in terms of the lease term relating
to the relevant lease agreement, provided that such term of
lease is shorter than the assets’ useful lives. Finance leases
are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the lower of the
fair value of the leased property and the present value of the
minimum future lease payments. Lease finance charges are
allocated to accounting periods over the duration of the leases
by the effective rate method, which reflects the extent and cost
of the lease finance utilised in each accounting period.
All other leases are treated as operating leases and the relevant
rental expenses are recognised in profit and loss on a straightline basis over the lease term.
Where an arrangement with a supplier includes a component
that has the substance of a lease, the lease component is
separated from other payments and accounted for as a lease.
1.8	Inventories
Spares and consumables
Spares and consumable are valued at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted average
method.
The cost of inventories comprises all costs of purchase and
other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to the present
location and condition. It excludes borrowing costs.
Obsolete, redundant and slow-moving items of spares and
consumable stores are identified on a regular basis and written
down to their net realisable value.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business, less the costs of completion and selling
expenses.
Raw materials, work in progress and finished goods
Raw materials and finished goods consisting of phosphate rock,
phosphoric acid, magnetite stock and other minerals are valued
at the lower of cost of production and net realisable value.
Cost in respect of raw materials is determined on a first-in,
first-out (FIFO) basis. Cost of production in respect of work
in progress and finished goods is calculated on a standard
cost basis, which approximates the actual cost and includes
production overheads and is adjusted to net realisable value
at year-end when it is below cost. Production overheads are
allocated on the basis of normal capacity.

15
Annual financial
statements

• adequate technical, financial and other resources to
complete the development and to use the software product
are available; and
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Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business, less the costs of completion and selling
expenses.
1.9	Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
merchandise sold in the ordinary course of business. If collection
is expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle
of the business if longer), they are classified as current assets. If
not, they are presented as non-current assets.
Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less provision for impairment. A provision for
impairment of trade receivables is established when there is
objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect
all amounts due according to the original terms of receivables.
Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the
debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and
default or delinquency in payments are considered indicators
that the trade receivable is impaired. The amount of the provision
is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the
original effective interest rate. The amount of the provision is
recognised in profit and loss.
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1.10

Provisions
A provision is recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle
the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the obligation can
be made. Provisions are not recognised for future operating
losses. Where the effects of discounting are material, provisions
are measured at their present values.
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase
in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as
finance cost.

1.11

Pension obligation
The Group operates a defined benefit and a defined contribution
plan, the assets of which are held in separate trusteeadministered funds. The schemes are generally funded through
payments to insurance companies or trustee-administered
funds as determined by periodic actuarial valuations. A defined
benefit plan is a pension plan that defines an amount of pension
benefit to be provided, usually as a function of one or more
factors such as age, years of service and compensation. A
defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the

Group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity (a fund)
and under which the Group will have no legal or constructive
obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not
hold sufficient assets to pay all employees’ benefits relating to
employee service in the current and previous periods.
The liability in respect of defined benefit pension plans is the
present value of the defined benefit obligation at the reporting
date less the fair value of plan assets. The defined benefit
obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries using
the projected unit credit method. The present value of the defined
benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated
future cash outflows using interest rates of government
securities that have terms to maturity approximating the terms
of the related liability. Actuarial gains and losses arising from
experience adjustments and the effects of changes in actuarial
assumptions to the defined benefit plans are recognised fully in
profit and loss.
Past-service costs are recognised immediately in profit and
loss, unless the changes to pension plan are conditional on the
employees remaining in service for a specified period of time
(the vesting period). In this case, the past-service costs are
amortised on a straight-line basis over the vesting period.
1.12 	Other post-employment obligations
The Group provides post-employment healthcare benefits to
its retirees who were employed by the company on or before
1 July 1995. The same benefits are provided to a specific group
of employees employed before 1 July 1996. The entitlement to
post-employment healthcare benefits is based on the employee
remaining in service up to retirement age. The expected costs
of these benefits are accrued over the period of employment,
using the projected unit credit method. Valuations of these
obligations are carried out annually by independent, qualified
actuaries.
Actuarial gains and losses arising from previous adjustments
and the effects of changes in actuarial assumptions to the
defined benefit plans are recognised fully in profit and loss.
1.13	Current and deferred taxation
The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred
tax. Tax is recognised in profit and loss, except to the extent that
it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.
The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of
the tax laws enacted or substantially enacted at the reporting
date and in instances where companies in the Group generate
taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates the positions taken in
tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax
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Deferred income tax and deferred capital gains tax are
accounted for using the liability method for all temporary
differences arising between the net book value of assets and
liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases. Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, and deferred tax assets are recognised
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which deductible temporary differences can
be utilised.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary differences arise from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss.
Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws)
that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the
reporting date and are expected to apply when the related
deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income
tax liability is settled.
Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences
arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where the timing
of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the
Group and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets
and liabilities relate to the same taxation authority on either the
same taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an
intention to settle the balances on a net basis.
1.14 	Foreign currencies
Foreign currency translation
The Group’s presentation currency is the same as its functional
currency. The Group’s presentation currency is South African
Rand (ZAR). The functional currency of the Group’s operation
is the currency of the primary economic environment in which
each operation has its main activities.

exchange gains and losses are presented in the statement of
comprehensive income within “finance income and expenses”.
1.15	Revenue
Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable for the sale of goods in the ordinary course of the
Group’s activities. Revenue is shown net of Value-Added Tax
(VAT), returns, rebates and discounts and after eliminating sales
within the Group.
The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue
can be reliably measured, it is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to the entity and specific criteria have been
met for each of the Group’s activities, as described below. The
amount of revenue is not considered to be reliably measurable
until all contingencies relating to the sale have been resolved.
The Group bases its estimates on historical results, taking into
consideration the type of customer, the type of transaction and
the specifics of each arrangement.
(a) Sale of goods
 ales of goods are recognised when risks and rewards
S
transfer (depending on the International Commercial terms
agreed to with the customer, i.e. Free on Board (FOB), Free
on Rail (FOR) or Cost and Freight (CFR), and when there
is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customer’s
acceptance of the products.
(b) Interest income
Interest income is recognised on a time : proportion basis
using the effective interest method. When a receivable
is impaired, the Group reduces the carrying amount to
its recoverable amount, being the estimated future cash
flow discounted at the original effective interest rate of the
instrument, and continues unwinding the discount as interest
income. Interest income on impaired loans and receivables
is recognised using the original effective interest rate.
(c) Royalty income
 oyalty income is recognised on an accruals basis in
R
accordance with the substance of the relevant agreements.
(d) Dividend income
 ividend income is recognised when the right to receive
D
payments is established.

Foreign currency transactions

1.16	Financial instruments

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into South
African Rand at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of
the transaction.

1.16.1 Financial instruments consist mainly of borrowings, finance
lease liabilities, listed and unlisted investments, cash and cash
equivalents, derivative instruments, trade and other receivables,
and trade and other payables. Derivative instruments consist of
forward exchange contracts and option contracts. At inception
the Group classifies its financial assets into the following
categories:

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement
of such transactions and from the translation at year-end
exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are recognised in profit and loss. All foreign
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regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions
where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid
to the tax authorities.
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• Financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss – a financial asset is classified in this
category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in
the short term. Derivatives are also categorised as held for
trading unless they are designated as hedges. Assets in this
category are classified as current assets.
None of the financial assets or liabilities are designated at fair
value through profit and loss.
• Loans and receivables – non-derivative assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market, other than those that the Group intends to sell in the
near future.
• Available-for-sale financial assets – non-derivative
financial assets that are designated as available for sale or
are not classified as:
– loans and receivables;
– held-to-maturity investments; or
– financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.
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Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity instruments
are not reversed through profit or loss. Any increase in the
fair value, after an impairment loss has been recognised, is
treated as a revaluation and is recognised directly in equity.
1.16.2	Initial and subsequent measurement
• Financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss:
– initial measurement is at fair value at trade date (excluding
transaction costs);
– subsequent measurement is at fair value with gains or
losses from fair value adjustments recognised in profit
and loss.
• Available-for-sale financial assets:
– initial measurement is at fair value at trade date (including
transaction costs);
– subsequent measurement is at fair value with gains or
losses from fair value adjustments recognised in other
comprehensive income, except for impairment losses
and foreign exchange gains and losses on monetary
instruments that are recognised in profit and loss. The
fair value adjustments previously recognised in equity are
transferred to profit and loss upon de-recognition;

• Loans and receivables:
– initial measurement is at fair value net of transaction
costs directly attributable to acquisition of funds;
– subsequent measurement is at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method;
– provision for impairment of loans and receivables is
raised in line with accounting policy 1.9 (above) with
write-off of irrecoverable amount approved by the Board
of directors.
1.16.3	Recognition and de-recognition
Financial instruments are recognised when the company
becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.
Financial assets are de-recognised when the contractual rights
to receive cash flows from the financial asset have expired
or have been transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.
Financial liabilities are de-recognised when, and only when,
they are extinguished, that is, when the obligation specified in
the contract is either discharged, cancelled or expired.
1.16.4	Offsetting financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the statement of financial position when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously.
1.16.5	Impairment of financial assets
(a) Assets carried at amortised cost
The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or
group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a
group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses
are incurred only if there is objective evidence of impairment
as a result of one or more events that occurred after the
initial recognition of the asset (a “loss event”) and that loss
event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash
flows of the financial asset or Group of financial assets that
can be reliably estimated.
 he criteria that the Group uses to determine that there is
T
objective evidence of an impairment loss include:

– dividends accruing on available-for-sale financial
instruments are recognised in profit and loss on right to
receive dividends;

– significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor;

– interest on available-for-sale financial instruments
is recognised in profit or loss using the effective
interest method.

– the Group, for economic or legal reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty, granting to the borrower a
concession that the lender would not otherwise consider;

– a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments;
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– the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties; or
– observable data indicating that there is a measurable
decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a
portfolio of financial assets since the initial recognition
of those assets, although the decrease cannot yet
be identified with the individual financial assets in the
portfolio, including:
(i) adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers
in the portfolio; and
(ii) national or local economic conditions that correlate
with defaults on the assets in the portfolio.
 he Group first assesses whether objective evidence of
T
impairment exists.
 or loans and receivables category, the amount of the
F
loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future
cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not
been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset
is reduced and the amount of the loss is recognised
in profit and loss. If a loan has a variable interest rate,
the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss
is the current effective interest rate determined under
the contract. As a practical expedient, the Group may
measure impairment on the basis of an instrument’s fair
value using an observable market price.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment
loss decreases and the decrease can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
was recognised (such as an improvement in the debtor’s
credit rating), the reversal of the previously recognised
impairment loss is recognised in profit and loss.
(b) Assets classified as available for sale
The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of
financial assets is impaired. For debt securities, the Group
uses the criteria in (a) above. In the case of equity investments
classified as available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged
decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is also
evidence that the assets are impaired. If any such evidence
exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss
– measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and
the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial
asset previously recognised in profit or loss – is removed from

equity and recognised in profit and loss. Impairment losses
recognised in profit and loss on equity instruments are not
reversed through profit and loss. If, in a subsequent period,
the fair value of a debt instrument classified as available-forsale increases and the increase can be objectively related to
an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised
in profit or loss, the impairment loss is reversed through profit
and loss.
1.17	Environmental obligations
Long-term environmental obligations are based on the Group’s
environmental management plans, in compliance with current
environmental and regulatory requirements.
Full provision is made based on the net present value of the
estimated cost of restoring the environmental disturbance
that has occurred up to the reporting date, using a risk-free
rate and risk-adjusted cash flows that reflect current market
assessments and the risks specific to the provision. Increases
due to additional environmental disturbances are capitalised
and amortised over the remaining life of the mine.
Annual increases in the provision relating to unwinding of the
discount are shown as part of finance costs in the statement of
comprehensive income.
The estimated costs of rehabilitation are reviewed on a threeyearly basis or when events suggest that the costs may have
changed, and adjusted as appropriate for changes in legislation,
technology or other circumstances. Cost estimates are not
reduced by the potential proceeds from the sale of assets, or
from planned clean-up at closure, in view of the uncertainty
of estimating the potential future proceeds. Changes in the
expected costs are capitalised or reversed against the relevant
asset.
Contributions are made to a dedicated Environmental
Rehabilitation Trust Fund to fund the estimated cost of
rehabilitation during and at the end of the life of the mine. The
Environmental Rehabilitation Trust is consolidated into the
Group financial statements at each reporting date.
1.18 	Dividends
Dividends paid are recognised by the Group when the
shareholder’s right to receive payment is established. These
dividends are recorded and disclosed as dividends paid in the
statement of changes in equity. Dividends proposed or declared
subsequent to year-end are not recognised at the financial yearend, but are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.
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– it becomes probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2012
1.19	Secondary Tax on Companies
Tax costs incurred on dividends are included in the taxation line
in profit and loss in the year in which the related dividends are
declared.
1.20	Cash and cash equivalents
In the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents are
defined as cash on hand, deposits held on call with banks,
short-term liquid investments and original maturities of three
months or less and bank overdrafts. Cash and cash equivalents
are measured at amortised cost based on the relevant exchange
rate at the balance sheet date.
In the statement of financial position, bank overdrafts are shown
within borrowings in current liabilities.
1.21	Borrowings
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Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised
cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption value is recognised in profit and loss
over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest
method.
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at
least 12 months after the reporting date.
1.22 	Share-based payment transactions
The Group operates an equity-settled share-based plan and
a cash-settled share-based plan. The equity-settled plan was
entered into with Strategic Business Partners (“SBPs”) and Special
Black Groups, under which the company will receive services (BEE
credentials) as consideration for its own equity instruments. The
equity-settled share-based payments vest immediately, the reserve
was recognised in equity at grant date.
The cash-settled plan was entered into with the company’s
employees, under which the company receives services from
employees by incurring the liability to transfer cash to the
employees for amounts that are based on the value of the
company’s shares. The fair value of the transaction is measured
using an option pricing model, taking into account all terms and
conditions.
The fair value of the services received in exchange for the grant
of the options is recognised as an expense. The total amount to
be expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of the
options granted:
– including any market performance conditions;
– excluding the impact of any service and non-market
performance vesting conditions; and
– including the impact of any non-vesting conditions.

The services received by the company are recognised as they
are received and the liability is measured at fair value. The fair
value of the liability is remeasured at each reporting date and
at the date of settlement. Any changes in the fair value are
recognised in profit or loss for the period.
1.23	Earnings per share
Earnings/(Loss) per share is calculated based on the net income/
(loss) divided by the weighted average number of shares in issue
during the year. Diluted earnings per share are presented when the
inclusion of ordinary shares that may be issued in the future will
have a dilutive effect on the earnings per share.
2.	Critical accounting estimates and judgements
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
rarely equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are outlined below:
(a) Income taxes
Significant judgement is required in determining the
provision for income taxes. There are many transactions
and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group
recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based
on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the
period in which such determination is made.
(b) Fair value of financial instruments
The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an
active market is determined by using valuation techniques.
The Group uses its judgement to select a variety of methods
and make assumptions that are mainly based on market
conditions existing at the end of each reporting period.
(c) Post-employment obligations
Significant judgement and actuarial assumptions are required
to determine the fair value of the post- employment obligations.
More detail on these actuarial assumptions is provided in
Note 19 to the financial statements.

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 March 2012
(d) Environmental rehabilitation liability
In determining the environmental rehabilitation liability, an
inflation rate of 6.0% (FY2011: 6.31%) was assumed to
increase the rehabilitation liability for the next 20 years, and
a rate of 8.37% (FY2011: 8.97%) to discount that amount
to present value. The discount rate assumed of 8.37% is a
risk-free rate, specifically the rate at which the R186 South
African government bond was quoted at year-end.
(e) Fair value of share-based payments

(f) Impairment of assets
The Group follows the guidance of IAS 36: Impairment
of Assets, to determine when an asset is impaired. This
determination requires significant judgement. In making this
judgement, the Group evaluates the impairment indicators that
could exist at year-end, such as significant decreases in the
selling prices of finished goods, significant decreases in sales
volumes and changes in the international export regulatory
environment.
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The fair value of equity instruments on grant date is
determined based on a simulated company value, using the
Geometric Brownian Motion Model. The valuation technique
applied to determine the simulated company value is part
of the Monte Carlo simulation methodology. The market
conditions relating to the growth in the market value of the
Foskor shares have been taken into account in estimating
the fair value of the equity instruments granted. The key
assumptions used in the calculation are included in Note 16
to the financial statements.
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GROUP

3.

COMPANY

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

Mining asset, land and buildings
Plant, equipment and vehicles
Capital work in progress
Aircraft

895 513
4 415 673
605 280
66 373

840 514
3 844 286
854 413
66 374

895 134
4 414 608
605 280
66 373

840 018
3 843 220
854 413
66 374

Total

5 982 839

5 605 587

5 981 395

5 604 025

Mining asset, land and buildings
Plant, equipment and vehicles
Aircraft

219 005
2 185 346
14 320

282 682
1 987 447
10 228

218 826
2 184 500
14 320

282 516
1 986 702
10 228

Total

2 418 671

2 280 358

2 417 646

2 279 446

Mining asset, land and buildings
Plant, equipment and vehicles
Capital work in progress
Aircraft

676 507
2 230 326
605 280
52 055

557 832
1 856 838
854 413
56 146

676 308
2 230 106
605 280
52 055

557 502
1 856 518
854 413
56 146

Net book amount

3 564 168

3 325 229

3 563 749

3 324 579

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
At cost

Accumulated depreciation

Net book amount
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Plant, equipment and vehicles includes the following lease where Foskor (Pty) Limited is the lessee under a finance lease. The effluent pipeline is the only asset under finance lease (refer to Note 17).
Cost – Capitalised finance lease
Accumulated depreciation

41 567
(16 107)

41 567
(14 029)

41 567
(16 107)

41 567
(14 029)

Net book amount

25 460

27 538

25 460

27 538

Details of land and buildings are available for inspection at the registered office of the company.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)
Mining
asset, land
and buildings
R’000

Plant,
equipment
and vehicles
R’000

Capital
work in
progress
R’000

Aircraft
R’000

Total
R’000

Opening net book amount
Additions
Adjustment to the mining asset (refer to Note 18)
Depreciation charge
Impairment reversal
Disposals

557 832
149 588
1 149
(31 015)
–
(1 047)

1 856 838
512 972
–
(202 623)
70 000
(6 861)

854 413
(249 133)
–
–
–
–

56 146
–
–
(4 091)
–
–

3 325 229
413 427
1 149
(237 729)
70 000
(7 908)

Closing net book amount

676 507

2 230 326

605 280

52 055

3 564 168

Opening net book amount
Additions
Adjustment to the mining asset (refer to Note 18)
Depreciation charge
Impairment reversal
Disposals

557 502
149 588
1 149
(31 002)
–
(929)

1 856 518
512 972
–
(202 523)
70 000
(6 861)

854 413
(249 133)
–
–
–
–

56 146
–
–
(4 091)
–
–

3 324 579
413 427
1 149
(237 616)
70 000
(7 790)

Closing net book amount

676 308

2 230 106

605 280

52 055

3 563 749

Opening net book amount
Additions
Adjustment to the mining asset (refer to Note 18)
Depreciation charge
Impairment charge
Disposals

431 518
145 843
9 235
(28 560)
–
(204)

1 633 458
403 031
–
(177 905)
–
(1 746)

807 434
46 979
–
–
–
–

60 237
–
–
(4 091)
–
–

2 932 647
595 853
9 235
(210 556)
–
(1 950)

Closing net book amount

557 832

1 856 838

854 413

56 146

3 325 229

Opening net book amount
Additions
Adjustment to the mining asset (refer to Note 18)
Depreciation charge
Impairment charge
Disposals

431 043
145 748
9 235
(28 452)
–
(71)

1 633 215
402 954
–
(177 905)
–
(1 746)

807 434
46 979
–
–
–
–

60 237
–
–
(4 091)
–
–

2 931 929
595 681
9 235
(210 448)
–
(1 817)

Closing net book amount

557 502

1 856 518

854 413

56 146

3 324 579

12 months ended 31 March 2012
Movement in carrying value for the year
Group

Company

12 months ended 31 March 2011
Movement in carrying value for the year
Group

Company
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 March 2012

Foskor assesses the carrying values of its fixed assets on an annual basis as required by lAS 36.
During the year ended March 2009 an amount of R600m was recognised as an impairment loss as a result of expected adverse
market conditions such as a significant decrease in the selling prices of phosphoric acid at our Acid plant. The fair value less cost to sell was
determined by means of cash flow projections for the Acid division operations and was discounted back to take into account the time value
of money at a discount rate of 11%. At the time, management’s discounted cash flow model indicated that impairment for the Mining division
cash-generating unit was not deemed necessary.
During the year ended March 2010 an impairment reversal of R323m was recorded. Management reviewed key indicators at year end,
updated its discounted cash flow models, and concluded that, with the increase of phosphoric acid prices and the plant operating at full
capacity, it was appropriate to reverse R323m of the impairment loss previously recorded.
During the year ended March 2011, the impairment provision was reviewed and a decision was taken to leave it unchanged.

–

The latest Board approved budget for the financial year 2012/13.

–

Production volumes were increased marginally from the current year to next year and then gradually built up as per approved strategic
plan based on action plans.

24

–

10-year sales prices forecasted for phosphoric acid, granular fertilizer, phosphate rock and sulphur as per the latest CRU (an independent
authority) reports.
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During the current year ended March 2012, an impairment test was performed on the net book value of the fixed assets of the Acid
division cash-generating unit and based on the headroom indicated by management’s updated discounted cash flows, an impairment loss
of R70m was reversed, leaving a balance of R145m of impairment loss previously recorded. This discounted cash flow calculation was
based on the forecasted free cash flows as determined by management. The following key parameters and assumptions were used in the
impairment calculation:

–

Exchange rates forecast based on Reuters February 2012 for the next two years starting at R7.90/$ and depreciating by 3% per annum
after two years.

–

Cash flow discount rate of 13.8% as per the internal WACC calculation.

–

The sensitivity of management’s discounted cash flow for changes in key parameters is demonstrated by the following impact to the
calculation:
> A 1% change in the exchange rate depreciation per annum from 3% to 4% increases the available headroom of the recoverable amount
over the carrying amount by R700m, completely eliminating the remainder of the impairment loss previously recorded.
> A $100 per annum increase in the price of phosphoric acid over the next 10 years, increases the available headroom by more than
R2bn, completely eliminating the remainder of the impairment loss previously recorded.
GROUP
2012
R’000

4.

COMPANY
2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2 497

1 756

2 497

1 756

2 497

1 756

2 497

1 756

1 646

1 242

1 646

1 242

1 646

1 242

1 646

1 242

Net book amount
Computer software

851

514

851

514

Closing net book amount

851

514

851

514

INTANGIBLE ASSETS
At cost
Computer software
Accumulated amortisation
Computer software

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
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4.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)
Computer
software
R’000

Total
R’000

Opening net book amount
Additions
Amortisation charge

514
742
(405)

514
742
(405)

Closing net book amount

851

851

1 756
–
(1 242)

1 756
–
(1 242)

514

514

12 months ended 31 March 2012
Movement in book value
Group and Company

12 months ended 31 March 2011
Movement in book value
Group and Company

Closing net book amount
Issued ordinary
and preference
shares
Number Number
2012
2011
5.

Shares at cost
R’000

25

Indebtedness
R’000

%
2012

%
2011

2012

2011

2012

2011

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
Indian Ocean Fertilizer (Pty) Ltd
(South Africa)
Inter Minerals Holdings AG (Switzerland)
Phosphate Shipping (Pty) Ltd

93 265

93 265

100%

100%

103 956

103 956

(218 501)

(218 501)

–

–

–

–

10

10

(10)

(10)

1 000

1 000

100%

100%

1

1

(2 034)

(4 705)

103 967

103 967

(220 545)

(223 216)

40 000

40 000

100%

100%

40

40

9 338

2 559

Loans from and shares in
subsidiaries
Phosfert Marine (Pty) Ltd (South Africa)

1 000

1 000

100%

100%

–

–

–

–

Foskor Social Responsibility Trust

–

–

–

–

–

–

10 374

10 000

IOF Property Trust (South Africa)

–

–

–

–

Phosphate Shipping (Pty) Ltd

Loans to subsidiaries
Total shares at cost/Net loans owing

–

–

219

529

40

40

19 931

13 088

104 007

104 007

(200 614)

(210 128)

The subsidiaries have financial years ending 31 March and are consolidated to that date. Loans to and from subsidiaries are interest-free
with no repayment terms. The shares in Indian Ocean Fertilizer (Pty) Ltd previously held by Inter Minerals South Africa (Pty) Ltd are now held
directly by Foskor (Pty) Ltd.
Indicators for impairment were considered at 31 March 2012 and no impairment on these investments was deemed necessary.
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Opening net book amount
Additions
Amortisation charge

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
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GROUP

6.

COMPANY

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

Carrying amount at the beginning of the year

25

25

25

25

Carrying amount at the end of the year

25

25

25

25

INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURE
Foskor (Pty) Ltd has a 50% interest in a joint venture,
Palfos Aviation (Pty) Ltd. The company’s major asset,
an aircraft, was sold in June 2004.
Palfos Aviation (Pty) Ltd (South Africa)

The investment consists of 12 500 shares of R2 each, being 50% of the authorised and issued share capital. The company is currently in
the process of being deregistered.
7.

INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATE
At 1 April:
20 865

29 742

15 869

26 006

–

(11 802)

–

(10 137)

–
–

(6 248)
(5 554)

–
–

(6 248)
(3 889)

Investment in associate
Share of profit

20 865
2 785

17 940
2 925

15 869
–

15 869
–

At 31 March

23 650

20 865

15 869

15 869

Investment in Foskor Zirconia (Pty) Ltd
Sale of 19.1% share of Foskor Zirconia (Pty) Ltd on
23 July 2010
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Proceeds on sale of investment
Loss on sale of investment

On 23 July 2010 Foskor sold a further 19.1% of its investment in Foskor Zirconia shares to BEE partners, Perfect Positions Investments
41 CC at a selling price of R6.2 million, realising a loss on sale of R3.8 million on company level and R5.5 million on Group level. The remaining
shareholding of Foskor Zirconia (Pty) Ltd is owned by Carborundum Universal Ltd (51.0%) and Foskor (Pty) Ltd (29.9%). The associate has
31 March as its financial year-end.
GROUP

8.

COMPANY

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

205 954

210 956

205 954

210 956

210 956
(5 002)

122 664
88 292

210 956
(5 002)

122 664
88 292

FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS
Listed shares

8.1

Investment in Coromandel International Ltd
Available-for-sale investments
Opening balance
Fair value movements

Foskor currently holds 4.8 million equity shares (1.7%) in Coromandel International Ltd. The closing share price of the Coromandel
International Ltd shares as at 31 March 2012 was Indian rupees 283.65 (2011: 288.35). Dividends received during the year amounts
to R5.1 million (2011: R4.5 million).
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8.

FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS (continued)
GROUP

8.2

COMPANY

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

105 665

90 518

105 665

90 518

105 118
319
228

90 074
266
178

105 118
319
228

90 074
266
178

Environmental Rehabilitation Trust Investments
At fair value through profit and loss
Unit trusts
Sanlam shares
Old Mutual shares

The unit trust portfolio for these investments is invested in equity (18%), property (3%), international equity (14%), bonds (59%), money
market and cash (6%).
8.3

Environmental Rehabilitation Trust investments
Other loans and receivables

First National Bank
Absa
Dividends receivable
Due and payable to Foskor
Total investments held in
the Environmental Rehabilitation Trust (Note 18)

265

9 015

265

9 015

–
265

9 015
–

–
265

9 015
–

2

–

2

–

(248)

–

(248)

–

105 684

99 533

105 684

99 533

Cash receivable from Foskor (Pty) Ltd arising from dividends received on behalf of the Rehabilitation Trust is R2 million (2011: R nil).
The movement in the Environmental Rehabilitation Trust investment of R6.1 million (2011: R6.7 million) was recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income (Note 18.1).
8.3.1 Other loans and receivables
Foskor Social Responsibility Trust

10 000

10 000

–

–

10 000

10 000

–

–

Total investments

321 638

320 489

311 638

310 489

INVENTORIES
Spares and consumables stores
Phosphate rock
Raw material
Finished goods
Work in progress

301 656
522 453
569 518
229 114
1 981

282 962
337 889
244 690
211 126
1 981

301 656
522 453
569 518
229 114
1 981

282 962
337 889
244 690
211 126
1 981

1 624 722

1 078 648

1 624 722

1 078 648

Nedbank call account

9.

There was a R4.7 million write-down of phosphoric acid finished goods to net realisable value as at 31 March 2012. The carrying amount of
the phosphoric acid written down to net realisable value amounts to R176.8 million.
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Cash deposits held by the Environmental Rehabilitation
Trust

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
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GROUP

10.

COMPANY

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

612 276

405 655

604 577

400 018

(5 531)

(6 998)

(2 014)

(3 481)

Trade receivables – net
Employee loans
VAT receivable
Pre-paid insurance
Other receivables ²

606 745
1 592
122 085
33 007
75 340

398 657
–
100 247
19 842
41 855

602 563
1 592
121 668
32 986
75 296

396 537
–
99 844
19 821
41 688

Current portion

838 769

560 601

834 105

557 890

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Trade receivables ¹
Less: Provision for impairment of trade receivables

¹ Trade receivables are denominated in US Dollar and Rand.
² Other receivables as at 31 March 2012 mainly comprised sundry debtors of R51.2 million (2011: R17.1 million), payments made in advance for imports of R9.9 million
(2011: R2.4 million) and a self-insurance fund of R9 million (2011:R nil).
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11.

Movement in the impairment provisions
At 1 April 2011
Additional provisions
Utilised during the year

(6 998)
(5 531)
6 998

(5 068)
(6 998)
5 068

(3 481)
(2 014)
3 481

(5 024)
(3 481)
5 024

At 31 March 2012

(5 531)

(6 998)

(2 014)

(3 481)

736

5 815

736

5 815

736

5 815

736

5 815

(244)

(756)

(244)

(756)

(244)

(756)

(244)

(756)

5 059

492

5 059

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Assets
Forward foreign exchange contracts
Liabilities
Forward foreign exchange contracts
Current portion

492

Trading derivatives are classified as a current asset or liability. The remaining maturity of the instruments is less than 12 months. Profit and
losses on these instruments are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.
12.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash at bank and on hand
Short-term bank deposits

344 543
14 454

394 038
10 025

336 477
14 454

392 551
10 025

Cash and cash equivalents (excluding bank overdrafts)

358 997

404 063

350 931

402 576

Cash and cash equivalents include the following for the purposes of the statement of cash flows:
Cash and cash equivalents
Bank overdrafts

358 997
–

404 063
–

350 931
–

402 576
–

Cash and cash equivalents

358 997

404 063

350 931

402 576

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
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GROUP

13.

COMPANY

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

At 1 April:
Mining operations temporary differences – Other
Mining operations temporary differences – Capex
Non-mining operations temporary differences – Other
Under-provision prior year
Tax loss (unutilised)/increased

(600 782)
3 029
(24 732)
(26 513)
363
(24 721)

(442 769)
(1 092)
(237 102)
(1 752)
1 020
80 913

(602 325)
3 029
(24 732)
(26 514)
363
(24 948)

(442 937)
(1 092)
(237 102)
(1 752)
1 020
79 538

At 31 March

(673 356)

(600 782)

(675 127)

(602 325)

5 602
58 869
68 115
7
15 819
56 724

6 186
66 856
64 357
–
11 686
81 081

5 602
58 868
68 115
7
15 819
54 953

6 186
66 856
64 357
–
11 686
79 538

At 31 March

205 136

230 166

203 364

228 623

Deferred tax liability
Property, plant and equipment – Mining
Property, plant and equipment – Other
Property, plant and equipment – Leased
Mining footprint
Mining rehabilitation investment
Other

(599 970)
(222 975)
(7 129)
(18 737)
(29 681)
–

(575 237)
(194 218)
(7 711)
(19 820)
(27 869)
(6 093)

(599 970)
(222 975)
(7 128)
(18 737)
(29 681)
–

(575 237)
(194 218)
(7 711)
(19 820)
(27 869)
(6 093)

At 31 March

(878 492)

(830 948)

(878 491)

(830 948)

Deferred tax liabilities (net)

(673 356)

(600 782)

(675 127)

(602 325)

GROUP AND COMPANY
Ordinary
Share
shares
premium
R’000
R’000

Total
R’000

DEFERRED INCOME TAX
The deferred income tax balance movement is
made up as follows:

The deferred income tax balance is made up as follows:

Deferred tax on amounts charged to equity:
No deferred tax has arisen on items charged to equity or other comprehensive income.

Number of
shares
(thousands)
14.

SHARE CAPITAL AND PREMIUM
At 31 March 2011
Movements during the year

9 158
–

9 158
–

132 013
–

141 171
–

At 31 March 2012

9 158

9 158

132 013

141 171

The total authorised share capital of ordinary shares is 9 157 647 (2011: 9 157 647) with a par value of R1 per share. All issued shares are
fully paid.
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Deferred tax asset
Finance lease liability
Provisions
Mining rehabilitation liability
Income in advance
Cash-settled share-based payments
Tax losses

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
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15.

Dividend
per share
2012
R

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

DIVIDEND PAID
Dividend paid
Secondary Tax on Companies

7.41
0.74

67 816
6 781

–
–

67 816
6 781

–
–

Gross dividends

8.15

74 597

–

74 597

–

GROUP

COMPANY

The dividend paid was approved at the Annual General Meeting in June 2011 and not recognised in the financials at 31 March 2011.
Secondary Tax on Companies is payable at a rate of 10% on the distribution of profits. The Secondary Tax on Companies on the paid
dividend amounted to R6.7 million.
16.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT RESERVE

16.1 Equity-settled share-based payment plan
Black Economic Empowerment Transaction

Annual financial
statements

30

In the 2010 financial year, Foskor and the Industrial Development Corporation Ltd (IDC) entered into a Black Economic Empowerment
Transaction (BEE Transaction). In terms of the transaction the IDC sold 15% interest in Foskor to Strategic Business Partners (SBPs) and
Special Black Groups (SBGs) (collectively, the BEE Partners), 5% to the communities where Foskor operates and a 6% interest in Foskor to
the Foskor Employee Share Ownership Plan (ESOP). The transaction with the BEE Partners and communities constitutes an equity-settled
share-based plan and the transaction with the employees constitutes a cash-settled share-based plan (refer to Note 16.2). Under the equitysettled share-based plan, the shares vest immediately at grant date. In determining the fair value of services received as consideration for
equity instruments granted, measurement is referenced to the fair value of the equity instruments granted.
GROUP

COMPANY

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

At 1 April
Granted

303 914
–

303 914
–

303 914
–

303 914
–

At 31 March

303 914

303 914

303 914

303 914

Weighted average fair value assumptions
The fair value of services received in return for equity instruments granted is measured by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments
granted. The estimate of the fair value of the equity instruments granted is measured based on the Monte Carlo Option Pricing Model.
The following weighted average assumptions were used in the share pricing models at the valuation date:
Group and Company
Grant date
Initial company value (exercise price)
Average share price at grant date
Annualised expected volatility
Risk-free interest rate
Dividend yield
Strike price

31 December 2009
R3 500 000 000
R382.19
43.19%
8.54%
2.25%
R655.68

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 March 2012
16.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT RESERVE (continued)
The holders of the equity instruments are required to hold the instruments to maintain the BEE status until 30 March 2018, thereafter they
will be able to acquire Foskor shares that can be sold or retained. The volatility indicator used in the calculation was based on the market
prices of globally-listed proxy companies that are in the same industry as Foskor and the changes in their share prices over the last 10 years
was used to determine the volatility in their share prices.

16.2 Cash-settled share-based payment plan
2012
R’000
Cash-settled share-based payment liability

GROUP

56 496

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

48 233

56 496

COMPANY

2011
R’000
48 233

The company entered into a cash-settled share-based payment plan with its employees. A total liability of R56.5 million (2011: R48.2 million)
was recorded. The share-based payment expense for the current year of R8.3 million was expensed in profit and loss (refer Note 16.3). The
fair values were determined by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments granted using the Monte Carlo Options Pricing Model. This
Model has been modified to take into account early exercise opportunities and expected employee exercise behaviour.
The following weighted average assumptions were input into the model:

Exercise price
Average share price at grant date
Annualised expected volatility
Risk-free interest rate
– four-year expected option lifetime
– six-year expected option lifetime
Expected dividend yield
– four-year expected option lifetime
– six-year expected option lifetime
Strike price
– four-year expected option lifetime
– six-year expected option lifetime

Group and
Company
2011

R3 500 000 000
R382.19
41.69%

R3 500 000 000
R382.19
43.51%

6.85%
7.43%

8.36%
8.75%

2.41%
2.51%

2.64%
2.64%

R542.34
R566.51

R492.40
R498.27

The units in the Employee Share Ownership Plan Trust (ESOP Trust) will vest over a period of three years from 1 April 2012 for employees
employed at 1 April 2009. All other employees units will vest from three years after allocation date. The employees have the option to
start selling their vested units from 1 July 2016 until 30 March 2018. The ESOP Trust will be wound up on 30 March 2018, where any
employees with remaining units will be given Foskor shares in exchange for their units if the company is listed. If the company is not listed,
the employees will be given cash in exchange for their units.
The volatility indicator used in the calculation was based on the market prices of globally-listed proxy companies that are in the same
industry as Foskor and the changes in their share prices over the last 10 years was used to determine the volatility in their share prices.
16.3 Total share-based payment expense
GROUP

COMPANY

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

Equity-settled share-based payment expense
Cash-settled share-based payment expense

–
8 263

–
24 773

–
8 263

–
24 773

Total share-based payment expense (refer Note 16.2)

8 263

24 773

8 263

24 773
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16.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT RESERVE (continued)

16.4 Transaction fees
The transaction fees incurred in the last financial year of R8.6 million mainly comprise the abort fees incurred in respect of the cancellation
of the Foskor listing.
17.

FINANCE LEASE LIABILITY
GROUP
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COMPANY

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

Gross finance lease liability – minimum lease payments:
Not later than one year
Later than one year and not later than five years
Later than five years

4 851
16 154
16 397

5 266
17 382
20 019

4 851
16 154
16 397

5 266
17 382
20 019

Future finance charges on finance lease

37 402
(17 393)

42 667
(20 574)

37 402
(17 393)

42 667
(20 574)

Present value of finance lease liability
Less: Current portion

20 009
(1 970)

22 093
(2 084)

20 009
(1 970)

22 093
(2 084)

Long-term portion of finance lease liability

18 039

20 009

18 039

20 009

Present value of finance lease liability is as follows:
Not later than one year
Later than one year and not later than five years
Later than five years

1 970
7 364
10 675

2 084
7 510
12 499

1 970
7 364
10 675

2 084
7 510
12 499

20 009

22 093

20 009

22 093

The finance lease is between Foskor (Pty) Ltd and uMhlathuze Water Board for an effluent pipeline. The lease liability is effectively secured,
as the rights to the leased asset revert to the lessor in the event of default. The lease is over a 20-year period with 14 years remaining as at
31 March 2012. Foskor has sole use of the effluent pipeline and pays for the maintenance. The lease is at a fixed rate of 14.4% per annum.
18.

ENVIRONMENTAL REHABILITATION LIABILITY
Foskor (Pty) Ltd continually contributes to the Environmental Rehabilitation Trust, to ensure that adequate funds are available to pay for
mine closure and reclamation costs. The Environmental Rehabilitation Trust is an irrevocable trust under the company’s control. This note
compares the net present value of the rehabilitation liability to the assets held by the Trust.
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ENVIRONMENTAL REHABILITATION LIABILITY (continued)
GROUP

18.1 Mining environmental rehabilitation liability
Balance at the beginning of the year
Unwinding of discount
Adjustment to the liability
Balance at the end of the year
Environmental Rehabilitation Trust
Balance at the beginning of the year
Movement recognised in profit and loss
Growth in investment (refer to Note 23)
Other operating expenses

COMPANY

Notes

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

23
3

229 846
12 273
1 149

214 307
6 304
9 235

229 846
12 273
1 149

214 307
6 304
9 235

243 268

229 846

243 268

229 846

99 533
6 151

84 794
6 739

99 533
6 151

84 794
6 739

6 739
–

6 471
(320)

6 739
–

91 533
8 000

105 684
–

91 533
8 000

6 471
(320)

Investments held by the Trust
Cash contribution made to the Trust

105 684
–

Total assets held by the Trust (refer to Note 8)

105 684

99 533

105 684

99 533

Unfunded portion of rehabilitation liability

137 584

130 313

137 584

130 313

The financial assets held by the Trust are intended to fund the environmental rehabilitation liability of Foskor (Pty) Ltd and are not available
for general purposes of the Group. The objective of the Trust is to act as the financial provider for expenditure that its member, Foskor (Pty)
Ltd, is likely to incur in order to comply with the statutory obligation for the environmental rehabilitation. The Trust is exempt from tax in
accordance with section 10(1)cP of the Income Tax Act (No. 58 of 1962).
The directors are aware of the estimated cost of rehabilitation and are satisfied that adequate provision is being made to meet this obligation.
A contingent liability has been disclosed for the issuing of guarantees to the Department of Mineral Resources (refer to Note 31.2).
18.2 Groundwater contamination – Acid Division
Foskor, in consultation with the Department of Water and Environmental Affairs (DWEA), continues to monitor the groundwater situation
while solutions are being developed for approval by the DWEA for implementation. In the current year ended 31 March 2012, R10.05 million
(2011: R11.6 million) was spent on this project. In the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2012 no accrual has been made
as the groundwater studies have been completed and therefore there is no further liability as estimated by an independent external expert.
GROUP
2012
R’000
Groundwater contamination accrual at year-end
Total environmental liability

COMPANY
2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

–

18 225

–

18 225

243 268

248 071

243 268

248 071
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GROUP AND COMPANY
2012
2011
R’000
R’000
19.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS
Liabilities included in the statement of financial position:
Pension benefits
Post-employment medical benefits

21 542
100 525

–
97 657

Liability in the statement of financial position

122 067

97 657

21 542
2 868

–
13 957

24 410

13 957

Amounts recognised in profit and loss (refer to Note 22)
Pension benefits
Post-employment medical benefits

19.1 Pension benefits
The Group has established a post-employment pension scheme covering certain employees who were employed by the company prior
to 1995. The pension fund is funded by plan assets.
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The assets of the fund are held in an independent trustee-administered fund. The liability is valued every year using the projected unit
credit method. The latest actuarial valuation was performed on 31 December 2011.
The amounts recognised in the statement of financial position are determined as follows:
2012
R’000

GROUP AND COMPANY
2011
2010
2009
R’000
R’000
R’000

2008
R’000

353 878
(332 336)

340 692
(335 741)

320 289
(328 189)

313 968
(298 447)

319 181
(324 340)

Pension fund unrecognised (obligation)/surplus
Contribution to plan assets – after 31 December

21 542
–
–

4 951
(4 951)
–

(7 900)
7 900
–

15 521
(15 521)
14 000

(5 159)
5 159
_

Liability in the statement of financial position
at 31 March

21 542

–

–

(1 521)

–

Experience adjustments on plan liabilities
Experience adjustments on plan assets

11 486
(1 643)

15 878
6 398

11 567
19 446

(7 122)
(30 012)

47 049
9 098

Present value of funded obligations
Fair value of plan assets

The deficit in the current year does not require a cash contribution to be made to increase the plan assets as the fund is not in deficit for the
statutory valuation. The IAS 19 actuarial valuation makes use of a different basis than the statutory valuation.
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RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (continued)
The movement in the defined benefit obligation over the year is as follows:
GROUP AND COMPANY
2012
2011
R’000
R’000
At 1 January
Current service cost
Interest cost
Contributions by plan participants
Actuarial losses
Benefits paid

340 692
819
29 748
204
11 486
(29 071)

320 289
896
31 668
204
15 878
(28 243)

At 31 December

353 878

340 692

The movement in the fair value of plan assets over the year is as follows:
At 1 January
Expected return on plan assets
Actuarial gains
Employer contributions
Contributions by plan participants
Expenses and adjustments
Benefits paid

335 741
27 328
(1 643)
436
204
(659)
(29 071)

328 189
29 047
6 398
542
204
(396)
(28 243)

At 31 December

332 336

335 741

The interest rate assumption is derived with reference to the ALBI long-term yield at 31 December 2011 and the asset distribution of
the Fund. At December 2011 the ALBI interest yield (over 12 years) was 8.75% (2011: 8.66%) annualised.
The amounts recognised in the income statement are as follows:
Current service cost
Interest cost
Expected return on plan assets
Employer contributions/expense adjustments
Actuarial (gains)/losses recognised

819
29 748
(27 328)
223
18 080

–
–
–
–
–

Total, included in staff costs (refer to Note 22)

21 542

–

There were no amounts recognised in the statement of comprehensive income in 2011. In the year March 2012 an amount of
R21.5 million was recognised.
The actual return on plan assets was:
Expected return on plan assets
Actuarial (losses)/gains on plan assets

27 328
(1 643)

29 047
6 398

Actual return on plan assets

25 685

35 445

Plan assets are comprised as follows:
Equity instruments
Cash
Debt instruments
Other

45.84%
19.55%
13.10%
21.51%

34.79%
30.46%
11.36%
23.39%

100.00%

100.00%
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19.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (continued)
The principal actuarial assumptions used were as follows:
GROUP AND COMPANY
2012
2011
– Discount rate
– CPI inflation rate
– Expected return on plan assets
– Future salary increases
– Future pension increases
– Normal retirement age

8.75%
6.50%
8.75%
7.50%
5.53%
60

8.50%
5.75%
8.50%
6.75%
4.89%
60

– Pre-retirement mortality: Males

SA85-90
(light)

SA85-90
(light)

SA85-90
(light) with
a 3-year age
deduction

SA85-90
(light) with
a 3-year age
deduction

– Pre-retirement mortality: Females

PA90-2

– Post-retirement mortality
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PA90-2

The sensitivity of the overall pension liability to changes in the weighted principal assumptions is:
IMPACT ON OVERALL
LIABILITY
8% increase 8% increase
6% decrease 7% decrease

Inflation rate (increase of 1%)
Inflation rate (decrease of 1%)

The expected contributions to the post-employment pension scheme for the year ended 31 March 2012 are R207 000.
19.2 Post-employment medical obligation
The Group provides post-employment healthcare benefits to its retirees who were employed by the company on or before 1 July 1995.
The same benefits are provided to a specific group of employees employed before 1 July 1996.
The Group operates a post-employment medical obligation scheme, which is held in an independent trustee-administered fund.
The liability is valued every year using the projected unit credit method. The latest actuarial valuation was performed on 31 March 2012.
In addition to the assumptions set out above, the principal actuarial assumptions for the medical obligation were:
8.45%
6.25%
7.75%
7.25%
60/65
SA85-90
(light)
PA90-2

– Discount rate
– General inflation rate
– Medical inflation rate
– Expected rate of salary increases
– Normal retirement age
– Pre-retirement mortality
– Post-retirement mortality

9.00%
6.25%
7.75%
7.25%
60/65
SA85-90
(light)
PA90-2

The amounts recognised in the statement of financial position are determined as follows:
2012
R’000

GROUP AND COMPANY
2011
2010
2009
R’000
R’000
R’000

2008
R’000

Present value of unfunded obligations

100 525

97 657

83 700

67 022

67 000

Liability in the statement of financial position

100 525

97 657

83 700

67 022

67 000

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
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19.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (continued)
There are no plan assets for the post-employment medical obligation.
The movement in the defined benefit obligation over the year is as follows:
GROUP AND COMPANY
2012
2011
R’000
R’000
83 700
338
7 511
11 115
(5 007)

100 525

97 657

The amounts recognised in profit and loss were as follows:
Current service cost
Interest cost
Contributions paid
Actuarial (profit)/loss

342
8 551
(5 281)
(744)

338
7 511
(5 007)
11 115

Total, included in staff costs (refer to Note 22)

2 868

13 957

At 31 December

Change in
past-service
liability

Change in
service cost
plus interest
cost

12.6% increase 13.5% increase
10.6% decrease 11.3% decrease

Inflation rate (increase of 1%)
Inflation rate (decrease of 1%)

The expected contributions to post-employment medical plans for the year ended 31 March 2012 are R5.7 million.
GROUP

20.

COMPANY
2012
2011
R’000
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

584 417
370 964
30 413
20 148
–

285 586
268 511
26 960
10 819
11 378

583 480
370 964
30 413
20 148
–

283 891
268 511
26 960
10 819
11 378

1 005 942

603 254

1 005 005

601 559

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Trade payables
Accrued expenses
Leave
Sundry payables ¹
BHP Billiton South Africa Ltd refund ²

¹ Sundry payables as at 31 March 2012 comprise mainly R6 million payable for 13th cheque bonuses (2011: R4.5 million) and also includes R3.8 million
deferred grant income (2011: R3.1 million).
² The amount due to BHP Billiton was settled in full in the current year.This amount relates to a refund that was due to BHP Billiton South Africa Ltd from a joint
project between Foskor and BHP Billiton South Africa Ltd.
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97 657
342
8 551
(744)
(5 281)

At 1 January
Current service cost
Interest cost
Actuarial (profit)/loss
Contributions paid

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
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GROUP

21.

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

Bonus
Demurrage ³

31 621
13 535

101 113
2 649

30 604
13 535

100 000
2 649

Total

45 156

103 762

44 139

102 649

101 113
37 416
(106 908)

57 859
85 579
(42 325)

100 000
36 398
(105 794)

57 766
84 466
(42 232)

At 31 March 2012

31 621

101 113

30 604

100 000

Movement in the demurrage provision
At 1 April 2011
Additional provisions
Utilised during the year

2 649
11 257
(371)

10 624
8 884
(16 859)

2 649
11 257
(371)

10 624
8 884
(16 859)

At 31 March 2012

13 535

2 649

13 535

2 649

–
45 156

–
103 762

–
44 139

–
102 649

45 156

103 762

44 139

102 649

PROVISIONS

Movement in the bonus provision
At 1 April 2011
Additional provisions
Utilised during the year
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COMPANY

2012
R’000

Analysis of total provisions:
Non-current
Current

³ Demurrage is a penalty payable to a ship owner if the agreed loading time is not honoured.

22.

OPERATING PROFIT
Operating profit is arrived at before finance income, finance costs, and net foreign exchange gains after taking into account:
Income
Reversal of impairment
Management fees
Rental income
Rebates
Royalties income
Expenditure
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Amortisation of intangible assets
– Software
Auditors’ remuneration
– Audit fee
– Other services
– Expenses
Depreciation
– Mining assets, land and buildings
– Plant, equipment and vehicles
– Aircraft

70 000
3 949
7 025
12 195
29 059

–
2 980
7 138
16 436
7 724

70 000
3 949
7 025
12 195
29 059

–
2 980
7 138
16 436
7 724

3 291

1 470

3 291

1 494

405

1 242

405

1 242

4 475

4 443

4 475

4 428

2 835
1 068
572

2 905
1 225
313

2 835
1 068
572

2 890
1 225
313

237 729

210 556

237 616

210 448

31 015
202 623
4 091

28 560
177 905
4 091

31 002
202 523
4 091

28 452
177 905
4 091

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
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GROUP
2012
R’000

2011
R’000

4 013

4 078

4 013

4 078

2 204
1 809

1 997
2 081

2 204
1 809

1 997
2 081

OPERATING PROFIT (continued)
Operating lease charges
– Property rentals
– Equipment

475 274

431 058

475 274

431 057

Share-based payment expense

8 263

24 773

8 263

24 773

Provision for impairment of trade receivables

5 531

6 998

2 014

3 481

719 123

693 380

719 123

693 380

538 697
38 548
57 979
2 868

484 078
95 684
45 093
13 957

538 697
38 548
57 979
2 868

484 078
95 684
45 093
13 957

21 542

–

21 542

–

59 489

54 568

59 489

54 568

Bank borrowings
Finance lease liabilities
–U
 nwinding of discount on the environmental liability
(refer to Note 18.1)
Interest paid – Other

(23 609)
(3 185)
(12 273)

(16 290)
(3 586)
(6 304)

(23 609)
(3 185)
(12 273)

(16 290)
(3 586)
(6 304)

(1 671)

(1 599)

(1 671)

(1 599)

Total finance cost

(40 738)

(27 779)

(40 738)

(27 779)

Finance income:
– Interest income from banks
– Interest income – Other

15 722
4 826

17 739
–

15 006
4 826

16 838
–

20 548

17 739

19 832

16 838

6 471

6 739

6 471

6 739

Total finance income

27 019

24 478

26 303

23 577

Net finance cost

(13 719)

(3 301)

(14 435)

(4 202)

Repairs and maintenance

Staff costs
– Salaries and wages
– Bonus
– Pension costs: Defined contribution plans
– Increase in post-employment medical liability
(refer to Note 19)
– Increase in post-employment pension liability
(refer to Note 19)
– Other staff costs
23.

2011
R’000

FINANCE INCOME AND COST
Finance cost:

Finance income
Environmental Rehabilitation Trust investment
– Growth in investment (refer to Note 18.1)
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22.

COMPANY

2012
R’000

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 March 2012

Group

24.

Foreign exchange transaction losses
Derivative instruments
Foreign transaction profits
Foreign exchange transaction profits
Derivative instruments
Net foreign exchange (loss)/gain
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2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

(101 534)

(5 491)

(101 534)

(5 491)

(101 290)
(244)

(5 491)
–

(101 290)
(244)

(5 491)
–

45 109

32 256

45 100

32 176

44 373
736

32 256
–

44 364
736

32 176
–

(56 425)

26 765

(56 434)

26 685

115
(743)

–
–

–
(743)

–
–

NET FOREIGN EXCHANGE (LOSS)/GAINS
The exchange differences (charged)/credited to profit
and loss are included as follows:
Foreign transaction losses

25.

Company

2012
R’000

INCOME TAX EXPENSE
Tax charge:
South African normal income tax
Normal current tax:
Current tax on profits for the year
Adjustment in respect of prior years
Total normal current tax

(628)

–

(743)

–

6 781

–

6 781

–

72 926
(352)

158 011
–

73 165
(363)

159 388
–

Total deferred tax

72 574

158 011

72 802

159 388

Total tax charge

78 727

158 011

78 840

159 388

Secondary Tax on Companies
Deferred tax
Current deferred tax on profits for the year
Adjustment in respect of prior years

Reconciliation of tax rate:
Standard tax rate
Non-deductible expenses
Secondary Tax on Companies
Prior year under-provision – Income and Deferred tax

28.00%
0.14%
2.61%
-0.42%

28.00%
1.81%
0.00%
-0.25%

28.00%
0.14%
2.61%
-0.43%

28.00%
1.80%
0.00%
-0.19%

Effective rate

30.33%

29.56%

30.32%

29.61%

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
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GROUP

26.

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

20.08

41.14

EARNINGS PER SHARE

26.1 Basic earnings per share – Rands

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of the company/group by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares in issue during the year excluding ordinary shares purchased by the company and held as treasury shares.
Profit attributable to equity holders of the company
Profit from discontinued operation attributable to equity holders of the company
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
26.2 Diluted earnings per share – Rands

183 916
–

376 753
–

9 157 647

9 157 647

20.08

41.14

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume conversion of
all dilutive potential ordinary shares. The company has no dilutive potential ordinary shares.
183 916

376 753

183 916

376 753

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue

9 157 647

9 157 647

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for diluted earnings per share

9 157 647

9 157 647

14.84

41.69

26.3 Headline earnings per share net (after tax) – Rands

Headline earnings per share is calculated on the basis of adjusted net earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders of R135 886 000
(2011: R381 811 000) for the Group and 9 157 647 (2011: 9 157 647) shares, being the weighted average number of ordinary shares in
issue during the year.
Net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders from continuing operations
is reconciled to headline earnings as follows:
Adjustments (gross):

183 916

376 753

(70 000)
3 291
–

–
1 470
5 554

Total adjustments

(66 709)

7 024

Headline earnings (gross before tax)

117 207

383 777

Net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders from continuing operations is reconciled
to headline earnings as follows:
Adjustments (net):

183 916

376 753

Impairment reversal
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Loss on sale of associate

Impairment reversal
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Loss on sale of associate

(50 400)
2 370
–

–
1 058
3 999

Total adjustments

(48 030)

5 057

Headline earnings (net after tax)

135 886

381 811
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Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of the company
Profit used to determine diluted earnings per share

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 March 2012

GROUP

27.

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

262 643

534 764

260 002

538 350

237 729
405
3 291
(18 225)
(6 151)

210 556
1 242
1 470
(11 562)
(6 739)

237 616
405
3 291
(18 225)
(6 151)

210 449
1 242
1 494
(11 562)
(6 739)

24 410
(70 000)
8 263
67 173

13 957
–
24 773
(19 572)

24 410
(70 000)
8 263
67 182

13 957
–
24 773
(19 492)

13 719
(5 115)
–
(2 785)

3 301
(4 482)
5 554
(2 925)

14 435
(5 115)
–
–

4 203
(4 482)
3 889
–

Changes in working capital:
Inventory and ore raw materials increase
Trade and other receivables (increase)/decrease
Derivative financial assets increase/(decrease)
Trade and other payables increase
Other provisions (decrease)/increase

(546 074)
(278 169)
4 567
402 688
(58 606)

(335 927)
(219 369)
(3 990)
185 458
35 279

(546 074)
(276 215)
4 567
403 446
(58 511)

(335 927)
(222 681)
(3 990)
184 819
34 259

Total changes in working capital

(475 594)

(338 548)

(472 787)

(343 518)

39 763

411 791

43 326

412 565

1 000 000
(500 000)

1 000 000
(107 031)

1 000 000
(500 000)

1 000 000
(107 031)

Available

500 000

892 969

500 000

892 969

Loan balance at 31 March 2012
Repayable within 12 months

(511 959)
61 959

(107 031)
–

(511 959)
61 959

(107 031)
–

50 000
11 959

–
–

50 000
11 959

–

(450 000)

(107 031)

(450 000)

(107 031)

CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS
Reconciliation of profit for the year:
Profit before taxation
Adjustments for:
– Depreciation
– Amortisation of intangible assets
– Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
– Movement in ground water contamination accrual
–A
 djustment for non-cash interest received on
the Rehabilitation Trust
– Post-employment obligation growth
– Impairment reversal
– Share-based payment expense
–R
 ealised foreign exchange (profits)/losses on operating
activities
– Net finance cost/(income)
– Investment income
– Losses/(Income) from sale of shares in associate
– Losses/(Income) from associate
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Cash generated from operations
28.

COMPANY

2012
R’000

BORROWING FACILITIES
Rand-denominated facilities
Long-term interest-bearing facilities:
Total facility
Utilised

Capital
Interest
Total long-term balance

The R1 billion is a long-term interest-bearing facility granted by the Industrial Development Corporation Ltd. R500 million of the total facility
has been utilised. The amount is repayable in 10 equal bi-annual instalments commencing on 30 October 2012. Interest payable on the loan
is calculated at a rate of South African prime + 1.2% per annum. The fee for unutilised funds is calculated at 0.5% per annum.

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
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28.

COMPANY
2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

Total committed facility
Utilised

400 000
(65 022)

200 000
–

400 000
(65 022)

200 000
–

Available

334 978

200 000

334 978

200 000

61 959
65 022

–
–

61 959
65 022

–
–

126 981

–

126 981

–

Guarantees:
Total facility from banks
Utilised (refer to Note 31.1)

590 000
(429 500)

571 210
(393 192)

590 000
(428 280)

570 000
(391 972)
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Available

160 500

178 018

161 720

178 028

Total facility from banks
Utilised

470 000
(3 046)

490 000
(119 351)

470 000
(3 046)

490 000
(119 351)

Available

466 954

370 649

466 954

370 649
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GROUP
2012
R’000

Property, plant and equipment

324 644

167 038

324 644

167 038

Total capital commitments

324 644

167 038

324 644

167 038

1 673
2 354

660
–

1 673
2 354

660
–

4 027

660

4 027

660

BORROWING FACILITIES (continued)
Short-term interest-bearing facilities:

Repayable within 12 months
– Long-term interest-bearing facilities
– Short-term interest-bearing facilities
Total
The total committed facility amounts to R1.4 billion,
made up of R1 billion long-term interest-bearing facility
and R400 million short-term interest-bearing facility.

Letters of credit:

29.

COMMITMENTS
Capital commitments
Capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the
reporting year but not yet incurred is as follows:

Operating lease commitments
The future minimum lease payments payable under
non-cancellable leases are as follows:
Payable not later than one year
Payable later than one year and not later than five years

The lease for the head office premises in Midrand was renewed on 1 September 2011 and expires at the end of July 2014 with an option
to extend.
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Notes
30.

2011

R’000
Estimated
fair value

R’000
Carrying
value

R’000
Estimated
fair value

R’000
Carrying
value

205 954

205 954

210 956

210 956

606 745
209 037
358 997

606 745
209 037
358 997

398 657
161 944
404 063

398 657
161 944
404 063

736
105 665

736
105 665

5 815
90 518

5 815
90 518

1 487 134

1 487 134

1 271 953

1 271 953

20 009
955 381
20 148
450 000
126 981

20 009
955 381
20 148
450 000
126 981

22 093
554 097
22 197
107 031
–

22 093
554 097
22 197
107 031
–

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Group
Financial assets
The carrying amount and fair values of financial assets are as follows:
Available-for-sale investments
Financial assets investments
8.1
Loans and receivables
Trade receivables
10
Other loans and receivables (excluding pre-payments)
Cash and cash equivalents
12
At fair value through profit and loss
Derivative financial instruments
11
Environmental Rehabilitation Trust investment
8.2
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Total financial assets
Liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Finance lease liability
Trade payables (including accrued expenses)
Other payables (excluding leave provision)
Long-term interest-bearing loan
Current portion on interest-bearing loans
At fair value through profit and loss
Derivative financial instruments

17
20
20
28
28
11

Total financial liabilities

244

244

756

756

1 572 763

1 572 763

706 174

706 174

205 954

205 954

210 956

210 956

602 563
198 575
350 931

602 563
198 575
350 931

396 537
161 353
402 576

396 537
161 353
402 576

736
105 665

736
105 665

5 815
90 518

5 815
90 518

1 464 424

1 464 424

1 267 755

1 267 755

Company
Financial assets
The carrying amount and fair values of financial assets are as follows:
Available-for-sale investments
Financial assets investments
8.1
Loans and receivables
Trade receivables
10
Other loans and receivables (excluding pre-payments)
Cash and cash equivalents
12
At fair value through profit and loss
Derivative financial instruments
11
Environmental Rehabilitation Trust investment
8.2
Total financial assets

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
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2012

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Finance lease liability
Trade payables (including accrued expenses)
Other payables (excluding leave provision)
Long-term interest-bearing loan
Current portion on interest-bearing loans
At fair value through profit and loss
Derivative financial instruments

R’000
Carrying
value

17
20
20
28
28

20 009
954 444
20 148
450 000
126 981

20 009
954 444
20 148
450 000
126 981

11

Total liabilities

2011
R’000
Estimated
fair value

22 093
552 402
22 197
107 031
–

R’000
Carrying
value

22 093
552 402
22 197
107 031
–

244

244

756

756

1 571 826

1 571 826

704 479

704 479

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities is determined by reference to the quoted market price; otherwise the carrying value
approximates their fair value. An analysis of financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value is set out below:

Notes
Assets
Available-for-sale investments
Financial assets investments
At fair value through profit and loss
Derivative financial instruments
Environmental Rehabilitation Trust investment
Liabilities
At fair value through profit and loss
Derivative financial instruments
1
2

R’000
Level 1 ¹

2012
R’000
Level 2 ²

R’000
Level 3

R’000
Total

8.1

205 954

–

–

205 954

11
8.2

–
547

736
105 118

–
–

736
105 665

206 501

105 854

–

312 355

–

(244)

–

(244)

11

 Valued using unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical financial instruments. This category includes exchange-traded derivatives.
 Valued using techniques based significantly on observable market data. Instruments in this category are valued using valuation techniques where all of the
inputs that have a significant effect on the valuation are, directly or indirectly, based on observable market data.

Financial risk management
The principal financial risks arising from the Group activities are credit risk, liquidity risk and those related to market risk (price risk, currency
risk, interest rate risk).
The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance. The Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge certain risk exposures. The
Group’s financial instruments are set out above.
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Notes

R’000
Estimated
fair value

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 March 2012
30.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

30.1

Market risk management

30.1.1 Foreign currency risk management
The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily with respect
to the US Dollar.
Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions or recognised assets and liabilities that are denominated in a currency
that is not the entity’s functional currency. Approximately 67% of the foreign-denominated revenue transactions are covered by forward
exchange contracts and zero-cost collar option contracts. These contracts are entered into to cover export earnings of which the proceeds
are not yet receivable.
The import of raw materials amounting to approximately a third of foreign-denominated revenue transactions is regarded as a natural
hedge, which is considered sufficient to mitigate the remaining risk.
Details of the contracts are as follows:
2012

GROUP
2011

2012

COMPANY
2011

23 500
–

26 500
(5 500)

23 500
–

26 500
(5 500)

R7.70
R7.71

R7.01
R6.79

R7.70
R7.71

R7.01
R6.79

Receivables (less than one year)
US$ denominated balances at year-end – $’000
Rand equivalent balances at year-end – R’000

47 825
368 659

36 279
246 334

47 825
368 659

36 279
246 334

Payables (less than one year)
US$ denominated balances at year-end – $’000
Rand equivalent balances at year-end – R’000

61 997
477 905

30 950
210 150

61 997
477 905

30 950
210 150

Net (payables)/receivables rand equivalent

(109 246)

36 184

(109 246)

36 184

Forward exchange contracts
Denominated in United States Dollars (export notional amount)
Denominated in United States Dollars (import notional amount)
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Average exchange rate as per contract
Spot rate at year-end – R/$
The following receivable and payable balances are exposed to exchange
rate movements:

At 31 March 2012 if the Rand had weakened by 10% against the US Dollar with all other variables held constant, the profit before
taxation for the Group for the year would have been R11 m lower (2011: R3.6 m higher); conversely, if the Rand had strengthened by
10% against the US Dollar with all other variables held constant, the profit before taxation for the Group would have been R11.0 m higher
(2011: R3.6 m lower).
This sensitivity analysis considers the impact of a change in the Rand vs. US Dollar exchange rate on the translation of US Dollardenominated trade receivables and trade payables, as well as the fair value of open derivative contracts at year-end.
30.1.2 Interest rate risk management
As part of an ongoing restructuring of the borrowing mix and interest rate characteristics of borrowings, the Group restructures funding
of operating capital as appropriate. The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in respect of cash and cash equivalents that earn
interest at a variable rate and short and long-term loans.
The Group invests cash funds on call and in fixed short-term interest-bearing deposits. Interest on these deposits is linked to the prime
interest rate.
The Group secured R1.4 billion worth of borrowing facilities during the year. The Group borrows funds on variable contract basis.
The utilised facilities attracted interest linked to South African Prime rate and Jibar rate.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
2012
R’000

GROUP
2011
R’000

2012
R’000

COMPANY
2011
R’000

Caswh and cash equivalents (refer to Note 12)
Long-term interest-bearing loan (refer to Note 28)
Short-term loan (refer to Note 28)

358 997
(511 959)
(65 022)

404 063
(107 031)
–

350 931
(511 959)
(65 022)

402 576
(107 031)
–

Net amount

(217 984)

297 032

(226 050)

295 545

At 31 March 2012 if interest rates on financial instruments had been 1% lower with all other variables remaining constant, the pre-tax
profit for the year would have been R2 million higher (2011: R3 million lower); conversely, if interest rates had been 1% higher with all other
variables remaining constant, the pre-tax profit for the year would have been R2 million lower (2011: R3 million higher).
30.1.3 Price risk management
Commodity and share price risk

Some of the risk of changes in the price of these commodities is hedged by entering into fixed contracts with customers and suppliers and
derivative option contracts. As at 31 March 2012 and 31 March 2011, the Group did not hold any commodity-based financial instruments.
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The risk associated with listed equity investments is the change in equity prices resulting in changes in the fair values of the investments.
Unit trusts and other investments (refer to Note 8) are actively managed by reputable fund managers and are held in conservative portfolios,
which guarantees return of the capital amount invested.
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Changes in phosphoric acid, fertiliser, sulphur and ammonia prices may have an adverse effect on current or future earnings. The phosphoric
acid, fertiliser, sulphur and ammonia markets are predominantly priced in US Dollars, which further exposes the Group to the risk that
fluctuations in the SA Rand/US Dollar may also have an adverse effect on current or future earnings.

GROUP

Listed investments and unit trusts
Fair value at 31 March (refer Notes 8.1 and 8.2)

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

COMPANY
2011
R’000

311 619

301 474

311 619

301 474

The equity investments are listed on the Bombay Stock Exchange in India (Coromandel International Limited investment) and on the JSE
Limited in South Africa (Sanlam and Old Mutual shares). A 5% decrease in the share index at the reporting date, with all other variables
held constant, would have decreased equity by R10.3 m (2011: R10.6 m); conversely, a 5% increase in the share index at the reporting
date, with all other variables held constant, would have increased equity by R10.3 m (2011: R10.6 m).
The Environmental Rehabilitation Trust holds unit trusts. The unit trust portfolio for these investments is invested in equity (18%), property
(3%), international equity (14%), bonds (59%), money market and cash (6%). A 5% decrease in the quoted price at the reporting date,
with all other variables held constant, would have decreased other comprehensive income by R5.2 m (2011: R4.5 m); conversely,
a 5% increase in the quoted price at the reporting date, with all other variables held constant, would have increased other comprehensive
income by R5.2 m (2011: R4.5 m).
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

30.2

Credit risk management
Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, derivative financial instruments and outstanding receivables.
The Group limits its investments and deposits to a maximum of R500 million per financial institution with AA+ rating by Fitch, and R200 million
per financial institution with rating of AA-. Increase in such limits is subject to approval by the Board of Directors. Surplus funds available on
transactional bank accounts are deposited in short-term high interest-yielding investments.
The Group manages credit risk on accounts receivable by fixing payment terms on open accounts and selling on letters of credit to foreign
customers. Stringent credit assessments are employed before allowing credit sales with customers. At year-end customers are assessed
individually for impairment.
Recoverability for the outstanding amount can be analysed as follows:
GROUP
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Past due and impaired – local debtors
– Outstanding for more than 120 days
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Trade receivables
Fully performing
– Outstanding for less than 60 days
– Outstanding for more than 60 days but less than 120 days

Total (refer to Note 10)

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

COMPANY
2011
R’000

604 994
7 282

403 559
2 096

600 812
3 765

399 531
487

(5 531)

(6 998)

(2 014)

(3 481)

606 745

398 657

602 563

396 537

16 261
14 734
7 443
2 571
–
2 301

18 602
22 722
48 318
103 608
–
27 097

16 261
14 734
7 443
2 571
–
2 301

18 602
22 722
48 318
103 608
–
27 097

43 310

220 347

43 310

220 347

358 997

404 063

350 931

402 576

Debtors’ balance
Impairment

37 943
(5 531)

43 011
(5 068)

37 987
(2 014)

43 011
(5 024)

Net balance of impaired debtors

32 412

37 943

35 973

37 987

Major foreign debtors – account balance
Mangalore Chemicals and Fertilisers Ltd
Intermaritime
Coromandel International Ltd
Gujarat State Fertilizers
Indian Farmers Fertiliser Co-operation Ltd
Thermphos International BV
Cash and cash equivalents on hand (refer to Note 12)
The debtors impaired were all outstanding for more than 120 days.

The past due and impaired debtors were all local.
The Group does not hold any collateral, nor has it pledged any financial assets as collateral for any of its obligations. No contracts that were
past due have been renegotiated. Maximum exposure to credit risk is in the carrying amount of all financial assets.
30.3

Liquidity risk management
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, the availability of funding through an
adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close out market positions.
Liquidity risk arises from existing obligations associated with the industry and the requirements to raise funds in order to meet these
obligations. The Group manages liquidity by monitoring forecasted cash flows and ensuring that adequate unutilised borrowing facilities
are available, if necessary. The Group secured committed borrowing facilities of R1.4 billion; R0.9 billion of the facility remained unutilised
at 31 March 2012. The Group negotiates short-term general borrowing facilities annually with approved banks. R400 million of the total
short-term borrowing facility was committed during the year for 12 months, renewable annually.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Long-term obligations include a loan from the holding company. There is no security or collateral written against the loan. It is repayable in
10 bi-annual equal instalments commencing 30 October 2012. The Group has written open-ended guarantees with the approved banks
in favour of various beneficiaries for operating and compliance reasons (refer Note 31).
Short-term obligations mainly include amounts payable to the trade creditors and derivative liability instruments. The derivative instrument
obligations are hedged by underlying transactions. Current year’s trade payables can be analysed as follows:
GROUP
2011
R’000

2012
R’000

COMPANY
2011
R’000

340 467
43 630
200 320

223 053
31 925
30 608

339 530
43 630
200 320

221 358
31 925
30 608

20

584 417

285 586

583 480

283 891

20
20

370 964
20 148

279 330
10 819

370 964
20 148

279 330
10 819

975 529

575 735

974 592

574 040

–
244
450 000
126 981
20 009

11 378
756
107 031
–
22 093

–
–
450 000
126 981
20 009

11 378
756
107 031
–
22 093

1 572 763

716 993

1 571 582

715 298

Notes
Trade payables
– Due in less than 60 days
– Due in more than 60 days but less than 120 days
– Due in more than 120 days
Other payables
– Due in less than 60 days
– Sundry payables due in less than 60 days
Trade and other payables (excluding leave provision)
BHP Billiton South Africa Ltd payable
Derivative financial instrument
Long-term interest-bearing loan
Short-term interest-bearing loan
Finance lease liability

20
11
28
28
17

Total

Maturity and settlement dates for the derivative instruments and the short-term loan are within 12 months and the long-term loan is within
60 months. The lease liability has 14 years remaining as at 31 March 2012.
30.4

Capital risk management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, in order to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. The
Group’s capital includes share capital and share premium.
In order to maintain the capital structure, the Group may issue new shares, adjust dividend amounts payable to shareholders, or return
capital to shareholders.
GROUP
Note
Share capital
Share premium
Capital

14

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

COMPANY
2011
R’000

9 158
132 013

9 158
132 013

9 158
132 013

9 158
132 013

141 171

141 171

141 171

141 171

There were no changes to the Group’s approach to capital management during the year. The company is not subject to externally imposed
capital requirements.
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R’000

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
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GROUP

31.

GUARANTEES AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

31.1

Guarantees

COMPANY
2012
2011
R’000
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

389 090
12 432

365 090
12 432

389 090
12 432

365 090
12 432

15 000
12 308
670

15 220
–
450

14 000
12 308
450

14 000
–
450

429 500

393 192

428 280

391 972

Guarantees issued by the Group to various beneficiaries
amount to R426 million (2011: R393 million).
Details and beneficiary
Mine rehabilitation – Department of Mineral Resources
Water and electricity supply – Richards Bay Transitional
Local Council
Rail transport of phosphate rock and granular fertiliser – Transnet Ltd
Electricity – Eskom Ltd
Various ZAR denominated guarantees – Various
Total (refer to Note 28)

31.2
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Refer to the Directors’ report and to the Mine site rehabilitation and closure costs section of the Corporate Governance report, on
responsibilities and guarantees in respect of the mine rehabilitation.
Contingent liabilities
Mine rehabilitation guarantees
The Group had mine rehabilitation guarantees amounting to R389 million at year-end (refer above). In line with the requirements set out
by the Department of Mineral Resources (DMR), this amount of R389 million (2011: R365 million) was in place at 31 March 2012. These
guarantees and the agreement reached with the DMR were based on the environmental rehabilitation and closure costs assessment that
was performed during the 2012 financial year. The assessments are performed on a three-year rolling basis, with the next assessment due
in 2013. Estimated scheduled closure costs for the mine are R379 million. For unscheduled or premature closure, the DMR, in accordance
with the Minerals and Petroleum Resources Development Act, requires Foskor (Pty) Ltd to provide for the liability of R503 million in the
form of guarantees and cash.
The Group has a possible liability relating to a discretionary penalty of R15 million which SARS may impose following amendments to the
Income Tax Act which required amendments to be effected within a specified timeframe to the Foskor Rehabilitatoin Trust Deed, which was
delayed due to pracitical difficulties experienced by the trustees at the time.
32.
32.1

GROUP SEGMENTAL REPORTING
Segment information
Management has determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the Executive Committee that are used to
make strategic decisions.The Executive Committee considers the business primarily from a product perspective. The products are
segmented into phosphate rock and copper (Mining Division) and phosphoric acid and granular (Acid Division).
Segment assets consist primarily of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories, pre-paid tax, trade and other
receivables and cash and cash equivalents. Segment liabilities comprise non-current and current liabilities.
Capital expenditure comprises additions to property, plant and equipment (refer to Note 3) and intangible assets (refer to Note 4).
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GROUP SEGMENTAL REPORTING (continued)
Mining Division
Phosphate
rock
2012
R’000
Total segment revenue
Inter-segment revenue
Revenue from external customers
Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT)
Depreciation and amortisation
Impairment reversal
Reportable segment assets
Capital expenditure for reportable segment non-current assets
Reportable segment liabilities

Total
2012
R’000

3 105 782
(2 336 138)

3 044 140
–

1 310 288
–

7 460 210
(2 336 138)

769 644
587 270
141 069
–
3 443 623
224 634
731 267

3 044 140
(200 790)
96 952
70 000
3 039 007
188 793
1 262 969

1 310 288
–
–
–
–
–
–

5 124 072
386 480
238 021
70 000
6 482 630
413 427
1 994 236

Acid Division
Phosphoric
Granular
acid
2011
2011
R’000
R’000

Total
2011
R’000

Mining Division
Phosphate
rock
2011
R’000

32.2

Acid Division
Phosphoric
Granular
acid
2012
2012
R’000
R’000

Total segment revenue
Inter-segment revenue

2 419 925
(1 993 353)

2 667 655
–

1 516 382
–

6 603 962
(1 993 353)

Revenue from external customers
Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT)
Depreciation and amortisation
Impairment charge
Reportable segment assets
Capital expenditure for reportable segment non-current assets
Reportable segment liabilities

426 572
412 122
116 853
–
3 007 841
450 558
593 988

2 667 655
254 955
94 837
–
2 448 663
145 123
553 497

1 516 382
–
–
–
–
–
–

4 610 609
667 077
211 690
–
5 456 504
595 681
1 147 485

Reconciliation of reportable segment EBIT to Group profit before tax is provided as follows:
The Executive Committee assesses the performance of the operating segments based on a measure of adjusted earnings before interest
and tax (EBIT). Segment EBIT equals segment revenue less segment expenses, which include costs of sales and other operating costs.
This measurement basis excludes the effects of allocated corporate expenditure. Interest income and expenditure, as well as foreign
exchange gains and losses, are not allocated to segments as this type of activity is driven by the central treasury function, which manages
the cash position of the Group.
The revenue from external parties reported to the Executive Committee is measured in a manner consistent with that of the income
statement and there were no reconciling items. Sales of phosphate rock between operating segments (Mining and Acid Divisions) are
carried out at arm’s length.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 March 2012
32.

GROUP SEGMENTAL REPORTING (continued)
2012
R’000

32.3

2011
R’000

Segmental earnings before interest and tax (EBIT)
Net corporate and subsidiaries expenses
Finance income
Finance costs
Net foreign exchange (losses)/profits

386 480
(53 693)
27 019
(40 738)
(56 425)

667 077
(155 777)
24 478
(27 779)
26 765

Group profit before tax

262 643

534 764

Reportable segment assets are reconciled to total Group assets as follows:
The amounts provided to the Executive Committee with respect to the total assets are measured in a manner consistent with that of the
financial statements. Deferred tax and derivative financial instruments held by the Group are not considered to be segment assets but
rather are managed by the central treasury function.

Segment assets for reportable segments
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2012
R’000

2011
R’000

6 482 630

5 456 504

736
317 951

5 815
316 020

6 801 317

5 778 339

Unallocated:
Derivative financial instruments
Other assets
Total Group assets per the balance sheet
32.4

Reportable segment liabilities are reconciled to total Group liabilities as follows:
The amounts provided to the Executive Committee with respect to the total liabilities are measured in a manner consistent with that of the
financial statements. Deferred tax and derivative financial instruments are not considered to be segment assets but rather are managed
by the central treasury function.

Segment liabilities for reportable segments

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

1 994 236

1 147 485

673 356
75 927

600 782
83 371

2 743 519

1 831 639

Unallocated:
Deferred tax
Corporate and subsidiary liabilities
Total Group liabilities per the statement of financial position

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 March 2012
32.
32.5

GROUP SEGMENTAL REPORTING (continued)
Geographical information
2012
R’000

2011
R’000

Geographical information – Revenues 1
India
South Africa
Europe
Middle East
Far East
Unites States
Other 2

1 519 408
2 028 189
263 154
266 717
785 375
206 780
55 110

1 733 671
2 070 873
248 661
110 656
281 490
109 535
56 455

Total external revenues

5 124 733

4 611 341

 Revenues are attributable to countries on the basis of customer location.
2
This includes revenue generated by sales to customers based in Dubai, Zambia and other countries.
1

The Group does not have non-current assets in any country other than its country of domicile (South Africa). Revenues of approximately
R1.7 billion (2011: R1.6 billion) are derived from three external customers. These revenues are attributable to the Acid Division segment.
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

33.1

Subsidiaries (refer to Note 5)

53
Nature of business

Ownership
Interest

Indian Ocean Fertilizer
(Pty) Ltd (South Africa)

100%
The current Acid Division operational segment of Foskor (Pty) Ltd was
previously known as Indian Ocean Fertilizer (Pty) Ltd. Currently the equity value
of the company is the value of its ordinary and preference share capital which
is now wholly owned by Foskor (Pty) Ltd.

Phosfert Marine (Pty) Ltd
(South Africa)

The company’s objective is clearing and forwarding agents that provides
services to Foskor and other clients.

100%

Phosphate Shipping (Pty) Ltd

The company’s objective is ship brokerage whereby they earn commission
from ship-owners from whom Foskor and other clients charter vessels.

100%

Inter Minerals Holdings AG
(Switzerland)

The company is currently dormant and has not active operations.

100%

Foskor Social Responsibility
Trust

The Trust was established in accordance with section 10(1)(cP) of the
No shares issued
Income Tax Act of 1962. The objective of the Trust is for the benefit of widows, by the Trust
widowers, orphans and social responsibility projects in and around
Richards Bay.

IOF Property Trust
(South Africa)

The IOF Property Trust was registered during the 1998 financial year in terms
of the Trust Property Control Act of 1988. The principal purpose of the Trust
is to acquire properties in Esikhawini, and to make these properties available
for purchase to the employees of Foskor Acid Division or any other qualified
person.

No shares issued
by the Trust
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 March 2012
33.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

33.2

33.3

Ownership
interest

Joint Venture (refer to Note 6)

Nature of business

Palfos Aviation (Pty) Ltd

Aviation company. The company’s major asset, an aircraft, was sold in
June 2004. The company is currently in the process of being deregistered.

Associate (refer to Note 7)

Nature of business

Foskor Zirconia (Pty) Ltd

Manufacturing of fused Zirconia

50%

Share of
profits
2012
R’000

Ownership
interest

2 785

29.9%

Directors’
fees
2012
R

Directors’
fees
2011
R

150 080
180 300
111 240
145 000
294 420
133 720
130 480
211 960
158 480
–
46 980
78 180

52 180
28 000
147 420
163 180
343 420
143 600
152 480
154 180
114 360
46 000
–
–

1 640 840

1 344 820

Directors’ emoluments
The following table records the emoluments payable to the directors during the period:
33.4

Non-executive directors’ remuneration
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A Albäck 1, 2
P Ngwenya 3
A Vellayan
JM Modise 4
MG Qhena 4
G van Wyk 4
SS Ngoma 4
DS Phaho 1
F Madavo 1
M Booi 5
N Nika 1, 6
J Barton 1, 6
Total
1
2
3
4
5
6

Independent director.
Resigned 28 November 2011.
Appointed 24 March 2011.
All directors’ fees accrue directly to the Industrial Development Corporation Ltd and not to the director in his or her personal capacity.
Resigned 2 September 2010.
Appointed 3 February 2012.

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 March 2012

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

33.5

Executive directors’ and executive members’ remuneration

Rand
12 months ended
31 March 2012
MA Pitse **
JW Horn
TJ Koekemoer
G Skhosana
KM Cele
XS Luthuli
N Nkomzwayo
MP Mosweu
SMS Sibisi
Total

Rand
12 months ended
31 March 2011
MA Pitse **
JW Horn
TJ Koekemoer
G Skhosana
KM Cele
XS Luthuli
JWT Potgieter ¹
MP Mosweu
SMS Sibisi
Total

Contributions
to medical aid,
Expenses
Performance Performance
pension, life, allowances/
Termination
bonuses*
bonuses*
insurance
Leave
Basic salary
benefit
Long term
Short term
and UIF encashment

2 982 713
2 252 455
1 766 925
1 912 071
1 849 518
1 835 512
1 624 030
1 876 981
1 782 488

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

1 544 944
947 980
874 436
–
833 630
811 384
374 523
529 008
988 362

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

522 329
57 471
406 000
248 127
255 859
269 865
203 782
301 409
324 277

17 882 693

–

6 904 267

–

2 589 119

Performance
bonuses*
Short term

269 577
35 775
11 704
206 325
30 141
33 653
41 206
60 999
30 769

Total

5 319 563
3 293 681
3 059 065
2 366 523
2 969 148
2 950 414
2 243 541
2 768 397
3 125 896

720 149 28 096 228

Contributions
to medical aid,
pension, life,
insurance
and UIF

Expenses
allowances/
Leave
encashment

Total

248 458
31 154
589
100 417
43 998
26 316
13 286
77 252
44 331

8 176 072
4 820 289
4 504 821
4 561 765
4 334 486
4 290 192
3 488 764
4 105 040
4 574 007

Basic salary

Termination
benefit

Performance
bonuses*
Long term

2 748 412
2 094 635
1 632 483
1 758 839
1 694 027
1 651 714
1 311 986
1 740 491
1 646 619

–
–
–
–
–
–
1 850 813
–
–

2 866 695
1 619 097
1 558 278
1 538 376
1 474 683
1 491 116
–
1 534 755
1 485 689

1 830 466
1 020 820
934 203
914 283
884 405
852 229
–
472 264
1 101 799

482 041
54 583
379 268
249 850
237 373
268 817
312 679
280 278
295 569

16 279 206

1 850 813

13 568 689

8 010 469

2 560 458

585 801 42 855 436

Resigned November 2010
 epresents amounts payable to Executive Members and Senior Managers for achieving certain objectives that are aligned to the corporate objectives
* R
(targets). These objectives are approved by the Board at the beginning of each period. The amount paid is based on the financial, corporate and divisional
performance objectives. The Executives and Senior Managers did not qualify for short-term bonuses for the year ended 31 March 2012
** Executive director
1
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 March 2012
33.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

33.6

Employee share ownership plan
All Foskor employees (including executive management) are entitled to receive units in the Employee Share Ownership Plan (ESOP) which
holds 6% of Foskor’s share capital through a special purpose vehicle. The initial allocation of the units was done in June 2011 to employees
who had been employed by the company on 1 April 2009, and a second allocation was done to employees engaged after 1 April 2009 but
still in service on 1 September 2011. The allocated number of units per employee is based on their total cost to company. The units from the
inital allocation (employees present at 1 April 2009) will vest over a period of three years from 1 April 2012 to 1 April 2014. The subsequent
allocation units will vest over a period of three years from the third anniversary of the allocation date. Details of the units allocated and held
by executive management at 31 March 2012 are set out in the table below. No units had vested at 31 March 2012.
Number of
units held
12 months ended 31 March 2012
MA Pitse
JW Horn
TJ Koekemoer
G Skhosana
KM Cele
XS Luthuli
N Nkomzwayo
MP Mosweu
SMS Sibisi
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4 838
3 173
2 988
2 996
2 865
2 841
1 896
2 984
2 873

Total
33.7

27 454

BEE partners shareholding in Foskor

Makana Energy Consortium (Pty) Ltd
Mgwali Investments (Pty) Ltd
Morning Tide Investments 390 (Pty) Ltd
Palama Phosphate Investment Company (Pty) Ltd
RSA Capital (Pty) Ltd
Umanyolo Investment Holdings (Pty) Ltd
Phalimpopo Investments (Pty) Ltd
DEC Investment Holdings (Pty) Ltd
AIH Investment Consortium (Pty) Ltd
Azara Foskor (Pty) Ltd
S B Resources (Pty) Ltd
Podwala Investments (Pty) Ltd
Total
No other transactions with the BEE partners were entered into during the current financial year.

Number of
shares

Holding
in the BEE
issued share
capital of
Foskor

265 309
73 177
105 145
167 166
194 717
116 201
75 322
75 322
75 322
75 322
75 322
75 322

19.34%
5.32%
7.65%
12.17%
14.17%
8.46%
5.48%
5.48%
5.48%
5.48%
5.48%
5.48%

1 373 647

100.00%

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
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33.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

33.8

The following transactions were carried out with other related parties:
The Group is controlled by the Industrial Development Corporation Ltd (IDC), which owns 59% of the company’s shares. The remaining
shares are owned as follows:
– 15% by the Manyoro Consortium, being Foskor’s Black Economic Empowerment partner (SA).
– 6% by the Kopano Foskor Employees Trust (SA).
– 5% by the Ba-Phalaborwa and uMhlatuze Community Trusts (SA).
– 14% by Coromandel International Ltd (India).
– 1% by Sun International FZE (UAE).
The IDC is controlled by the South African Government. Therefore the State and all entities controlled by the State are related parties
as defined in IAS 24 (Related Party Disclosures).
Purchase of
goods
R’000

Outstanding
balances²
R’000

Share-based
payment
transaction
R’000

Total
R’000

–
21 099
25 699

–
1 004 084
346 881

(500 000)
121 564
113 083

–
–
–

(500 000)
1 146 747
485 663

46 798

1 350 965

(265 353)

–

1 132 410

State-owned enterprises
Eskom Ltd
Transnet Ltd
South African Airways (Pty) Ltd
Telkom Ltd
National Ports Authority
SA Post Office Ltd

250 979
710 606
1 161
2 749
20 835
1

–
–
–
–
–
–

51 617
21 021
–
110
1 945
–

–
–
–
–
–
–

302 596
731 627
1 161
2 859
22 780
1

Other
Odfjell Makana SA
Zirconia

171 846
–

–
–

12 180
28 994

–
–

184 026
28 994

1 158 177

–

115 867

–

1 274 044

1 204 975

1 350 965

(149 486)

–

2 406 454

Nature of relationship
2012
Shareholders
Industrial Development Corporation Ltd ¹
Coromandel International Ltd
Sun International FZE

Total related party transactions

 A long-term borrowing facility of R1 billion was concluded with the Industrial Development Corporation Ltd. R500 million of the facility was utilised at
year-end March 2012.
2
 All outstanding balances payable are paid in accordance to Foskor’s payment terms. All outstanding receipts are received as per Foskor credit terms
on such sale transactions. There are no guarantees issued on any of the outstanding balances.
1
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Nature of relationship
2011
Shareholders
Industrial Development Corporation Ltd
Coromandel International Ltd
Sun International FZE
State-owned enterprises
Eskom Ltd
Transnet Ltd
Telkom Ltd
National Ports Authority
SA Post Office Ltd
Other
Odfjell Makana SA
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Total related party transactions

Receiving of
services
R’000

Purchase of
goods
R’000

Outstanding
balances
R’000

Share-based
payment
transaction
R’000

Total
R’000

–
8 193
108 349

–
986 060
146 423

107 031
48 318
11 514

–
–
–

107 031
1 042 571
266 286

116 542

1 132 483

166 863

–

1 415 888

201 692
602 101
2 317
21 278
1

–
–
–
–
–

15 506
59 257
323
7 547
–

–
–
–
–
–

217 198
661 358
2 640
28 825
1

201 332

–

12 439

–

213 771

1 028 721

–

95 072

–

1 123 793

1 145 263

1 132 483

261 935

–

2 539 681

The directors of Foskor (Pty) Ltd have no interest in contracts.
33.9

Pension fund
The Group has established a post-employment pension scheme namely the Foskor Pension Fund, covering certain employees who
were employed by the company prior to 1995. For more details refer to Note 19.

The paper used in the report is a combination of two different paper products. One is made from wood Fibre sourced from fully sustainable
forests. Recycled water is used in the manufacturing process. The second paper product is produced from a combination of recycled sugar cane
bagasse and wood pulp sourced from sustainable forests. The cane fibre is sourced from local suppliers, many of them previously disadvantaged
growers. Both products are totally chlorine free.

www.foskor.co.za
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Janadel Avenue, Midrand
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